

Scuola Internazionale Superiore di Studi Avanzati

PhD course in Theoretical Particle Physics

# Black holes, Heun functions and instanton counting

Candidate: Daniel Panea Lichtig Advisor: Giulio Bonelli Co-advisor: Alessandro Tanzini

Academic Year 2022/23



### Abstract

In this thesis we explore and exploit the relationships between black hole physics, the mathematics of Heun's equation, Liouville conformal field theory and 4d supersymmetric gauge theories. We study the modular properties of a class of degenerate conformal blocks, including the recently introduced irregular or confluent conformal blocks, computing their connection matrices. In a certain limit, these connection matrices descend to the connection matrices for Heun functions, which are a generalization of the hypergeometric functions. We give explicit formulae, computable in terms of the Nekrasov partition functions of a class of 4d supersymmetric gauge theories. The above study is motivated by the frequent appearance of Heun's equation in physics, one interesting example being the perturbations of black holes. Using the connection formulae that we have obtained, we analytically solve the equations governing the perturbations of the 4d Kerr black hole and of the 5d AdS-Schwarzschild black hole.

# Acknowledgements

I want to thank Giulio Bonelli and Alessandro Tanzini for being the best supervisors I could have ever hoped for, both on an academic and on a personal level. I also want to thank my friend and colleague Cristoforo Iossa, without whom this thesis would not have been possible.

# Contents

Abstract								
A	Acknowledgements							
Introduction								
1	Ker	black hole perturbations and instanton counting	19					
	1.1	Perturbations of Kerr black holes	. 20					
	1.2	The confluent Heun equation and conformal field theory	. 21					
		1.2.1 The confluent Heun equation in standard form	. 21					
		1.2.2 The confluent Heun equation as a BPZ equation	. 22					
		1.2.3 The radial dictionary	. 25					
		1.2.4 The angular dictionary	. 27					
	1.3	The connection problem	. 27					
		1.3.1 Connection formulae for the irregular 4 point function	. 28					
		1.3.2 AGT dual of irregular correlators and NS limit	. 31					
		1.3.3 Plots of the connection coefficients	. 32					
	1.4	Applications to the black hole problem	. 37					
		1.4.1 The greybody factor	. 37					
		1.4.2 Quantization of quasinormal modes	. 41					
		1.4.3 Angular quantization	. 43					
		1.4.4 Love numbers	. 44					
		1.4.5 Slowly rotating Kerr Love numbers	. 45					
$\mathbf{A}$	ppen	ices	49					
	1.A	The radial and angular potentials	. 49					
	1.B	CFT calculations	. 50					
		I.B.1 The BPZ equation	. 50					
		1.B.2 DOZZ factors	. 51					
		1.B.3 Irregular OPE	. 52					
	$1.\mathrm{C}$	Nekrasov formulae	. 57					

		1.C.1	The AGT dictionary	57
		1.C.2	The instanton partition function	57
		1.C.3	The Nekrasov-Shatashvili limit	59
	1.D	The se	miclassical absorption coefficient	60
<b>2</b>	Irre	gular I	Liouville correlators and Heun functions	65
	2.1	Warm-	-up: 4-point degenerate conformal blocks and classical special functions	70
		2.1.1	Hypergeometric functions	70
		2.1.2	Whittaker functions	71
		2.1.3	Bessel functions	74
	2.2	5-poin	t degenerate conformal blocks, confluences and connection formulae	76
		2.2.1	Regular conformal blocks	77
		2.2.2	Confluent conformal blocks	85
		2.2.3	Reduced confluent conformal blocks	96
		2.2.4	Doubly confluent conformal blocks	101
		2.2.5	Reduced doubly confluent conformal blocks	105
		2.2.6	Doubly reduced doubly confluent conformal blocks	108
	2.3	Heun e	equations, confluences and connection formulae	112
		2.3.1	The Heun equation	112
		2.3.2	The confluent Heun equation	116
		2.3.3	The reduced confluent Heun equation	121
		2.3.4	The doubly confluent Heun equation	123
		2.3.5	The reduced doubly confluent Heun equation	125
		2.3.6	The doubly reduced doubly confluent Heun equation	127
Aj	ppen	dices	1	129
	2.A	DOZZ	factors and irregular generalizations	129
		2.A.1	Regular case	129
		2.A.2	Rank 1	130
		2.A.3	Rank 1/2	132
	$2.\mathrm{B}$	Irregul	ar OPEs	133
		2.B.1	Rank 1	133
		2.B.2	Rank 1/2	137
	$2.\mathrm{C}$	Classic	cal conformal blocks and accessory parameters	139
		2.C.1	The regular case	139
		2.C.2	The confluent case	142
		2.C.3	The reduced confluent case	143
		$2.\mathrm{C.4}$	The doubly confluent case	144
		2.C.5	The reduced doubly confluent case	144
		2.C.6	The doubly reduced doubly confluent case	145
	2.D	Combi	natorial formula for the degenerate 5-point block	145

### CONTENTS

3	Hol	ographic thermal correlators from supersymmetric instantons	147					
	3.1	Holographic two-point function at finite temperature	148					
		3.1.1 Black hole	148					
		3.1.2 Black brane	150					
	3.2	Exact thermal two-point function	151					
	3.3	Relation to the heavy-light conformal bootstrap	155					
	3.4	Small $\mu$ expansion	157					
		3.4.1 Exact quantization condition and residues	158					
		3.4.2 Anomalous dimensions and OPE data	159					
		3.4.3 The imaginary part of quasi-normal modes	160					
Appendices								
	3.A	Conventions	161					
	3.B	From black hole to black brane	162					
	$3.\mathrm{C}$	The Nekrasov-Shatashvili function	164					
	3.D	$\mathcal{O}(\mu^2)$ OPE data of double-twist operators	166					
	$3.\mathrm{E}$	The imaginary part of quasi-normal modes	167					
	3.F	The large $\ell$ /large <b>k</b> , fixed $\omega$ limit	167					
Conclusions								
Bi	Bibliography							

# Introduction

### Overview

This thesis deals with a chain of interconnected topics, graphically depicted as



The remaining pages will be an elaboration of the above diagram. Let us try to give an overview of its elements and its interconnections.

### Black hole perturbations

The recent experimental verification of gravitational waves [1] renewed the interest in the theoretical studies of General Relativity and black hole physics. A particularly interesting aspect is the development of exact computational techniques to produce high precision tests of General Relativity. From this perspective, the study of exact solutions of differential equations rather than their approximate or numerical solutions is of paramount importance both to deepen our comprehension of physical phenomena and to reveal possible physical fine structure effects. Many interesting properties of black holes are already encoded in their *perturbations equations*, i.e. the Einstein equations linearized around a black hole background. In this thesis we study two particular examples, with different motivations: in chapter 1 we study the four-dimensional Kerr black hole, ubiquitous in astrophysics. Its perturbation equation gives rise to the so-called Teukolsky equation [2], which we solve exactly and from which we extract analytical formulae for physical observables such as its quasinormal modes, greybody factor and Love numbers. Then, in chapter 3 we study the 5d AdS-Schwarzschild black hole, which is interesting both as a black hole and from a dual holographic perspective. Studying its perturbation equation, we obtain an exact expression for the thermal two-point function of the dual 4d CFT which encodes a wealth of fascinating physics related to the richness of the black hole geometry. For example, two-point functions encode the transport properties of the system, see e.g. [3, 4], the approach to equilibrium [5], as well as chaotic dynamics via pole-skipping [6, 7]. Thermal four-point functions serve as an important diagnostic of quantum chaos [8, 9]. Thermal correlators have also been used to formulate a version of the information paradox [10], as well as to look for subtle signatures of the black hole singularity [11-14].

### Heun functions

Heun's equation [15] is the most general second order linear differential equation with four regular singularities on the Riemann sphere. It is the next case in the Fuchsian series after the hypergeometric equation, which displays three regular singularities [16]. The Heun equation — along with its confluences — enters many problems in theoretical and mathematical physics, geometry and other branches of quantitative sciences<sup>1</sup> (see for example [17, 18]). For this reason, many studies appeared in the literature about it, see for example [19] for a general introduction and [20, 21] for studies on the connection problem. By its very definition, the Heun function also solves the classical Poincaré uniformisation problem of a Riemann sphere with four punctures [22, 23]. We also remind that Heun's equation arises from the linear system whose isomonodromic deformation problem is described by the Painlevé VI equation [24–26].

It turns out that the equations that one obtains from studying black hole perturbations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For a huge bibliography take a look at https://theheunproject.org .

### CONTENTS

often fall into the class of Heun equations. This is true for many types of black holes in different backgrounds and in particular for the 4d Kerr and 5d Ads-Schwarzschild black holes mentioned above. Therefore, solving the physical black hole problem reduces mathematically to solving Heun's equation. In chapter 2 we study Heun's equation and its confluent variants, arriving at an exact solution.

### Liouville CFT

Liouville conformal field theory is a two-dimensional conformal field theory related to many physical systems and integrable models. Recent developments, including its relation with supersymmetric gauge theories, equivariant localisation and duality in quantum field theory produced new tools which are very effective to study long-standing classical problems in the theory of differential equations. Indeed, it has been known for a long time that the study of two-dimensional Conformal Field Theories [27] and of the representations of its infinitedimensional symmetry algebra provide exact solutions to partial differential equations in terms of conformal blocks and the appropriate fusion coefficients. The prototypical example is the null-state equation at level 2 for primary operators of Virasoro algebra which reduce, in the large central charge limit, to a Schrödinger-like equation with regular singularities, corresponding to a potential term with at most quadratic poles. In this way one can engineer solutions of second-order linear differential equations of Fuchsian type by making use of the appropriate two dimensional  $CFT^2$ . While under the operator/state correspondence the vertex operators in the above construction correspond to primary (highest weight) states, one can insert more general irregular vertex operators corresponding to universal Whittaker states. The latter generate irregular singularities in the corresponding null-state equation and therefore allow engineering more general potentials with singularities of order higher than two. Schematically, given a multi-vertex operator  $\mathcal{O}_V(z_1,\ldots,z_N)$  satisfying the OPE

$$T(z)\mathcal{O}_V(z_1,\ldots,z_N) \sim V(z;z_i)\mathcal{O}_V(z_1,\ldots,z_N) \quad \text{as} \quad z \sim z_i \tag{0.0.1}$$

one finds the corresponding level 2 null-state equation

$$[b^{-2}\partial_z^2 + \sum_i V(z;z_i)]\Psi(z) = 0 \quad \Psi(z) = \langle \Phi_{2,1}(z)\mathcal{O}_V(z_1,\dots,z_N)\rangle$$
(0.0.2)

satisfied by the correlation function of the multi-vertex and the level 2 degenerate field  $\Phi_{2,1}(z)$ . If the multi-vertex contains primary operators only, the OPE (0.0.1) and the potential in (0.0.2) contain at most quadratic poles, while the insertions of irregular vertices generate higher order singularities in  $\sum_{i} V(z; z_i)$ . Actually,  $V(z; z_i)$  is a function in z and in differential operators with respect to the  $z_i$ . The dependence on the latter is removed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Our analysis is here limited - for the sake of presenting the general method - to second order linear differential equations, but all we say can be generalized to higher order equations by considering higher level degenerate field insertions, as already considered in [27].

by the semiclassical limit  $b \to 0$  of Liouville CFT<sup>3</sup>, corresponding to large Virasoro central charge  $c \to \infty$ . In this way, one finds a Schrödinger-like equation

$$\epsilon_1^2 \frac{d^2 \Psi(z)}{dz^2} + V_{CFT}(z) \Psi(z) = 0, \qquad (0.0.3)$$

where  $\epsilon_1$  is a parameter which stays finite in the large central charge limit and plays the rôle of the Planck constant. The advantage of this approach is that the explicit solution of the connection problem on the z-plane for equation (0.0.3) can be derived from the explicit computation of the full CFT<sub>2</sub> correlator (1.3.5) and from its expansions in different intermediate channels.

In chapter 2 we perform a detailed study of irregular correlators in Liouville Conformal Field Theory, of the related Virasoro conformal blocks with irregular singularities and of their connection formulae. Upon considering their semi-classical limit, we provide explicit expressions of the connection matrices for the Heun function and a class of its confluences. These result from the semi-classical limit of Virasoro conformal blocks for the five-point correlation function of four primaries and a degenerate field and a class of its coalescence limits to irregular conformal blocks. While the five-point correlator satisfies a linear PDE, namely the BPZ equation [27], its confluences satisfy a PDE obtained by an appropriate rescaling procedure. As we will discuss in detail, BPZ equations reduce in the semi-classical limit to ODEs. For the particular five-point correlation function mentioned above, this gets identified with Heun's equation upon a suitable dictionary. Following a class of coalescences of the singularities and/or specific parameter scalings, from the configuration of four regular points one naturally obtains a set of confluent irregular blocks satisfying the corresponding confluent BPZ equations. The Heun functions and its confluences are solutions of the resulting semiclassical reduced equations. Crucially, the language and the properties of Liouville CFT, in particular crossing symmetry allow us to determine the connection coefficients for Heun functions using the known three-point function of Liouville CFT and conformal blocks, thereby solving Heun's equation. Let us also mention that the method we use can be generalised to general Fuchsian equations and their confluences upon considering the relevant conformal blocks.

The mathematical interest of Liouville quantum field theory has been highlighted by A.M. Polyakov who proposed to interpret it as a quantum extension of the Poincaré uniformisation problem [28]. A consequence of the above interpretation is that one can make use of the classical limit of Liouville theory to obtain new exact solutions of classical uniformisation [29]. This inspired the work of several authors [30–33] and received a renewed interest after the discovery of AGT correspondence [34–40].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This is not to be confused with the semiclassical approximation of the Schrödinger equation.

### 4d SUSY gauge theory

A crucial ingredient to accomplish this program outlined above, namely solving Heun's equation using techniques from 2d CFT, is a deep control on the analytic structure of regular and irregular Virasoro conformal blocks. This has been recently obtained after the seminal AGT paper [41], where conformal blocks of Virasoro algebra have been identified with concrete combinatorial formulae arising from equivariant instanton counting in the context of  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  four-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories [42, 43]. The explicit solution of the instanton counting problem has been decoded in the CFT language in terms of overlap of universal Whittaker states in [44–47]. More precisely, the wave function  $\Psi(z)$ in 0.0.2 corresponds to the insertion of a BPS surface observable in the gauge theory path integral [48]. The specific case studied in chapter 1 corresponds to a surface observable in the SU(2)  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  gauge theory with  $N_f = 3$  fundamental hypermultiplets, while in chapter 2 we extend the analysis to all  $N_f \leq 4$ . The relevant gauge theory moduli space in these cases is the one of *ramified* instantons [49], with vortices localised on the surface defect, the *z*-variable providing the fugacity for the vortex counting. In the simplest cases the latter is indeed captured by hypergeometric functions [50].

An important consequence of the AGT correspondence between CFT correlation functions and exact BPS partition functions in  $\mathcal{N}=2$  four dimensional gauge theories has been the discovery of the so called "Kiev formula" in the theory of Painlevé transcendents [51], which established the latter to be a further class of special functions with an explicit combinatorial expression in terms of equivariant volumes of instanton moduli spaces [42, 52]. This correspondence between Painlevé and gauge theory has been extended to the full Painlevé confluence diagram in [53], used in [54] to produce recurrence relations for instanton counting for general gauge groups and studied in terms of blow-up equations in [55–57]. These results are related via the AGT correspondence to the c = 1 limit of Liouville conformal field theory. On the other hand, it is well-known that a direct relation exists between the linear system associated to Painlevé VI equation and the Heun equation [58]. Further studies on this subject appeared recently in [37, 59–61]. This perspective has been analyzed in the context of black hole physics in [62-65] where it was suggested that some physical properties of black holes, such as their greybody factor and quasinormal modes, can be studied in a particular regime in terms of Painlevé equations. Numerical checks appeared in [66, 67]. A decisive step forward about the quasinormal mode problem has been taken in [68], where a different approach making use of the Seiberg-Witten quantum curve of an appropriate supersymmetric gauge theory has been advocated to justify their sprectrum and whose evidence was also supported by comparison with numerical analysis of the gravitational equation (see also [69, 70] for further developments). This view point has been further analysed in [71], where the context is widely generalized to D-branes and other types of gravitational backgrounds in various dimensions. From the  $CFT_2$  viewpoint, the gauge theoretical approach corresponds to the large Virasoro central charge limit recalled above.

According to the Alday-Gaiotto-Tachikawa (AGT) correspondence [41], a precise gauge theoretical counterpart of Liouville CFT is given by the BPS sector of four dimensional  $\mathcal{N}=2$  SU(2) gauge theory in the so-called  $\Omega$ -background [43]. In particular the four-point conformal block of Liouville primary fields on the Riemann sphere gets identified with the Nekrasov partition function [42] of SU(2) gauge theory with four fundamental hypermultiplets. In this context, the confluence procedure is interpreted as the decoupling of massive hypermultiplets [44] or the limit to strongly interacting Argyres-Douglas theories [47, 53] in the SU(2) Seiberg-Witten theory. Degenerate field insertions in the CFT correlator correspond to surface operator insertions in the gauge theory [48]. The latter therefore satisfy BPZ equations and their confluent limits. The importance of the AGT correspondence is that it maps more complicated aspects of one side to easier ones of the other, basically it provides a proof of gauge theory dualities once reinterpreted as modular properties in CFT [27]. Moreover, it provides an explicit combinatorial expression for Virasoro conformal blocks in terms of Nekrasov partition function. We exploit this correspondence to provide concrete formulae for the connection matrices for the relevant conformal blocks and their confluences. The semi-classical limit of CFT coincides via AGT correspondence with an asymmetric limit in the  $\Omega$ -background parameters known as the Nekrasov-Shatashvili (NS) limit [72]. This provides a quantization procedure of the classical integrable systems associated to the Seiberg-Witten theory [73]. From this viewpoint Heun equations can be interpreted as Schrödinger equations for these quantum systems. All in all, the connection problem for (confluent) Heun equations can be restated as a connection problem for semi-classical conformal blocks. The latter can be computed in very explicit terms via AGT correspondence by equivariant localisation in supersymmetric gauge theory in the NS limit. Let us here notice that the classifying group of the solutions of the Heun equation [74] is the  $D_4$  Coxeter group, generated by the permutations of the four regular singular points and by the swaps of each couple of indices of the local solutions but a reference one. This concretely realises in the NS limit the action of the  $D_4$  group on the vevs of surface operators in the  $N_f = 4 SU(2)$  gauge theory.

### Structure of the thesis and original contributions

This thesis is based on three of my publications. Chapter 1 is based on [75], where we study the 4d Kerr black hole. We solve its perturbation equation which reduces to the confluent Heun equation, for which we obtain the previously unknown connection coefficients in terms of the Liouville three-point function and the Nekrasov partition function. This result allows us also to give a new, exact expression for the greybody factor of the black hole, which in some approximation limits reduces to previously known formulae [76, 77]. We also provide a proof of the quantization conditions for the quasinormal modes and

### CONTENTS

spin-weighted spheroidal harmonics conjectured in [68]. Finally, we discuss the use of the precise asymptotics of our solution to determine the tidal deformation profile in the far away region of the Kerr black hole and compare it to recent results on the associated Love numbers in the static [78] and quasi-static [79, 80] regimes.

Chapter 2 is based on [81]. We extend the study of irregular Liouville correlation functions and Heun functions initiated in the previous chapter and obtain exact expressions for the Heun functions and its connection coefficients for all of its confluence diagram up to rank 1 singularities. This extends the range of validity of our formulae to a vast number of applications.

Finally, chapter **3** is based on [82] where we study the 5d AdS-Schwarzschild black hole and its holographically dual thermal CFT. We provide the first explicit result for the thermal two-point function in this dual CFT based on the results for Heun functions of the previous chapter. In the large spin limit this exact formula produces the solution to the heavy-light light-cone bootstrap [83, 84]. We also reproduce the available perturbative results from the literature [85–99] and make new predictions.

A final word of warning: between the three independent chapters there are some slight discrepancies in notation due to convenience and pre-existing conventions in the topics that are treated. Each chapter is of course consistent in itself, and the notation and conventions are explained in the beginning of each chapter and in its appendices.

### Chapter 1

# Kerr black hole perturbations and instanton counting

In this chapter, for the sake of concreteness and with a specific application to the Kerr black hole problem in mind, we study equation (0.0.2) for  $N_f = 3$  in the case of two regular and one irregular singularity of rank 1. In Sect.1.1 we review the relativistic massless wave equation in the Kerr black hole background, giving rise to the Teukolsky equation, whose solution can be obtained by separation of variables. In Sect. 1.2 we recall how both the radial and angular parts reduce, under an appropriate dictionary, to (0.0.2) with an irregular singularity of rank 1 at infinity and two regular singularities, which is the *confluent* Heun equation [19]. We provide the explicit exact solution of the connection coefficients in Sect.1.3. The efficiency of the instanton expansion in the exact solution against the numerical integration is demonstrated by a detailed quantitative analysis in Subsect. 1.3.3. In Sect.1.4 we apply these results to Kerr black hole physics. We perform the study of the greybody factor of the Kerr black hole at finite frequency for which we give an exact formula. This reduces to the well-known result of Maldacena and Strominger [76] in the zero frequency limit and in the semiclassical regime reproduces the results computed via standard WKB approximation in [77]. By using the explicit solution of the connection problem, we also provide a proof of the exact quantization of Kerr black hole quasinormal modes as proposed in [68]. By solving the angular Teukolsky equation, we also prove the analogue dual quantization condition on the corresponding parameters of the spinweighted spheroidal harmonics. Finally, we discuss the use of the precise asymptotics of our solution to determine the tidal deformation profile in the far away region of the Kerr black hole and compare it to recent results on the associated Love numbers in the static [78] and quasi-static [79, 80] regimes. We observe that our method naturally distinguishes the source and response terms in the solution without needing analytic continuation in the angular momentum [100, 101] and provides an alternative regularization procedure for the computation of static Love numbers.

### 1.1 Perturbations of Kerr black holes

The Kerr metric describes the spacetime outside of a stationary, rotating black hole in asymptotically flat space. In Boyer-Lindquist coordinates it reads:

$$ds^{2} = -\left(\frac{\Delta - a^{2}\sin^{2}\theta}{\Sigma}\right)dt^{2} + \frac{\Sigma}{\Delta}dr^{2} + \Sigma d\theta^{2} + \left(\frac{(r^{2} + a^{2})^{2} - \Delta a^{2}\sin^{2}\theta}{\Sigma}\right)\sin^{2}\theta \ d\phi^{2} - \frac{2a\sin^{2}\theta(r^{2} + a^{2} - \Delta)}{\Sigma}dt \ d\phi ,$$

$$(1.1.1)$$

where

$$\Sigma = r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta$$
,  $\Delta = r^2 - 2Mr + a^2$ . (1.1.2)

The horizons are given by the roots of  $\Delta$ :

$$r_{\pm} = M \pm \sqrt{M^2 - a^2} \,. \tag{1.1.3}$$

Two other relevant quantities are the Hawking temperature and the angular velocity at the horizon:

$$T_H = \frac{r_+ - r_-}{8\pi M r_+}, \quad \Omega = \frac{a}{2M r_+}.$$
 (1.1.4)

Perturbations of the Kerr metric by fields of spin s = 0, -1, -2 are described by the Teukolsky equation [2], who found that an Ansatz of the form

$$\Phi_s = e^{im\phi - i\omega t} S_{\lambda,s}(\theta, a\omega) R_s(r) . \qquad (1.1.5)$$

permits a separation of variables of the partial differential equation. One gets<sup>1</sup> the following equations for the radial and the angular part (see for example [102] eq.25):

$$\Delta \frac{d^2 R}{dr^2} + (s+1) \frac{d\Delta}{dr} \frac{dR}{dr} + \left(\frac{K^2 - 2is(r-M)K}{\Delta} - \Lambda_{\lambda,s} + 4is\omega r\right) R = 0,$$
  
$$\partial_x (1-x^2) \partial_x S_\lambda + \left[(cx)^2 + \lambda + s - \frac{(m+sx)^2}{1-x^2} - 2csx\right] S_\lambda = 0.$$
 (1.1.6)

Here  $x = \cos \theta$ ,  $c = a\omega$  and

$$K = (r^2 + a^2)\omega - am, \quad \Lambda_{\lambda,s} = \lambda + a^2\omega^2 - 2am\omega.$$
(1.1.7)

 $\lambda$  has to be determined as the eigenvalue of the angular equation with suitable boundary conditions imposing regularity at  $\theta = 0, \pi$ . In general no closed-form expression is known, but for small  $a\omega$  it is given by  $\lambda = \ell(\ell + 1) - s(s + 1) + \mathcal{O}(a\omega)$ . We give a way to calculate it to arbitrary order in  $a\omega$  in subsection 1.4.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Dropping the  $_{s}$  subscript to ease the notation

For later purposes it is convenient to write both equations in the form of a Schrödinger equation. For the radial equation we define

$$z = \frac{r - r_{-}}{r_{+} - r_{-}}, \quad \psi(z) = \Delta(r)^{\frac{s+1}{2}} R(r).$$
(1.1.8)

With this change of variables the inner and outer horizons are at z = 0 and z = 1, respectively, and  $r \to \infty$  corresponds to  $z \to \infty$ . We obtain the differential equation

$$\frac{d^2\psi(z)}{dz^2} + V_r(z)\psi(z) = 0$$
(1.1.9)

with potential

$$V_r(z) = \frac{1}{z^2(z-1)^2} \sum_{i=0}^4 \hat{A}_i^r z^i \,. \tag{1.1.10}$$

The coefficients  $\hat{A}_i^r$  depend on the parameters of the black hole and the frequency, spin and angular momentum of the perturbation. Their explicit expression is given in Appendix 1.A. For the angular part instead we define

$$z = \frac{1+x}{2}, \quad y(z) = \sqrt{1-x^2} \frac{S_\lambda}{2}.$$
 (1.1.11)

After this change of variables,  $\theta = 0$  corresponds to z = 1, and  $\theta = \pi$  to z = 0. The equation now reads

$$\frac{d^2 y(z)}{dz^2} + V_{ang}(z)y(z) = 0, \qquad (1.1.12)$$

with potential

$$V_{ang}(z) = \frac{1}{z^2(z-1)^2} \sum_{i=0}^{4} \hat{A}_i^{\theta} z^i . \qquad (1.1.13)$$

Again, we give the explicit expressions of the coefficients  $\hat{A}_i^{\theta}$  in Appendix 1.A. When written as Schrödinger equations, it is evident that the radial and angular equations share the same singularity structure. They both have two regular singular points at z = 0, 1 and an irregular singular point of Poincaré rank one at  $z = \infty$ . Such a differential equation is well-known in the mathematics literature as the confluent Heun equation [19].

### 1.2 The confluent Heun equation and conformal field theory

### 1.2.1 The confluent Heun equation in standard form

The confluent Heun equation (CHE) is a linear differential equation of second order with regular singularities at z = 0 and 1, and an irregular singularity of rank 1 at  $z = \infty$ . In its standard form it is written as

$$\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} + \left(\frac{\gamma}{z} + \frac{\delta}{z-1} + \epsilon\right)\frac{dw}{dz} + \frac{\alpha z - q}{z(z-1)}w = 0.$$
(1.2.1)

By defining  $w(z) = P(z)^{-1/2}\psi(z)$  with  $P(z) = e^{\epsilon z} z^{\gamma} (z-1)^{\delta}$ , we can bring the standard form of the CHE into the form of a Schrödinger equation:

$$\frac{d^2\psi(z)}{dz^2} + V_{Heun}(z)\psi(z) = 0$$
(1.2.2)

where the potential is

$$V_{Heun}(z) = \frac{1}{z^2 (z-1)^2} \sum_{i=0}^{4} A_i^H z^i , \qquad (1.2.3)$$

with coefficients  $A_i$  given in terms of the parameters of the standard form of the CHE by

$$\begin{split} A_0^H &= \frac{\gamma(2-\gamma)}{4} \,, \\ A_1^H &= q + \frac{\gamma}{2}(\gamma + \delta - \epsilon - 2) \,, \\ A_2^H &= -q - \alpha - \frac{\gamma^2}{4} + \frac{\delta}{2} - \frac{(\delta - \epsilon)^2}{4} + \frac{\gamma}{2}(1 - \delta + 2\epsilon) \,, \end{split}$$
(1.2.4)  
$$A_3^H &= \alpha - \frac{\epsilon}{2}(\gamma + \delta - \epsilon) \,, \\ A_4^H &= -\frac{\epsilon^2}{4} \,. \end{split}$$

### 1.2.2 The confluent Heun equation as a BPZ equation

In this section we work at the level of chiral conformal field theory/conformal blocks, which are fixed completely by the Virasoro algebra. Throughout this chapter we work with conformal momenta related to the conformal weight by  $\Delta = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \alpha^2$ . The representation theory of the Virasoro algebra contains degenerate Verma modules of weight  $\Delta_{r,s} = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \alpha_{r,s}^2$  with  $\alpha_{r,s} = -\frac{br}{2} - \frac{s}{2b}$ , where  $Q = b + \frac{1}{b}$  and b is related to the central charge as  $c = 1 + 6Q^2$ . At level 2, the degenerate field  $\Phi_{2,1}$  has weight  $\Delta_{2,1} = -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{4}b^2$  and satisfies the null-state equation

$$(b^{-2}L_{-1}^2 + L_{-2}) \cdot \Phi_{2,1}(z) = 0.$$
(1.2.5)

When this field is inserted in correlation functions, equation (1.2.5) translates into a differential equation for the correlator called BPZ equation [27]. Consider then the following conformal block with a degenerate field insertion, which by a slight abuse of notation we denote by

$$\Psi(z) := \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(1) | \Delta_1 \rangle.$$
(1.2.6)

 $\Phi_{2,1}$  is the degenerate field mentioned above,  $V_2(1)$  is a primary operator of weight  $\Delta_2 = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \alpha_2^2$  inserted at z = 1 and  $|\Delta_1\rangle$  is a primary state of weight  $\Delta_1 = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \alpha_1^2$  corresponding

via the state-operator correspondence to the insertion of  $V_1(0)$ . The state  $\langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 |$ , called an irregular state of rank 1, is a more exotic kind of state, defined in [103] as:

$$\langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | = \sum_{Y} \sum_{p} \langle \Delta | L_Y m_0^{|Y| - 2p} \Lambda_0^{|Y|} Q_\Delta^{-1} ([2^p, 1^{|Y| - 2p}], Y) .$$
 (1.2.7)

The first sum runs over Young tableaux Y, |Y| denotes the total number of boxes in the tableau and Q is the Shapovalov form  $Q_{\Delta}(Y,Y') = \langle \Delta | L_Y L_{-Y'} | \Delta' \rangle$ . The notation  $[2^p, 1^{|Y|-2p}]$  refers to a Young tableau with p columns of two boxes and |Y| - 2p columns of single boxes. p then runs from 0 to |Y|/2. All in all this implies the following relations, derived in [103]:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_0 &= \left( \Delta + \Lambda_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial \Lambda_0} \right) \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | , \\ \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-1} &= m_0 \Lambda_0 \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | , \\ \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-2} &= \Lambda_0^2 \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | , \\ \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-n} &= 0 \quad \text{for } n \ge 3 , \end{aligned}$$
(1.2.8)

so it is a kind of coherent state for the Virasoro algebra. The investigation of these kind of states in CFT was motivated by the AGT conjecture [41] according to which they are related to asymptotically free gauge theories [44, 46, 47]. Indeed, this state can be obtained by colliding two primary operators mimicking the decoupling of a mass in the gauge theory [47, 103]. The result of the collision, understood as a scaling limit of an OPE, naturally has nonzero overlap with any Verma module. This gives a so-called Whittaker state [47] [104] [105], denoted by  $\langle \Lambda_0, m_0 |$  that makes no reference to any Verma module and is completely characterized by the following action of the Virasoro generators:

$$\langle \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_0 = \Lambda_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial \Lambda_0} \langle \Lambda_0, m_0 |, \langle \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-1} = m_0 \Lambda_0 \langle \Lambda_0, m_0 |, \langle \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-2} = \Lambda_0^2 \langle \Lambda_0, m_0 |, \langle \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-n} = 0 \quad \text{for } n > 3,$$

$$(1.2.9)$$

The state introduced here is the projection of a Whittaker state onto a specific Verma module. Indeed, inserting explicitly the projector gives back the series (1.2.7):

$$\langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | := \Lambda_0^{-\Delta} \langle \Lambda_0, m_0 | \sum_{Y, Y'} Q_{\Delta}^{-1}(Y, Y') L_{-Y'} | \Delta \rangle \langle \Delta | L_Y = \sum_Y \sum_p \langle \Delta | L_Y m_0^{|Y| - 2p} \Lambda_0^{|Y|} Q_{\Delta}^{-1} ([2^p, 1^{|Y| - 2p}], Y) ,$$

$$(1.2.10)$$

where the overlap of the Whittaker state with a primary is defined as  $\langle \Lambda_0, m_0 | \Delta \rangle = \Lambda_0^{\Delta}$ . This correlator satisfies the following BPZ equation (see Appendix 1.B for details):

$$0 = \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | (b^{-2} \partial_z^2 + L_{-2} \cdot) \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(1) | V_1 \rangle = \\ = \left( b^{-2} \partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z} \partial_z - \frac{z \partial_z - \Lambda_0 \partial_{\Lambda_0} + \Delta_{2,1} + \Delta_2 + \Delta_1 - \Delta}{z(z-1)} + \frac{\Delta_2}{(z-1)^2} + \frac{\Delta_1}{z^2} + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{z} + \Lambda_0^2 \right) \Psi(z) .$$
(1.2.11)

We now take a double-scaling limit known as the Nekrasov-Shatashvili (NS) limit in the AGT dual gauge theory [106], which corresponds to the semiclassical limit of large Virasoro central charge in the CFT. This amounts to introducing a new parameter  $\hbar$ , and sending  $\epsilon_2 = \hbar b \rightarrow 0$ , while keeping fixed

$$\epsilon_1 = \hbar/b,$$
  

$$\hat{\Delta} = \hbar^2 \Delta, \ \hat{\Delta}_1 = \hbar^2 \Delta_1, \ \hat{\Delta}_2 = \hbar^2 \Delta_2,$$
  

$$\Lambda = 2i\hbar\Lambda_0, \ m_3 = \frac{i}{2}\hbar m_0.$$
(1.2.12)

Furthermore, arguments from CFT [107] and the AGT conjecture tell us that in this limit the correlator exponentiates and the z-dependence appears only at subleading order:

$$\Psi(z) \propto \exp \frac{1}{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2} \left( \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\epsilon_1) + \epsilon_2 \mathcal{W}(z;\epsilon_1) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon_2^2) \right).$$
(1.2.13)

Introducing the normalized wavefunction  $\psi(z) = \lim_{\epsilon_2 \to 0} \Psi(z) / \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_2(1) | \Delta_1 \rangle$  and multiplying everything by  $\hbar^2$ , the BPZ equation in the NS limit becomes

$$0 = \left(\epsilon_1^2 \partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{z-1} \left( -\Lambda \partial_\Lambda \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}} + \hat{\Delta}_2 + \hat{\Delta}_1 - \hat{\Delta} \right) + \frac{\hat{\Delta}_2}{(z-1)^2} + \frac{\hat{\Delta}_1}{z^2} - \frac{m_3 \Lambda}{z} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4} \right) \psi(z) \,. \tag{1.2.14}$$

All other terms vanish in the limit. It takes the form of a Schrödinger equation:

$$\epsilon_1^2 \frac{d^2 \psi(z)}{dz^2} + V_{CFT}(z)\psi(z) = 0 \tag{1.2.15}$$

with potential

$$V_{CFT}(z) = \frac{1}{z^2(z-1)^2} \sum_{i=0}^{4} A_i z^i .$$
 (1.2.16)

Written in this form it is clear that the BPZ equation for this correlation function takes the form of the confluent Heun equation. Using conformal momenta instead of dimensions we write  $\hat{\Delta}_i = \frac{1}{4} - a_i^2$ , where we have used  $\hat{\Delta}_i = \hbar^2 \Delta_i$ ,  $\hbar Q = \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 = \epsilon_1$  and defined  $a_i := \hbar \alpha_i$ .

Defining furthermore  $E := a^2 - \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}$ , the coefficients of the potential are

$$A_{0} = \frac{\epsilon_{1}^{2}}{4} - a_{1}^{2},$$

$$A_{1} = -\frac{\epsilon_{1}^{2}}{4} + E + a_{1}^{2} - a_{2}^{2} - m_{3}\Lambda,$$

$$A_{2} = \frac{\epsilon_{1}^{2}}{4} - E + 2m_{3}\Lambda - \frac{\Lambda^{2}}{4},$$

$$A_{3} = -m_{3}\Lambda + \frac{\Lambda^{2}}{2},$$

$$A_{4} = -\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{4}.$$
(1.2.17)

Comparing with the coefficients  $A_i^H$  of the CHE in (1.2.4) and setting  $\epsilon_1 = 1$  to match the coefficient of the second derivative, we can identify the parameters of the standard form with the parameters of the CFT as:

$$\begin{array}{l}
\alpha = \theta'' \Lambda (1 + \theta a_1 + \theta' a_2 + \theta'' m_3), \\
\gamma = 1 + 2\theta a_1, \\
\delta = 1 + 2\theta' a_2, \\
\epsilon = \theta'' \Lambda, \\
q = E - \frac{1}{4} - (\theta a_1 + \theta' a_2)^2 - (\theta a_1 + \theta' a_2) + \theta'' \Lambda \left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_1 - \theta'' m_3\right), \\
\end{array}$$
(1.2.18)

for any choice of signs  $\theta, \theta', \theta'' = \pm 1$ . These  $8 = 2^3$  dictionaries reflect the symmetries of the equation, which is invariant independently under  $a_1 \to -a_1, a_2 \to -a_2$  and  $(m_3, \Lambda) \to -(m_3, \Lambda)$ .

### 1.2.3 The radial dictionary

We see that the BPZ equation takes the same form as the radial and angular equations of the black hole perturbation equation if we set  $\epsilon_1 = 1$ . We will do this from now on. This implies  $b = \hbar$ . Comparing with the coefficients  $\hat{A}_i^r$  we find the following eight dictionaries

between the parameters of the radial equation in the black hole problem and the CFT:

$$E = \frac{1}{4} + \lambda + s(s+1) + a^{2}\omega^{2} - 8M^{2}\omega^{2} - (2M\omega^{2} + is\omega)(r_{+} - r_{-}),$$

$$a_{1} = \theta \left(-i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}} + 2iM\omega + \frac{s}{2}\right),$$

$$a_{2} = \theta' \left(-i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}} - \frac{s}{2}\right),$$

$$m_{3} = \theta'' \left(-2iM\omega + s\right),$$

$$\Lambda = -2i\theta''\omega(r_{+} - r_{-}),$$
(1.2.19)

where  $\theta, \theta', \theta'' = \pm 1$ . We will make the following choice for the dictionary from now on:

$$E = \frac{1}{4} + \lambda + s(s+1) + a^2 \omega^2 - 8M^2 \omega^2 - (2M\omega^2 + is\omega) (r_+ - r_-),$$

$$a_1 = -i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_H} + 2iM\omega + \frac{s}{2},$$

$$a_2 = -i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_H} - \frac{s}{2},$$

$$m_3 = -2iM\omega + s,$$

$$\Lambda = -2i\omega(r_+ - r_-),$$
(1.2.20)

which corresponds to  $\theta = \theta' = \theta'' = +1$ . Using AGT this dictionary gives the following masses in the gauge theory (see Appendix 1.C for details):

$$m_{1} = a_{1} + a_{2} = -i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_{H}} + 2iM\omega ,$$
  

$$m_{2} = a_{2} - a_{1} = -2iM\omega - s ,$$
  

$$m_{3} = -2iM\omega + s .$$
  
(1.2.21)

This is the same result as the one found in [68] except for a shift in E, which is due to a different definition of the U(1)-factor. For s = 0 the values are purely imaginary and correspond to physical Liouville momenta. For  $s \neq 0$  the conformal block gets analytically continued. Note that in the supersymmetric gauge theory the masses are naturally complex parameters.

### 1.2.4 The angular dictionary

Comparing instead (1.2.17) with the  $\hat{A}_i^{\theta}$  in (1.A.4) we find the following eight dictionaries between the parameters of the angular equation in the black hole problem and the CFT:

$$E = \frac{1}{4} + c^2 + s(s+1) - 2cs + \lambda,$$
  

$$a_1 = \theta \left( -\frac{m-s}{2} \right),$$
  

$$a_2 = \theta' \left( -\frac{m+s}{2} \right),$$
  

$$m_3 = -\theta''s,$$
  

$$\Lambda = \theta''4c,$$
  
(1.2.22)

where again  $\theta, \theta', \theta'' = \pm 1$  and our choice from here on will be  $\theta = \theta' = \theta'' = +1$ , i.e.:

$$E = \frac{1}{4} + c^{2} + s(s+1) - 2cs + \lambda,$$
  

$$a_{1} = -\frac{m-s}{2},$$
  

$$a_{2} = -\frac{m+s}{2},$$
  

$$m_{3} = -s,$$
  

$$\Lambda = 4c.$$
  
(1.2.23)

Using AGT this dictionary gives the following masses in the gauge theory (see Appendix 1.C for details):

$$m_1 = a_1 + a_2 = -m,$$
  

$$m_2 = a_2 - a_1 = -s,$$
  

$$m_3 = -s.$$
  
(1.2.24)

Again we note the discrepancy with [68] due to the different U(1)-factor.

### 1.3 The connection problem

Exploiting crossing symmetry of Liouville correlation functions we can connect different asymptotic expansions of the solutions of BPZ equations around different field insertion points. The DOZZ formula can be obtained exploiting the known connection formulae for hypergeometric functions [108, 109]. Here we do the reverse, namely knowing the DOZZ formula we reconstruct connection formulae for irregular degenerate conformal blocks. Asymptotic expansions are computed via OPEs with regular and irregular insertions. To this end, we recall that the OPE of the degenerate field of our interest and a primary field reads [27]:

$$\Phi_{2,1}(z,\bar{z})V_{\alpha_i}(w,\bar{w}) = \sum_{\pm} \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha_i}^{\alpha_{i\pm}} |z-w|^{2k_{\pm}} \left( V_{\alpha_{i\pm}}(w,\bar{w}) + \mathcal{O}(|z-w|^2) \right) , \qquad (1.3.1)$$

where  $\alpha_{i\pm} := \alpha_i \pm \frac{-b}{2}$ , and  $k_{\pm} = \Delta_{\alpha_{i\pm}} - \Delta_{\alpha_i} - \Delta_{2,1}$  is fixed by the  $L_0$  action. The OPE coefficient  $C_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha_i}^{\alpha_{i\pm}}$  is computed in terms of DOZZ factors [110] [111] (see Appendix 1.B.2), namely

$$\mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha_{i}}^{\alpha_{i\pm}} = G^{-1}(\alpha_{i\pm})C(\alpha_{i\pm}, \frac{-b-Q}{2}, \alpha_{i}).$$
(1.3.2)

The OPE with the irregular state is constrained by conformal symmetry, and the leading behavior is fixed by the action of  $L_0, L_1, L_2$  instead of just  $L_0$ . The overall factors are again given in terms of DOZZ factors (see Appendix 1.B.3). One finds

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, \bar{\Lambda}_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z, \bar{z}) &= \\ &= \mathcal{C}_{\alpha,\alpha_{2,1}}^{\alpha_{+}} \left| \sum_{\pm,k} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{0\pm}}(\pm \Lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2} \pm m_{3} + b\alpha_{+}} z^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1\pm 2m_{3})} e^{\pm \Lambda z/2} z^{-k} \langle \Delta_{\alpha_{+}}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0\pm}; k | \right|^{2} + \\ &+ \mathcal{C}_{\alpha,\alpha_{2,1}}^{\alpha_{-}} \left| \sum_{\pm,k} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-},m_{0\pm}}(\pm \Lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2} \pm m_{3} - b\alpha_{-}} z^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1\pm 2m_{3})} e^{\pm \Lambda z/2} z^{-k} \langle \Delta_{\alpha_{-}}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0\pm}; k | \right|^{2} . \end{split}$$

$$(1.3.3)$$

Here the irregular state depending on  $\Lambda_0$ ,  $\overline{\Lambda}_0$  denotes the full (chiral $\otimes$ antichiral) state, and the modulus squared of the chiral states (depending only on  $\Lambda_0$ ) also has to be understood as a tensor product. The coefficients  $\mathcal{A}$  are given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{0+}} = \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{+})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}-b\alpha_{+})}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{0-}} = \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{+})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{+})}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-},m_{0+}} = \frac{\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{-})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}+b\alpha_{-})}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-},m_{0-}} = \frac{\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{-})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}+b\alpha_{-})}.$$
(1.3.4)

Since the results presented in this section are formulated purely in a CFT context, they will be written for finite b unless otherwise specified.

### 1.3.1 Connection formulae for the irregular 4 point function

Let us consider the irregular correlator

$$\Psi(z,\bar{z}) = \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, \bar{\Lambda}_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z,\bar{z}) V_{\alpha_2}(1,\bar{1}) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle.$$
(1.3.5)

The physical, crossing symmetric correlator has to be built using the Whittaker state (1.2.9) introduced before which makes no reference to  $\Delta_{\alpha}$ . Here instead we use the state projected

#### 1.3. THE CONNECTION PROBLEM

onto the Verma module  $\Delta_{\alpha}$  which provides us with the explicit expression (1.2.7). In particular, the  $\Lambda_0 \to 0$  limit is simple: it is just a primary state with the usual normalization. In any case, we still expect (1.3.5) to be crossing symmetric and we will exploit this in what follows. In the next chapter (2) we will show that the result presented here is consistent with crossing symmetry of the physical correlator. The asymptotics of  $\Psi$  for  $z \sim 1, \infty$ , respectively t, u-channels, are given by the OPEs. Due to crossing symmetry, the two expansions have to agree, therefore

$$\Psi(z,\bar{z}) = K_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)} |f_{\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}(z)|^2 + K_{\alpha_{2-},\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)} |f_{\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)}(z)|^2 = K_{\alpha_{+},\alpha_{+}}^{(u)} |f_{\alpha_{+}}^{(u)}(z)|^2 + K_{\alpha_{-},\alpha_{-}}^{(u)} |f_{\alpha_{-}}^{(u)}(z)|^2.$$
(1.3.6)

where

$$K_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)} = \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{2}}^{\alpha_{2+}} C(\alpha, \alpha_{2+}, \alpha_{1}), K_{\alpha_{2-},\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)} = \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{2}}^{\alpha_{2-}} C(\alpha, \alpha_{2-}, \alpha_{1}), K_{\alpha_{+},\alpha_{+}}^{(u)} = \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha}^{\alpha_{+}} C(\alpha_{+}, \alpha_{2}, \alpha_{1}), K_{\alpha_{-},\alpha_{-}}^{(u)} = \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha}^{\alpha_{-}} C(\alpha_{-}, \alpha_{2}, \alpha_{1}),$$
(1.3.7)

are the DOZZ factors for the two fusion channels in the t and u-channel OPEs and

$$\begin{aligned} f_{\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}(z) &= \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle (z-1)^{\frac{bQ+2b\alpha_{2}}{2}} \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(z-1) \right) , \\ f_{\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)}(z) &= \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2-}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle (z-1)^{\frac{bQ-2b\alpha_{2}}{2}} \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(z-1) \right) \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(z-1) \right) , \\ f_{\alpha_{+}}^{(u)}(z) &= \sum_{\pm} \langle \Delta_{\alpha_{+}}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0\pm} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+}, m_{0\pm}} e^{\pm \frac{\Delta z}{2}} (\pm \Lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2} \pm m_{3} + b\alpha_{+}} z^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1\pm 2m_{3})} \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1}) \right) , \\ f_{\alpha_{-}}^{(u)}(z) &= \sum_{\pm} \langle \Delta_{\alpha_{-}}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0\pm} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-}, m_{0\pm}} e^{\pm \frac{\Lambda z}{2}} (\pm \Lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2} \pm m_{3} - b\alpha_{-}} z^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1\pm 2m_{3})} \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1}) \right) , \end{aligned}$$

$$(1.3.8)$$

give the expansions of the conformal blocks in the two fusion channels of the t and uchannels. Here and in the following the chiral correlators have to be understood as conformal blocks, we have extracted the DOZZ factors and they appear in (1.3.7). Note that in line with the definition (1.2.7), the irregular state contributes to the DOZZ factor the same as a regular state. Here, as noted in section 1.2.2,  $f_{\pm}^{(t,u)}$  in the NS limit are (up to a rescaling by one of the correlators, to keep them finite) the two linearly independent confluent Heun functions expanded around 1 and  $\infty$ , respectively. We remark that due to the presence of the irregular singularity the  $\alpha_{\pm}$  channels at infinity contribute with two different irregular states each, corresponding to  $m_{0\pm}$ . This is consistent with the fact that the irregular state comes from the collision of two primary operators [47]. The two expansions are related via a connection matrix M by

$$f_i^{(t)}(z) = M_{ij} f_j^{(u)}(z) , \ i = \alpha_{2\pm} , \ j = \alpha_{\pm} .$$
(1.3.9)

This equation, combined with the requirement of crossing symmetry (1.3.6) gives the constraints

$$K_{ij}^{(t)}M_{ik}M_{jl} = K_{kl}^{(u)}.$$
(1.3.10)

Equations (1.3.10) give 3 quadratic equations for the 4 entries  $M_{ij}$ . Other constraints come from noticing that the  $M_{ij}$  have to respect the symmetry under reflection of the momenta. The sign ambiguity inherent in the quadratic constraints (1.3.10) is resolved by imposing that for  $\Lambda \to 0$  they reduce to the known hypergeometric connection matrix, since

$$\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, \bar{\Lambda}_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z, \bar{z}) V_{\alpha_{2}}(1, \bar{1}) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Delta_{\alpha} | \Phi_{2,1}(z, \bar{z}) V_{\alpha_{2}}(1, \bar{1}) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle, \text{ as } \Lambda \rightarrow 0,$$

$$(1.3.11)$$

and conformal blocks of the regular degenerate 4 point functions are hypergeometric functions. This gives

$$M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2b\alpha)\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}-\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}-\alpha))},$$

$$M_{\alpha_{2-},\alpha_{-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2b\alpha)\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}+\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}+\alpha))},$$

$$M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2b\alpha)\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}+\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}+\alpha))},$$

$$M_{\alpha_{2-},\alpha_{+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2b\alpha)\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}-\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}-\alpha))}.$$
(1.3.12)

Note that  $M_{ij}$  is given by the hypergeometric connection matrix even for finite  $\Lambda$ , since all  $\Lambda$  corrections are encoded in the asymptotics of the functions (1.3.8). Proceeding in the same way we can find connection coefficients between 0, 1. Using crossing symmetry we have

$$\Psi(z,\bar{z}) = K_{\alpha_{1+},\alpha_{1+}}^{(s)} |f_{\alpha_{1+}}^{(s)}(z)|^2 + K_{\alpha_{1-},\alpha_{1-}}^{(s)} |f_{\alpha_{1-}}^{(s)}(z)|^2 = K_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)} |f_{\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}(z)|^2 + K_{\alpha_{2-},\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)} |f_{\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)}(z)|^2,$$
(1.3.13)

where

$$f_{\alpha_{1+}}^{(s)}(z) \simeq \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1+}} \rangle z^{\frac{bQ + b\alpha_{1}}{2}},$$
  

$$f_{\alpha_{1-}}^{(s)}(z) \simeq \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1-}} \rangle z^{\frac{bQ - b\alpha_{1}}{2}}.$$
(1.3.14)

Imposing again

$$f_i^{(s)}(z) = N_{ij} f_j^{(t)}(z) , \qquad (1.3.15)$$

substituting (1.3.15) in (1.3.13) and imposing that  $f^{(s,t)}$  reduce to hypergeometric functions as  $\Lambda \to 0$  we find (see Appendix 1.B.2)

$$N_{\alpha_{1+},\alpha_{2+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2b\alpha_{2})\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{1})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}+\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}-\alpha))},$$

$$N_{\alpha_{1-},\alpha_{2-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2b\alpha_{2})\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{1})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}-\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}+\alpha))},$$

$$N_{\alpha_{1+},\alpha_{2-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2b\alpha_{2})\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{1})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}-\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}+\alpha))},$$

$$N_{\alpha_{1-},\alpha_{2+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2b\alpha_{2})\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{1})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}+\alpha))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}-\alpha))}.$$
(1.3.16)

### 1.3.2 AGT dual of irregular correlators and NS limit

The irregular correlators appearing in the asymptotics of the functions (1.3.8) can be efficiently computed as Nekrasov partition functions thanks to the AGT correspondence [41]. In particular, the irregular conformal block is identified with [103]

$$\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle = \mathcal{Z}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3), \qquad (1.3.17)$$

where  $\mathcal{Z}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3)$  is the Nekrasov instanton partition function of SU(2)  $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory in the  $\Omega$ -background (see Appendix 1.C). While the analysis in the last section was completely general, in order to apply the obtained results to the Teukolsky equation, one needs to take the NS limit  $\epsilon_2 \to 0$ ,  $\epsilon_1 = 1$  as discussed in section 1.2.2. In this limit the correlators diverge, but rescaling the functions in (1.3.8) by one of the correlators, the resulting ratios are finite. In a slight abuse of notation, we write the connection coefficients in the NS limit as

$$M_{a_{2+},a_{+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2a)\Gamma(1+2a_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_{1}+a_{2}-a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_{1}+a_{2}-a)},$$

$$M_{a_{2-},a_{-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2a)\Gamma(1-2a_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_{1}-a_{2}+a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_{1}-a_{2}+a)},$$

$$M_{a_{2+},a_{-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2a)\Gamma(1+2a_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_{1}+a_{2}+a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_{1}+a_{2}+a)},$$

$$M_{a_{2-},a_{+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2a)\Gamma(1-2a_{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_{1}-a_{2}-a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_{1}-a_{2}-a)},$$
(1.3.18)

and similarly

$$N_{a_{1+},a_{2+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2a_2)\Gamma(1+2a_1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_1-a_2+a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_1-a_2-a)},$$

$$N_{a_{1-},a_{2-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2a_2)\Gamma(1-2a_1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_1+a_2-a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_1+a_2+a)},$$

$$N_{a_{1+},a_{2-}} = \frac{\Gamma(2a_2)\Gamma(1+2a_1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_1+a_2-a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a_1+a_2+a)},$$

$$N_{a_{1-},a_{2+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-2a_2)\Gamma(1-2a_1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_1-a_2+a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a_1-a_2-a)},$$
(1.3.19)

where  $a_i = \hbar \alpha_i = b \alpha_i$  for  $\epsilon_1 = \hbar/b = 1$ .

### **1.3.3** Plots of the connection coefficients

In the following we illustrate the power of the connection coefficients obtained above by comparing our analytical solution to the numerical one. Furthermore this illustrates how to evaluate the connection coefficients. For simplicity we focus on the connection problem between z = 0 and 1. The confluent Heun function w(z) solving the CHE in standard form (2.3.24) can be expanded as a power series near z = 0 as

$$w(z) = 1 - \frac{q}{\gamma}z + \frac{\alpha\gamma + q(q - \gamma - \delta + \epsilon)}{2\gamma(\gamma + 1)}z^2 + \mathcal{O}(z^3).$$

$$(1.3.20)$$

We are interested in analytically continuing this series toward the other singular point at z = 1. This problem is solved by our connection coefficients, we just need to identify the functions and parameters: in terms of the function  $\psi(z)$  solving the CHE in Schrödinger form (1.2.2), we have around z = 0:

$$\psi(z) = e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z-1)^{\delta/2} w(z) = z^{\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_1} (1 + \mathcal{O}(z)) = \hat{f}_{\alpha_{1\theta}}^{(s)}(z), \qquad (1.3.21)$$

where we have introduced the normalized s-channel function, related to the s-channel function defined before by  $f_{\alpha_{1\theta}}^{(s)}(z) = \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1\theta}} \rangle \hat{f}_{\alpha_{1\theta}}^{(s)}(z)$ . Similarly, we define the normalized t-channel function, related to the one defined before by  $f_{\alpha_{2\theta'}}^{(t)}(z) = \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2\theta'}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2\theta'}}^{(t)}(z)$ . It is a solution to the CHE given as a power series around the singular point z = 1 which can be obtained by the Fröbenius method:

$$\hat{f}_{\alpha_{2\theta'}}^{(t)}(z) = (1-z)^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta'a_2} \left(1 - \frac{1/4 - a_1^2 - a_2^2 + E}{1 + 2\theta'a_2}(1-z) + \mathcal{O}((1-z)^2)\right).$$
(1.3.22)

#### 1.3. THE CONNECTION PROBLEM

The s- and t-channel solutions are related by  $f_i^{(s)} = N_{ij}f_j^{(t)}$ , with the coefficients  $N_{ij}$  given before, which we now give more explicitly:

$$\begin{aligned}
\hat{f}_{\alpha_{1\theta}}^{(s)}(z) &= \frac{\Gamma(-2a_2)\Gamma(1+2\theta a_1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_1-a_2+a))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_1-a_2-a))} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1\theta}} \rangle} \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}(z) + \\
&+ \frac{\Gamma(2a_2)\Gamma(1+2\theta a_1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_1+a_2+a))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_1+a_2-a))} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1\theta}} \rangle} \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)}(z) \\
\end{aligned}$$
(1.3.23)

for  $\theta = \pm$ . A further complication arises from the fact that the parameter in the CHE is E, but in the connection formula the parameter a appears which is related to E in a nontrivial way and has to be obtained by inverting the Matone relation<sup>2</sup> [112, 113] (See Appendix 1.C for details):

$$E = a^2 - \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}} \,. \tag{1.3.24}$$

Everything has to be computed for general  $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2$  using Nekrasov formulae and then specialized to the NS limit by setting  $\epsilon_1 = 1$  and taking the limit  $\epsilon_2 \rightarrow 0$  in the end. To work consistently at one instanton one also needs to expand the Gamma functions since they contain *a* which is given as an instanton expansion. We get

$$\begin{split} \hat{f}_{\alpha_{1\theta}}^{(s)}(z) &= \frac{\Gamma(-2a_{2})\Gamma(1+2\theta a_{1})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{1}-a_{2}+\sqrt{E}))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{1}-a_{2}-\sqrt{E})} \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}(z) \times \\ &\times \left[ 1 - \left(\frac{\theta a_{1}+a_{2}}{\frac{1}{2}-2E} + \frac{\frac{1}{4}-E+a_{1}^{2}-a_{2}^{2}}{\sqrt{E}\left(1-4E\right)} \left[\psi^{(0)}\left(\frac{1}{2}-\sqrt{E}+\theta a_{1}-a_{2}\right)-\psi^{(0)}\left(\frac{1}{2}+\sqrt{E}+\theta a_{1}-a_{2}\right)\right] \right) m_{3}\Lambda \right] + \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(2a_{2})\Gamma(1+2\theta a_{1})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{1}+a_{2}+\sqrt{E}))\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{1}+a_{2}-\sqrt{E}))} \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)}(z) \times \\ &\times \left[ 1 - \left(\frac{\theta a_{1}-a_{2}}{\frac{1}{2}-2E} + \frac{\frac{1}{4}-E+a_{1}^{2}-a_{2}^{2}}{\sqrt{E}\left(1-4E\right)} \left[\psi^{(0)}\left(\frac{1}{2}-\sqrt{E}+\theta a_{1}+a_{2}\right)-\psi^{(0)}\left(\frac{1}{2}+\sqrt{E}+\theta a_{1}+a_{2}\right)\right] \right) m_{3}\Lambda \right] \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^{2}). \end{split}$$

(1.3.25)

Here  $\psi^{(0)}(z) = \frac{d}{dz} \log \Gamma(z)$  is the digamma function. The higher instanton corrections to the connection coefficients can be computed in an analogous way. We have identified  $\hat{f}_{\alpha_{1\theta}}^{(s)}(z) = e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z-1)^{\delta/2} w(z)$  by using the power series expansion near z = 0. We can then use the connection formula given above to obtain the power series expansion near z = 1in terms of  $\hat{f}_{\alpha_{2\pm}}^{(t)}(z)$ , and compare it to the numerical solution. In the following we illustrate the power of the connection formula by giving random values (in a suitable range) to the various parameters and plotting the confluent Heun function numerically versus the threeterm power expansion at z = 1, computed analytically by using the connection formula

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>From the gauge theory viewpoint  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  parametrizes the Cartan flat direction of the potential for the scalar field component  $\varphi$  of the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  vector multiplet. The parameter E in the gauge theory is the gauge invariant co-ordinate  $\langle \text{Tr}\varphi^2 \rangle$  of the Coulomb branch.

from 0 to 1. Here we use the dictionary between the parameters of the CHE in standard form and the CFT parameters given in (2.3.25), with  $\theta = +1, \theta' = -1, \theta'' = -1$ .



Figure 1.1: Real and imaginary parts of the rescaled confluent Heun function  $e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z - 1)^{\delta/2} w(z)$  (blue, dashed), computed numerically, and of the three-term power expansion near z = 1 (solid, orange), obtained analytically using the connection coefficients computed at zero instantons. The validity of the series expansion around z = 1 (orange) is limited to a neighborhood of z = 1, but going to higher orders in the expansion to extend the validity is straightforward. The values of the parameters are:  $a_1 = 0.970123 + 1.36981i$ ,  $a_2 = -0.386424 - 2.99783i$ , E = 5.41627 + 6.40871i,  $m_3 = 1.68707 - 0.707722i$ ,  $\Lambda = 1.96772 + 1.80414i$ .



Figure 1.2: Real and imaginary parts of the rescaled confluent Heun function  $e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z-1)^{\delta/2} w(z)$  (blue, dashed), computed numerically, and of the three-term power expansion near z = 1 (solid, orange), obtained analytically using the connection coefficients computed at one instanton. The validity of the series expansion around z = 1 (orange) is limited to a neighborhood of z = 1, but going to higher orders in the expansion to extend the validity is straightforward. The values of the parameters are:  $a_1 = 0.970123 + 1.36981i$ ,  $a_2 = -0.386424 - 2.99783i$ , E = 5.41627 + 6.40871i,  $m_3 = 1.68707 - 0.707722i$ ,  $\Lambda = 1.96772 + 1.80414i$ .



Figure 1.3: Real and imaginary parts of the rescaled confluent Heun function  $e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z - 1)^{\delta/2} w(z)$  (blue, dashed), computed numerically, and of the three-term power expansion near z = 1 (solid, orange), obtained analytically using the connection coefficients computed at two instantons. The validity of the series expansion around z = 1 (orange) is limited to a neighborhood of z = 1, but going to higher orders in the expansion to extend the validity is straightforward. The values of the parameters are:  $a_1 = 0.970123 + 1.36981i$ ,  $a_2 = -0.386424 - 2.99783i$ , E = 5.41627 + 6.40871i,  $m_3 = 1.68707 - 0.707722i$ ,  $\Lambda = 1.96772 + 1.80414i$ .



Figure 1.4: Real and imaginary parts of the rescaled confluent Heun function  $e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z - 1)^{\delta/2} w(z)$  (blue, dashed), computed numerically, and of the three-term power expansion near z = 1 (solid, orange), obtained analytically using the connection coefficients computed at zero instantons. The validity of the series expansion around z = 1 (orange) is limited to a neighborhood of z = 1, but going to higher orders in the expansion to extend the validity is straightforward. The values of the parameters are:  $a_1 = 0.5 + 1.24031i$ ,  $a_2 = -0.5 + 1.55419i$ , E = 5.52396,  $m_3 = 0.92039 + 1.36765i$ ,  $\Lambda = 1.60238 + 1.25941i$ .



Figure 1.5: Real and imaginary parts of the rescaled confluent Heun function  $e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z-1)^{\delta/2} w(z)$  (blue, dashed), computed numerically, and of the three-term power expansion near z = 1 (solid, orange), obtained analytically using the connection coefficients computed at one instanton. The validity of the series expansion around z = 1 (orange) is limited to a neighborhood of z = 1, but going to higher orders in the expansion to extend the validity is straightforward. The values of the parameters are:  $a_1 = 0.5 + 1.24031i$ ,  $a_2 = -0.5 + 1.55419i$ , E = 5.52396,  $m_3 = 0.92039 + 1.36765i$ ,  $\Lambda = 1.60238 + 1.25941i$ .



Figure 1.6: Real and imaginary parts of the rescaled confluent Heun function  $e^{\epsilon z/2} z^{\gamma/2} (z-1)^{\delta/2} w(z)$  (blue, dashed), computed numerically, and of the three-term power expansion near z = 1 (solid, orange), obtained analytically using the connection coefficients computed at two instantons. The validity of the series expansion around z = 1 (orange) is limited to a neighborhood of z = 1, but going to higher orders in the expansion to extend the validity is straightforward. The values of the parameters are:  $a_1 = 0.5 + 1.24031i$ ,  $a_2 = -0.5 + 1.55419i$ , E = 5.52396,  $m_3 = 0.92039 + 1.36765i$ ,  $\Lambda = 1.60238 + 1.25941i$ .

As a concluding remark, we notice that already the first instanton correction significantly improves the approximation.
### 1.4 Applications to the black hole problem

There are several interesting physical quantities in the black hole problem which are governed by the Teukolsky equation. Having the explicit expression for the connection coefficients allows us to compute them exactly. We turn to this now.

#### 1.4.1 The greybody factor

While all our analysis has been for classical black holes, it is known that quantum black holes emit thermal radiation from their horizons [114]. However, the spacetime outside of the black hole acts as a potential barrier for the emitted particles, so that the emission spectrum as measured by an observer at infinity is no longer thermal, but is given by  $\frac{\sigma(\omega)}{\exp \frac{\omega-m\Omega}{T_H}-1}$ , where  $\sigma(\omega)$  is the so-called greybody factor. Incidentally, it is the same as the absorption coefficient of the black hole, which tells us the ratio of a flux of particles incoming from infinity which penetrates the potential barrier and is absorbed by the black hole [114] [115]. More precisely, the radial equation with s = 0 has a conserved flux, given by the "probability flux" when written as a Schrödinger equation:  $\phi = \text{Im}\psi^{\dagger}(z)\partial_z\psi(z)$ for z on the real line. The absorption coefficient is then defined as the ratio between the flux  $\phi_{abs}$  absorbed by the black hole (ingoing at the horizon) and the flux  $\phi_{in}$  incoming from infinity. For non-zero spin, the potential (1.1.10) becomes complex, and the flux is no longer conserved. In that case the absorption coefficient can be computed using energy fluxes [116], but for simplicity we stick here to s = 0.

#### The exact result

On physical grounds we impose the boundary condition that there is only an ingoing wave at the horizon:

$$R(r \to r_+) \sim (r - r_+)^{-i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_H}},$$
 (1.4.1)

so the wavefunction near the horizon is given by

$$\psi(z) = \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}(z) = (z-1)^{\frac{1}{2}+a_2} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(z-1)\right), \qquad (1.4.2)$$

with  $a_2 = -i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_H}$  and recall that the time-dependent part goes like  $e^{-i\omega t}$ . This boundary condition is independent of whether  $\omega - m\Omega$  is positive or negative: an observer near the horizon always sees an ingoing flux into the horizon, but when  $\omega - m\Omega < 0$  it is outgoing according to an observer at infinity. This phenomenon is known as superradiance [117]. In any case, this gives the flux

$$\phi_{abs} = \mathrm{Im}a_2 \tag{1.4.3}$$

ingoing at the horizon. Using our connection formula, we find that near infinity the wavefunction behaves as

$$\psi(z) = \frac{M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{-}} f_{\alpha_{-}}^{(u)}(z)}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} + \frac{M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{+}} f_{\alpha_{+}}^{(u)}(z)}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} = M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{-}} \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}-a} \sum_{\pm} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-},m_{3\pm}} e^{\pm \frac{\Lambda z}{2}} (\Lambda z)^{\pm m_{3}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha_{-}}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0\pm} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} (1 + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})) + (\alpha \to -\alpha).$$

$$(1.4.4)$$

At infinity, the ingoing part of the wave is easy to identify: recalling that  $\Lambda = -2i\omega(r_+ - r_-)$ it corresponds to the positive sign in the exponential. So the flux incoming from infinity is

$$\phi_{in} = \operatorname{Im} \frac{\Lambda}{2} \left| M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{-}} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-},m_{3+}} \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}-a+m_{3}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha_{-}},\Lambda_{0},m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha},\Lambda_{0},m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} + (\alpha \to -\alpha) \right|^{2} = \\ = -\frac{1}{2} \left| \frac{\Gamma(1+2a)\Gamma(2a)\Gamma(1+2a_{2})\Lambda^{-a+m_{3}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}+a\right)\prod_{\pm}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\pm a_{1}+a_{2}+a\right)} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha_{-}},\Lambda_{0},m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha},\Lambda_{0},m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} + (a \to -a) \right|^{2}.$$

$$(1.4.5)$$

The minus sign comes from the fact that we have simplified  $\Lambda$  and we have Im $\Lambda = -|\Lambda|$ . Note that also the flux at the horizon is negative (for non-superradiant modes). So the full absorption coefficient/greybody factor, defined as the flux going into the horizon normalized by the flux coming in from infinity is:

$$\sigma = \frac{\phi_{abs}}{\phi_{in}} = \frac{-\mathrm{Im}2a_2}{\left|\frac{\Gamma(1+2a)\Gamma(2a)\Gamma(1+2a_2)\Lambda^{-a+m_3}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+m_3+a\right)\prod_{\pm}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\pm a_1+a_2+a\right)}\frac{\langle\Delta_{\alpha-},\Lambda_0,m_0+|V_{\alpha_2}(1)|\Delta_{\alpha_1}\rangle}{\langle\Delta_{\alpha},\Lambda_0,m_0|V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1)|\Delta_{\alpha_1}\rangle} + (a \to -a)\right|^2}.$$
(1.4.6)

This is the exact result, given as a power series in  $\Lambda$ . The correlators have to be understood as computed in the NS limit with  $\epsilon_1 = 1$ . The ratio of correlators can be written in terms of the NS free energy (see Appendix 1.D), and substituting the dictionary (1.2.20) we get

$$\sigma = \frac{\phi_{abs}}{\phi_{in}} = \frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_H} \times \left| \frac{\Gamma(1+2a)\Gamma(2a)\Gamma(1-i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{2\pi T_H})(-2i\omega(r_+-r_-))^{-a-2iM\omega}e^{-i\omega(r_+-r_-)}\exp\left(\frac{\partial\mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}}{\partial a_1}\right)|_{a_1=a,a_2=-a}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-2iM\omega+a\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{2\pi T_H}+2iM\omega+a\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-2iM\omega+a\right)} + (a \to -a) \right|^{-2}.$$

$$(1.4.7)$$

(1.4.7) Here  $\mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a_1, a_2, m_1, m_2, m_3)$  is the instanton part of the NS free energy as defined in Appendix 1.C computed for general  $\vec{a} = (a_1, a_2)$  and after taking the derivative one substitutes the values  $\vec{a} = (a, -a)$  appropriate for SU(2). The same holds for the second summand but one substitutes  $\vec{a} = (-a, a)$  in the end. To write this result fully in terms of the parameters of the black hole problem using the dictionary (1.2.20), one has to invert the relation  $E = a^2 - \Lambda \partial_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}$  to obtain a(E), which can be done order by order in  $\Lambda$ . In the literature, the absorption coefficient for Kerr black holes has been calculated using various approximations. As a consistency check, we show that our result reproduces the known results in the appropriate regimes.

#### Comparison with asymptotic matching

In [76], the absorption coefficient is calculated via an asymptotic matching procedure. They work in a regime in which  $a\omega \ll 1$  such that the angular eigenvalue  $\lambda \approx \ell(\ell + 1)$ , and solve the Teukolsky equation for s = 0 asymptotically in the regions near and far from the outer horizon. Then one also takes  $M\omega \ll 1$  such that there exists an overlap between the far and near regions and one can match the asymptotic solutions. For us these limits imply that also  $|\Lambda| = 4\omega\sqrt{M^2 - a^2} \ll 1$ , so we expand our exact transmission coefficient to lowest order in  $a\omega$ ,  $M\omega$  and  $\Lambda$ . Since from the dictionary (1.2.20)  $E = a^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda) = \frac{1}{4} + \ell(\ell+1) + \mathcal{O}(a\omega, M\omega)$ , in this limit we have  $a = \ell + \frac{1}{2}$ . Then the second term in the denominator of (1.4.6) which contains  $\Lambda^a$  vanishes for  $\Lambda \to 0$  while the first one survives and passes to the numerator. The instanton part of the NS free energy also vanishes,  $\mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda \to 0) = 0$ . (1.4.7) then becomes

$$\sigma \approx \frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_H} (2\omega(r_+ - r_-))^{2\ell+1} \left| \frac{\Gamma\left(\ell + 1\right)\Gamma\left(\ell + 1 - i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_H}\right)\Gamma\left(\ell + 1\right)}{\Gamma(2\ell + 2)\Gamma(2\ell + 1)\Gamma(1 - i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_H})} \right|^2 .$$
(1.4.8)

Using the relation  $\frac{\Gamma(\ell+1)}{\Gamma(2\ell+2)} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2^{2\ell+1}\Gamma(\ell+\frac{3}{2})}$  (and sending  $i \to -i$  inside the modulus squared) we reduce precisely to the result of [76] (eq. 2.29):

$$\sigma \approx \frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2T_H} \frac{(r_+ - r_-)^{2\ell+1} \omega^{2\ell+1}}{2^{2\ell+1}} \left| \frac{\Gamma(\ell+1)\Gamma\left(\ell+1 + i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_H}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{3}{2}\right)\Gamma(2\ell+1)\Gamma\left(1 + i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_H}\right)} \right|^2, \qquad (1.4.9)$$

which is valid for  $M\omega$ ,  $a\omega \ll 1$ .

#### Comparison with semiclassics

We now show that the exact absorption coefficient reduces to the semiclassical result obtained via a standard WKB analysis of the equation

$$\epsilon_1^2 \partial_z^2 \psi(z) + V(z)\psi(z) = 0. \qquad (1.4.10)$$

where we have reintroduced the small parameter  $\epsilon_1$  which plays the role of the Planck constant to keep track of the orders in the expansion. For the Teukolsky equation (which has  $\epsilon_1 = 1$ ) the semiclassical regime is the regime in which  $\ell \gg 1$ . Following [77], we also take  $M\omega \ll 1$  and s = 0 such that there are two zeroes of the potential between the outer horizon and infinity for real values of z which we denote by  $z_1$  and  $z_2$  with  $z_2 > z_1$ , between which there is a potential barrier for the particle (V(z) becomes negative, notice the "wrong sign" in front of the second derivative). Without these extra conditions, the potential generically becomes complex, or does not form a barrier. The main difference with the regime used for the asymptotic matching procedure in the previous section is that there we worked to leading order in  $M\omega$ ,  $a\omega$ . Now we still assume them to be small but keep all orders, while working to first subleading order in  $\epsilon_1$ .



Figure 1.7: Forms of the potential -V(z) for M = 1, a = 0.5,  $\lambda = 10$ , m = 0, s = 0, and  $\omega = 0.01$  (left) and  $\omega = 1$  (right). We see that for  $M\omega$  not small enough, the potential does not form a barrier.

The standard WKB solutions are

$$\psi(z) \propto V(z)^{-\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\pm \frac{i}{\epsilon_1} \int_{z_*}^z \sqrt{V(z')} dz'\right), \qquad (1.4.11)$$

where  $z_*$  is some arbitrary reference point, usually taken to be a turning point of the potential, here corresponding to a zero. The absorption coefficient is given by the transmission coefficient from infinity to the horizon and captures the tunneling amplitude through this potential barrier. It is simply given by

$$\sigma \approx \exp\left(\frac{2i}{\epsilon_1} \int_{z_1}^{z_2} \sqrt{V(z')} dz'\right) = \exp\left(-\frac{2}{\epsilon_1} \int_{z_1}^{z_2} \sqrt{|V(z')|} dz'\right). \tag{1.4.12}$$

On the other hand it is known that in the semiclassical limit the potential of the BPZ equation reduces to the Seiberg-Witten differential of the AGT dual gauge theory [41], which for us is SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 3$ :  $V(z) \rightarrow -\phi_{SW}^2(z)$ . The integral between the two zeroes then corresponds to half a B-cycle, so we identify

$$\sigma \approx \exp\left(-\frac{2}{\epsilon_1}\int_{z_1}^{z_2}\phi_{SW}(z')dz'\right) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\epsilon_1}\oint_B\phi_{SW}(z')dz'\right) =:\exp\left(-\frac{a_D}{\epsilon_1}\right), \quad (1.4.13)$$

where we have chosen an orientation of the B-cycle. Our exact absorption coefficient reduces to this expression in the semiclassical limit  $\epsilon_1 \rightarrow 0$ . The detailed calculation is deferred to Appendix 1.D.

#### 1.4.2 Quantization of quasinormal modes

With the explicit expression of the connection matrix (1.3.12) in our hands we can extract the quantization condition for the quasinormal modes. The correct boundary conditions for quasinormal modes is only an ingoing wave at the horizon and only an outgoing one at infinity (see e.g. [102], eq. (80)), that is

$$R_{\text{QNM}}(r \to r_{+}) \sim (r - r_{+})^{-i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}} - s}$$

$$R_{\text{QNM}}(r \to \infty) \sim r^{-1 - 2s + 2iM\omega} e^{i\omega r}.$$
(1.4.14)

In terms of the function  $\psi(z)$  satisfying the Teukolsky equation in Schrödinger form:

$$\psi_{\text{QNM}}(z \to 1) \sim (z - 1)^{\frac{1}{2} + a_2}, 
\psi_{\text{QNM}}(z \to \infty) \sim e^{-\Lambda z/2} (\Lambda z)^{-m_3}.$$
(1.4.15)

-

However, imposing the ingoing boundary condition at the horizon and using the connection formula, we get that near infinity

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\text{QNM}}(z \to \infty) \sim \\ \sim & \left( \Lambda^a M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_+} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_+ m_{0-}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha_+}, \Lambda_0, m_{0-} | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle} + \Lambda^{-a} M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_-} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_- m_{0-}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha_-}, \Lambda_0, m_{0-} | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle} \right) \times \\ & \times e^{-\Lambda z/2} \left( \Lambda z \right)^{-m_3} + \\ + & \left( \Lambda^a M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_+} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_+ m_{0+}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha_+}, \Lambda_0, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle} + \Lambda^{-a} M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_-} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_- m_{0+}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha_-}, \Lambda_0, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle} \right) \times \\ & \times e^{\Lambda z/2} \left( \Lambda z \right)^{m_3} , \end{split}$$

$$(1.4.16)$$

which contains both an ingoing an an outgoing wave at infinity. In order to impose the correct boundary condition (1.4.15) we need to impose that the coefficient of the ingoing wave vanishes:

$$\Lambda^{a} M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{+}} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha+m_{0+}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha+}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} + \Lambda^{-a} M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{-}} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha-m_{0+}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha-}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} = 0$$

$$\Longrightarrow 1 + \Lambda^{-2a} \frac{M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{-}} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha-m_{0+}} \langle \Delta_{\alpha-}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{+}} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha+m_{0+}} \langle \Delta_{\alpha+}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} = 0.$$
(1.4.17)

Identifying in the NS limit

$$\frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha-}, \Lambda_0, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha+}, \Lambda_0, m_{0+} | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle} = \frac{\mathcal{Z}(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_1, m_2, m_3 + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2})}{\mathcal{Z}(\Lambda, a - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_1, m_2, m_3 + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2})} = \\
= \exp \frac{1}{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2} \left( \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_1, m_2, m_3 + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}) - \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_1, m_2, m_3 + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}) \right) \rightarrow \\
\rightarrow \exp \frac{\partial_a \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3)}{\epsilon_1}.$$
(1.4.18)

Moreover,

$$\frac{M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{-}}\mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-}m_{0+}}}{M_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{+}}\mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+}m_{0+}}} = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(-\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{a_{2}+a_{1}-a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{a_{2}-a_{1}-a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{a_{2}-a_{1}+a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{a_{2}-a_{1}+a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m_{3}-a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{a_{2}+a_{1}+a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} = \\
= \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(-\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} \prod_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m_{i}-a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m_{i}+a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} = e^{-i\pi} \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1-\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}\right)^{2} \prod_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m_{i}-a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m_{i}+a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} = \\
= \exp\left[-i\pi + 2\log\frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1-\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3}\log\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m_{i}-a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m_{i}+a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}\right].$$
(1.4.19)

Including also the  $\Lambda$  factor (restoring the factor of  $\epsilon_1$ ), we identify the exponent with (see Appendix 1.C)

$$\frac{1}{\epsilon_1} \left[ -i\pi\epsilon_1 - 2a\log\frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_1} + 2\epsilon_1\log\frac{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{2a}{\epsilon_1}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{2a}{\epsilon_1}\right)} + \epsilon_1\sum_{i=1}^3\log\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{m_i - a}{\epsilon_1}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{m_i + a}{\epsilon_1}\right)} \right] = -i\pi + \frac{1}{\epsilon_1}\partial_a \mathcal{F}^{1-\mathrm{loop}}$$
(1.4.20)

The instanton and one loop part combine to give the full NS free energy, and hence (1.4.17) can be conveniently rewritten for  $\epsilon_1 = 1$  (as required by the dictionary), as

$$1 - e^{\partial_a \mathcal{F}} = 0 \Rightarrow \partial_a \mathcal{F} = 2\pi i n, n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(1.4.21)

To solve for the quasinormal mode frequencies, we need to invert the relation  $E = a^2 - \Lambda \partial_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}$  to obtain a(E). Then the quantization condition for the quasinormal mode frequencies that we have derived reads

$$\left| \frac{\partial_a \mathcal{F}\left( -2i\omega(r_+ - r_-), a(E), -i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{2\pi T_H} + 2iM\omega, -2iM\omega - s, -2iM\omega + s, 1 \right) = 2\pi i n, n \in \mathbb{Z}, \right|$$

$$(1.4.22)$$

(1.4.22) with  $E = \frac{1}{4} + \lambda + s(s+1) + a^2 \omega^2 - 8M^2 \omega^2 - (2M\omega^2 + is\omega)(r_+ - r_-)$ . This gives an equation that is solved for a discrete set of  $\omega_n$ , in agreement with [68]<sup>3</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In order to match with [68], it is important to notice that they use the variable -ia instead of a, have a different U(1) factor as previously noticed, and a sign difference in the definition of the free energy  $\mathcal{F}$ .

#### 1.4.3 Angular quantization

Yet another application of the connection formulae is the computation of the angular eigenvalue  $\lambda$ . To this end, we impose regularity of the angular eigenfunctions at z = 0, 1. According to the angular dictionary (1.2.23),

$$\frac{1\pm 2a_1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{m-s}{2}, \ \frac{1\pm 2a_2}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{m+s}{2},$$
(1.4.23)

therefore, according to (1.1.11) the behavior of  $S_{\lambda}$  as  $z \to 0$  is given by

$$S_{\lambda}(z \to 0) \propto z^{\mp \frac{m-s}{2}}.$$
(1.4.24)

Since  $\lambda_{s,m} = \lambda_{s,-m}^*$ ,  $\lambda_{-s,m} = \lambda_{s,m} + 2s$  [118], we can restrict without loss of generality to the case  $m, -s \ge 0$ . Regularity of  $S_{\lambda}$  as  $z \to 0$  requires the boundary condition

$$y_{m>s}(z \to 0) = \hat{f}_{\alpha_{1-}}^{(s)}(z) \simeq z^{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{m-s}{2}}.$$
 (1.4.25)

Therefore near  $z \to 1$ ,

$$\begin{split} y_{m>s}(z \to 1) &= \\ &= N_{a_{1-},a_{2-}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2-}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1-}} \rangle} \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)}(z) + N_{a_{1-},a_{2+}} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2+}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2-}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle} \hat{f}_{\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}(z) \simeq \\ &\simeq \frac{\Gamma(-m-s)\Gamma(1+m-s)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a-s)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a-s)} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2-}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1-}} \rangle} (1-z)^{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{m+s}{2}} + \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(m+s)\Gamma(1+m-s)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-a+m)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+a+m)} \frac{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1-}} \rangle}{\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | V_{\alpha_{2}}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_{1-}} \rangle} (1-z)^{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{m+s}{2}} \,. \end{split}$$

$$(1.4.26)$$

Let us start by assuming m + s > 0. Then the second term in (1.4.26) has a pole at z = 1 for generic values of a, and the first gamma function is divergent as it stands. However both divergences are cured by imposing that

$$a = \ell + \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (1.4.27)$$

for some positive integer  $\ell \ge m \ge -s$ . Analogously if  $m + s \le 0$ , regularity is ensured by imposing  $a = \ell + \frac{1}{2}$  with  $\ell \ge m \ge -s$ . Therefore in general the quantization condition for the angular eigenvalue is

$$a(\Lambda, E, m_1, m_2, m_3) = \ell + \frac{1}{2}, \ \ell \ge \max(m, -s).$$
 (1.4.28)

As before, a is obtained by inverting the expression  $E = a^2 - \Lambda \partial_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}$  order by order in  $\Lambda$ . Let us denote by

$$\lambda_0 = \lambda(\Lambda = 0) = \ell(\ell + 1) - s(s + 1).$$
(1.4.29)

Moreover, their  $\partial_a \mathcal{F}$  is shifted by a factor of  $-i\pi$  with respect to ours.

Then the above quantization condition for the angular eigenvalue  $\lambda$  can be more conveniently written as

$$\lambda - \lambda_0 = 2cs - c^2 - \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, \ell + \frac{1}{2}, -m, -s, -s\right)\Big|_{\Lambda = 4c}, \qquad (1.4.30)$$

which is the result already obtained in [68].

#### 1.4.4 Love numbers

Applying an external gravitational field to a self-gravitating body generically causes it to deform, much in the same way as an external electric field polarizes a dielectric material. The response of the body to the external gravitational tidal field is captured by the so-called tidal response coefficients or Love numbers, named after A. E. H. Love who first studied them in the context of the Earth's response to the tides [119]. In general relativity, the tidal response coefficients are generally complex, and the real part captures the conservative response of the body, whereas the imaginary part captures dissipative effects. There is some naming ambiguity where sometimes only the real, conservative part is called the Love number, whereas sometimes the full complex response coefficient is called Love number. For us the Love number will be the full complex response coefficient. For four-dimensional Kerr black holes, the conservative (real part) of the response coefficient to static external perturbations has been found to vanish [78, 80]. Moreover, Love numbers are measurable quantities that can be probed with gravitational wave observations [120, 121]. Using our conformal field theory approach to the Teukolsky equation we compute the Love number of a slowly rotating Kerr black hole at linear order in the frequency of the perturbation. The extension of our computation to higher orders is straightforward.

#### Definition of Love number and the intermediate region

For the definition of Love numbers we follow [80] and [78], to which we refer for a more complete introduction. In the case of a static external perturbation ( $\omega = 0$ ), one imposes the ingoing boundary condition on the radial part of the perturbing field at the horizon, which then behaves near infinity as

$$R(r \to \infty) = Ar^{\ell-s} (1 + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})) + Br^{-\ell-s-1} (1 + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}))$$
  
=  $Ar^{\ell-s} \left[ (1 + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})) + k_{\ell m}^{(s)} \left(\frac{r}{r_{+} - r_{-}}\right)^{-2\ell-1} (1 + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})) \right]$  (1.4.31)

for some constants A and B. The Love number  $k_{\ell m}^{(s)}$  is then defined as the coefficient of  $(r/(r_+ - r_-))^{-2\ell-1}$  (note that this differs from the definition in [80] where they define it as the coefficient of  $(r/2M)^{-2\ell-1}$  instead). In the non-static case however, the definition of Love number is less clear, since the behaviour of the radial function at infinity is now

qualitatively different from (1.4.31): it is oscillatory (cf. (1.4.4)) due to the term  $\propto \omega^2$  in the potential (1.A.3). For small frequencies we can however define an intermediate regime  $r \gg M$ ,  $r\omega \ll 1$  in which the multipole expansion (1.4.31) is still valid and we can read off the Love numbers in the same way as in the static case. Recall the Teukolsky equation written as a Schrödinger equation:

$$\frac{d^2\psi(z)}{dz^2} + V_{CFT}(z)\psi(z) = 0$$
(1.4.32)

with the potential (1.2.14)

$$V_{CFT}(z) = -\frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{z-1} \left( -\Lambda \partial_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}} + \hat{\Delta}_2 + \hat{\Delta}_1 - \hat{\Delta} \right) + \frac{\hat{\Delta}_2}{(z-1)^2} + \frac{\hat{\Delta}_1}{z^2} - \frac{m_3 \Lambda}{z} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4} . \quad (1.4.33)$$

The intermediate regime corresponds to  $z \gg 1$ ,  $\Lambda z \ll 1$ . Expanding in these variables the potential reads:

$$\frac{V_{CFT}(z)}{\Lambda^2} = \frac{\frac{1}{4} - E}{\Lambda^2 z^2} \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1}, \Lambda z) \right) \,. \tag{1.4.34}$$

We see that in this regime the leading term in the potential is the one  $\propto 1/z^2$ , and the multipole expansion holds. In a sense we are taking z to be big enough to be far from the horizon, but not so far as to reach the oscillatory region at infinity, as already mentioned in [79]. In the static case this intermediate region where the multipole expansion is valid extends all the way to infinity. On the CFT side, the conformal blocks in this regime are computed by expanding the irregular state as in (1.2.7) and doing the OPE of the degenerate state near infinity term by term. This gives an expansion in  $\Lambda z$  and  $z^{-1}$ .

#### 1.4.5 Slowly rotating Kerr Love numbers

Let us compute the Kerr Love numbers up to first order in  $M\omega \sim M\Omega$ . In order to do this we have to consider only the first instanton correction since  $\Lambda \propto M\omega$ . The wavefunction up to one instanton can be derived from the conformal blocks in the intermediate regime. Schematically,

$$\psi(z) \sim \frac{\langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | \phi(z) V_2(1) | \Delta_1 \rangle}{\langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_2(1) | \Delta_1 \rangle} \simeq \frac{\left( \langle \Delta | + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{2\Delta} \langle \Delta | L_1 \right) \phi(z) V_2(1) | \Delta_1 \rangle}{\left( \langle \Delta | + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{2\Delta} \langle \Delta | L_1 \right) V_2(1) | \Delta_1 \rangle} .$$
(1.4.35)

Imposing the ingoing boundary condition at the horizon, this gives the following wavefunction in the intermediate regime:

$$\psi(z) = \left[1 + \frac{m_3\Lambda}{\frac{1}{2} - 2a^2} \left(\left(1 - \frac{1}{z}\right)\partial_{1/z} + z - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] \sum_{\theta=\pm} M_{a_{2+}a_{\theta}} z^{\frac{1}{2} - \theta a} \left(1 - \frac{1}{z}\right)^{\frac{1}{2} + a_2} \times zF_1\left(\frac{1}{2} + a_2 + \theta a - a_1, \frac{1}{2} + a_2 + \theta a + a_1; 1 + 2\theta a; \frac{1}{z}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Lambda^2\right).$$
(1.4.36)

Note that the first instanton contributes at this order only if  $s \neq 0$  since for zero spin  $m_3\Lambda \sim \mathcal{O}(M^2\omega^2)$ . For a slowly rotating black hole the connection coefficients start with  $\mathcal{O}((M\omega)^0) = \mathcal{O}((M\Omega)^0)$  terms. Indeed substituting the dictionary we find

$$M_{a_{2+}a_{+}} = \frac{\Gamma(-1-2\ell-2\Delta\ell)\Gamma(1-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}-s)}{\Gamma(-\ell-\Delta\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}+2iM\omega)\Gamma(-\ell-\Delta\ell-2iM\omega-s)} = = \frac{\ell!(\ell+s)!}{(2\ell+1)!}(-1)^{s+1}\frac{(2iM\omega)(-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}+2iM\omega)}{2\Delta\ell} + \mathcal{O}(M\omega), \qquad (1.4.37)$$
$$M_{a_{2+}a_{-}} = \frac{\Gamma(1+2\ell)\Gamma(1-s)}{\Gamma(\ell+1)\Gamma(\ell-s+1)} + \mathcal{O}(M\omega),$$

where  $a = \ell + 1/2 + \Delta \ell$ . It turns out that the first correction to a vanishes, so  $\Delta \ell \sim \mathcal{O}(M^2 \omega^2)$ . Also note that all the Gamma functions are finite since  $s \leq 0$ . Plugging in the dictionary and expanding the hypergeometrics gives

$${}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2}+a_{2}+a-a_{1},\frac{1}{2}+a_{2}+a+a_{1};1+2a;\frac{1}{z}\right) \simeq \\ \simeq {}_{2}F_{1}\left(1+\ell-s-2iM\omega,1+\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}+2iM\omega;2+2\ell;\frac{1}{z}\right), \\ {}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2}+a_{2}-a-a_{1},\frac{1}{2}+a_{2}-a+a_{1};1-2a;\frac{1}{z}\right) \simeq \\ \simeq \sum_{n=0}^{2\ell}\frac{(-\ell-s-2iM\omega)_{(n)}(-\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}+2iM\omega)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}}\frac{z^{-n}}{n!}+ \\ +\frac{\Gamma(-2\ell-2\Delta\ell)\Gamma(1+\ell-s-2iM\omega)\Gamma(1+\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}+2iM\omega)}{\Gamma(-\ell-s-2iM\omega)\Gamma(-\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}+2iM\omega)\Gamma(2\ell+2)}z^{-2\ell-1}\times \\ \times {}_{2}F_{1}\left(1+\ell-s-2iM\omega,1+\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}}+2iM\omega;2+2\ell;\frac{1}{z}\right). \end{cases}$$
(1.4.38)

Note that

$$\frac{\Gamma(-2\ell-2\Delta\ell)\Gamma(1+\ell-s-2iM\omega)\Gamma(1+\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_H}+2iM\omega)}{\Gamma(-\ell-s-2iM\omega)\Gamma(-\ell-2i\frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_H}+2iM\omega)\Gamma(2\ell+2)}M_{a_2+a_-} = -M_{a_2+a_+} + \mathcal{O}\left((M\omega)^2\right),$$
(1.4.39)

therefore at this order the hypergeometrics simplify one against the other up to a finite polynomial, hence

$$\psi(z) = \left[1 + \frac{m_3\Lambda}{\frac{1}{2} - 2a^2} \left(\left(1 - \frac{1}{z}\right)\partial_{1/z} + z - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] \times \\ \times M_{a_{2+}a_{-}} z^{\frac{1}{2} + a} \left(1 - \frac{1}{z}\right)^{\frac{1}{2} + a_2} \sum_{n=0}^{2\ell} \frac{(-\ell - s - 2iM\omega)_{(n)}(-\ell - 2i\frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_H} + 2iM\omega)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}} \frac{z^{-n}}{n!} + \mathcal{O}(M^2\omega^2).$$

$$(1.4.40)$$

The radial wavefunction is given by

$$R(r) = \Delta^{-\frac{s+1}{2}}(r)\psi(z), \qquad (1.4.41)$$

where

$$z = \frac{r}{2M} + \mathcal{O}\left(M^2 \Omega^2\right), \ \Delta(r)^{-\frac{s+1}{2}} = (r_+ - r_-)^{-s-1} z^{-s-1} \left(1 - \frac{1}{z}\right)^{-\frac{s+1}{2}}.$$
 (1.4.42)

To find the Love numbers, we need the ratio between the coefficient of  $r^{-\ell-s-1}$  (the response) and the coefficient of  $r^{\ell-s}$  (the source). The term coming from the first instanton in (1.4.40) will not contribute at this order. Indeed this term gives

$$\begin{split} \psi(z) &\supset \frac{-4iM^2\omega s}{\ell(\ell+1)} \left( \left(1-\frac{1}{z}\right) \partial_{1/z} + z - \frac{1}{2} \right) M_{a_{2+}a_{-}} z^{\ell+1} \left(1-\frac{1}{z}\right)^{\frac{1-s}{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}} \frac{z^{-n}}{n!} + \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(M^2\omega^2) = \\ &= \frac{-4iM^2\omega s}{\ell(\ell+1)} M_{a_{2+}a_{-}} z^{\ell+1} \left(1-\frac{1}{z}\right)^{\frac{1-s}{2}} \left(-z\ell + \frac{2\ell+s}{2} + \left(1-\frac{1}{z}\right) \partial_{1/z} \right) \sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}} \frac{z^{-n}}{n!} + \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(M^2\omega^2) \,. \end{split}$$

$$(1.4.43)$$

After taking into account the factor of  $\Delta$  from (1.4.41), one sees that this contribution to R(r) does not contain the power that we are interested in. Focusing on the zero instanton contribution, the (1 - 1/z) prefactor has an  $\mathcal{O}(M\omega)$  term in the exponent that has to be expanded, resulting in

$$R(r) \supset i \frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_H} \frac{M_{a_{2+}a_{-}}}{(r_{+} - r_{-})^{s+1}} \frac{r^{\ell - s}}{((2M)^{\ell + 1}} \left( 1 + s \frac{2M}{r} + \frac{s(s+1)}{2} \left( \frac{2M}{r} \right)^2 \right) \times \\ \times \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{2\ell} \frac{(-\ell - s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}} \frac{\left(\frac{r}{2M}\right)^{-n-k}}{n!k} \,.$$

$$(1.4.44)$$

This term contains the correct power, with coefficient

$$R(r) \supset \frac{M_{a_{2+}a_{-}}}{(r_{+}-r_{-})^{s+1}} \frac{r^{\ell-s}}{((2M)^{\ell+1}} i \frac{\omega-m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}} \left(\frac{r}{2M}\right)^{-2\ell-1} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}n!(2\ell+1-n)} + s \sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}n!(2\ell-n)} + \frac{s(s+1)}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}n!(2\ell-1-n)}\right).$$

$$(1.4.45)$$

A surprising identity reveals that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}n!(2\ell+1-n)} + s\sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}n!(2\ell-n)} + \frac{s(s+1)}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\ell+s} \frac{(-\ell-s)_{(n)}(-\ell)_{(n)}}{(-2\ell)_{(n)}n!(2\ell-1-n)} = \frac{(\ell+s)!(\ell-s)!(\ell!)^2}{(2\ell)!(2\ell+1)!} (-1)^s ,$$
(1.4.46)

therefore

$$R(r) \supset \frac{M_{a_{2+}a_{-}}}{(r_{+}-r_{-})^{s+1}} \frac{r^{\ell-s}}{(2M)^{\ell+1}} \left[ 1 + i \frac{\omega - m\Omega}{4\pi T_{H}} \left(\frac{r}{2M}\right)^{-2\ell-1} \frac{(\ell+s)! (\ell-s)! (\ell!)^{2}}{(2\ell)! (2\ell+1)!} \left(-1\right)^{s} \right].$$
(1.4.47)

Noticing that  $1/4\pi T_H \simeq 2M$  finally gives the Love number

$$k_{a,m}^{s} = 2iM\left(\omega - m\Omega\right)\left(-1\right)^{s} \frac{\left(\ell + s\right)!\left(\ell - s\right)!\left(\ell!\right)^{2}}{(2\ell)!\left(2\ell + 1\right)!} + \mathcal{O}(M^{2}\omega^{2}, M^{2}\Omega^{2}, M^{2}\omega\Omega). \quad (1.4.48)$$

This result matches with formula (6.17) in [80]. Note that the Love number remains purely imaginary for a small frequency perturbation, and that it vanishes in the case of a static perturbation of a Schwarzschild black hole.

# Appendix

# 1.A The radial and angular potentials

Both the radial and angular part of the Teukolsky equation can be written as a Schrödinger equation:

$$\frac{d^2\psi(z)}{dz^2} + V(z)\psi(z) = 0$$
(1.A.1)

with potential

$$V(z) = \frac{1}{z^2(z-1)^2} \sum_{i=0}^{4} \hat{A}_i z^i.$$
(1.A.2)

For the radial part, the coefficients are given by

$$\begin{split} \hat{A}_{0}^{r} &= \frac{a^{2}(1-m^{2}) - M^{2} + 4amM\omega(M - \sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}}) + 4M^{2}\omega^{2}(a^{2} - 2M^{2}) + 8M^{3}\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}}\omega^{2}}{4(a^{2} - M^{2})} + \\ &+ (is)\frac{am\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}} - 2a^{2}M\omega + 2M^{2}\omega(M - \sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}})}{2(a^{2} - M^{2})} - \frac{s^{2}}{4}, \\ \hat{A}_{1}^{r} &= \frac{4a^{2}\lambda - 4M^{2}\lambda + (8amM\omega + 16a^{2}M\omega^{2} - 32M^{3}\omega^{2})\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}} + 4a^{4}\omega^{2} - 36a^{2}M^{2}\omega^{2} + 32M^{4}\omega^{2}}{4(a^{2} - M^{2})} + \\ &+ (is)\left(-i + \frac{(2a^{2}\omega - am)\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}}}{a^{2} - M^{2}}\right) + s^{2}, \\ \hat{A}_{2}^{r} &= -\lambda - 5a^{2}\omega^{2} + 12M^{2}\omega^{2} - 12M\omega^{2}\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}} + (is)(i - 6\omega\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}}) - s^{2}, \\ \hat{A}_{3}^{r} &= 8a^{2}\omega^{2} - 8M^{2}\omega^{2} + 8M\omega^{2}\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}} + (is)4\omega\sqrt{M^{2} - a^{2}}, \\ \hat{A}_{4}^{r} &= 4(M^{2} - a^{2})\omega^{2}, \end{split}$$
(1.A.3)

while for the angular part they are

$$\hat{A}_{0}^{\theta} = -\frac{1}{4}(-1+m-s)(1+m-s), 
\hat{A}_{1}^{\theta} = c^{2} + s + 2cs - ms + s^{2} + \lambda, 
\hat{A}_{2}^{\theta} = -s - (c+s)(5c+s) - \lambda, 
\hat{A}_{3}^{\theta} = 4c(2c+s), 
\hat{A}_{4}^{\theta} = -4c^{2}.$$
(1.A.4)

# 1.B CFT calculations

### 1.B.1 The BPZ equation

To calculate the BPZ equation for the correlator (1.2.6) we first evaluate the correlator with an extra insertion of the energy-momentum tensor:

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | T(w) \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(y) | V_1 \rangle &= \\ &= \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{1}{w^{n+2}} \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | [L_n, \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(y)] | V_1 \rangle + \left( \frac{\Delta_1}{w^2} + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{w} + \Lambda_0^2 \right) \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(y) | V_1 \rangle = \\ &= \left( \frac{z}{w} \frac{1}{w-z} \partial_z + \frac{\Delta_{2,1}}{(w-z)^2} + \frac{y}{w} \frac{1}{w-y} \partial_y + \frac{\Delta_2}{(w-y)^2} + \frac{\Delta_1}{w^2} + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{w} + \Lambda_0^2 \right) \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(y) | V_1 \rangle . \end{split}$$
(1.B.1)

Now we can simply compute

$$\langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-2} \cdot \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(y) | V_1 \rangle = \oint_{C_z} \frac{dw}{w - z} \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | T(w) \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(y) | V_1 \rangle = \\ = \left( -\frac{1}{z} \partial_z + \frac{y}{z} \frac{1}{z - y} \partial_y + \frac{\Delta_2}{(z - y)^2} + \frac{\Delta_1}{z^2} + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{z} + \Lambda_0^2 \right) \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(y) | V_1 \rangle .$$

$$(1.B.2)$$

Using the Ward identity for  $L_0$ :

$$\left(z\partial_z + y\partial_y - \Lambda_0\partial_{\Lambda_0} + \Delta_{2,1} + \Delta_2 + \Delta_1 - \Delta\right)\langle\Delta,\Lambda_0,m_0|\Phi_{2,1}(z)V_2(y)|V_1\rangle = 0 \quad (1.B.3)$$

we can eliminate  $\partial_y$ . Then setting y = 1 we obtain

$$\langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | L_{-2} \cdot \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(1) | V_1 \rangle = \\ = \left( -\frac{1}{z} \partial_z - \frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{z-1} \left( z \partial_z - \Lambda_0 \partial_{\Lambda_0} + \Delta_{2,1} + \Delta_2 + \Delta_1 - \Delta \right) + \frac{\Delta_2}{(z-1)^2} + \frac{\Delta_1}{z^2} + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{z} + \Lambda_0^2 \right) \Psi(z)$$
(1.B.4)

which gives the BPZ equation

$$0 = \langle \Delta, \Lambda_0, m_0 | (b^{-2} \partial_z^2 + L_{-2} \cdot) \Phi_{2,1}(z) V_2(1) | V_1 \rangle = \\ = \left( b^{-2} \partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z} \partial_z - \frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{z - 1} (z \partial_z - \Lambda_0 \partial_{\Lambda_0} + \Delta_{2,1} + \Delta_2 + \Delta_1 - \Delta) + \frac{\Delta_2}{(z - 1)^2} + \frac{\Delta_1}{z^2} + \frac{m_0 \Lambda_0}{z} + \Lambda_0^2 \right) \Psi(z) .$$
(1.B.5)

#### 1.B.2 DOZZ factors

We normalize vertex operators so that the DOZZ three-point function[110, 111] reads

$$C(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) = \frac{1}{\Upsilon_b(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + \frac{Q}{2})\Upsilon_b(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 + \frac{Q}{2})\Upsilon_b(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3 - \alpha_1 + \frac{Q}{2})\Upsilon_b(\alpha_3 + \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + \frac{Q}{2})}$$
(1.B.6)

where

$$\begin{split} \Upsilon_{b}(x) &= \frac{1}{\Gamma_{b}(x)\Gamma_{b}(Q-x)} \,, \\ \Gamma_{b}(x) &= \frac{\Gamma_{2}(x|b,b^{-1})}{\Gamma_{2}(\frac{Q}{2}|b,b^{-1})} \,, \end{split} \tag{1.B.7}$$

and  $\Gamma_2$  is the double gamma function.  $\Upsilon_b$  satisfies the shift relation

$$\Upsilon_b(x+b) = \gamma(bx)b^{1-2bx}\Upsilon_b(x).$$
(1.B.8)

Moreover  $\gamma(x) = \Gamma(x)/\Gamma(1-x)$ , and satisfies the following relations

$$\gamma(-x)\gamma(x) = -\frac{1}{x^2},$$
  

$$\gamma(x+1) = -x^2\gamma(x),$$
  

$$\gamma(x) = \frac{1}{\gamma(1-x)}.$$
  
(1.B.9)

The two-point function normalization is given in terms of the DOZZ factors, that is

$$\langle \Delta_{\alpha} | \Delta_{\alpha} \rangle = G(\alpha) = C(\alpha, -\frac{Q}{2}, \alpha) = \frac{1}{\Upsilon_b(0)\Upsilon_b(0)\Upsilon_b(2\alpha)\Upsilon_b(2\alpha+Q)} \,. \tag{1.B.10}$$

The regular OPE coefficient appearing in section 1.3 can be explicitly computed in terms of DOZZ factors, that is

$$\mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha_{i}}^{\alpha_{i\pm}} = G^{-1}(\alpha_{i\pm})C(\alpha_{i\pm}, \frac{-b-Q}{2}, \alpha_{i}) = \gamma(-b^{2})\gamma(\mp 2b\alpha_{i})b^{2b(\pm 2\alpha+Q)}.$$
 (1.B.11)

Another relevant ratio is

$$\frac{C(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_{3+})}{C(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_{3-})} = b^{-8b\alpha_3} \prod_{\pm, \pm} \gamma(\frac{1}{2} + b(\pm \alpha_1 \pm \alpha_2 + \alpha_3)), \qquad (1.B.12)$$

that is readily computed from the shift relation (1.B.8). With these relations at our disposal, we can evaluate ratios of the Ks appearing in equations (1.3.10). In particular,

$$\frac{K_{\alpha_{2-},\alpha_{2-}}^{(t)}}{K_{\alpha_{2+},\alpha_{2+}}^{(t)}} = \frac{G^{-1}(\alpha_{2-})C(\alpha_{2-},\frac{-b-Q}{2},\alpha_2)C(\alpha,\alpha_{2-},\alpha_1)}{G^{-1}(\alpha_{2+})C(\alpha_{2+},\frac{-b-Q}{2},\alpha_2)C(\alpha,\alpha_{2+},\alpha_1)} = \frac{\gamma(2b\alpha_2)}{\gamma(-2b\alpha_2)}\prod_{\pm,\pm}\gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b(\pm\alpha\pm\alpha_1-\alpha_2)),$$
(1.B.13)

,

and similarly

$$\frac{K_{\alpha_{+},\alpha_{+}}^{(u)}}{K_{\alpha_{-},\alpha_{-}}^{(u)}} = \frac{\gamma(-2b\alpha)}{\gamma(2b\alpha)} \prod_{\pm,\pm} \gamma(\frac{1}{2} + b(\alpha \pm \alpha_{1} \pm \alpha_{2})).$$
(1.B.14)

#### 1.B.3 Irregular OPE

Following [47] let us make the following Ansatz for the OPE with the irregular state

$$\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, \bar{\Lambda}_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z, \bar{z}) = \sum_{\beta} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\beta}_{\alpha, \alpha_{2,1}} \left| \sum_{\mu_{0}, k} \mathcal{A}_{\beta, \mu_{0}} z^{\zeta} \Lambda_{0}^{\lambda} e^{\gamma \Lambda_{0} z} z^{-k} \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}; k | \right|^{2}, \quad (1.B.15)$$

with all the parameters to be determined. Here  $\langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_0, \mu_0, k |$  is the k-th irregular descendant, that schematically has the form

$$|\Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}; k\rangle \sim \sum L_{-J} \Lambda_{0}^{-k''} \partial_{\Lambda_{0}}^{k'} |\Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}\rangle$$
(1.B.16)

where the sum runs over all k', k'', J such that k'+k''+|J|=k, with appropriate coefficients that can be determined from the Ward identities. Note that in principle the parameters  $\zeta, \lambda, \gamma$  depend both on  $\beta$  and  $\mu_0$ . The first constraint comes from comparing with the regular OPE, namely

$$\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, \bar{\Lambda}_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z, \bar{z}) | \Delta_{\beta} \rangle \sim \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, \bar{\Lambda}_0, \mu_0 | \Delta_{\beta_{\pm}} \rangle = \langle \Delta_{\alpha} | \Delta_{\beta_{\pm}} \rangle \Rightarrow \beta_{\pm} = \alpha \,. \quad (1.B.17)$$

The other coefficients can be fixed by acting with the Virasoro generators on the left and right hand sides of the Ansatz (1.B.15). Focusing on the chiral correlator and comparing powers of  $\Lambda$  and z we have

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z) L_{0} &= (\Delta_{\alpha} + \Lambda_{0} \partial_{\Lambda_{0}} - \Delta_{2,1} - z \partial_{z}) \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z) = \\ &= \sum_{k} z^{\zeta - k} \Lambda_{0}^{\lambda} e^{\gamma \Lambda_{0} z} (\Delta_{\alpha} - \Delta_{2,1} - \zeta + k + \lambda + \Lambda_{0} \partial_{\Lambda_{0}}) \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}; k | = \\ &= \sum_{k} z^{\zeta - k} \Lambda_{0}^{\lambda} e^{\gamma \Lambda_{0} z} (\Delta_{\beta} + k + \Lambda_{0} \partial_{\Lambda_{0}}) \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}; k | , \end{split}$$

$$(1.B.18)$$

that gives the constraint

$$\lambda - \zeta = \Delta_{\beta} - \Delta_{\alpha} + \Delta_{2,1} \,. \tag{1.B.19}$$

Now let us consider the action of  $L_{-1}$ . We have

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z) L_{-1} &= (m_{0}\Lambda_{0} - \partial_{z}) \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z) = \\ &= \sum_{k} z^{\zeta} \Lambda_{0}^{\lambda} e^{\gamma \Lambda_{0} z} ((m_{0} - \gamma) \Lambda_{0} z^{-k} + (k - \zeta) z^{-k-1}) \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}; k | = \\ &= z^{\zeta} \Lambda_{0}^{\lambda} e^{\gamma \Lambda_{0} z} \left( \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0} | \mu_{0} \Lambda_{0} + z^{-1} \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}; 1 | L_{-1} + \dots \right) . \end{split}$$
(1.B.20)

#### 1.B. CFT CALCULATIONS

Comparing powers,

$$\mathcal{O}(z^{\zeta}) \Rightarrow m_0 - \gamma = \mu_0,$$
  

$$\mathcal{O}(z^{\zeta-1}) \Rightarrow \mu_0 \Lambda_0 \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0; 1 | -\zeta \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 | = \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0; 1 | L_{-1}.$$
(1.B.21)

The first irregular descendant is of the form<sup>4</sup>

$$\langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0}; 1 | = A \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0} | L_{1} + B \partial_{\Lambda_{0}} \langle \Delta_{\beta}, \Lambda_{0}, \mu_{0} |, \qquad (1.B.22)$$

therefore equation (1.B.21) gives

$$\mu_0 \Lambda_0 \left( A \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 | L_1 + B \partial_{\Lambda_0} \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 | \right) - \zeta \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 | = A \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 | L_1 L_{-1} + B \partial_{\Lambda_0} \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 | L_{-1} .$$

$$(1.B.23)$$

The RHS gives

$$\begin{aligned} A(2\Delta_{\beta} + 2\Lambda_{0}\partial_{\Lambda_{0}})\langle\Delta_{\beta},\Lambda_{0},\mu_{0}| + A\mu_{0}\Lambda_{0}\langle\Delta_{\beta},\Lambda_{0},\mu_{0}|L_{1} + B\mu_{0}\langle\Delta_{\beta},\Lambda_{0},\mu_{0}| + B\mu_{0}\Lambda_{0}\partial_{\Lambda_{0}}\langle\Delta_{\beta},\Lambda_{0},\mu_{0}| = \\ = (2A\Delta_{\beta} + B\mu_{0})\langle\Delta_{\beta},\Lambda_{0},\mu_{0}| + (2A\Lambda_{0} + B\mu_{0}\Lambda_{0})\partial_{\Lambda_{0}}\langle\Delta_{\beta},\Lambda_{0},\mu_{0}| + A\mu_{0}\Lambda_{0}\langle\Delta_{\beta},\Lambda_{0},\mu_{0}|L_{1}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.B.24)

Comparing term by term, we obtain equations for A, B

$$2A\Delta_{\beta} + B\mu_{0} = -\zeta,$$
  

$$2A\Lambda_{0} + B\mu_{0}\Lambda_{0} = B\mu_{0}\Lambda_{0},$$
  

$$\Rightarrow A = 0, B = -\frac{\zeta}{\mu_{0}}.$$
  
(1.B.25)

Another constraint comes from the action of  $L_2$ . We have

The previous equation is trivially satisfied at order  $\mathcal{O}(z^{\zeta})$ , and comparing at order  $\mathcal{O}(z^{\zeta-1})$  gives

$$(-\Lambda_0^2 \frac{\zeta}{\mu_0} \partial_{\Lambda_0} - \gamma \Lambda_0) \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 | = -\frac{\zeta}{\mu_0} (2\Lambda_0 + \Lambda_0^2 \partial_{\Lambda_0}) \langle \Delta_\beta, \Lambda_0, \mu_0 |, \qquad (1.B.27)$$

that finally gives

$$\gamma = 2\frac{\zeta}{\mu_0} \,. \tag{1.B.28}$$

<sup>4</sup>The term  $\sim \Lambda^{-1}$  cannot be determined at this order. Luckily, it doesn't play any role in the following discussion.

. 0

The last constraint we need is most easily obtained by looking at the null-state equation satisfied by the irregular 3 point function (1.B.17). We have

$$\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | T(w) \Phi_{2,1}(z) | \Delta_{\alpha_{\pm}} \rangle = \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0} | \left( \frac{m_{0}\Lambda_{0}}{w} + \Lambda_{0}^{2} + \frac{\Delta_{\alpha_{\pm}}}{w^{2}} + \frac{\Delta_{2,1}}{(w-z)^{2}} + \frac{z/w}{w-z} \partial_{z} \right) \Phi_{2,1}(z) | \Delta_{\alpha_{\pm}} \rangle ,$$

$$(1.B.29)$$

therefore

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\Delta_{\alpha\pm}}{z^2} + \frac{m_0\Lambda_0}{z} + \Lambda_0^2\right) \langle \Delta_\alpha, \Lambda_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z) | \Delta_{\alpha\pm} \rangle = 0.$$
(1.B.30)

Substituting the irregular OPE and looking at the leading term as  $z \to \infty$  gives

$$\left(\frac{\gamma\Lambda_0}{b}\right)^2 + \Lambda_0^2 = 0 \Rightarrow \gamma = \pm ib.$$
(1.B.31)

Putting all the constraints together yields, for a fixed channel  $\beta = \alpha_{\theta}, \theta = \pm$ ,

$$\gamma = \pm ib, 
\zeta = \frac{1}{2} \left( b^2 \pm ibm_0 \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( bQ - 1 \pm 2m_3 \right), 
\lambda - \zeta = -\frac{1}{2} bQ + \theta b\alpha_{\theta}, 
\mu_0 = m_{0\pm} = m_0 \pm (-ib).$$
(1.B.32)

Finally, the irregular OPE reads

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{0}, \bar{\Lambda}_{0}, m_{0} | \Phi_{2,1}(z, \bar{z}) &= \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\alpha, \alpha_{2,1}}^{\alpha_{+}} \left| \sum_{\pm,k} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+}, m_{0\pm}} \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}bQ + b\alpha_{+}} (\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ - 1 \pm 2m_{3})} e^{\pm \Lambda z/2} z^{-k} \langle \Delta_{\alpha_{+}}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0\pm}; k \right|^{2} + \\ &+ \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\alpha, \alpha_{2,1}}^{\alpha_{-}} \left| \sum_{\pm,k} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-}, m_{0\pm}} \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}bQ - b\alpha_{-}} (\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ - 1 \pm 2m_{3})} e^{\pm \Lambda z/2} z^{-k} \langle \Delta_{\alpha_{-}}, \Lambda_{0}, m_{0\pm}; k \right|^{2} . \end{split}$$

$$(1.B.33)$$

where we absorbed a 2ib factor in the OPE coefficients for later convenience,  $\Lambda = 2ib\Lambda_0$  and  $m_3 = \frac{i}{2}bm_0$ . Here the irregular state depending on  $\Lambda_0$ ,  $\bar{\Lambda}_0$  denotes the full (chiral $\otimes$  antichiral) state, and the modulus squared of the chiral states (depending only on  $\Lambda_0$ ) has to be understood as a tensor product. Now we can fix the OPE coefficients  $\tilde{C}^{\alpha\pm}_{\alpha,\alpha_{2,1}}$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha\pm,m_{0\pm}}$  making use of the NSE for the full irregular three point function. Namely,

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\Delta_{\alpha\pm}}{z^2} + \frac{m_0\Lambda_0}{z} + \Lambda_0^2\right) \langle \Delta_\alpha, \Lambda_0, \bar{\Lambda}_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z,\bar{z}) | \Delta_{\alpha\pm} \rangle = 0.$$
 (1.B.34)

If we define  $\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, \bar{\Lambda}_0, m_0 | \Phi_{2,1}(z, \bar{z}) | \Delta_{\alpha_{\pm}} \rangle = \left| e^{-\frac{\Lambda z}{2}} (\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ+2b\alpha_{\pm})} \right|^2 G_{\pm}(z, \bar{z})$ , then  $G(z, \bar{z})$  will satisfy

$$\left(z\partial_{z}^{2} + (1+2b\alpha_{\pm} - \Lambda z)\partial_{z} - \frac{\Lambda}{2}(1+2m_{3}+2b\alpha_{\pm})\right)G_{\pm}(z,\bar{z}) = 0.$$
(1.B.35)

#### 1.B. CFT CALCULATIONS

Note that we can rewrite the previous equation using the natural variable  $w = \Lambda z$ , and obtain

$$\left(w\partial_w^2 + (1+2b\alpha_{\pm} - w)\partial_w - \frac{1}{2}(1+2m_3+2b\alpha_{\pm})\right)G_{\pm}(w,\bar{w}) = 0.$$
 (1.B.36)

Equation (1.B.36) is the confluent hypergeometric equation, therefore<sup>5</sup>

$$G_{\pm}(w,\bar{w}) = K_{\pm}^{(1)} \left| {}_{1}F_{1} \left( \frac{1}{2} + m_{3} + b\alpha_{\pm}, 1 + 2b\alpha_{\pm}, w \right) \right|^{2} + K_{\pm}^{(2)} \left| w^{-2b\alpha_{\pm}} {}_{1}F_{1} \left( \frac{1}{2} + m_{3} - b\alpha_{\pm}, 1 - 2b\alpha_{\pm}, w \right) \right|^{2}.$$
(1.B.37)

Expanding the correlator near zero and comparing the solution (1.B.37) with the regular OPE near zero,

$$K_{\pm}^{(1)} \left| (\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}bQ + b\alpha_{\pm}} \right|^{2} + K_{\pm}^{(2)} \left| (\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}bQ - b\alpha_{\pm}} \right|^{2} = G(\alpha) \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{\pm}}^{\alpha} \left| z^{\frac{1}{2}bQ \mp b\alpha_{\pm}} \right|^{2} , \qquad (1.B.38)$$

and hence

$$K_{+}^{(1)} = 0, \ K_{+}^{(2)} = G(\alpha) \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{+}}^{\alpha} \left| \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}bQ + b\alpha_{+}} \right|^{2},$$
  

$$K_{-}^{(1)} = G(\alpha) \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{-}}^{\alpha} \left| \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}bQ - b\alpha_{-}} \right|^{2}, \ K_{-}^{(2)} = 0.$$
(1.B.39)

Now expanding the confluent hypergeometric near infinity and matching with the OPE we can finally fix all the coefficients. Recall that as  $w \to \infty$ 

$${}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}+b\alpha_{\pm},1+2b\alpha_{\pm},w\right) \simeq \frac{\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{\pm})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}+b\alpha_{\pm})}e^{w}w^{-\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm}}+ \\ + \frac{\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{\pm})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}+b\alpha_{\pm})}(-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm}}(w)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm}}, \\ w^{-2b\alpha_{\pm}}{}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm},1-2b\alpha_{\pm},w\right) \simeq \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{\pm})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm})}e^{w}w^{-\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm}}+ \\ + \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{\pm})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm})}(-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}+b\alpha_{\pm}}(w)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{\pm}}.$$
(1.B.40)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that in principle also mixed terms could appear. However, they cannot be there in order to correctly match the behavior near zero.

Let us concentrate on the  $\alpha_+$  channel. Expanding the full correlator and matching z powers gives

$$\begin{aligned} G(\alpha)\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{+}} \left| \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}bQ+b\alpha_{+}} \right|^{2} \times \\ \times \left| \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{+})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}-b\alpha_{+})} e^{w/2} w^{\frac{bQ}{2}-\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}} + \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{+})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{+})} (-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}+b\alpha_{+}} e^{-w/2} (w)^{\frac{bQ}{2}-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}} \right|^{2} = \\ = G(\alpha_{+})\tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\alpha_{+}}_{\alpha,\alpha_{2,1}} \left| \sum_{\pm} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{0\pm}} \Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}bQ+b\alpha_{+}} (\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1\pm 2m_{3})} e^{\pm\Lambda z/2} \right|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.B.41)

Finally from equation (1.B.41) we can read off the coefficients (the coefficients for the  $\alpha_{-}$  channel are obtained simply sending  $\alpha_{+} \rightarrow -\alpha_{-}$ )

$$\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\alpha,\alpha_{2,1}}^{\alpha_{\pm}} = \mathcal{C}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha}^{\alpha_{\pm}}, 
\mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{0+}} = \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{+})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}-b\alpha_{+})}, 
\mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{0-}} = \frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{+})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{+})}(-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}+b\alpha_{+}}, 
\mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-},m_{0+}} = \frac{\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{-})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m_{3}+b\alpha_{-})}, 
\mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{-},m_{0-}} = \frac{\Gamma(1+2b\alpha_{-})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}+b\alpha_{-})}(-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{-}}.$$
(1.B.42)

Two remarks about equations (1.B.42): first of all, the OPE is symmetric in  $\alpha \to -\alpha$ , as it should be. Moreover, we expect the full irregular 3 point correlator to be symmetric under the simultaneous transformation  $\Lambda \to -\Lambda, m_3 \to -m_3$ . Under this transformation

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{3+}}\Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}(bQ-2b\alpha_{+})}e^{\frac{\Lambda z}{2}}(\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1+2m_{3})} \to \\ \to (-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}+b\alpha_{+}}\frac{\Gamma(1-2b\alpha_{+})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m_{3}-b\alpha_{+})}\Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}(bQ-2b\alpha_{+})}e^{-\frac{\Lambda z}{2}}(\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1-2m_{3})} = \\ = \mathcal{A}_{\alpha_{+},m_{3-}}\Lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}(bQ-2b\alpha_{+})}e^{-\frac{\Lambda z}{2}}(\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}(bQ-1-2m_{3})}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(1.B.43)$$

and the same happens for the other channel. This suggests that the  $(-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}-m_3\pm b\alpha_{\pm}}$  factor naturally multiplies  $\Lambda$  in the irregular OPE. Therefore, after this minor change we obtain formulae (1.3.3), (1.3.4).

#### 1.C Nekrasov formulae

#### 1.C.1 The AGT dictionary

The irregular conformal blocks of the form  $\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle$  can be efficiently computed as a gauge theory instanton partition function thanks to the AGT correspondence [41]. Concretely, we have

$$\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle = \mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3)$$
(1.C.1)

where  $\mathcal{Z}^{\text{inst}}$  is the Nekrasov instanton partition function of  $\mathcal{N} = 2 SU(2)$  gauge theory with three hypermultiplets. The Nekrasov partition function contains a fundamental mass scale  $\hbar = \sqrt{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2}$  which sets the units in which everything is measured. The mapping of parameters between CFT and gauge theory is then

$$\epsilon_{1} = \frac{\hbar}{b}, \quad \epsilon_{2} = \hbar b, \quad \epsilon = \epsilon_{1} + \epsilon_{2} \quad \longrightarrow \quad Q = \frac{\epsilon}{\hbar},$$

$$\Delta_{i} = \frac{Q^{2}}{4} - \alpha_{i}^{2} = \frac{\frac{\epsilon^{2}}{4} - a_{i}^{2}}{\hbar^{2}}, \quad a_{i} := \hbar \alpha_{i},$$

$$\Lambda = 2i\hbar\Lambda_{0}, \quad m_{3} = \frac{i}{2}\hbar m_{0},$$

$$m_{1} = a_{1} + a_{2}, \quad m_{2} = -a_{1} + a_{2}.$$
(1.C.2)

The factors of  $i\hbar$  in  $\Lambda$  and  $m_3$  do not appear in [103] where the irregular state is defined because they drop terms of the form  $\sqrt{-\epsilon_1\epsilon_2}$ .

#### 1.C.2 The instanton partition function

The SU(2) partition function is given by the U(2) partition function divided by the U(1)-factor:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3, \epsilon_1, \epsilon_2) = \mathcal{Z}_{U(1)}^{-1}(\Lambda, m_1, m_2, \epsilon_1, \epsilon_2) \mathcal{Z}_{U(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3, \epsilon_1, \epsilon_2)$$
(1.C.3)

where the U(2) partition function is given by a combinatorial formula which we review now. We often suppress the dependence on  $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2$ . We mostly follow the notation of [41].

Let  $Y = (\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge ...)$  be a Young tableau where  $\lambda_i$  is the height of the *i*-th column and we set  $\lambda_i = 0$  when *i* is larger than the width of the tableau. Its transpose is denoted by  $Y^T = (\lambda'_1 \ge \lambda'_2 \ge ...)$ . For a box *s* at the coordinate (i, j) we define the arm-length  $A_Y(s)$  and the leg-length  $L_Y(s)$  with respect to the tableau *Y* as

$$A_Y(s) = \lambda_i - j, \quad L_Y(s) = \lambda'_j - i. \tag{1.C.4}$$

Note that they can be negative when s is outside the tableau. Define a function E by

$$E(a, Y_1, Y_2, s) = a - \epsilon_1 L_{Y_2}(s) + \epsilon_2 (A_{Y_1}(s) + 1).$$
(1.C.5)

Using the notation  $\vec{a} = (a_1, a_2)$  with  $a_1 = -a_2 = a$  and  $\vec{Y} = (Y_1, Y_2)$  the contribution of a vector multiplet is

$$z_{\text{vector}}^{\text{inst}}(\vec{a}, \vec{Y}) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{2} \prod_{s \in Y_i} \frac{1}{E(a_i - a_j, Y_i, Y_j, s)} \prod_{t \in Y_j} \frac{1}{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 - E(a_j - a_i, Y_j, Y_i, t)}$$
(1.C.6)

and that of an (antifundamental) hypermultiplet

$$z_{\text{matter}}^{\text{inst}}(\vec{a}, \vec{Y}, m) = \prod_{i=1}^{2} \prod_{s \in Y_i} \left( a + m + \epsilon_1 \left( i - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \epsilon_2 \left( j - \frac{1}{2} \right) \right) \,. \tag{1.C.7}$$

This is different from the formula given in [41] because our masses are shifted with respect to theirs by  $\epsilon/2$ . Finally, the U(2) partition function is given by

$$\mathcal{Z}_{U(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3) = \sum_{\vec{Y}} \Lambda^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vector}}^{\text{inst}}(\vec{a}, \vec{Y}) \prod_{n=1}^3 z_{\text{matter}}^{\text{inst}}(\vec{a}, \vec{Y}, m_n) , \qquad (1.C.8)$$

where  $|\vec{Y}|$  denotes the total number of boxes in  $Y_1$  and  $Y_2$ .

The U(1)-factor on the other hand can be obtained by decoupling one mass from the U(1)-factor for  $N_f = 4$ . Before decoupling, the third and fourth masses are given by

$$m_3 = a_3 + a_4, \quad m_4 = a_3 - a_4$$
 (1.C.9)

where  $a_3$  and  $a_4$  are related to the momenta of the two vertex operators that collide to form the irregular state. The U(1)-factor is

$$\mathcal{Z}_{U(1)}^{N_f=4} = (1-q)^{2(a_2+\epsilon/2)(a_3+\epsilon/2)/\epsilon_1\epsilon_2} \,. \tag{1.C.10}$$

The decoupling limit is given by  $q \to 0, m_4 \to \infty$  with  $qm_4 \equiv \Lambda$  finite. This gives the  $N_f = 3 U(1)$ -factor

$$\mathcal{Z}_{U(1)} = e^{-(m_1 + m_2 + \epsilon)\Lambda/2\epsilon_1\epsilon_2} \,. \tag{1.C.11}$$

For reference, we give the one-instanton partition functions:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{U(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3) = 1 + \frac{\prod_{i=1}^3 \left(-a + m_i + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)}{2a\epsilon_1\epsilon_2(-2a+\epsilon)}\Lambda - \frac{\prod_{i=1}^3 \left(a + m_i + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)}{2a\epsilon_1\epsilon_2(2a+\epsilon)}\Lambda + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2)$$
  
$$\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3) = 1 - \frac{\epsilon^2 - 4a^2 - 4m_1m_2}{2\epsilon_1\epsilon_2(\epsilon+2a)(\epsilon-2a)}m_3\Lambda + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2)$$
  
(1.C.12)

#### 1.C.3 The Nekrasov-Shatashvili limit

While the above formulae are valid for arbitrary  $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2$ , in the context of the black hole we work in the Nekrasov-Shatashvili (NS) limit which is defined by  $\epsilon_2 \rightarrow 0$  while keeping  $\epsilon_1$ finite [106]. Furthermore we set  $\epsilon_1 = 1$ . The conformal blocks  $\langle \Delta_{\alpha}, \Lambda_0, m_0 | V_{\alpha_2}(1) | \Delta_{\alpha_1} \rangle$ then need to be understood as being computed as a partition function in the NS limit. This is done by computing it for arbitrary  $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2$  and taking  $\epsilon_1 = 1$  and  $\epsilon_2 \rightarrow 0$  in the end, because the partition function itself diverges in this limit, while the ratios appearing e.g. in the connection formulas remain finite. Furthermore, we define the instanton part of the NS free energy as

$$\mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3, \epsilon_1) = \epsilon_1 \lim_{\epsilon_2 \to 0} \epsilon_2 \log \mathcal{Z}^{\text{inst}}_{SU(2)}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3, \epsilon_1, \epsilon_2) \,. \tag{1.C.13}$$

One also uses the Matone relation [112]

$$E = a^2 - \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}, \qquad (1.C.14)$$

which can be inverted order by order in  $\Lambda$  to obtain a(E). For reference, we give some relevant quantities computed up to one instanton, with  $\epsilon_1 = 1$  and the leading power of  $\epsilon_2$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3) &= 1 - \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a^2 - m_1 m_2}{\frac{1}{2} - 2a^2} \frac{m_3 \Lambda}{\epsilon_2} + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2) \\ \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1, m_2, m_3) &= -\frac{\frac{1}{4} - a^2 - m_1 m_2}{\frac{1}{2} - 2a^2} m_3 \Lambda + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2) \\ a(E) &= \sqrt{E} - \frac{\frac{1}{4} - E + a_1^2 - a_2^2}{\sqrt{E} (1 - 4E)} m_3 \Lambda + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2) \\ \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1 - \frac{\theta' \epsilon_2}{2}, m_2 - \frac{\theta' \epsilon_2}{2}, m_3)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_1 - \frac{\theta \epsilon_2}{2}, m_2 + \frac{\theta \epsilon_2}{2}, m_3)} = 1 - \frac{\theta (m_1 - m_2) + \theta' (m_1 + m_2)}{1 - 4a^2} m_3 \Lambda + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2) . \end{aligned}$$
(1.C.15)

Finally, we define the full NS free energy, including the classical and the one-loop part by

$$\partial_{a}\mathcal{F}(\Lambda, a, m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3}, \epsilon_{1}) = -2a\log\frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_{1}} + 2\epsilon_{1}\log\frac{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} + \epsilon_{1}\sum_{i=1}^{3}\log\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{m_{i}-a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{m_{i}+a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right)} + \partial_{a}\mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}(\Lambda, a, m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3}, \epsilon_{1}).$$

$$(1.C.16)$$

#### 1.D The semiclassical absorption coefficient

We give the detailed reduction of the full absorption coefficient in the semiclassical regime to the final result  $\sigma = \exp -a_D/\epsilon_1$ , with

$$a_D := \oint_B \phi_{SW}(z) dz = \lim_{\epsilon_1 \to 0} \partial_a \mathcal{F}$$
(1.D.1)

where  $\phi_{SW}(z)$  is the Seiberg-Witten differential of the  $\mathcal{N} = 2 SU(2)$  gauge theory with three flavours and  $\mathcal{F}$  is the full NS free energy introduced in the previous section. First we restore the powers of  $\epsilon_1$  which were previously set to one in the exact absorption coefficient and substitute the AGT dictionary (see Appendix 1.C):

$$\sigma = \frac{-\operatorname{Im} \frac{m_1 + m_2}{\epsilon_1}}{\left| \frac{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{2a}{\epsilon_1}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2a}{\epsilon_1}\right) \Gamma\left(1 + \frac{m_1 + m_2}{\epsilon_1}\right) \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_1}\right)^{\frac{-a + m_3}{\epsilon_1}}}{\prod_{i=1}^3 \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{m_i + a}{\epsilon_1}\right)} \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_1, m_2, m_3 + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a, m_1 - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_2 - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_3\right)} + (a \to -a) \right|^2$$
(1.D.2)

In the regime where we have two real turning points and where we have obtained the semiclassical transmission coefficient we have  $|\Lambda| \ll 1$ . Then *a* can be obtained order by order in an expansion in  $\Lambda$ , starting from  $a = \ell + \frac{1}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda)$  by using the relation  $E = a^2 - \Lambda \partial_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}$ . Since  $\Lambda \partial_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}$  is real for real *a*, we see that all terms in the expansion and therefore *a* itself are real. We anticipate that in  $\sigma$  the term surviving in the semiclassical limit will be the first term in the denominator. This can be seen quickly by approximating  $\Gamma(z) \approx e^{z \log z}$  for large *z*. In the semiclassical limit  $a \gg m_i$  and the contribution of the five Gamma functions containing *a* in the first term goes like  $e^{\frac{a}{\epsilon_1} \log \frac{a}{\epsilon_1}}$ . Extracting the term  $\epsilon_1^{-\frac{a}{\epsilon_1}}$  cancels the explicit power of  $\epsilon_1$  outside, and the rest of the exponential blows up. On the other hand the behaviour of the second term in the denominator of the transmission coefficient can be obtained by sending  $a \to -a$ , so we see that in this case the exponential vanishes, and indeed the dominant term is the first one. The Gamma functions gives the correct instanton contribution to  $a_D$ .

More in detail, we can split the contributions to  $a_D$  as

$$a_D = a_D^{1-\text{loop}} + a_D^{\text{inst}} = a_{D,\text{vector}}^{1-\text{loop}} + \sum_{i=1}^3 a_{D,\text{matter}}^{1-\text{loop}} + a_{D,\text{vector}}^{\text{inst}} + \sum_{i=1}^3 a_{D,\text{matter}}^{\text{inst}}.$$
 (1.D.3)

We take all matter multiplets to be in the antifundamental representation of SU(2). The

vector and matter multiplet one-loop contributions to  $a_D$  are

$$a_{D,\text{vector}}^{1-\text{loop}}(a) = -8a + 4a \log \frac{2a}{\Lambda} + 4a \log \frac{-2a}{\Lambda}$$
$$a_{D,\text{matter}}^{1-\text{loop}}(a,m) = (a-m) \left[ 1 - \log \left( \frac{-a+m}{\Lambda} \right) \right] + (a+m) \left[ 1 - \log \left( \frac{a+m}{\Lambda} \right) \right].$$
(1.D.4)

These are antisymmetric under  $a \to -a$  as they should be. On the other hand, in the absorption coefficient we have several Gamma functions, which we can expand in the semiclassical limit using Stirling's approximation  $\log \Gamma(z) = (z - 1/2) \log z - z + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})$ . We neglect the constant factors of  $2\pi$  since we have the same amount of Gamma functions in the numerator and denominator and they will cancel. We have for the vectormultiplet

$$\epsilon_{1} \log \left| \Gamma\left(\frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right) \Gamma\left(1 + \frac{2a}{\epsilon_{1}}\right) \right|^{-2} \to 8a - 8a \log 2a + 8a \log \epsilon_{1}$$

$$= -a_{D,\text{vector}}^{1-\text{loop}}(a) - 4\pi ia - 8a \log \frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_{1}},$$
(1.D.5)

for the matter multiplets

$$\epsilon_{1} \log \left| \Gamma \left( \frac{1}{2} + \frac{m+a}{\epsilon_{1}} \right) \right|^{2} \rightarrow (a-m) \log(a-m) + (a+m) \log(a+m) - 2a(1+\log\epsilon_{1})$$
$$= -a_{D,\text{matter}}^{1-\text{loop}}(a,m) + i\pi(a-m) + 2a \log \frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_{1}}$$
(1.D.6)

and there is one more Gamma function:

$$\left|\Gamma\left(1+\frac{m_1+m_2}{\epsilon_1}\right)\right|^2 \to i\frac{m_1+m_2}{\epsilon_1}e^{-i\pi(m_1+m_2)/\epsilon_1}.$$
(1.D.7)

The last contribution is

$$\left|\frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_1}\right|^{2\frac{a-m_3}{\epsilon_1}} = \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_1}\right)^{\frac{2a}{\epsilon_1}} e^{i\pi\frac{a+m_3}{\epsilon_1}}.$$
 (1.D.8)

Putting it all together we have

$$-\mathrm{Im}\frac{m_1 + m_2}{\epsilon_1} \left| \frac{\prod_{i=1}^3 \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{m_i + a}{\epsilon_1}\right) \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\epsilon_1}\right)^{\frac{a - m_3}{\epsilon_1}}}{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{2a}{\epsilon_1}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2a}{\epsilon_1}\right) \Gamma\left(1 + \frac{m_1 + m_2}{\epsilon_1}\right)} \right|^2 \to e^{-a_D^{1-\mathrm{loop}}/\epsilon_1} .$$
(1.D.9)

Now let us look at the instanton partition functions:

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a, m_{1} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{2} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{3}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right)} = \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, \tilde{a} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{1} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{2} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, \tilde{m}_{3} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, \tilde{a}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \tilde{m}_{3}\right)}$$
(1.D.10)

where we have defined  $\tilde{a} = a + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}$  and  $\tilde{m}_3 = m_3 + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}$ . Now, looking at the explicit expressions for the U(2) Nekrasov partition functions, we see that the part corresponding to the gauge field depends only on  $a_1 - a_2$ , and the part corresponding the the hypermultiplets only on  $a_1 + m_i$  and  $a_2 + m_i$ . So we see that

$$\mathcal{Z}_{U(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a_{1} = \tilde{a} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, a_{2} = -\tilde{a} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{1} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{2} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, \tilde{m}_{3} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right) = \mathcal{Z}_{U(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a_{1} = \tilde{a} - \epsilon_{2}, a_{2} = -\tilde{a}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \tilde{m}_{3}\right).$$
(1.D.11)

The U(1) part behaves as

$$\mathcal{Z}_{U(1)}^{-1}(\Lambda, m_1 - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_2 - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}) = e^{(m_1 + m_2 - \epsilon_2)\Lambda/2\epsilon_1\epsilon_2} = e^{-\Lambda/2\epsilon_1} \mathcal{Z}_{U(1)}^{-1}(\Lambda, m_1, m_2), \quad (1.D.12)$$

therefore

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a, m_{1} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{2} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{3}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right)} = e^{-\Lambda/2\epsilon_{1}} \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, \tilde{a} - \epsilon_{2}, -\tilde{a}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \tilde{m}_{3}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, \tilde{a}, -\tilde{a}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \tilde{m}_{3}\right)} = e^{-\Lambda/2\epsilon_{1}} \exp \frac{1}{\epsilon_{1}\epsilon_{2}} \left\{ \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, \tilde{a} - \epsilon_{2}, -\tilde{a}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \tilde{m}_{3}\right) - \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, \tilde{a}, -\tilde{a}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \tilde{m}_{3}\right) \right\} = e^{-\Lambda/2\epsilon_{1}} \exp \left\{-\frac{1}{\epsilon_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial a_{1}}\mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a_{1}, a_{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \tilde{m}_{3}\right)|_{a_{1}=\tilde{a}, a_{2}=-\tilde{a}}.$$

$$(1.D.13)$$

Now there are no more factors of  $1/\epsilon_2$  so we can safely drop the tildes. On the other hand, by symmetry considerations which are most easily seen in the expression as a conformal block, and using the fact that  $\Lambda$  and the three masses are purely imaginary while *a* is real, we have

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a, m_{1} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{2} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{3}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right)} = \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(-\Lambda, a, -m_{1} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, -m_{2} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, -m_{3}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(-\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, -m_{1}, -m_{2}, -m_{3} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right)} = \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, -m_{1}, -m_{2}, -m_{3} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda^{*}, a^{*}, m_{1}^{*} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{2}^{*} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{3}^{*}\right)}$$

$$(1.D.14)$$

And therefore, repeating the same steps as above,

$$\left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a, m_{1} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{2} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{3}\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3} + \frac{\epsilon_{2}}{2}\right)}\right)^{*} = e^{\Lambda/2\epsilon_{1}} \exp\frac{1}{\epsilon_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{2}} \mathcal{F}^{\text{inst}}\left(\Lambda, a_{1}, a_{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3}\right)|_{a_{1}=a, a_{2}=-a}$$

$$(1.D.15)$$

Now using  $\partial_a \mathcal{F} = \partial_{a_1} \mathcal{F} - \partial_{a_2} \mathcal{F}$  we have:

$$\left| \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}} \left(\Lambda, a, m_1 - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_2 - \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_3\right)}{\mathcal{Z}_{SU(2)}^{\text{inst}} \left(\Lambda, a + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}, m_1, m_2, m_3 + \frac{\epsilon_2}{2}\right)} \right|^2 = e^{-a_D^{\text{inst}}/\epsilon_1}$$
(1.D.16)

which combined with the one-loop part finally gives

$$\sigma \approx e^{-a_D/\epsilon_1} \,. \tag{1.D.17}$$

This result is valid for  $\ell \gg 1$  and  $M\omega$ ,  $a\omega \ll 1$ , while keeping all orders in  $M\omega$ ,  $a\omega$ .

# Chapter 2

# Irregular Liouville correlators and Heun functions

We perform a detailed study of a class of irregular correlators in Liouville Conformal Field Theory, of the related Virasoro conformal blocks with irregular singularities and of their connection formulae. Upon considering their semi-classical limit, we provide explicit expressions of the connection matrices for the Heun function and a class of its confluences. Their calculation is reduced to concrete combinatorial formulae from conformal block expansions. The technique that we implement here has already been developed for the confluent Heun function for linear perturbations of Kerr black holes in the previous chapter (1) and is further refined and generalised here.

This chapter is organised as follows. In section 2.1, as a warm-up, we recall the relation between four-point conformal blocks with the insertion of three primary fields and one level 2 degenerate field and hypergeometric functions and we study in detail the confluences to irregular conformal blocks and the related special functions. We obtain the connection formulae for the latter as solutions of the constraints imposed by crossing symmetry. In section 2.2 we systematically study the five point conformal blocks with the insertion of four primary fields and one level 2 degenerate field. We focus on the explicit computation of the connection formulae as solutions of the constraints imposed by crossing symmetry for the regular case and a class of its confluences. In each case, we also compute the semi-classical limit. In section 2.3 we provide a dictionary between semiclassical CFT data and Heun equations in the standard form, we apply the results of the previous section identifying the relevant semiclassical CFT blocks with Heun functions and provide the connection formulae. Few technical points are relegated to the Appendices. A list of symbols should help the reader in following our computations.

The accompanying table collects the dictionary between (irregular) conformal blocks, supersymmetric gauge theories and the corresponding Heun functions.

CFT - CB		SU(2) Gauge Theory	Heun
F	Regular	$N_f = 4$	HeunG
$_1\mathfrak{F}$	Confluent	$N_f = 3$	HeunC
$\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}$	Reduced Confluent	$N_f = 2$ asymmetric	HeunRC
$_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}$	Doubly Confluent	$N_f = 2$ symmetric	HeunDC
$_1\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}$	Reduced Doubly Confluent	$N_f = 1$	HeunRDC
$\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{2}$	Doubly Reduced Doubly Confluent	$N_f = 0$	HeunDRDC



Figure 2.0.1: Confluence diagram of conformal blocks.

#### CFT symbols

- *b* Liouville coupling constant
- Q Liouville background charge  $Q = b + b^{-1}$
- $\alpha_{\infty}, \alpha_1, \alpha_t, \alpha_0$  Liouville momenta of non-degenerate primary insertions
- $\Delta_{\infty}, \Delta_1, \Delta_t, \Delta_0$  Scaling dimensions of non-degenerate primary insertions,  $\Delta_i = \frac{Q^2}{4} \alpha_i^2$
- $\alpha$  Intermediate momentum, with corresponding scaling dimension  $\Delta$
- $\alpha_{2,1}$  Degenerate Liouville momentum  $\alpha_{2,1} = -\frac{2b+b^{-1}}{2}$ , with corresponding scaling dimension  $\Delta_{2,1}$
- $\alpha_{i\theta}$  Momentum shifted by  $-\theta_2^b$  with  $\theta = \pm 1$ , namely  $\alpha_{i\theta} = \alpha_i \theta_2^b$
- $V_{\alpha_i}(x)$  Primary operator of momentum  $\alpha_i$  inserted at x
- $|\Delta_i\rangle$  Primary state, corresponding to a primary operator of dimension  $\Delta_i$  inserted at zero (at infinity if  $\langle \Delta_{\infty} |$ )
- $\mu$   $L_1$ -momentum of an irregular insertion of rank 1
- $\mu'$  Intermediate  $L_1$ -momentum
- $\mu_{i\theta}$   $L_1$ -momentum shifted by  $-\theta \frac{b}{2}$  with  $\theta = \pm 1$
- $|\mu,\Lambda\rangle$  Irregular state of rank 1 with eigenvalues  $\mu\Lambda, -\frac{\Lambda^2}{4}$  inserted at zero (at infinity if  $\langle\mu,\Lambda|$ )
- $|\Lambda^2\rangle$  Irregular state of rank  $\frac{1}{2}$  with eigenvalues  $-\frac{\Lambda^2}{4}$  inserted at zero (at infinity if  $\langle\Lambda^2|$ )
- ${}_{x}\mathfrak{F}_{y}$  Conformal block (CB) expanded around regular insertions, with an insertion of rank<sup>1</sup> x resp. y at  $\infty$  resp. 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here and in the following, if x or y are zero we drop the label for simplicity.

- ${}_{x}\mathfrak{D}_{y}$  CB with at least one variable expanded around an irreg. singularity of rank 1, with an insertion of rank x resp. y at  $\infty$  resp. 0
- ${}_{x}\mathfrak{E}_{y}$  CB with at least one variable expanded around an irreg. singularity of rank  $\frac{1}{2}$ , with an insertion of rank x resp. y at  $\infty$  resp. 0
- $_{x}\widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}_{y}, _{x}\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{y}, _{x}\widetilde{\mathfrak{E}}_{y}$  CB without classical part, i.e. normalized as  $1 + \ldots$
- $G_{\alpha}$  Liouville two point function

 $C_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3}$  Liouville three point function

- $C_{\mu\alpha}$  Pairing of a primary and a rank 1 irregular state
- $C_{\alpha}$  Pairing of a primary and a rank  $\frac{1}{2}$  irregular state

 $C^{\alpha_3}_{\alpha_1\alpha_2}$  OPE coefficient involving three primaries

- $B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha}$  OPE coefficient involving one primary and two irregular vertices of rank 1
- $B_{\alpha_{2,1}}$  OPE coefficient involving a degenerate field and two irregular vertices of rank 1/2

#### CFT symbols - semiclassics

 $a_{\infty}, a_1, a_t, a_0$  Semiclassical Liouville momenta

- *a* Semiclassical intermediate momentum
- $a_{i\theta}$  Semiclassical momentum shifted by  $-\theta \frac{b^2}{2}$  with  $\theta = \pm 1$
- m Semiclassical  $L_1$ -momentum
- m' Semiclassical intermediate  $L_1$ -momentum
- $m_{\theta}$  Semiclassical  $L_1$ -momentum shifted by  $-\theta \frac{b^2}{2}$  with  $\theta = \pm 1$
- *L* Semiclassical highest eigenvalue of irregular states
- ${}_{x}\mathcal{F}_{y}$  Semiclassical CB expanded around regular insertions, with an insertion of rank x resp. y at  $\infty$  resp. 0
- ${}_{x}\mathcal{D}_{y}$  Semiclassical CB with at least one variable expanded around an irreg. singularity of rank 1, with an insertion of rank x resp. y at  $\infty$  resp. 0
- ${}_{x}\mathcal{E}_{y}$  Semiclassical CB with at least one variable expanded around an irreg. singularity of rank  $\frac{1}{2}$ , with an insertion of rank x resp. y at  $\infty$  resp. 0
- F Logarithm of a classical conformal block

W Logarithm of a semiclassical conformal block

u Log-derivative of a classical CB, up to constants

 $_{x}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{y}, _{x}\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{y}, _{x}\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{y}$  Semiclassical CB rescaled so that they start as  $1 + \dots$ 

#### Heun symbols

 $\alpha,\,\beta,\,\gamma,\,\delta,\,\epsilon\,$  Parameters of the Heun equations

- q Accessory parameter of the Heun equations
- w(z) Solutions of the Heun equations in standard form

 $P_i^{-1}(z)w(z)$  Solutions of the Heun equations in normal form

HeunG General Heun function

HeunC Confluent Heun function expanded near a regular singularity

 $HeunC_{\infty}$  Confluent Heun function expanded near the irregular singularity

HeunRC Reduced confluent Heun function expanded near a regular singularity

HeunRC $_{\infty}$  Reduced confluent Heun function expanded near the irregular singularity

HeunDC Doubly confluent Heun function expanded near an irregular singularity

- ${\rm HeunRDC}_0\,$  Reduced doubly confluent Heun function expanded near the irregular singularity at zero
- $\mathrm{HeunRDC}_{\infty}$  Reduced doubly confluent Heun function expanded near the irregular singularity at infinity
- HeunDRDC Doubly reduced doubly confluent Heun function expanded near an iregular singularity

# 2.1 Warm-up: 4-point degenerate conformal blocks and classical special functions

We start reviewing standard facts about four-point degenerate conformal blocks on the sphere and their confluence limits. In particular we review their relation to the hypergeometric function and its confluent limits, namely Whittaker and Bessel functions.

The hypergeometric function is the solution to the most general second-order linear ODE with three regular singularities. On the CFT side it arises as the four-point conformal block on the Riemann sphere when one of the insertions is a degenerate vertex operator.

#### 2.1.1 Hypergeometric functions

Consider the four-point conformal block on the sphere with one degenerate field insertion  $\Phi_{2,1}$  of momentum  $\alpha_{2,1} = -\frac{2b+b^{-1}}{2}$  (corresponding to  $\Delta_{2,1} = -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3b^2}{4}$ ):

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_1(1) \Phi_{2,1}(z) | \Delta_0 \right\rangle. \tag{2.1.1}$$

In the following we will drop the subscript 2, 1 and just denote by  $\Phi(z)$  this degenerate field. The corresponding BPZ equation takes the form

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \left(\frac{1}{z-1} + \frac{1}{z}\right)\partial_z + \frac{\Delta_1}{(z-1)^2} + \frac{\Delta_0}{z^2} + \frac{\Delta_\infty - \Delta_1 - \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_0}{z(z-1)}\right)\langle\Delta_\infty|V_1(1)\Phi(z)|\Delta_0\rangle = 0$$
(2.1.2)

This equation has regular singularities at  $0, 1, \infty$ . As mentioned above, the corresponding conformal blocks should therefore be expressed in terms of hypergeometric functions. Indeed, the above differential equation by definition is solved by the conformal blocks corresponding to the correlator (2.1.1), which in turn are given in terms of hypergeometric functions. In particular, the conformal block corresponding to the expansion  $z \sim 0$  is

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1\\\alpha_\infty\\\alpha_0\theta\\\alpha_0^2;z\end{pmatrix} = z^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha_0}(1-z)^{\frac{bQ}{2}+b\alpha_1}{}_2F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}+b\left(\theta\alpha_0+\alpha_1-\alpha_\infty\right),\frac{1}{2}+b\left(\theta\alpha_0+\alpha_1+\alpha_\infty\right),1+2b\theta\alpha_0,z\right),$$
(2.1.3)

where  $\theta = \pm$  and  $\alpha_{0\pm} = \alpha_0 \pm \frac{-b}{2}$  are the two fusion channels allowed by the degenerate fusion rules. Similar formulae hold for the expansions around  $z \sim 1$  and  $\infty$ . Conventionally, this conformal block is denoted diagrammatically by

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1 \\ \alpha_\infty \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \vdots \\ z \end{pmatrix} = \alpha_\infty \underbrace{ \begin{vmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{2,2} \\ \alpha_{2$$

We now want to expose the interplay between crossing symmetry, DOZZ factors and the connection formulae for the hypergeometric functions. To this end, let us expand the correlator once for  $z \sim 0$  and once for  $z \sim 1$ :

$$\langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_1(1) \Phi_{2,1}(z) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \sum_{\theta = \pm} C^{\alpha_{0\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_0} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_1\alpha_{0\theta}} \left| \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{matrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{matrix}^{\alpha_{0\theta}} \begin{matrix} \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_0 \end{matrix}; z \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \sum_{\theta' = \pm} C^{\alpha_{1\theta'}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_1} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1\theta'}\alpha_0} \left| \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{matrix} \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{matrix}^{\alpha_{1\theta'}} \begin{matrix} \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_1 \end{matrix}; 1 - z \right) \right|^2.$$

$$(2.1.5)$$

Here  $C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  are the DOZZ three-point functions, and  $C^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma} = G^{-1}_{\alpha}C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  are the OPE coefficients (see Appendix 2.A.1). Equation (2.1.5) is just the statement of crossing symmetry, due to the associativity of the OPE. The two expansions are related by the connection matrix  $\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}$  as follows

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1\\\alpha_\infty\\\alpha_0\\\alpha_0\\\alpha_0\\\beta\\\alpha_0\\\alpha_1\\\beta\\\beta\\\alpha_1\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\alpha_1\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta\\\beta$$

Plugging the latter into (2.1.5) determines  $\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}$  to be

$$\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_0, b\alpha_1; b\alpha_\infty) = \frac{\Gamma(-2\theta' b\alpha_1)\Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha_0)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\theta b\alpha_0-\theta' b\alpha_1+b\alpha_\infty\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\theta b\alpha_0-\theta' b\alpha_1-b\alpha_\infty\right)}, \quad (2.1.7)$$

which is indeed the connection matrix for hypergeometric functions. Diagrammatically, we can express the connection formula as

$$\alpha_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{1} \qquad \alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{0} = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{0} \qquad \alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_{1} \alpha_{1} \cdots \alpha_$$

#### 2.1.2 Whittaker functions

Colliding the singularities at 1 and  $\infty$  of the hypergeometric functions we obtained the Whittaker functions, which are simply related to the confluent hypergeometric function. They have a regular singularity at 0 and an irregular singularity of rank 1 at  $\infty$ . To describe the confluence of two regular singularities in CFT we introduce the rank 1 irregular state, denoted by  $\langle \mu, \Lambda |$ . It lives in a Whittaker module and it is defined by the following properties

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | L_0 = \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \langle \mu, \Lambda | \langle \mu, \Lambda | L_{-1} = \mu \Lambda \langle \mu, \Lambda | \langle \mu, \Lambda | L_{-2} = -\frac{\Lambda^2}{4} \langle \mu, \Lambda | \langle \mu, \Lambda | L_{-n} = 0, \quad n > 2.$$

$$(2.1.9)$$

Note that the action of  $L_0$  is not diagonal, and hence  $\langle \mu, \Lambda |$  makes no reference to any Verma module. Equivalently, one can describe this state by a confluence limit of primary operators:

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \propto \lim_{\eta \to \infty} t^{\Delta_t - \Delta} \langle \Delta | V_t(t)$$
 (2.1.10)

 $\mathrm{with}^2$ 

$$\Delta = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \left(\frac{\mu + \eta}{2}\right)^2, \quad \Delta_t = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \left(\frac{\mu - \eta}{2}\right)^2, \quad t = \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}.$$
 (2.1.11)

We fix the normalization of the irregular state by giving its overlap with a primary state, namely

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Delta \rangle = |\Lambda|^{2\Delta} C_{\mu\alpha} ,$$
 (2.1.12)

with

$$C_{\mu\alpha} = \frac{e^{-i\pi\Delta}\Upsilon_b(Q+2\alpha)}{\Upsilon_b\left(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu+\alpha\right)\Upsilon_b\left(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu-\alpha\right)}.$$
(2.1.13)

The  $\Lambda$ -dependence is fixed by the  $L_0$ -action, and  $C_{\mu\alpha}$  is a normalization function that only depends on  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$ , and is calculated in Appendices 2.A.2, 2.B.1. The notation reflects the fact that C can be interpreted as a collided three-point function [47]. The correlator

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle$$
 (2.1.14)

satisfies the BPZ equation

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\Delta}{z^2} + \frac{\mu\Lambda}{z} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4}\right)\langle\mu,\Lambda|\Phi(z)|\Delta\rangle = 0, \qquad (2.1.15)$$

that has a rank 1 irregular singularity at  $z = \infty$  and a regular singularity at z = 0. Correspondingly, we expect this correlator to be given in terms of confluent hypergeometric functions. Indeed, for  $z \sim 0$  one finds by solving the differential equation that the corresponding *confluent* (or *irregular*) conformal block is given by a Whittaker function. In particular, the two solutions are  $z^{\frac{b^2}{2}}M_{b\mu,\pm b\alpha}(b\Lambda z)$ , where the Whittaker *M*-function has a simple expansion around  $z \sim 0$ :

$$M_{b\mu,b\alpha}(b\Lambda z) = (b\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}+b\alpha} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(b\Lambda z)\right) .$$
(2.1.16)

We can compute the confluent conformal block as

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\,\alpha_{\theta}\,\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha};\Lambda z\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta_{\theta}}(b\Lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta b\alpha}z^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}}M_{b\mu,\theta b\alpha}(b\Lambda z)\,.$$
(2.1.17)

by expanding the OPE between  $\Phi(z)$  and  $|\Delta\rangle$  and projecting on  $\langle \mu, \Lambda |$ . Comparing this with the expansion of M one obtains the prefactors written above. Here the subscript 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note that this procedure mimics the decoupling of a mass in the AGT-dual gauge theory.
indicates the presence of a rank 1 irregular singularity at infinity. We represent this block diagramatically by

The double line denotes the rank 1 irregular state, and the fat dot the projection onto a primary state. For  $z \sim \infty$  we get an intrinsically different kind of confluent conformal block since we are now expanding z near an *irregular singularity* of rank 1, dubbed in [104] confluent conformal block of 2nd kind. We denote such a conformal block by the letter  $\mathfrak{D}$  and find

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{+}\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta+\Delta_{2,1}}e^{-i\pi b\mu}b^{b\mu}(\Lambda z)^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}}W_{-b\mu,b\alpha}(e^{-i\pi}b\Lambda z),$$

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{-}\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta+\Delta_{2,1}}b^{-b\mu}(\Lambda z)^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}}W_{b\mu,b\alpha}(b\Lambda z),$$

$$(2.1.19)$$

where W is the Whittaker function with a simple asymptotic expansion around  $z \sim \infty$ . This block is obtained by doing the OPE between the irregular state and the degenerate field, which is derived in Appendix 2.B.1, and then projecting on  $|\Delta\rangle$ . Once again, the prefactors are fixed by comparing with the expansion of W. We represent this conformal block diagramatically by

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{\theta}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = \mu \underbrace{\qquad}_{\mu_{\theta}}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha \qquad (2.1.20)$$

Crossing symmetry now implies

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle = \sum_{\theta=\pm} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha} C_{\mu\alpha_{\theta}} \left| {}_{1} \mathfrak{F} \left( \mu \, \alpha_{\theta} \, \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha}; \Lambda z \right) \right|^{2} = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} B^{\mu_{\theta'}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\mu} C_{\mu_{\theta'}\alpha} \left| {}_{1} \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \mu_{\theta'} \, \alpha; \frac{1}{\Lambda z} \right) \right|^{2}.$$

$$(2.1.21)$$

Here B is the irregular OPE coefficient arising from the OPE between the irregular state and the degenerate field. We calculate it in Appendices 2.A.2, 2.B.1, and it is given by

$$B^{\mu\pm}_{\alpha_{2,1},\mu} = e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1}{2} \pm b\mu + \frac{b^2}{4}\right)}.$$
 (2.1.22)

As for the hypergeometric function, we can make an Ansatz for the connection formula for these irregular conformal blocks of the form

$$b^{\theta b \alpha}{}_{1} \mathfrak{F}\left(\mu \,\alpha_{\theta} \,\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha}; \Lambda z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta' b \mu} \mathcal{N}_{\theta \theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu) \,_{1} \mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \,\mu_{\theta'} \,\alpha; \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) \,. \tag{2.1.23}$$

The constraints coming from crossing symmetry (2.1.21) are solved by the irregular connection coefficients

$$\mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu) = \frac{\Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\theta b\alpha-\theta' b\mu\right)} e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}-b\mu+\theta b\alpha\right)}.$$
(2.1.24)

These are just the connection coefficients for Whittaker functions. In fact, in Appendix 2.B.1 we argue the other way around, namely we determine the normalization function  $C_{\mu\alpha}$  and the irregular OPE coefficient  $B^{\mu\pm}_{\alpha_{2,1},\mu}$  by using the known connection coefficients  $\mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}$  for Whittaker functions. This shows the consistency of our approach. Let us emphasize for latter purposes that the functions  $\mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}$  solve the constraint (2.1.21), which will appear later in a different context. We represent this connection formula diagrammatically by



### 2.1.3 Bessel functions

There is a natural limiting procedure which reduces a rank 1 irregular singularity to a rank 1/2 one. To describe the latter in CFT, let us introduce the rank 1/2 irregular state  $\langle \Lambda^2 |$  via defining properties

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | L_0 = \Lambda^2 \partial_{\Lambda^2} \langle \Lambda^2 |$$
  

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | L_{-1} = -\frac{\Lambda^2}{4} \langle \Lambda^2 |$$
  

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | L_{-n} = 0, \quad n > 1.$$
  
(2.1.26)

It can be obtained from the rank 1 irregular state via the limit<sup>3</sup>

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | = \lim_{\mu \to \infty} \langle \mu, -\frac{\Lambda^2}{4\mu} | \,. \tag{2.1.27}$$

We see that reducing a rank 1 to a rank 1/2 singularity corresponds to further decoupling a mass in the AGT dual gauge theory. We normalize the rank 1/2 state as

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Delta \rangle = |\Lambda^2|^{2\Delta} C_{\alpha} , \quad C_{\alpha} = 2^{-4\Delta} e^{-2\pi i \Delta} \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha) .$$
 (2.1.28)

This normalization function is calculated in Appendices 2.A.3, 2.B.2. Consider the following correlation function involving the rank 1/2 state:

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle$$
. (2.1.29)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that this limit corresponds to the well known holomorphic decoupling limit of a massive hypermultiplet in the AGT dual gauge theory.

which correspondingly displays a rank 1/2 singularity at infinity. This is reflected in the BPZ equation

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\Delta}{z^2} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4z}\right)\langle\Lambda^2|\Phi(z)|\Delta\rangle = 0.$$
(2.1.30)

Solving this differential equation one finds that the corresponding rank 1/2 irregular conformal block is given by a modified Bessel function  $I_{\nu}(x)$  as

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\,\Lambda\sqrt{z}\right) = \Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha)\Lambda^{2\Delta_{\theta}}\left(\frac{b\Lambda}{2}\right)^{-2\theta b\alpha} z^{\frac{bQ}{2}} I_{2\theta b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z})\,. \tag{2.1.31}$$

Here the subscript  $\frac{1}{2}$  indicates the presence of a rank 1/2 singularity at infinity. This conformal block is obtained by doing the OPE between  $\Phi$  and  $|\Delta\rangle$  and then projecting the result on  $\langle \Lambda^2 |$ . The prefactors are fixed by comparing this with the following expansion of the Bessel function

$$I_{2\theta b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}) = \frac{(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}/2)^{2\theta b\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha)} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z})\right).$$
(2.1.32)

We represent this conformal block diagramatically by

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\,\Lambda\sqrt{z}\right) = \underbrace{\alpha_{2,1}}_{\alpha_{\theta}} \alpha \qquad (2.1.33)$$

Here the wiggly line denotes the rank 1/2 irregular state, and the fat dot represents the pairing with a primary state. For  $z \sim \infty$  we get a different kind of irregular conformal block, since we are now expanding for z near an irregular singularity of rank 1/2. We denote such a conformal block by the letter  $\mathfrak{E}$ 

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(+)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) = \sqrt{\frac{2b}{\pi}}e^{-\frac{i\pi}{2}}(\Lambda^2)^{\Delta-\frac{b^2}{4}}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}}K_{2b\alpha}(e^{-i\pi}b\Lambda\sqrt{z}),$$

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(-)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) = \sqrt{\frac{2b}{\pi}}(\Lambda^2)^{\Delta-\frac{b^2}{4}}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}}K_{2b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}),$$
(2.1.34)

where K is the modified Bessel function of the second kind, which has a nice asymptotic expansion for  $z \sim \infty$ . This block is obtained from the OPE between the irregular rank 1/2 state and the degenerate field which we derived in Appendix 2.B.2, and then by taking the scalar product with  $|\Delta\rangle$ . We represent this block diagramatically by

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) = \overbrace{\theta}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha \qquad (2.1.35)$$

Crossing symmetry implies that

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle = \sum_{\theta=\pm} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha} C_{\alpha_{\theta}} \left| \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha_{\theta} \, \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha; \, \Lambda \sqrt{z} \right) \right|^2 = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} B_{\alpha_{2,1}} C_{\alpha} \left| \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{E}^{(\theta')} \left( \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha; \frac{1}{\Lambda \sqrt{z}} \right) \right|^2 . \tag{2.1.36}$$

Here  $B_{\alpha_{2,1}}$  is the irregular OPE coefficient arising from the OPE between the irregular rank 1/2 state and the degenerate field:

$$B_{\alpha_{2,1}} = 2^{b^2} e^{\frac{i\pi bQ}{2}} \,. \tag{2.1.37}$$

These functions are derived in Appendix 2.B.2. We can now make an Ansatz for the connection formula for these irregular conformal blocks:

$$b^{2\theta b\alpha}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\,\Lambda\sqrt{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-1/2}\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha){}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta')}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right)\,.\tag{2.1.38}$$

The crossing symmetry condition (2.1.36) gives constraints on the irregular connection coefficients, which are solved by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha) = \frac{2^{2\theta b\alpha}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \Gamma(1 + 2\theta b\alpha) e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + 2\theta b\alpha\right)}.$$
(2.1.39)

These are of course nothing else than the connection coefficients for Bessel functions, including the relevant prefactors. Similar constraints of the form (2.1.36) will reappear later. We represent the connection formula by

$$\alpha_{2,1} \qquad \alpha_{2,1} \qquad \alpha_{2$$

# 2.2 5-point degenerate conformal blocks, confluences and connection formulae

In this section we consider the relevant CFT correlators obeying the BPZ equations which reduce to Heun equations in the appropriate classical limit. Notice that for more than three vertix insertions BPZ equations on the sphere are richer than the corresponding ODE due to the presence of the corresponding moduli. This implies that a suitable classical limit (NS limit), engineered to decouple the moduli dynamics, is needed to recover the corresponding ODE.

We derive explicit connection formulae for the relevant conformal blocks by making use of crossing symmetry of the CFT correlators. In the classical limit, these generate explicit solutions of the connection problem for the Heun equations.

# 2.2.1 Regular conformal blocks

#### General case

The five-point function with one degenerate insertion in Liouville CFT satisfies the BPZ equation

$$\left( b^{-2}\partial_z^2 + \frac{\Delta_1}{(z-1)^2} - \frac{\Delta_1 + t\partial_t + \Delta_t + z\partial_z + \Delta_{2,1} + \Delta_0 - \Delta_\infty}{z(z-1)} + \frac{\Delta_t}{(z-t)^2} + \frac{t}{z(z-t)}\partial_t - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\Delta_0}{z^2} \right) \langle \Delta_\infty | V_1(1)V_t(t)\Phi(z) | \Delta_0 \rangle = 0.$$

$$(2.2.1)$$

The five-point function can be expanded in the region  $z \ll t \ll 1$  as follows

$$\langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_1(1) V_t(t) \Phi(z) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha_{0\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_0} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_t\alpha_{0\theta}} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1\alpha}} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha$$

As usual the conformal blocks can be computed via OPEs. The result is naturally an expansion in the variables t and z/t. Conformal blocks are usually denoted diagrammatically as

$$\alpha_{\infty} = \underbrace{ \begin{array}{ccc} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{t} & \alpha_{2,1} \\ \\ \alpha_{\infty} & \alpha_{0\theta} \end{array}}_{\alpha & \alpha_{0\theta} & \alpha_{0\theta} \end{array} = \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha^{\alpha_{t}} & \alpha_{0\theta} & \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} & \alpha^{\alpha_{t}} & \alpha_{0\theta} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}; t, \frac{z}{t} \right).$$
(2.2.3)

An explicit combinatorial formula for this conformal block is given in Appendix 2.D. The same correlator can be expanded for  $z \sim t$  and small t after the Möbius transformation  $x \to \frac{x-t}{1-t}$ , yielding

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_{1}(1) V_{t}(t) \Phi(z) | \Delta_{0} \rangle &= \left| (1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty} - \Delta_{1} - \Delta_{t} - \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_{0}} \right|^{2} \langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_{1}(1) V_{0}\left(\frac{t}{t-1}\right) \Phi\left(\frac{z-t}{1-t}\right) | \Delta_{t} \rangle = \\ &= \sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha_{t\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{t}} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{0}\alpha_{t\theta}} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1}\alpha} \left| (1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty} - \Delta_{1} - \Delta_{t} - \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_{0}} \mathfrak{F}\left(\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha^{\alpha_{0}} \alpha_{t\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{t}}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t}\right) \right|^{2}. \end{split}$$

$$(2.2.4)$$

Diagramatically, this conformal block is

$$\alpha_{\infty} = \underbrace{\alpha_{1}}_{\alpha \quad \alpha_{0}} \quad \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} = \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{array} \alpha_{t\theta} \\ \alpha_{t} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{0} \end{array} \alpha_{t\theta} \\ \alpha_{t} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} t \\ t \\ t \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} t \\ t \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} t \\ t \end{array} \right) \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{2} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{2} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{1} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{2} \\ \alpha_{t} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} t \\ t \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} t \\ t \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{2} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{2} \\ \alpha_{t} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{t} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{t} \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{$$

We notice that the diagrams just represent the order in which the OPEs are performed, neglecting factors such as Jacobians that arise from the Möbius transformations. By crossing symmetry the two expansions should agree, so that

$$\sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha_{0\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{0}} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{t}\alpha_{0\theta}} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1}\alpha} \left| \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{array}^{\alpha_{t}} \alpha_{0\theta} \end{array}^{\alpha_{2,1}}_{\alpha_{0}}; t, \frac{z}{t} \right) \right|^{2} = \\ = \sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha_{t\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{t}} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{0}\alpha_{t\theta}} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1}\alpha} \left| (1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{0}} \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{array}^{\alpha_{0}} \alpha_{t\theta} \end{array}^{\alpha_{2,1}}_{\alpha_{t}}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \right) \right|^{2}.$$

$$(2.2.6)$$

which can be conveniently recast as

$$\int d\alpha C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1}\alpha} \sum_{\theta=\pm} \left( C_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{0}\theta} C_{\alpha_{t}\alpha_{0}\theta}^{\alpha} \left| \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha_{1} \alpha \alpha^{\alpha_{t}} \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}}; t, \frac{z}{t} \right) \right|^{2} + C_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{t}}^{\alpha_{t}\theta} C_{\alpha_{0}\alpha_{t}\theta}^{\alpha} \left| (1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{0}} \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha_{\infty} \alpha^{\alpha_{0}} \alpha_{t\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{t}}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \right) \right|^{2} \right) = 0.$$

$$(2.2.7)$$

By imposing the vanishing of the integrand we get a constraint analogous to (2.1.5), which analogously to (2.1.6) we solve as<sup>4</sup>

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{1}\\\alpha_{\infty}&\alpha^{\alpha_{t}}&\alpha_{0\theta}&\alpha_{2,1};t,\frac{z}{t}\end{pmatrix} = \\ = \sum_{\theta'=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_{0},b\alpha_{t};b\alpha)e^{i\pi(\Delta-\Delta_{0}-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{t})}(1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{0}}\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{1}\\\alpha_{\infty}&\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}&\alpha_{t\theta}&\alpha_{2,1};\frac{t}{t-1},\frac{t-z}{t}\end{pmatrix},$$

$$(2.2.8)$$

where  $\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}$  are the hypergeometric connection coefficients defined in (2.1.7). Note indeed that in (2.2.8) the functional form of the connection coefficients depends on the local properties of the conformal block in the vicinity of the degenerate vertex insertion as can be seen form the factorized form of (2.2.7). Diagrammatically, the connection formula (2.2.8) reads



 $^{4}$ The phase appearing in the RHS of equation (2.2.8) is fixed imposing that the overall leading powers of

$$(1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{0}}\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{1}&\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}&\alpha_{t\theta}&\alpha_{2,1}\\\alpha_{\infty}&\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}&\alpha_{t\theta}&\alpha_{t};\frac{t}{t-1},\frac{t-z}{t}\end{pmatrix}\sim e^{-i\pi(\Delta-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{0})}t^{\Delta-\Delta_{0}-\Delta_{t\theta}}(t-z)^{\Delta_{t\theta}-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{2,1}}(1+\ldots)$$

agree with the leading powers of the OPEs of the full correlator, where no explicit phase appears.

Conformal blocks for small z can also be connected to the expansion for  $z \sim 1, z \sim \infty$  passing through the region  $t \ll z \ll 1$ . The conformal block in that region is

$$\alpha_{\infty} = \underbrace{\left| \begin{array}{ccc} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{2,1} & \alpha_{t} \\ \alpha_{2,1} & \alpha_{t} \\ \alpha_{2,1} & \alpha_{t} \\ \alpha_{\infty} & \alpha_{0} \end{array} \right|}_{\alpha_{0} \alpha_{0}} = \mathfrak{F}\left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{2,1} & \alpha_{\theta} & \alpha_{t} \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array} ; z, \frac{t}{z} \right). \quad (2.2.10)$$

Then, crossing symmetry relates this block to the expansion for  $z \sim 0$  via

$$\langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_1(1) V_t(t) \Phi(z) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_1(1) \Phi(z) V_t(t) | \Delta_0 \rangle, \qquad (2.2.11)$$

therefore, by comparing (2.2.11) with (2.2.3) we get

$$\sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha_{0\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{0}} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{t}\alpha_{0\theta}} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1}\alpha} \left| \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{array}^{\alpha_{t}} \alpha_{0\theta} \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{0} \end{array}^{\gamma}; t, \frac{z}{t} \right) \right|^{2} = \\ = \sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{\theta}} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{t}\alpha_{0}} C_{\alpha_{\infty}\alpha_{1}\alpha} \left| \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{array}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{\theta} \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{0} \end{array}^{\gamma}; z, \frac{t}{z} \right) \right|^{2}, \tag{2.2.12}$$

and following the same argument as for the previous case we find

$$\mathfrak{F}\left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{array} \alpha \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{t} \\ \alpha_{0\theta} \end{array} \alpha_{0\theta} \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{0}; t, \frac{z}{t} \end{array}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_{0}, b\alpha; b\alpha_{t}) \mathfrak{F}\left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{array} \alpha \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{\theta'} \end{array} \alpha_{0} \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{t} \\ \alpha_{0}; z, \frac{t}{z} \end{array}\right). \quad (2.2.13)$$

Now we can connect expansions in the intermediate region to expansions for  $z \sim \infty$  again invoking crossing symmetry. Performing the transformation  $x \to t/x$  on the LHS of (2.2.11) we get

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\infty} | V_1(1) \Phi(z) V_t(t) | \Delta_0 \right\rangle = \left| t^{\Delta_{\infty} + \Delta_1 + \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_0 - \Delta_t} z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \right|^2 \left\langle \Delta_0 | V_t(1) V_1(t) \Phi\left(\frac{t}{z}\right) | \Delta_{\infty} \right\rangle,$$
(2.2.14)

that implies

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C_{\alpha_t \alpha_0 \alpha} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{2,1} \alpha_{\theta}} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{\infty} \alpha_1} \left| \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{matrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{matrix} \alpha_{\theta} \end{matrix} \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{\alpha_0}} \alpha \begin{matrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \end{matrix}; z, \frac{t}{z} \end{matrix} \right) \right|^2 = \\ &= \sum_{\theta=\pm} \int d\alpha \, C_{\alpha_t \alpha_0 \alpha} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{2,1} \alpha_{\infty}} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{\infty} \theta \alpha_1} \left| t^{\Delta_{\infty} + \Delta_1 + \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_0 - \Delta_t} z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{matrix} \alpha_t \\ \alpha_0 \end{matrix} \alpha \overset{\alpha_1}{\alpha_{\infty} \theta'} \begin{matrix} \alpha_{\infty} ; t, \frac{1}{z} \end{matrix} \right) \right|^2, \end{split}$$

$$(2.2.15)$$

and finally

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{1}\\\alpha_{\infty}\\\alpha_{\theta}\end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\alpha_{\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{t}};z,\frac{t}{z} = \sum_{\theta'}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha,b\alpha_{\infty};b\alpha_{1})t^{\Delta_{\infty}+\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{0}-\Delta_{t}}z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{t}\\\alpha_{0}\\\alpha_{0}\end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{\infty\theta'}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{\infty}};t,\frac{t}{z}$$

$$(2.2.16)$$

Combining equations (2.2.13) and (2.2.16) we can write

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{1} \ \alpha \\ \alpha_{\infty} \ \alpha \\ \alpha_{0} \\ \alpha_{0} \\ \alpha_{1} \\ \alpha_{0} \\$$

Diagrammatically, this reads

$$\alpha_{\infty} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{t} & \alpha_{2,1} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha & \alpha_{0\theta_{1}} \end{array}}_{\alpha & \alpha_{0\theta_{1}}} \alpha_{0} = \sum_{\theta_{2}\theta_{3}} \mathcal{M}_{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}} \mathcal{M}_{(-\theta_{2})\theta_{3}} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{t} & \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{2,1} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{\theta_{2}} & \alpha_{\infty\theta_{3}} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{2} & \alpha_{1} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{\theta_{2}} & \alpha_{\infty\theta_{3}} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{2} & \alpha_{1} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{\theta_{2}} & \alpha_{\infty\theta_{3}} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{2} & \alpha_{1} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{2} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & & \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}\theta_{0}} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \\ \hline & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0}} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0} \\ \end{array}}_{\alpha_{0$$

The diagrams provide a straightforward way to generalize the connection formula to an arbitrary pair of points. Indeed, writing down the diagram it is immediate to guess the correct  $\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}$  factors and the conformal blocks that will enter the connection formula. As an example, the connection formula for the expansions for  $z \sim 1$  and  $z \sim \infty$  with  $t \ll 1$  are given by

$$\alpha_{0} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{t} \quad \alpha_{\infty} \quad \alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{1\theta} \qquad \alpha_{1} = \sum_{\theta'} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{t} \quad \alpha_{1} \quad \alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{0} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{t} \quad \alpha_{1} \quad \alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{\infty\theta'},$$

$$(2.2.19)$$

that is

$$t^{\Delta_{\infty}+\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{0}}(1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty}+\Delta_{0}+\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{1}}(z-t)^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{0}\\\alpha_{t}\end{pmatrix}\alpha^{\alpha_{\infty}}\alpha_{1\theta}&\alpha_{1}^{\alpha_{2,1}};t,\frac{z-1}{z-t}\end{pmatrix} = \\ = \sum_{\theta'}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_{1},b\alpha_{\infty};b\alpha)t^{\Delta_{\infty}+\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{0}-\Delta_{t}}z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{t}\\\alpha_{0}\end{pmatrix}\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{\alpha_{\theta'}}&\alpha_{2,1}^{\alpha_{2,1}};t,\frac{1}{z}\end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(2.2.20)$$

Note that combining all the previous formulae we manage to analytically continue the expansion in  $z \sim 0$  of the conformal block in all the complex plane for  $t \ll 1$ . It is straightforward to generalize the previous formulae for  $t \sim 1, t \sim \infty$ . All in all, for any value of t we can connect all the possible expansions in z. The analytic continuation in the t-plane is more involved and can be done via the fusion kernel. As a concluding remark, note that there is a Möbius tranformation in each region of expansions of the correlator, say  $z \ll t \ll 1$  for reference, that only exchanges  $\alpha_{\infty}$  and  $\alpha_1$  and that does not change the region of validity of the expansion. This transformation is usually called *braiding*. This

80

gives, up to a Jacobian,

$$\alpha_{1} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{\infty} & \alpha_{t} & \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0\pm} \end{array}}_{\alpha & \alpha_{0\pm} & \alpha_{0} \end{array} = \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{array}{c} \alpha_{\infty} & \alpha_{t} & \alpha_{0\theta} & \alpha_{2,1} \\ \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{0\theta} & \alpha_{0} \end{array}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{z}{t} \frac{t-1}{z-1} \right).$$

$$(2.2.21)$$

Braiding changes the expansion variables in the conformal blocks according to the new positions of the insertions and as such can be used to generate other expansions and the related connection coefficients.

#### Semiclassical limit

Let us consider the semiclassical limit of Liouville theory, that is the double scaling limit

$$b \to 0, \, \alpha_i \to \infty, \, b\alpha_i = a_i \text{ finite.}$$
 (2.2.22)

In this limit the conformal blocks and the corresponding BPZ equation greatly simplify. The divergence exponentiates and the z dependence becomes subleading, namely<sup>5</sup>

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1\\\alpha_\infty\\\alpha^{\alpha_1}\\\alpha_0\\\theta^{\alpha_2,1};t,\frac{z}{t}\end{pmatrix} = t^{\Delta-\Delta_t-\Delta_{0\theta}} z^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha_0} \exp\left[\frac{1}{b^2}\left(F(t)+b^2W(z/t,t)+\mathcal{O}(b^4)\right)\right].$$
(2.2.23)

Here F(t) is the classical conformal block, related to the conformal block without degenerate insertion via

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1\\\alpha_\infty\\\alpha_0;t\end{pmatrix} = t^{\Delta - \Delta_t - \Delta_0} e^{b^{-2} \left(F(t) + \mathcal{O}(b^2)\right)}.$$
(2.2.24)

The divergences in the conformal blocks can be cured by dividing by the conformal block without the degenerate insertion. We denote the resulting finite, semiclassical conformal block by the letter  $\mathcal{F}$ :

$$\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_1\\a_{\infty}\end{pmatrix}^{a}a^{a_t}a_{0\theta}\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_0};t,\frac{z}{t} = \lim_{b\to 0}\frac{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1\\\alpha_{\infty}\end{pmatrix}^{\alpha}\alpha_t}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1\\\alpha_{\infty}\end{pmatrix}^{\alpha}\alpha_t}a_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_0};t}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_1\\\alpha_{\infty}\end{pmatrix}^{\alpha}\alpha_t}a_{0\theta};t} = t^{-\theta a_0}z^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_0}e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_0}F(t)}\left(1+\mathcal{O}(t,z/t)\right).$$
(2.2.25)

Note that the conformal block with the degenerate insertion and  $z, t \sim 0$  contains a classical conformal block depending on  $a_{0\theta} = a_0 - \theta \frac{b^2}{2}$ . Dividing by the four-point function without the degenerate insertion, which depends on  $a_0$ , gives an incremental ratio that in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Here and in the following we do not indicate the dependence of F and W on the rescaled momenta.

the limit (2.2.22) becomes the derivative  $\partial_{a_0} F(t)$ . The BPZ equation (2.2.1) simplifies in the semiclassical limit as well. The *t*-derivative acting on the conformal block gives

$$t\partial_t \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_\infty \end{pmatrix} \alpha^{\alpha_t} \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_0}; t, \frac{z}{t} \end{pmatrix} = b^{-2} \left( -\frac{1}{4} - a^2 + a_t^2 + a_0^2 + t\partial_t F(a_i, a, t) + \mathcal{O}(b^2) \right) \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_\infty \end{pmatrix} \alpha^{\alpha_t} \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_0}; t, \frac{z}{t} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(2.2.26)$$

therefore the t-derivative becomes a multiplication by a z-independent factor at leading order in  $b^2$  and the BPZ equation becomes an ODE. Defining

$$u^{(0)} = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 t \partial_t \log \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_\infty \\ \alpha_{\alpha_0} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_t}; t \, , \qquad (2.2.27)$$

where the superscript indicates that the block is expanded for  $t \sim 0$ , the BPZ equation (2.2.1) in the semiclassical limit reads

$$\left(\partial_{z}^{2} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{1}^{2}}{(z-1)^{2}} - \frac{\frac{1}{2} - a_{1}^{2} - a_{0}^{2} + a_{0}^{2} + a_{\infty}^{2} + u^{(0)}}{z(z-1)} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{t}^{2}}{(z-t)^{2}} + \frac{u^{(0)}}{z(z-t)} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{0}^{2}}{z^{2}}\right) \mathcal{F}\left(\begin{array}{c}a_{1} \\ a_{\infty} \\ a^{2} \\ a_{0\theta} \\ a_{0} \\$$

The solution of the previous ODE for  $z \sim t$  is given by the semiclassical block

$$(t-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_0} a_{t\theta} a_{2,1}^{a_2}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix} = \lim_{b \to 0} (t-1)^{-\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{\mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0} \alpha_{t\theta} \alpha_{2,1}^{a_2}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0} \alpha_{t\theta}^{a_1}; \frac{t}{t-1} \end{pmatrix}} = \lim_{b \to 0} \frac{e^{i\pi(\Delta - \Delta_0 - \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_t)}(1-t)^{\Delta_{\infty} - \Delta_1 - \Delta_t - \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_0} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0} \alpha_{t\theta} \alpha_{2,1}^{a_2}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0} \alpha_{t\theta}^{a_1}; \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix}},$$

$$\mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0} \alpha_{0}^{a_1}; \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0}; t \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_2 \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0}; t \end{pmatrix}$$

therefore the connection formula (2.2.8) descends to the semiclassical blocks to be

$$\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_1 \\ a_{\infty} a a_t a_{0\theta} a_{0,2,1}; t, \frac{z}{t} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{\theta'} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(a_0, a_t; a)(t-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_1 \\ a_{\infty} a a_0 a_{t\theta'} a_{t}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.2.30)

Note that the intermediate momentum a can be computed as a function of the parameters appearing in the semiclassical BPZ equation inverting the relation (2.2.27). Similarly, keeping  $t \sim 0$  we can analytically continue the solution to the other singularities, that is for  $z \sim 1$  and  $z \sim \infty$ . In particular, we can directly connect  $z \sim 0$  and  $z \sim \infty$  passing though the intermediate region. The semiclassical block for  $z\sim\infty$  reads

$$t^{-\frac{1}{2}}z\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{t} a^{a_{1}} a_{\infty\theta} a_{\infty}^{2,1}; t, \frac{1}{z} \end{pmatrix} = \\ = \lim_{b \to 0} \frac{t^{\Delta_{\infty} + \Delta_{1} + \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_{0} - \Delta_{t}} z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{t} \alpha^{\alpha_{1}} \alpha_{\infty\theta'} \alpha_{\infty}^{2,1}; t, \frac{1}{z} \end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{1} \alpha \alpha^{\alpha_{1}} \alpha_{\infty\theta'} \alpha_{0}^{2,1}; t, \frac{1}{z} \end{pmatrix}} = \lim_{b \to 0} \frac{t^{\Delta_{2,1}} z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{t} \alpha^{\alpha_{1}} \alpha_{\infty\theta'} \alpha_{\infty\theta'} \alpha_{\infty}^{2,1}; t, \frac{1}{z} \end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{0} \alpha \alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{1}}; t \end{pmatrix}}.$$

$$(2.2.31)$$

The connection formula (2.2.17) from  $z \sim 0$  to  $z \sim \infty$  involves a conformal block with two shifted momenta, that is

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_t \\ \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_{\theta'} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_1} \alpha_{\infty\theta} \\ \alpha_{\infty'}^{\alpha_{2,1}}; t, \frac{1}{z} = t^{\Delta_{\theta'} - \Delta_1 - \Delta_{\infty\theta}} \left(\frac{t}{z}\right)^{\frac{bQ}{2} + \theta b \alpha_{\infty}} \exp\left[\frac{1}{b^2} F\left(a - \theta' \frac{b^2}{2}, t\right) + W\left(a - \theta' \frac{b^2}{2}, t\right) + \mathcal{O}(b^2)\right].$$
(2.2.32)

At first order in  $b^2$ 

$$F\left(a-\theta'\frac{b^{2}}{2},t\right)+b^{2}W\left(a-\theta'\frac{b^{2}}{2},t\right)=F(a,t)-\frac{\theta'b^{2}}{2}\partial_{a}F(a,t)+b^{2}W\left(a,t\right)+\mathcal{O}(b^{4}),$$
(2.2.33)

therefore in the semiclassical limit

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_t \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_1} \alpha_{\infty\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{\infty}}; t, \frac{1}{z} \sim t^{-\theta'\alpha} e^{-\frac{\theta'}{2}\partial_a F(t)} \mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_t \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_1} \alpha_{\infty\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{\infty}}; t, \frac{1}{z}, \quad \text{as } b \to 0.$$
(2.2.34)

This is consistent with the fact that we expect only two linearly independent z behaviors. The connection formula (2.2.17) simplifies to

$$\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_1\\a_{\infty}&a^{a_t}a_{0\theta}a_{2,1}^{2};t,\frac{z}{t}\end{pmatrix} = \\ = \sum_{\theta'}\left(\sum_{\sigma}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\sigma}(a_0,a;a_t)\mathcal{M}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a,a_{\infty};a_1)t^{-\sigma a}e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F}\right)t^{-\frac{1}{2}}z\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_t&a^{a_1}a_{\infty\theta'}a_{2,1}^{2};t,\frac{1}{z}\end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(2.2.35)$$

Explicitly, the connection coefficients are

$$\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\sigma}(a_0, a; a_t) \mathcal{M}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a, a_{\infty}; a_1) t^{-\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} =$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1 - 2\sigma a)\Gamma(-2\sigma a)\Gamma(1 + 2\theta a_0)\Gamma(-2\theta' a_{\infty})t^{-\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_0 - \sigma a + a_t\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_0 - \sigma a - a_t\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma a - \theta' a_{\infty} + a_1\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma a - \theta' a_{\infty} - a_1\right)}.$$
(2.2.36)

For future reference, the semiclassical block for small t and  $z \sim 1$  is given by

$$(t(1-t))^{-\frac{1}{2}}(t-z)\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a a^{\alpha_{\infty}} a_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix} = \lim_{b \to 0} (t(1-t))^{\Delta_{2,1}}(t-z)^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}},$$

$$(t(1-t))^{-\frac{1}{2}}(t-z)\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix} = \lim_{b \to 0} (t(1-t))^{\Delta_{2,1}}(t-z)^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}},$$

$$(t(1-t))^{-\frac{1}{2}}(t-z)\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix} = \lim_{b \to 0} (t(1-t))^{\Delta_{2,1}}(t-z)^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}},$$

$$(t(1-t))^{-\frac{1}{2}}(t-z)\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} a_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix} = \lim_{b \to 0} (t(1-t))^{\Delta_{2,1}}(t-z)^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} a^{\alpha_{\infty}} \alpha_{1\theta} a_{2,1}^{2}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}},$$

Similarly one can obtain the connection coefficients for the other t-expansions. As an example, let us schematically consider the case  $t \gg 1$ . The semiclassical block for  $z \sim 0$  reads

$$t^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_t \\ a_\infty \end{pmatrix}^{a_1} a_{0\theta} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_0}; \frac{1}{t}, z \end{pmatrix} = \lim_{b \to 0} \frac{t^{-\Delta_{2,1}} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t \\ \alpha_\infty \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_1} \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_0}; \frac{1}{t}, z \end{pmatrix}}{\mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t \\ \alpha_\infty \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_1} \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_0}; \frac{1}{t} \end{pmatrix}}.$$
 (2.2.38)

Still the t-derivative decouples, leaving behind

$$u^{(\infty)} = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 t \partial_t \log t^{\Delta - \Delta_t - \Delta_1 - \Delta_0} \mathfrak{F} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t & \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_\infty & \alpha_0; \frac{1}{t} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.2.39)

Note that the semiclassical BPZ equation formally remains the same, with the substitution<sup>6</sup> of  $u^{(0)}$  with  $u^{(\infty)}$ . Indeed, the intermediate momentum  $\alpha$  is now determined in terms of  $u^{(\infty)}$ . The  $z \sim 1$  expansion gives

$$(t-1)^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{i\theta\pi a}\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_t \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_1}a_{0\theta} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_0}; \frac{1}{t-1}, 1-z = \lim_{b\to 0}(t-1)^{-\Delta_{2,1}}e^{i\theta\pi b\alpha}\frac{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_t \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0}a_{1\theta} + \alpha_{2,1}; \frac{1}{1-t}, 1-z}{\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_t \\ \alpha_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{\alpha_0}a_1; \frac{1}{1-t}, 1-z}, (2.2.40)$$

and the corresponding connection formula reads

$$t^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_t \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_{1}} a_{0\theta} a_{0\theta}^{a_{2,1}}; \frac{1}{t}, z \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{\theta'=\pm 1} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'} (a_0, a_1; a) (t-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{i\theta\pi a} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_t \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_{1}} a_{0\theta'} a_{0\theta'}^{a_{2,1}}; \frac{1}{t-1}, 1-z \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.2.41)

All other connection formulae at  $t \gg 1$  can be obtained similarly. The same can be done when  $t \sim 1$ . Note that again the semiclassical BPZ equation looks formally as (2.2.28) upon the substitution<sup>7</sup> of  $u^{(0)}$  with

$$u^{(1)} = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 t \partial_t \log \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{matrix} \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_\infty \end{matrix} \right)^{\alpha_t} (1-t) .$$
(2.2.42)

 $^6{\rm From}$  the gauge theory viewpoint this amounts to a change of frame from the electric to the monopole one.

 $<sup>^7\</sup>mathrm{This}$  is the dyon frame.

#### 2.2.2 Confluent conformal blocks

#### General case

Consider the correlation function

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | V_1(1) \Phi(z) | \Delta_0 \rangle. \tag{2.2.43}$$

It solves the BPZ equation

$$\left( b^{-2} \partial_z^2 - \left( \frac{1}{z} + \frac{1}{z-1} \right) \partial_z + \frac{\Lambda \partial_\Lambda - \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_1 - \Delta_0}{z(z-1)} + \frac{\Delta_1}{(z-1)^2} + \frac{\Delta_0}{z^2} + \frac{\mu \Lambda}{z} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4} \right) \langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = 0,$$

$$(2.2.44)$$

and can be decomposed into *confluent* conformal blocks in different ways. They are all given as collision limits of *regular* conformal blocks.

**Small**  $\Lambda$  blocks We focus first on the case where the conformal blocks are given as an expansion in  $\Lambda$ . The block for  $z \sim 0$  is defined as<sup>8</sup>

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\;\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda,z\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha_{0}}{}_{1}\widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}\left(\mu\;\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda,z\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha_{0}}\lim_{\eta\to\infty}\widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}\left(\frac{\frac{\eta-\mu}{2}}{\frac{\eta+\mu}{2}}\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}};\frac{\Lambda}{\eta},z\right).$$

$$(2.2.45)$$

This is nothing but the standard collision limit of  $\langle \Delta_{\infty} |$  and  $V_t(t)$  as defined in (2.1.11). The tilde on the conformal block means it has no classical part, i.e. is normalized such that the first term is 1. This conformal block can also be computed directly by doing the OPE of  $\Phi(z)$  with  $|\Delta_0\rangle$ , then the OPE of  $V_1(1)$  with the result which we specify to be in the Verma module  $\Delta_{\alpha}$ , and then contracting with  $\langle \mu, \Lambda |$ . In the diagrammatic notation introduced in section 2.1.2, we represent it by

The double line represents the rank 1 irregular state, and the dot the pairing with a primary state. For  $z \sim 1$ , the corresponding block can be expressed as



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The argument  $\frac{\eta+\mu}{2}$  should appear with a minus sign as in Appendix 2.A.2. Here and in the following we don't write it due to the symmetry of the conformal block. The reader wishing to compare with the Nekrasov partition function should take this sign into account as in Appendix 2.C.

where the exponential factor and the argument  $-\mu$  arise from the corresponding Möbius transformation<sup>9</sup>. In the intermediate region, where  $z \gg 1$  but  $\Lambda z \ll 1$ , the corresponding block is

In the deep irregular region where  $z \gg 1$  and  $\Lambda z \gg 1$ , the conformal block is given by a different collision limit, proposed in [104]:

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{\theta}\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}_{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda,\frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = e^{\theta b\Lambda z/2}\Lambda^{\Delta_{2,1}+\Delta}\left(\Lambda z\right)^{-\theta b\mu+\frac{b^{2}}{2}} \times \\ \times \lim_{\eta\to\infty}\left(1-\frac{\eta}{\Lambda z}\right)^{-\frac{bQ}{2}-\theta\frac{b}{2}(\mu-\eta)}\widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}\left(_{\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha^{\frac{\mu-\eta}{2}}_{\alpha\frac{\mu+\eta-\theta b}{2}}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\frac{\mu+\eta}{2}};\frac{\Lambda}{\eta},\frac{\eta}{\Lambda z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.49)$$

Whenever z approaches an irregular singularity of rank 1, we denote the corresponding conformal block by  $\mathfrak{D}$ . This conformal block can also be computed directly by doing the OPE between  $\langle \mu, \Lambda |$  and  $\Phi(z)$ , then the OPE of the result with  $V_1(1)$  and contracting with  $|\Delta_0\rangle$ . Diagramatically, we write

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{\longrightarrow} \mu_{\theta} \alpha \overset{\alpha_{1}}{\xrightarrow{\alpha_{0}}}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = \mu \underbrace{\mu_{\theta}}_{\mu_{\theta}} \overset{\alpha_{1}}{\xrightarrow{\alpha_{1}}} \alpha_{0} \qquad (2.2.50)$$

The connection problem between 0 and 1 is solved in the same way as for the regular conformal blocks, since we are never near the irregular singularity. The result is

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu \ \alpha^{\alpha_{1}} \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \Lambda, z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_{0}, b\alpha_{1}; b\alpha) e^{\mu\Lambda_{1}} \mathfrak{F}\left(-\mu \ \alpha^{\alpha_{0}} \alpha_{1\theta'} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda, 1-z\right).$$

$$(2.2.51)$$

**Diagrammatically:** 



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Actually, doing the Möbius transformation one gets  $-\Lambda$  but since the block depends only on  $\mu\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda^2$  except for the classical part, one can trade  $-\Lambda$  for  $-\mu$ .

Instead, to solve the connection problem between 1 and  $\infty$  one has to do two steps: from 1 to the intermediate region, and then to  $\infty$ . At each step we decompose the correlator into conformal blocks in the different regions and then use crossing symmetry to determine the connection coefficients. The relevant formulae for the irregular state are reviewed in Appendix 2.B.1. We have

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \int d\alpha \, C_{\mu\alpha} \sum_{\theta=\pm} C^{\alpha_{1\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_1} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{1\theta}\alpha_0} \left| e^{\mu\Lambda} {}_1 \mathfrak{F} \left( -\mu \, \alpha^{\alpha_0} \, \alpha_{1\theta} \, \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_1}; \Lambda, 1-z \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int d\alpha \, C_{\mu\alpha} \sum_{\theta'=\pm} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{\theta'}} C^{\alpha_{\theta'}}_{\alpha_1\alpha_0} \left| z^{-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_1-\Delta_0} {}_1 \mathfrak{F} \left( \mu \, \alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \alpha_{\theta'} \, \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda z, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^2 .$$

$$(2.2.53)$$

We recognize this condition from the hypergeometric function (2.1.5). Therefore we can readily solve it in terms of the hypergeometric connection coefficients  $\mathcal{M}$  and the connection formula between 0 and the intermediate region is then

$$e^{\mu\Lambda}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(-\mu\;\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\alpha_{1\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}};\Lambda,1-z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_{1},b\alpha;b\alpha_{0})z^{-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{0}}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\;\alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}}\alpha_{\theta'}\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda z,\frac{1}{z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.54)$$

Diagrammatically:

$$-\mu = \alpha \quad \alpha_{1\theta} \quad \alpha_{1\theta} \quad \alpha_{1\theta} = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'} \quad \alpha_{1\theta'} \quad \alpha_{1\theta'$$

If one decomposes the correlator into conformal blocks in the intermediate region and near  $\infty$ , one obtains the crossing symmetry condition

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_1 \alpha_0} \sum_{\theta = \pm} C_{\mu \alpha_{\theta}} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1} \alpha} \left| z^{-\Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_1 - \Delta_0} {}_1 \mathfrak{F} \left( \mu \, \alpha_{\theta} \, \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha_{\alpha_0}^{\alpha_1}; \Lambda z, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_1 \alpha_0} \sum_{\theta' = \pm} C_{\mu_{\theta'} \alpha} B^{\mu_{\theta'}}_{\alpha_{2,1} \mu} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu \, \alpha_{2,1} \, \mu_{\theta'} \, \alpha \, \alpha_{\alpha_0}^{\alpha_1}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z} \right) \right|^2 .$$

$$(2.2.56)$$

This condition is analogous to the one we found for the Whittaker functions (2.1.21) so that the connection formula between the intermediate region and  $\infty$  reads

$$b^{\theta b \alpha} z^{-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{0}} \mathfrak{F}\left(\mu \, \alpha_{\theta} \, \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha_{\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda z, \frac{1}{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta' b \mu} \mathcal{N}_{\theta \theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu)_{1} \mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \, \alpha_{2,1}^{\alpha_{1}} \, \mu_{\theta'} \, \alpha_{\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right)$$

$$(2.2.57)$$

with irregular connection coefficients as in (2.B.18):

$$\mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu) = \frac{\Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\theta b\alpha-\theta' b\mu\right)} e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}-b\mu+\theta b\alpha\right)}.$$
(2.2.58)

In diagrams:

$$\mu = \underbrace{\alpha_{2,1} \quad \alpha_1}_{\alpha_{\theta} \quad \alpha} \quad \alpha_0 = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'} \quad \alpha_1 \quad \alpha$$

Let us write explicitly the more interesting connection formula between 1 and  $\infty$ , which is obtained by concatenating the two connection formulae above. Since the  $\mathfrak{F}$  block in the intermediate region has different arguments in formula (2.2.54) and (2.2.57), we need to rename some of them. In the end we obtain the following connection formula from 1 directly to  $\infty$ :

$$e^{\mu\Lambda}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(-\mu \ \alpha^{\alpha_{0}} \alpha_{1\theta_{1}} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda, 1-z\right) =$$

$$= \sum_{\theta_{2},\theta_{3}=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}+\theta_{2}b\alpha_{\theta_{2}}-\theta_{3}b\mu} \mathcal{M}_{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}}(b\alpha_{1}, b\alpha; b\alpha_{0}) \mathcal{N}_{(-\theta_{2})\theta_{3}}(b\alpha_{\theta_{2}}, b\mu)_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta_{3}} \ \alpha_{\theta_{2}} \ \frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.60)$$

Again, in diagrams this is represented by:



where we have suppressed the arguments of the connection coefficients for brevity.

**Large**  $\Lambda$  blocks The conformal blocks considered up to now are expansions in  $\Lambda$ . One can however play the same game using expansions in  $\frac{1}{\Lambda}$ . For example, for large  $\Lambda$  and for  $z \sim 0$ , we have

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \overset{\alpha_{1}}{=} \mu' \alpha_{0\theta} \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{=}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda z\right) = \mu \underbrace{\mu'}_{\mu'} \overset{\alpha_{1}}{=} \alpha_{0\theta} \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{=} \alpha_{0\theta} \cdot (2.2.62)$$

One can compute it via OPE as in (2.B.1) or as a collision limit of a regular conformal block as proposed in [104]:

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \overset{\alpha_{1}}{=} \mu' \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda z\right) = e^{-(\mu'-\mu)\Lambda} \Lambda^{\Delta_{0\theta}+2\mu'(\mu'-\mu)} z^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha_{0}} \times \\ \times \lim_{\eta \to \infty} \left(1 - \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}\right)^{\Delta_{1}-(\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} \widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}\left(\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\frac{\eta+\mu}{2}} \frac{\eta-\mu}{2} + \mu' \frac{\eta-\mu}{2} \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}, \frac{\Lambda z}{\eta}\right).$$

$$(2.2.63)$$

Similarly, we have a conformal block for large  $\Lambda$  and  $z \sim 1$ , which as usual we can write in the same form as the one for  $z \sim 0$  by doing a Möbius transformation:

The first line of (2.2.64) is the diagrammatic representation of the conformal block, while the second line is an equality of two a priori seemingly different conformal blocks, which can be checked by explicit computation. This is consistent with the fact that the corresponding DOZZ factors are equal:

$$B^{\mu'-\mu}_{-\mu\alpha_0}C_{\mu'-\mu,\alpha_{1\theta}} = B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha_{1\theta}}C_{\mu',\alpha_0}, \qquad (2.2.65)$$

as can easily be proven by using their explicit expressions given in Appendix 2.A.2. The most exotic block is the one for large  $\Lambda$  and large z, which by a slight abuse of notation we still denote by  $\mathfrak{D}$ :



This block is fully irregular in the sense that to calculate it, we have to perform two irregular OPEs as indicated by the diagram. It is more convenient to calculate it as a collision limit

of a regular block:

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{\theta}^{\alpha_{1}}\mu'_{\alpha_{0}};\frac{1}{\Lambda},\frac{1}{z}\right) = e^{\theta b\Lambda z/2}\Lambda^{\Delta_{2,1}}(\Lambda z)^{-\theta b\mu+\frac{b^{2}}{2}}e^{-(\mu'-\mu_{\theta})\Lambda}\Lambda^{\Delta_{0}+\Delta_{1}+2\mu'(\mu'-\mu_{\theta})}\times \times \lim_{\eta\to\infty}\left(1-\frac{\eta}{\Lambda z}\right)^{\Delta_{2,1}-(\mu_{\theta}-\mu)(\eta-\mu_{\theta})}\left(1-\frac{\eta}{\Lambda}\right)^{\Delta_{1}-(\mu'-\mu_{\theta})(\eta-\mu')-(\mu'-\mu_{\theta})(\mu_{\theta}-\mu)}\widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}\left(\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\frac{\eta+\mu}{2}}\frac{\eta-\mu}{2}+\mu_{\theta}}{\alpha_{1}}\frac{\eta-\mu}{2}+\mu'\frac{\eta-\mu}{\alpha_{0}};\frac{\eta}{\Lambda},\frac{\Lambda z}{\eta}\right).$$
(2.2.67)

Having defined all the necessary conformal blocks we now derive their connection formulae. Let us start by connecting  $z \sim 1$  with  $\infty$ . Expanding the correlator in these regions, we get the crossing symmetry condition

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) V_{1}(1) | \Delta_{0} \rangle &= \int \mathrm{d}\mu' \sum_{\theta=\pm} B^{\mu'-\mu}_{-\mu\alpha_{0}} C_{\mu'-\mu,\alpha_{1\theta}} C^{\alpha_{1\theta}}_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2,1}} \left| e^{\mu\Lambda} \, {}_{1}\mathfrak{D} \left( -\mu^{\alpha_{0}} \, \mu' -\mu \, \alpha_{1\theta} \, \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda(1-z) \right) \right|^{2} = \\ &= \int \mathrm{d}\mu' \sum_{\theta'=\pm} B^{\mu_{\theta'}}_{\mu\alpha_{2,1}} B^{\mu'}_{\mu_{\theta'}\alpha_{1}} C_{\mu',\alpha_{0}} \left| {}_{1}\mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \mu_{\theta'}^{\alpha_{1}} \, \mu' \, \alpha_{0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.2.68)$$

Using the following remarkable identity, which can easily be proven using the explicit expression of the structure functions given in Appendix 2.A.2,

$$B^{\mu_{\theta'}}_{\mu\alpha_{2,1}}B^{\mu'}_{\mu_{\theta'}\alpha_{1}}C_{\mu'\alpha_{0}} = B^{\mu'-\mu}_{-\mu\alpha_{0}}B^{\mu'-\mu_{\theta'}}_{\mu'-\mu,\alpha_{2,1}}C_{\mu'-\mu_{\theta'},\alpha_{1}}, \qquad (2.2.69)$$

we find that the above crossing symmetry condition (after relabelling the dummy variable  $\theta' \rightarrow -\theta'$ ) becomes:

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \int d\mu' B_{-\mu\alpha_0}^{\mu'-\mu} \sum_{\theta=\pm} C_{\mu'-\mu,\alpha_{1\theta}} C_{\alpha_1\alpha_{2,1}}^{\alpha_{1\theta}} \left| e^{\mu\Lambda} {}_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( -\mu^{\alpha_0} \mu' - \mu \alpha_{1\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_1}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda(1-z) \right) \right|^2 = \\ = \int d\mu' B_{-\mu\alpha_0}^{\mu'-\mu} \sum_{\theta'=\pm} B_{\mu'-\mu,\alpha_{2,1}}^{\mu'_{\theta'}-\mu} C_{\mu'_{\theta'}-\mu,\alpha_1} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{-\theta'} \alpha_1 \mu' \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^2 .$$

$$(2.2.70)$$

We recognize this constraint from the Whittaker functions (2.1.24), and can readily write the connection formula from 1 to  $\infty$ :

$$b^{\theta b \alpha_1} e^{\mu \Lambda_1} \mathfrak{D} \left( -\mu^{\alpha_0} \mu' - \mu \alpha_{1\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_1}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda(1-z) \right) = \sum_{\theta'} b^{-\frac{1}{2} + \theta' b(\mu' - \mu)} \mathcal{N}_{\theta(-\theta')} (b\alpha_1, b\mu' - b\mu)_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta'} \alpha_1 \mu' \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \frac{1}{z} \right),$$

$$(2.2.71)$$

where  $\mathcal{N}$  are the connection coefficients for the Whittaker functions (2.1.24). Diagrammatically this is clear:



To connect 0 and  $\infty$  we expand the correlator in the relevant regions. By crossing symmetry we have:

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | V_1(1) \Phi(z) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \int \mathrm{d}\mu' \sum_{\theta = \pm} B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha_1} C_{\mu'\alpha_{0\theta}} C^{\alpha_{0\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_0} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_1} \mu' \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda z \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int \mathrm{d}\mu' \sum_{\theta' = \pm} B^{\mu_{\theta'}}_{\mu\alpha_{2,1}} B^{\mu'_{\theta'}}_{\mu_{\theta'}\alpha_1} C_{\mu'_{\theta'},\alpha_0} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta'} \alpha_1 \mu'_{\theta'} \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^2,$$

$$(2.2.73)$$

for later convenience we have labelled the intermediate channel in the second line by  $\mu'_{\theta'}$  instead of  $\mu'$ . By using an identity similar to (2.2.69):

$$B^{\mu_{\theta'}}_{\mu\alpha_{2,1}} B^{\mu'_{\theta'}}_{\mu_{\theta'}\alpha_{1}} C_{\mu'_{\theta'},\alpha_{0}} = B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha_{1}} B^{\mu'_{\theta'}}_{\mu'\alpha_{2,1}} C_{\mu'_{\theta'}\alpha_{0}} , \qquad (2.2.74)$$

the above crossing symmetry equation then becomes:

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | V_1(1) \Phi(z) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \int d\mu' B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha_1} \sum_{\theta=\pm} C_{\mu'\alpha_{0\theta}} C^{\alpha_{0\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_0} \left| {}_{1}\mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_1} \mu' \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda z \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int d\mu' B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha_1} \sum_{\theta'=\pm} B^{\mu'_{\theta'}}_{\mu'\alpha_{2,1}} C_{\mu'_{\theta'}\alpha_0} \left| {}_{1}\mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta'}^{\alpha_1} \mu'_{\theta'} \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^2.$$

$$(2.2.75)$$

We recognize this constraint from the Whittaker functions (2.1.21) and can readily write the connection formula from 0 to  $\infty$ :

$$b^{\theta b \alpha_0} \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu \overset{\alpha_1}{} \mu' \alpha_{0\theta} \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{}_{\alpha_0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda z \right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta' b\mu'} \mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_0, b\mu') \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{}_{\mu_{\theta'}} \overset{\alpha_1}{}_{\mu_{\theta'}} \mu_{\theta'}' \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \frac{1}{z} \right).$$

$$(2.2.76)$$

Combining (2.2.76) with the inverse of (2.2.71) we obtain the connection formula from 0 to 1:

$$b^{\theta_{1}b\alpha_{0}} \mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}} \mu' \alpha_{0\theta_{1}} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda z\right) = \\ = \sum_{\theta_{2},\theta_{3}=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta_{2}b\mu'} \mathcal{N}_{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}}(b\alpha_{0}, b\mu') b^{\frac{1}{2}-\theta_{2}b(\mu'_{\theta_{2}}-\mu)+\theta_{3}b\alpha_{1}} \mathcal{N}_{(-\theta_{2})\theta_{3}}^{-1}(b\mu'_{\theta_{2}}-b\mu, b\alpha_{1}) e^{\mu\Lambda_{1}} \mathfrak{D}\left(-\mu^{\alpha_{0}} \mu'_{\theta_{2}}-\mu \alpha_{1\theta_{3}} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda(1-z)\right).$$

$$(2.2.77)$$

Diagrammatically:



One might expect the existence of conformal blocks expanded in an intermediate region, as was the case for small  $\Lambda$ . Indeed, in the case of large  $\Lambda$  one can define a block expanded in the intermediate region  $\frac{1}{\Lambda} \ll z \ll 1$ . However, by the identity (2.2.74), this block is actually the same as the block (2.2.66) corresponding to  $z \sim \infty$ , in the sense that the analytic continuation between the two is trivial. Similarly, one can define another intermediate block in the region  $\frac{1}{\Lambda} \ll 1 - z \ll 1$  which is also the same as (2.2.66) by virtue of the identity (2.2.69).

#### Semiclassical limit

In the semiclassical limit  $b \to 0$  and  $\alpha_i, \mu, \Lambda \to \infty$  such that  $a_i = b\alpha_i, m = b\mu, L = b\Lambda$  are finite. We denote the quantities which are finite in the semiclassical limit by latin letters instead of greek ones.

**Small** L **blocks** The conformal blocks in this limit are expected to exponentiate, and the z-dependence becomes subleading: schematically they take the form

$$\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda, z) \sim e^{\frac{1}{b^2}F(L) + W(L, z) + \mathcal{O}(b^2)}, \qquad (2.2.79)$$

and they diverge in this limit. The classical conformal block F(L) is related to the conformal block  $\mathfrak{F}$  without the degenerate field insertion, i.e.

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\,\alpha\,\overset{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta}e^{\frac{1}{b^{2}}\left(F(L) + \mathcal{O}(b^{2})\right)}.$$
(2.2.80)

Normalizing by this block, we obtain finite semiclassical conformal blocks. Consider for concreteness the block corresponding to the expansion for  $z \sim 0$ . We define the corresponding (finite) semiclassical conformal block by

$${}_{1}\mathcal{F}\left(m\ a\ {}^{a_{1}}a_{0\theta}\ {}^{a_{2,1}}_{a_{0}};L,z\right) = \lim_{b\to 0}\frac{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\ \alpha\ {}^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\ {}^{\alpha_{2,1}}_{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda,z\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\ \alpha\ {}^{\alpha_{1}}_{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda\right)} = e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F}z^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{0}}(1+\mathcal{O}(L,z))\,.$$

$$(2.2.81)$$

The term  $\exp -\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_0}F$  on the RHS of the above equation comes from the fact that the leading behaviour of the numerator is  $\exp b^{-2}F(a_{0\theta})$  while the denominator behaves as  $\exp b^{-2}F(a_0)$ . The fact that the z-dependence is subleading means that to leading order, the  $\Lambda$ -derivative in the BPZ equation (2.2.44) becomes z-independent, since we have  $\Lambda\partial_{\Lambda}\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda, z) \sim b^{-2}\Lambda\partial_{\Lambda}F(\Lambda)\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda, z)$ . Then the BPZ equation in the semiclassical limit reduces to an ODE. In particular, multiplying (2.2.44) by  $b^2$ , this semiclassical conformal block now satisfies the equation

$$\left(\partial_{z}^{2} + \frac{u - \frac{1}{2} + a_{0}^{2} + a_{1}^{2}}{z(z - 1)} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{1}^{2}}{(z - 1)^{2}} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{0}^{2}}{z^{2}} + \frac{mL}{z} - \frac{L^{2}}{4}\right) {}_{1}\mathcal{F}\left(m \ a^{a_{1}} a_{0\theta} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}}; L, z\right) = 0.$$

$$(2.2.82)$$

We have introduced

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \log_1 \mathfrak{F}\left(\mu \,\alpha \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda\right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L) \tag{2.2.83}$$

Similarly, we define the semiclassical block for  $z \sim 1$  to be

$${}_{1}\mathcal{F}\left(-m\ a^{a_{0}}\ a_{1\theta}\ a_{2,1}^{a_{2,1}};L,1-z\right) = \lim_{b\to 0}\frac{e^{\mu\Lambda_{1}\mathfrak{F}}\left(-\mu\ \alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\ \alpha_{1\theta}\ \alpha_{2,1}^{\alpha_{2,1}};\Lambda,1-z\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\ \alpha^{\alpha_{1}}_{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda\right)} = \\ = \lim_{b\to 0}\frac{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(-\mu\ \alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\ \alpha_{1\theta}\ \alpha_{2,1}^{\alpha_{2,1}};\Lambda,1-z\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(-\mu\ \alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\ \alpha_{1};\Lambda\right)} = e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F}(1-z)^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{1}}(1+\mathcal{O}(L,1-z))\,,$$
(2.2.84)

and in the deep irregular region:

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{2,1}} m_{\theta} a^{a_{1}}_{a_{0}}; L, \frac{1}{Lz}\right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta m} \frac{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha^{\alpha_{1}}_{\alpha_{0}}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu^{\alpha} \alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda\right)} = e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{m}F} e^{\theta Lz/2} L^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta m} z^{-\theta m} (1 + \mathcal{O}(L, 1/Lz)) \,.$$

$$(2.2.85)$$

The explicit power of b is needed to combine with  $\Lambda$  to form L. All these blocks satisfy the same equation (2.2.82). Note that in the connection formula (2.2.60) we have four different conformal blocks on the right hand side. Since in the semiclassical limit the BPZ equation becomes a second-order ODE, these four different blocks have to reduce to the two linearly independent solutions near the irregular singular point. They are given by

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{\longrightarrow} \mu_{\theta} \alpha \overset{\alpha_{1}}{\rightarrow}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = e^{\theta b \Lambda z/2} \Lambda^{\Delta_{2,1} + \Delta} \left(\Lambda z\right)^{-\theta b \mu + \frac{b^{2}}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{b^{2}}F(a) + W(a) + \mathcal{O}(b^{2})}, \quad (2.2.86)$$

where we have suppressed the dependence of F and W on the other parameters. Instead, in (2.2.60) we have

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{\longrightarrow} \mu_{\theta} \alpha_{\theta'} \frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = e^{\theta b \Lambda z/2} \Lambda^{\Delta_{2,1} + \Delta_{\theta'}} (\Lambda z)^{-\theta b \mu + \frac{b^{2}}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{b^{2}} F(a_{\theta'}) + W(a_{\theta'}) + \mathcal{O}(b^{2})}.$$

$$(2.2.87)$$

Since we are taking the limit  $b \to 0$ , we can safely substitute  $W(a_{\theta'}) \to W(a)$ . This is not true for  $F(a_{\theta'})$  however, since it multiplies a pole in  $b^2$ . Instead, in the semiclassical limit we have

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{\longrightarrow} \mu_{\theta} \alpha_{\theta'} \frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) \sim \Lambda^{\theta' a} e^{-\frac{\theta'}{2}\partial_{a}F(a)}{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \overset{\alpha_{2,1}}{\longrightarrow} \mu_{\theta} \alpha \frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \Lambda, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right), \quad \text{as } b \to 0,$$

$$(2.2.88)$$

as in (2.2.34). Therefore, we can simplify the connection formula from 1 to  $\infty$  (2.2.60) in the semiclassical limit and state it as

$${}_{1}\mathcal{F}\left(-m \; a^{a_{0}} a_{1\theta} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{1}}; L, 1-z\right) = \sum_{\theta'} \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\sigma}(a_{1}, a; a_{0}) \mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a, m) L^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}\right) {}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{2,1}} \; m_{\theta'} \; a^{a_{1}}_{a_{0}}; L, \frac{1}{Lz}\right),$$

$$(2.2.89)$$

with connection coefficients

$$\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\sigma}(a_1, a; a_0) \mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a, m) L^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} = \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\sigma a)\Gamma(-2\sigma a)\Gamma(1+2\theta a_1)e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}-m-\sigma a\right)} L^{\sigma a}e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_1-\sigma a+a_0\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_1-\sigma a-a_0\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\sigma a-\theta'm\right)}$$
(2.2.90)

Note that all the powers of b appearing in (2.2.60) have been absorbed to give finite quantities.<sup>10</sup>

The connection formula from 0 to 1 trivially reduces to the semiclassical one:

$${}_{1}\mathcal{F}\left(m\ a\ {}^{a_{1}}a_{0\theta}\ {}^{a_{2,1}}_{a_{0}};L,z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(a_{0},a_{1};a){}_{1}\mathcal{F}\left(-m\ a\ {}^{a_{0}}a_{1\theta'}\ {}^{a_{2,1}}_{a_{1}};L,1-z\right).$$
(2.2.91)

**Large** L **blocks** For the conformal blocks valid for large  $\Lambda$ , the story is analogous. Taking the semiclassical limit, the conformal blocks are expected to exponentiate and the z-dependence becomes subleading. Schematically we have

$$\mathfrak{D}(\Lambda^{-1}, z) \sim e^{\frac{1}{b^2} F_D(L^{-1}) + W_D(L^{-1}, z) + \mathcal{O}(b^2)}.$$
(2.2.92)

Here  $F_D$  is the classical conformal block for large <sup>11</sup>  $\Lambda$  and is related to the conformal block without the degenerate field insertion, i.e.

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}}\mu^{\prime}\alpha_{0};\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right) = e^{-(\mu^{\prime}-\mu)\Lambda}\Lambda^{\Delta_{0}+\Delta_{1}+2\mu^{\prime}(\mu^{\prime}-\mu)}e^{\frac{1}{b^{2}}(F_{D}(L^{-1})+\mathcal{O}(b^{2}))}.$$
(2.2.93)

We use this block as a normalization for large  $\Lambda$ . For  $z \sim 0$  we have

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{1}} m' a_{0\theta} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}}; \frac{1}{L}, Lz\right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{\theta a_{0}} \frac{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}} \mu' \alpha_{0\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda z\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}} \mu' \alpha_{0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)} = L^{\theta a_{0}} e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F_{D}} z^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{0}} (1 + \mathcal{O}(L^{-1}, Lz)).$$

$$(2.2.94)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Note also that the Gamma functions in the denominator precisely correspond to the one-loop factors of the three hypermultiplets of the corresponding AGT dual gauge theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>As the notation suggests, it is nothing else but the dual prepotential of the gauge theory.

This block and all the other large-L blocks defined in the following satisfy the same equation (2.2.82) as the small-L blocks, with the substitution

$$u \to u_D = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \log_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_1} \mu' \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda} \right) .$$
 (2.2.95)

For  $z \sim 1$  we have the block

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(-m^{a_{0}} m'-m a_{1\theta} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{1}}; \frac{1}{L}, L(1-z)\right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{\theta a_{1}} \frac{e^{\mu\Lambda_{1}} \mathfrak{D}\left(-\mu^{\alpha_{0}} \mu'-\mu \alpha_{1\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda(1-z)\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}} \mu' \alpha_{0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)} = \lim_{b \to 0} \frac{\mathfrak{I}^{\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}} \mu' \alpha_{0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)}}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(-\mu^{\alpha_{0}} \mu'-\mu \alpha_{1\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \Lambda(1-z)\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(-\mu^{\alpha_{0}} \mu'-\mu \alpha_{1}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)} = L^{\theta a_{1}} e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F_{D}} (1-z)^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{1}} (1+\mathcal{O}(L^{-1}, L(1-z))),$$

$$(2.2.96)$$

and for  $z \sim \infty$ :

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m \, {}^{a_{2,1}} \, m_{\theta} \, {}^{a_{1}} \, m' \, a_{0}; \frac{1}{L}, \frac{1}{z}\right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{-\frac{1}{2} + \theta(m'-m)} \frac{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \, {}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \mu_{\theta} \, {}^{\alpha_{1}} \, \mu' \, \alpha_{0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}, \frac{1}{z}\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu \, {}^{\alpha_{1}} \, \mu' \, \alpha_{0}; \frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)} = e^{\theta L z/2} e^{-\theta L/2} e^{-\frac{\theta}{2} \partial_{m} F_{D}} L^{-\frac{1}{2} + \theta(m'-m)} z^{-\theta m} (1 + \mathcal{O}(L^{-1}, z^{-1})) + (2.2.97)}$$

In the connection formula from 0 to 1 for large  $\Lambda$  (2.2.77), there appear four different conformal blocks on the right hand side. In the semiclassical limit these four reduce to two, by the same argument as for small  $\Lambda$ . Indeed we have

$$e^{\mu\Lambda}{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(-\mu^{\alpha_{0}}\mu_{\theta_{2}}^{\prime}-\mu^{\alpha_{1}}_{1\theta_{3}}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}};\frac{1}{\Lambda},\Lambda(1-z)\right) = e^{-(\mu_{\theta_{2}}^{\prime}-\mu)\Lambda}\Lambda^{\Delta_{1\theta_{3}}+2\mu_{\theta_{2}}^{\prime}(\mu_{\theta_{2}}^{\prime}-\mu)}(1-z)^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha_{1}}e^{\frac{1}{b^{2}}F_{D}(\mu_{\theta_{2}}^{\prime})+W_{D}(\mu_{\theta_{2}}^{\prime})}$$

$$\sim e^{\theta_{2}L/2}\Lambda^{-\theta_{2}(2m^{\prime}-m)}e^{-\frac{\theta_{2}}{2}}\partial_{m^{\prime}}F_{D}(m^{\prime})}e^{\mu\Lambda}{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(-\mu^{\alpha_{0}}\mu^{\prime}-\mu^{\alpha_{1}}_{1\theta_{3}}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}};\frac{1}{\Lambda},\Lambda(1-z)\right), \quad \text{as } b \to 0.$$

$$(2.2.98)$$

The connection formula (2.2.77) from 0 to 1 in the semiclassical limit then becomes

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{1}} m' a_{0\theta} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}}; \frac{1}{L}, Lz\right) = \\ = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{N}_{\theta\sigma}(a_{0}, m') \mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}^{-1}(m'-m, a_{1}) e^{\frac{\sigma}{2}L} L^{-\sigma(2m'-m)} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{m'}F_{D}(m')}\right) {}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(-m^{a_{0}} m'-m a_{1\theta'} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{1}}; \frac{1}{L}, L(1-z)\right),$$

$$(2.2.99)$$

where explicitly the connection coefficients read:

$$\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{N}_{\theta\sigma}(a_0, m') \mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}^{-1}(m' - m, a_1) e^{\frac{\sigma}{2}L} L^{-\sigma(2m'-m)} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{m'}F_D(m')} = \\ = \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1 + 2\theta a_0)\Gamma(-2\theta' a_1) e^{\frac{\sigma}{2}L} L^{-\sigma(2m'-m)} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{m'}F_D(m')} e^{i\pi(\frac{1-\sigma}{2})(\theta a_0 - \theta' a_1 - 2m'+m)}}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_0 - \sigma m')\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - \theta' a_1 - \sigma(m' - m))} .$$

$$(2.2.100)$$

Again, all the spurious powers of b and  $\Lambda$  have beautifully recombined to give the finite combination L.

The connection formula from 1 to  $\infty$  (2.2.71) on the other hand becomes

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(-m^{a_{0}}m'-m\ a_{1\theta}\ a_{2,1}^{a_{2,1}};\frac{1}{L},L(1-z)\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm}\mathcal{N}_{\theta(-\theta')}(a_{1},m'-m){}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{2,1}}m_{\theta'}\ a_{1}\ m'\ a_{0};\frac{1}{L},\frac{1}{z}\right),$$

$$(2.2.101)$$

where  $\mathcal{N}$  is:

$$\mathcal{N}_{\theta(-\theta')}(a_1, m' - m, ) = \frac{\Gamma(1 + 2\theta a_1)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_1 + \theta'(m' - m)\right)} e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1+\theta'}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2} - (m' - m) + \theta a_1\right)}.$$
 (2.2.102)

# 2.2.3 Reduced confluent conformal blocks

### General case

Consider the correlation function

$$\left\langle \Lambda^2 | V_1(1) \Phi(z) | \Delta_0 \right\rangle, \qquad (2.2.103)$$

which solves the BPZ equation

$$\left( b^{-2} \partial_z^2 - \left( \frac{1}{z} + \frac{1}{z-1} \right) \partial_z + \frac{\Lambda^2 \partial_{\Lambda^2} - \Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_1 - \Delta_0}{z(z-1)} + \frac{\Delta_1}{(z-1)^2} + \frac{\Delta_0}{z^2} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4z} \right) \langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi(z) V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = 0.$$

$$(2.2.104)$$

We can decompose it into irregular conformal blocks in different ways. The blocks corresponding to the expansion of z around a regular singular point can be given as a further decoupling limit of the confluent conformal blocks. For the blocks corresponding to the expansion of z around the irregular singular point of rank 1/2, no closed form expression presently known to us. The block for  $z \sim 0$  can be defined as

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2},z\right) = \lim_{\eta\to\infty}(4\eta)^{\Delta}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(-\eta\;\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}};\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{4\eta},z\right).$$
(2.2.105)

We multiply by the factor of  $(4\eta)^{\Delta}$  to take care of the leading divergence in the limit. In the diagrammatic notation of section 2.1.3, we represent it by



As indicated by the diagram, all OPEs are regular in this case. The wiggly line represents the rank 1/2 irregular state, and the dot the pairing with a primary. The block for  $z \sim 1$ is then simply



The overall phase compensates the sign in  $e^{-i\pi}\Lambda^2$  such that the classical part is still  $\Lambda^{2\Delta}$ . In the intermediate region where  $1 \ll z \ll \frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$  the corresponding block is

$$z^{-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{0}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta}{}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\alpha_{\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{1}};\Lambda^{2}z,\frac{1}{z}\right) = \underbrace{\alpha_{2,1}}_{\alpha_{\theta}} \alpha_{1} \qquad \alpha_{0}$$

(2.2.108)

Instead, in the deep irregular region, where  $z \gg \frac{1}{\Lambda^2} \gg 1$ , a decoupling limit of the form (2.1.27) does not work. Of course one can still calculate this block by solving the BPZ equation iteratively with a series Ansatz, or directly using the Ward identities determining the descendants of the OPE with the irregular state (see Appendix 2.B.1). In any case we will denote the conformal block in this region by

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1} \alpha \alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) \sim (\Lambda^{2})^{\Delta_{2,1}+\Delta} (\Lambda\sqrt{z})^{\frac{1}{2}+b^{2}} e^{\theta b\Lambda\sqrt{z}} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\Lambda^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right)\right].$$
(2.2.109)

The  $\sim$  refers to the fact that this expansion is asymptotic. In diagrams we represent this block by

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1} \alpha \alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) = \overbrace{\theta}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{1} \qquad (2.2.110)$$

The solution of the connection problems goes in the same way as for the (unreduced) confluent Heun equation (section 2.2.2). In particular the connection problem between 0 and 1 works in the same way as for the general Heun equation. We have

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2},z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_{0},b\alpha_{1};b\alpha)e^{i\pi\Delta}e^{\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{4}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\alpha_{1\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}};e^{-i\pi}\Lambda^{2},1-z\right).$$

$$(2.2.111)$$

To solve the connection problem between 1 and  $\infty$  one has to do two steps: from 1 to the intermediate region, and then to  $\infty$ . In each step we decompose the correlator into conformal blocks in the different regions and then use crossing symmetry to determine the connection coefficients. The relevant formulae for the rank 1/2 irregular state are reviewed in Appendix 2.B.2. We have

$$\begin{split} \langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi(z) V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle &= \int d\alpha \, C_\alpha \sum_{\theta = \pm} C^{\alpha_{1\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_1} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{1\theta}\alpha_0} \left| e^{i\pi\Delta} e^{\frac{\Lambda^2}{4}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha^{\alpha_0} \alpha_{1\theta} \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_1}; e^{-i\pi} \Lambda^2, 1 - z \right) \right|^2 &= \\ &= \int d\alpha \, C_\alpha \sum_{\theta' = \pm} C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{\theta'}} C^{\alpha_{\theta'}}_{\alpha_1\alpha_0} \left| z^{-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_1-\Delta_0}{}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{\theta'} \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda^2 z, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^2 \,. \end{split}$$

$$(2.2.112)$$

This is precisely the same condition as for the hypergeometric functions (2.1.5). The connection formula between 1 and the intermediate region is then

$$e^{i\pi\Delta}e^{\frac{\Lambda^2}{4}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_0}\alpha_{1\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_1};e^{-i\pi\Lambda^2},1-z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha_1,b\alpha;b\alpha_0)z^{-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_1-\Delta_0}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}}\alpha_{\theta'}\frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0};\Lambda^2z,\frac{1}{z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.113)$$

Diagrammatically:

Now we decompose the correlator into conformal blocks in the intermediate region and near  $\infty$ , obtaining the crossing symmetry condition

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi(z) V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_1, \alpha_0} \sum_{\theta = \pm} C_{\alpha_\theta} C^{\alpha_\theta}_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha} \left| z^{-\Delta_{2,1} - \Delta_1 - \Delta_0} {}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha_\theta^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha^{\alpha_1}_{\alpha_0}; \Lambda^2 z, \frac{1}{z} \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int d\alpha \, C^{\alpha}_{\alpha_1 \alpha_0} \sum_{\theta' = \pm} C_\alpha B_{\alpha_{2,1}} \left| {}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}^{(\theta')} \left( \alpha_{2,1} \alpha^{\alpha_1}_{\alpha_0}; \Lambda^2, \frac{1}{\Lambda \sqrt{z}} \right) \right|^2 .$$

$$(2.2.115)$$

We recognize this condition from the Bessel functions (2.1.36). We then immediately find the connection formula between the intermediate region and  $\infty$ :

$$b^{2\theta b\alpha} z^{-\Delta_{2,1}-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{0}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta} \, {}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \alpha_{\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda^{2} z, \frac{1}{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha)_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}^{(\theta')}\left(\alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha_{\alpha_{0}}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right)$$

$$(2.2.116)$$

with irregular connection coefficients as in (2.B.36):

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha) = \frac{2^{2\theta b\alpha}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha) e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2}+2\theta b\alpha\right)}.$$
(2.2.117)

In diagrams:

$$\alpha_{2,1} \qquad \alpha_{1} \qquad \alpha_{2,1} \qquad \alpha_{1} \qquad \alpha_{1} \qquad \alpha_{2,1} \qquad \alpha_{1} \qquad \alpha_{1}$$

Let us write explicitly the more interesting connection formulae between 1 and  $\infty$ , which is obtained by concatenating the two connection formulae above. Since the  $\mathfrak{F}$  block in the intermediate region has different arguments in formula (2.2.113) and (2.2.116), we need to rename some arguments. In the end we obtain the following connection formula from 1 directly to  $\infty$ :

$$e^{i\pi\Delta}e^{\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{4}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\alpha_{1\theta_{1}}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}};e^{-i\pi}\Lambda^{2},1-z\right) = \sum_{\theta_{2},\theta_{3}=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}}(b\alpha_{1},b\alpha;b\alpha_{0})\mathcal{Q}_{(-\theta_{2})\theta_{3}}(b\alpha_{\theta_{2}})b^{-\frac{1}{2}+\theta_{2}b\alpha_{\theta_{2}}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta_{3})}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{\theta_{2}}\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2},\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right).$$

$$(2.2.119)$$

Diagrammatically we have

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{2,1} \\ & & \\ \alpha & \alpha_{1\theta_{1}} \end{array} & \alpha_{1} \end{array} = \sum_{\theta_{2},\theta_{3}=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}} \mathcal{Q}_{(-\theta_{2})\theta_{3}} & \alpha_{1} \\ & & \\ & & \\ \theta_{3} & \alpha_{\theta_{2}} \end{array} & (2.2.120) \end{array}$$

where we have suppressed the arguments of the connection coefficients for brevity.

#### Semiclassical limit

The story works the same way here as for the confluent case. In the semiclassical limit the BPZ equation becomes

$$\left(\partial_z^2 + \frac{u - \frac{1}{2} + a_1^2 + a_0^2}{z(z - 1)} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_1^2}{(z - 1)^2} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_0^2}{z^2} - \frac{L^2}{4z}\right)_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}(z) = 0, \qquad (2.2.121)$$

for any semiclassical block. Here u is given by

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda^2 \partial_{\Lambda^2} \log_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda^2\right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L^2)$$
(2.2.122)

by the same argument as before. The finite semiclassical conformal blocks are defined by normalizing by the same block without the degenerate field insertion, i.e. the semiclassical block for  $z \sim 0$  is

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_{1}}a_{0\theta}\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}};L^{2},z\right) = \lim_{b\to 0}\frac{\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{1}}\alpha_{0\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2},z\right)}{\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}_{\alpha_{1}};\Lambda^{2}\right)} = e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F}z^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{0}}\left(1+\mathcal{O}(L^{2},z)\right).$$
(2.2.123)

Here  $F = \lim_{b\to 0} b^2 \log \left[ \Lambda^{-2\Delta}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}\left( \alpha \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda^2 \right) \right].$ 

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_{0}}a_{1\theta}\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{1}};-L^{2},1-z\right) = \lim_{b\to 0}\frac{e^{i\pi\Delta}e^{\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{4}}\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\alpha_{1\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}};e^{-i\pi}\Lambda^{2},1-z\right)}{\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}_{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2}\right)} = \\ = \lim_{b\to 0}\frac{\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}\alpha_{1\theta}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha_{1}};e^{-i\pi}\Lambda^{2},1-z\right)}{\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha^{\alpha_{0}}_{\alpha_{1}};e^{-i\pi}\Lambda^{2}\right)} = e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F}(1-z)^{\frac{1}{2}+\theta a_{1}}(1+\mathcal{O}(L^{2},1-z)).$$

$$(2.2.124)$$

In the deep irregular region we define the semiclassical block as

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{E}^{(\theta)}\left(a_{2,1}\ a\ \frac{a_{1}}{a_{0}};L^{2},\frac{1}{L\sqrt{z}}\right) = \lim_{b\to 0} b^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\ \alpha\ \frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2},\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right)}{\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\,\alpha\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2}\right)} = (L\sqrt{z})^{-\frac{1}{2}}e^{\theta L\sqrt{z}}(1+\mathcal{O}(L^{2},\frac{1}{L\sqrt{z}})).$$
(2.2.125)

All these blocks satisfy the same equation (2.2.121). As for the confluent case, in the connection formula between 1 and  $\infty$  we have four different  $\mathfrak{E}$  blocks appearing, which should reduce to two in the semiclassical limit. Indeed, we have

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1} \alpha_{\theta'} \alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) \sim (\Lambda^{2})^{\theta' a} e^{-\frac{\theta'}{2}\partial_{a}F} {}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1} \alpha \alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{1}}; \Lambda^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right), \quad \text{as } b \to 0,$$

$$(2.2.126)$$

as in (2.2.34). Now that we have defined the semiclassical conformal blocks, we state the connection formulae. The connection formula from 0 to 1 (2.2.111) reduces trivially in the

semiclassical limit to

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_{1}}a_{0\theta}\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}};L^{2},z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(a_{0},a_{1};a)_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_{0}}a_{1\theta}\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{1}};-L^{2},1-z\right).$$
 (2.2.127)

The connection formula from 1 to  $\infty$  (2.2.119) becomes

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_{0}}a_{1\theta}a_{2,1}^{a_{2,1}};-L^{2},1-z\right) = \sum_{\theta'}\left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm}\mathcal{M}_{\theta\sigma}(a_{1},a;a_{0})\mathcal{Q}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a)L^{2\sigma a}e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}\right){}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{E}^{(\theta')}\left(a_{2,1}\ a\ a_{0}^{a_{1}};L^{2},\frac{1}{L\sqrt{z}}\right),$$

$$(2.2.128)$$

with connection coefficients<sup>12</sup>

$$\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{\theta\sigma}(a_1, a; a_0) \mathcal{Q}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a) L^{2\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} =$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1 - 2\sigma a)\Gamma(-2\sigma a)\Gamma(1 + 2\theta a_1)2^{-2\sigma a} L^{2\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1 - \theta'}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2} - 2\sigma a\right)}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_1 - \sigma a + a_0\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta a_1 - \sigma a - a_0\right)} .$$
(2.2.129)

# 2.2.4 Doubly confluent conformal blocks

#### General case

Via a further collision limit we reach a correlator that solves the BPZ equation

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\mu_1\Lambda_1}{z} - \frac{\Lambda_1^2}{4} + \frac{\Lambda_2\partial_{\Lambda_2}}{z^2} + \frac{\mu_2\Lambda_2}{z^3} - \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{4z^4}\right)\langle\mu_1, \Lambda_1|\Phi(z)|\mu_2, \Lambda_2\rangle = 0.$$
(2.2.130)

(2.2.130) This correlator can be expanded in the intermediate region  $\Lambda_2 \ll z \ll \Lambda_1^{-1}$  and near the two irregular singularities, that is either  $z \gg \Lambda_1^{-1} \gg 1$  or  $z \ll \Lambda_2 \ll 1$ . Note that in (2.2.130) one of the three parameters  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, z$  is redundant. Indeed the conformal blocks will only depend on two ratios. The conformal blocks in these regions can easily be computed as a collision limit. Explicitly, in the intermediate region  $\Lambda_2 \ll z \ll \Lambda_1^{-1}$ 

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1}\left(\mu_{1}\ \alpha_{\theta}\ \alpha_{2,1}\alpha\ \mu_{2};\Lambda_{1}z,\frac{\Lambda_{2}}{z}\right) = \Lambda_{1}^{\Delta_{\theta}}\Lambda_{2}^{\Delta}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha}\lim_{\eta\to\infty}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu_{1}\ \alpha_{\theta}\ \alpha_{2,1}\alpha\ \frac{\eta-\mu_{2}}{2};\Lambda_{1}z,\frac{\Lambda_{2}}{z\eta}\right).$$

$$(2.2.131)$$

This conformal block is the result of the projection of the Whittaker module  $|\mu_2, \Lambda_2\rangle$  on a Verma module  $\Delta$  and of  $\langle \mu_1, \Lambda_1 |$  on  $\Delta_{\theta}$ . We represent this block by the diagram

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \alpha_{\theta} \alpha_{2,1} \alpha \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1}z, \frac{\Lambda_{2}}{z}\right) = \mu_{1} - \mu_{2} \alpha_{\theta} \alpha_{\theta}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Note that the Gamma functions in the denominator precisely correspond to the one-loop factors of the two hypermultiplets of the corresponding AGT dual gauge theory.

The expansion near the irregular singularity at infinity can be obtained by colliding in (2.2.49) the insertions far from the Whittaker state in the confluent conformal block. This gives

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{1}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{1\theta} \alpha \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right) = e^{\theta b\Lambda_{1}z/2}\Lambda_{1}^{\Delta+\Delta_{2,1}}\Lambda_{2}^{\Delta} (\Lambda_{1}z)^{-\theta b\mu_{1}+\frac{b^{2}}{2}} \lim_{\eta \to \infty} {}_{1}\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}\left(\mu_{1}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{1\theta} \alpha \frac{\eta-\mu_{2}}{\frac{2}{2}}; \frac{\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}}{\eta}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.133)$$

We represent this block diagrammatically by

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \stackrel{\alpha_{2,1}}{\longrightarrow} \mu_{1\theta} \alpha \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right) = \mu_{1} \underbrace{\mu_{1\theta}}_{\mu_{1\theta}} \underbrace{\mu_{2}}_{\mu_{1\theta}} \mu_{2} \underbrace{\mu_{2}}_{(2.2.134)}$$

Finally, the expansion near the irregular singularity at zero is easily obtained from (2.2.133) by exchanging  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  and sending  $z \to 1/z$ , up to a Jacobian. The corresponding conformal block is

Expanding now the correlator first near 0 and then in the intermediate region, crossing symmetry implies

$$\langle \mu_{1}, \Lambda_{1} | \Phi(z) | \mu_{2}, \Lambda_{2} \rangle = \int d\alpha \, G_{\alpha}^{-1} C_{\mu_{1}\alpha} G_{\alpha}^{-1} \sum_{\theta = \pm} B_{\alpha_{2,1},\mu_{2}}^{\mu_{2\theta}} C_{\mu_{2\theta}\alpha} \left| z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} {}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1} \left( \mu_{2}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{2\theta} \alpha \mu_{1}; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}, \frac{z}{\Lambda_{2}} \right) \right|^{2} = \\ = \int d\alpha \, G_{\alpha}^{-1} C_{\mu_{1}\alpha} \sum_{\theta' = \pm} C_{\alpha_{2,1}\alpha}^{\alpha_{\theta'}} C_{\mu_{2}\alpha_{\theta'}} \left| {}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1} \left( \mu_{1} \alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{\theta'} \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1}z, \frac{\Lambda_{2}}{z} \right) \right|^{2} .$$

$$(2.2.136)$$

We recognize this condition from (2.1.21), and we can readily write down the solution to the connection problem:

$$b^{\theta b \alpha}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \; \alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha_{\theta} \; \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1} z, \frac{\Lambda_{2}}{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta' b \mu_{2}} \mathcal{N}_{\theta \theta'}(b \alpha, b \mu_{2}) z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{2}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \; \mu_{2\theta'} \; \alpha \; \mu_{1}; \Lambda_{1} \Lambda_{2}, \frac{z}{\Lambda_{2}}\right).$$

$$(2.2.137)$$

In diagrams:

$$\mu_{1} \underbrace{\qquad \qquad \alpha \qquad \alpha_{\theta}}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{2} = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'} \mu_{1} \underbrace{\qquad \qquad \alpha \qquad \mu_{2\theta'}}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{2}.$$

$$(2.2.138)$$

A similar argument works for the connection between the intermediate region and infinity. We obtain

$$b^{\theta b \alpha}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \alpha_{\theta} \alpha_{2,1} \alpha \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1} z, \frac{\Lambda_{2}}{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta' b \mu_{1}} \mathcal{N}_{\theta \theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu_{1}){}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \alpha_{2,1} \mu_{1\theta'} \alpha \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1} \Lambda_{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1} z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.139)$$

Or, diagrammatically:



Concatenating the previous connection formulae we can connect 0 directly with  $\infty$  as follows

$$b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta_{1}b\mu_{2}}z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{2}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{2\theta_{1}}\alpha\mu_{1};\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2},\frac{z}{\Lambda_{2}}\right) = \\ = \sum_{\theta_{2},\theta_{3}=\pm} b^{\theta_{2}b\alpha}\mathcal{N}_{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}}^{-1}(b\mu_{2},b\alpha)b^{-\frac{1}{2}+\theta_{2}b\alpha-\theta'b\mu_{1}}\mathcal{N}_{(-\theta_{2})\theta_{3}}(b\alpha_{\theta_{2}},b\mu_{1})_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{1}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{1\theta_{3}}\alpha_{\theta_{2}}\mu_{2};\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2},\frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.141)$$

In diagrams:

#### Semiclassical limit

Let us now consider the semiclassical limit of the doubly confluent conformal blocks. Once again, the divergence as  $b \to 0$  is expected to exponentiate, that is

$$z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \mathfrak{D}_{1} \left( \mu_{2}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{2\theta} \alpha \mu_{1}; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}, \frac{z}{\Lambda_{2}} \right) = z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} e^{\frac{\theta h \Lambda_{2}}{2z}} \Lambda_{2}^{\Delta + \Delta_{2,1}} \Lambda_{1}^{\Delta} \left( \frac{\Lambda_{2}}{z} \right)^{-\theta b \mu_{2} + \frac{b^{2}}{2}} \exp\left( b^{-2}F\left(L_{1}L_{2}\right) + W\left(L_{1}L_{2}, zL_{2}^{-1}\right) \right) ,$$

$$(2.2.143)$$

where F is the classical conformal block defined by

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \alpha \mu_{2}, \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}\right) = (\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2})^{\Delta} \exp\left(b^{-2}F + \mathcal{O}(b^{0})\right), \qquad (2.2.144)$$

and the  $_1\mathfrak{F}_1$  block is given by

$$\langle \mu_1, \Lambda_1 | \mu_2, \Lambda_2 \rangle = \int d\alpha \, C_{\mu_1 \alpha} C_{\mu_2 \alpha} |_1 \mathfrak{F}_1 \left( \mu_1 \ \alpha \ \mu_2, \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2 \right) |^2 \,. \tag{2.2.145}$$

We define the semiclassical block near zero to be

$$z_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{2}^{a_{2,1}} m_{2\theta} \ a \ m_{1}; L_{1}L_{2}, \frac{z}{L_{2}}\right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{-\frac{1}{2} - \theta b \mu_{2} + \frac{b^{2}}{2}} z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{2}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{2\theta} \ \alpha \ \mu_{1}; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}, \frac{z}{\Lambda_{2}}\right)}{\mathfrak{I}\mathfrak{F}_{1}(\mu_{1} \ \alpha \ \mu_{2}, \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2})},$$

$$(2.2.146)$$

The semiclassical blocks satisfy the equation

$$\left(\partial_z^2 + \frac{m_1L_1}{z} - \frac{L_1^2}{4} + \frac{u}{z^2} + \frac{m_2L_2}{z^3} - \frac{L_2^2}{4}\frac{1}{z^4}\right) z_1 \mathcal{D}_1\left(m_2 \,^{a_{2,1}} m_{2\theta} \, a \, m_1; L_1L_2, \frac{z}{L_2}\right) = 0,$$
(2.2.147)

with the u parameter defined as usual to be the leftover of the  $\Lambda_2$  derivative, that is

$$u = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + L_2 \partial_{L_2} F(L_1 L_2) . \qquad (2.2.148)$$

Similarly, the semiclassical block near the irregular singularity at infinity is defined to be

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{1}^{a_{2,1}} m_{1\theta} \ a \ m_{2}; L_{1}L_{2}, \frac{1}{L_{1}z}\right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{-\frac{1}{2} - \theta b\mu_{1} + \frac{b^{2}}{2}} \frac{{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{1}^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{1\theta} \ \alpha \ \mu_{2}; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \ \alpha \ \mu_{2}, \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}\right)},$$

$$(2.2.149)$$

and satisfies the same equation (2.2.147). In equation (2.2.141) 4 different blocks near infinity appear in the RHS. However they collapse to two of them in the semiclassical limit as in the previous cases. That is,

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{1}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{1\theta}\alpha_{\theta'}\mu_{2};\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2},\frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right)\sim(\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2})^{\theta' a}e^{-\frac{\theta'}{2}\partial_{a}F}{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{1}\left(\mu_{1}^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{1\theta}\alpha\mu_{2};\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2},\frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right),\quad\text{as }b\to0,$$

$$(2.2.150)$$

as in (2.2.34). Finally, the connection formula (2.2.141) in the semiclassical limit becomes

$$z_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{2}^{a_{2,1}}m_{2\theta} a m_{1}; L_{1}L_{2}, \frac{z}{L_{2}}\right) = \\ = \sum_{\theta'}\left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm}\mathcal{N}_{\theta\sigma}^{-1}(m_{2}, a)\mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a, m_{1}) (L_{1}L_{2})^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}\right) {}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{1}^{a_{2,1}}m_{1\theta'} a m_{2}; L_{1}L_{2}, \frac{1}{L_{1}z}\right),$$

$$(2.2.151)$$

where explicitly the connection coefficients read

$$\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{N}_{\theta\sigma}^{-1}(m_2, a) \mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a, m_1) (L_1 L_2)^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2} \partial_a F} = \\ = \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1 - 2\sigma a) \Gamma(-2\sigma a) (L_1 L_2)^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2} \partial_a F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta m_2 - \sigma a\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} - \theta' m_1 - \sigma a\right)} e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1+\theta}{2}\right) \left(-\frac{1}{2} - m_2 - \sigma a\right)} e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} - m_1 - \sigma a\right)},$$
(2.2.152)

#### 2.2.5 Reduced doubly confluent conformal blocks

### General case

Consider the correlation function

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda_1 | \Phi(z) | \Lambda_2^2 \rangle$$
, (2.2.153)

which solves the BPZ equation

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\mu\Lambda_1}{z} - \frac{\Lambda_1^2}{4} + \frac{\Lambda_2^2\partial_{\Lambda_2^2}}{z^2} - \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{4z^3}\right)\langle\mu, \Lambda_1|\Phi(z)|\Lambda_2^2\rangle = 0.$$
(2.2.154)

One of the parameters among  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, z$  is redundant and can be set to an arbitrary value via a rescaling. We keep them all generic for convenience. We have three different conformal blocks, corresponding to the expansion of z near the two irregular singular points, and for z in the intermediate region. The block for  $z \sim \infty$  is given by the decoupling limit of the corresponding doubly confluent block (2.2.133):

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right) = e^{\theta b\Lambda_{1}z/2}\Lambda_{1}^{\Delta+\Delta_{2,1}}(\Lambda_{2}^{2})^{\Delta}(\Lambda_{1}z)^{-\theta b\mu+\frac{b^{2}}{2}} \lim_{\eta\to\infty} {}_{1}\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{1}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha \eta; -\frac{\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{4\eta}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.155)$$

Equivalently, this block can be computed by doing the OPE  $\langle \mu, \Lambda_1 | \Phi(z) \rangle$ , projecting the result onto the Verma module  $\Delta_{\alpha}$  and contracting the result with  $|\Lambda_2^2\rangle$ . We denote it diagrammatically by

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right) = \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha \qquad (2.2.156)$$

Also for the intermediate region  $\Lambda_2^2 \ll z \ll \frac{1}{\Lambda_1}$  we have a closed form expression, given by

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu \ \alpha_{\theta} \ \alpha_{2,1} \ \alpha \ ; \Lambda_{1}z, \frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{z}\right) = \Lambda_{1}^{\Delta_{\theta}}(\Lambda_{2}^{2})^{\Delta}z^{\frac{bQ}{2} + \theta b\alpha} \lim_{\eta \to \infty} {}_{1}\widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}_{1}\left(\mu \ \alpha_{\theta} \ \alpha_{2,1} \ \alpha \ \eta; \Lambda_{1}z, -\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{4\eta z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.157)$$

This conformal block can also be computed directly by projecting  $|\Lambda_2^2\rangle$  onto the Verma module  $\Delta$ , then doing the OPE of  $\Phi(z)$  term by term with the resulting expansion and then contracting with  $\langle \mu, \Lambda_1 |$ . In diagrams

For the expansion around the irregular singular point of half rank no explicit, closed form expression is known to us. In any case one can calculate the expansion iteratively via other methods as for (2.2.109). We denote the corresponding conformal block in this region, where  $z \ll \Lambda_2^2$  and  $\Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2 \ll 1$  by

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(\mu\,\alpha\,\alpha_{2,1}\,;\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}}\right)\sim e^{\theta b\Lambda_{2}/\sqrt{z}}\left(\frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}-b^{2}}z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}\Lambda_{1}^{\Delta}(\Lambda_{2}^{2})^{\Delta_{2,1}+\Delta}\left[1+\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}},\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}\right)\right].$$

$$(2.2.159)$$

Diagrammatically,

To connect 0 with the intermediate region we decompose

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda_1 | \Phi(z) | \Lambda_2^2 \rangle = \int d\alpha \, C_{\mu\alpha} G_{\alpha}^{-1} \sum_{\theta = \pm} C_{\alpha} B_{\alpha_{2,1}} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)} \left( \mu \, \alpha \, \alpha_{2,1} \, ; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_2} \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int d\alpha \, C_{\mu\alpha} G_{\alpha}^{-1} \sum_{\theta' = \pm} C_{\alpha_{\theta'}} C_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha}^{\alpha_{\theta'}} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu \, \alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \alpha_{\theta'} \, ; \Lambda_1 z, \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{z} \right) \right|^2 .$$

$$(2.2.161)$$

We recognize this constraint from (2.1.36). Its solution is

$$b^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)} \left( \mu \, \alpha \, \alpha_{2,1} \, ; \, \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_2} \right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{2\theta'b\alpha} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}^{-1}(b\alpha)_1 \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu \, \alpha^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \alpha_{\theta'} \, ; \, \Lambda_1 z, \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{z} \right) \,.$$

$$(2.2.162)$$

In diagrams we write

Instead, to connect from the intermediate region to  $\infty$  we decompose

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda_1 | \Phi(z) | \Lambda_2^2 \rangle = \int \mathrm{d}\alpha \, C_\alpha G_\alpha^{-1} \sum_{\theta=\pm} C_{\mu\alpha\theta} C_{\alpha2,1\alpha}^{\alpha\theta} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu \, \alpha_\theta^{\alpha_{2,1}} \alpha \, ; \Lambda_1 z, \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{z} \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int \mathrm{d}\alpha \, C_\alpha G_\alpha^{-1} \sum_{\theta'=\pm} C_{\mu_{\theta'}\alpha} B_{\alpha2,1\mu}^{\mu_{\theta'}} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{D}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \mu_{\theta'} \, \alpha \, ; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{1}{\Lambda_1 z} \right) \right|^2 .$$

$$(2.2.164)$$

This is just the same constraint as for the Whittaker functions (2.1.21). The solution is

$$b^{\theta b \alpha}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu \ \alpha_{\theta} \ \alpha_{2,1} \alpha \ ; \Lambda_{1}z, \frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta' b \mu} \mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu){}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu \ \alpha_{2,1} \ \mu_{\theta'} \ \alpha \ ; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.165)$$

Diagrammatically



To connect from 0 to  $\infty$  we just need to concatenate the two connection formulae above to obtain

$$b^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta_1)} \left( \mu \, \alpha \, \alpha_{2,1}; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_2} \right) = \sum_{\theta_2, \theta_3 = \pm} b^{2\theta_2 b \alpha} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta_1 \theta_2}^{-1} (b \alpha) b^{-\frac{1}{2} + \theta_2 b \alpha - \theta_3 b \mu} \mathcal{N}_{(-\theta_2) \theta_3} (b \alpha_{\theta_2}, b \mu)_1 \mathfrak{D}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \mu_{\theta_3} \, \alpha_{\theta_2}; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1z}} \right).$$

$$(2.2.167)$$

In diagrams



# Semiclassical limit

The BPZ equation in this limit becomes

$$\left(\partial_z^2 - \frac{L_1^2}{4} + \frac{mL_1}{z} + \frac{u}{z^2} - \frac{L_2^2}{4z^3}\right)_1 \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} = 0.$$
(2.2.169)

for any semiclassical block. Here u is given by

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda_2^2 \partial_{\Lambda_2^2} \log_1 \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu \, \alpha; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2 \right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L_1 L_2^2) \,, \tag{2.2.170}$$

where  $_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\mu \alpha; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2})$  is the conformal block corresponding to  $\langle \mu, \Lambda_{1} | \Lambda_{2}^{2} \rangle$  with intermediate momentum  $\alpha$ . The finite semiclassical conformal blocks are defined as before by normalizing by the same block without the degenerate field insertion, i.e. for  $z \sim 0$ 

$${}_{1}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(m\,a\,a_{2,1}\,;L_{1}L_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_{2}}\right) = \lim_{b\to 0} b^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{{}^{1}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(\mu\,\alpha\,\alpha_{2,1}\,;\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}}\right)}{{}^{1}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\mu\,\alpha;\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2})} \sim e^{\theta L_{2}/\sqrt{z}}L_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}z^{\frac{3}{4}}(1+\mathcal{O}(L_{1}L_{2}^{2},\sqrt{z}/L_{2}))$$

$$(2.2.171)$$

For  $z \sim \infty$  instead we have

$${}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(m^{a_{2,1}} m_{\theta} a; L_{1}L_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{L_{1}z}\right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta m} \frac{{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right)}{{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu \alpha; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}\right)} \sim e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\partial_{m}F} e^{\theta L_{1}z/2} L_{1}^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta m} z^{-\theta m} (1 + \mathcal{O}(L_{1}L_{2}^{2}, 1/L_{1}z)).$$

$$(2.2.172)$$

Here

$$F = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ (\Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2)^{-\Delta_1} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu \, \alpha; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2 \right) \right] \,. \tag{2.2.173}$$

Both these blocks satisfy the same BPZ equation (2.2.169). Analogously to the previous confluences, in the connection formula between 0 and  $\infty$  we have four different  $\mathfrak{D}$  blocks appearing, which should reduce to two in the semiclassical limit. Indeed, we have

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha_{\theta'}; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right) \sim \left(\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}\right)^{\theta' a} e^{-\frac{\theta'}{2}\partial_{a}F}{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \mu_{\theta} \alpha; \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}z}\right), \quad \text{as } b \to 0,$$

$$(2.2.174)$$

as in (2.2.34). Now that we have defined the semiclassical conformal blocks, we state the connection formula. (2.2.167) in the semiclassical limit becomes

$${}_{1}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(m\,a\,a_{2,1}\,;L_{1}L_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_{2}}\right) = \sum_{\theta'}\left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm}\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\sigma}^{-1}(a)\mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a,m)\left(L_{1}L_{2}^{2}\right)^{\sigma a}e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}\right){}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(m^{a_{2,1}}\,m_{\theta'}\,a\,;L_{1}L_{2}^{2},\frac{1}{L_{1}z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.175)$$

With connection coefficients<sup>13</sup>

$$\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta\sigma}^{-1}(a) \mathcal{N}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a,m) \left(L_1 L_2^2\right)^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} = \\ = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\sigma a)\Gamma(-2\sigma a)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\theta'm-\sigma a\right)} \left(\frac{L_1 L_2^2}{4}\right)^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} e^{-i\pi\left(\frac{1+\theta}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}+2\sigma a\right)} e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}-m-\sigma a\right)}.$$

$$(2.2.176)$$

Note that the factors of b appearing in (2.2.167) precisely combine with all the factors of  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2$  to give the finite  $L_1, L_2$ .

### 2.2.6 Doubly reduced doubly confluent conformal blocks

#### General case

Decoupling the last mass we land on the last correlator of our interest, which solves the BPZ equation

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z - \frac{\Lambda_1^2}{4}\frac{1}{z} + \frac{\Lambda_2^2\partial_{\Lambda_2^2}}{z^2} - \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{4}\frac{1}{z^3}\right)\langle\Lambda_1^2|\Phi(z)|\Lambda_2^2\rangle = 0, \qquad (2.2.177)$$

108

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Note that the Gamma functions in the denominator precisely correspond to the one-loop factor of the single hypermultiplet of the corresponding AGT dual gauge theory.
Again, one of the parameters among  $\Lambda_1, z, \Lambda_2$  is redundant and can be set to an arbitrary value via a rescaling. We keep them generic for convenience. We can decompose the above correlator into conformal blocks in three different regions, that is for  $z \ll \Lambda_2^2 \ll 1$ ,  $z \gg \Lambda_1^{-2} \gg 1$ , or for z in the intermediate region  $\Lambda_2^2 \ll z \ll \Lambda_1^{-2}$ . The conformal block in the intermediate region is again a block that can be expressed as a collision limit

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha\,;\Lambda_{1}^{2}z,\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{z}\right) = (\Lambda_{1}^{2})^{\Delta_{\theta}}(\Lambda_{2}^{2})^{\Delta}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}+\theta b\alpha}\lim_{\eta\to\infty}{}_{1}\widetilde{\mathfrak{F}}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\eta\,\,\alpha_{\theta}\,^{\alpha_{2,1}}\alpha\,;\frac{-\Lambda_{1}^{2}}{4\eta}z,\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{z}\right).$$

$$(2.2.178)$$

This conformal block can also be computed directly by projecting  $|\Lambda_2^2\rangle$  onto the Verma module  $\Delta$ , then doing the OPE of  $\Phi(z)$  term by term with the resulting expansion and then contracting with  $\langle \Lambda_1^2 |$ . In diagrams we represent it by

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha\,;\Lambda_{1}^{2}z,\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{z}\right) = \underbrace{\alpha_{2,1}}_{\alpha_{\theta}\alpha} . \qquad (2.2.179)$$

The block corresponding to the expansion for  $z \gg \Lambda_1^{-2}$ 

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)} \left( \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha \, ; \, \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{1}{\Lambda_1 \sqrt{z}} \right) \sim (\Lambda_1^2)^{\Delta_{2,1} + \Delta} (\Lambda_2^2)^{\Delta} (\Lambda_1 \sqrt{z})^{\frac{1}{2} + b^2} e^{\theta b \Lambda_1 \sqrt{z}} \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O} \left( \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{1}{\Lambda_1 \sqrt{z}} \right) \right]$$

$$= \underbrace{\alpha_{2,1}}_{\theta} \alpha \qquad (2.2.180)$$

and similarly for the expansion for  $z\ll\Lambda_2^2$ 

$$z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha\,\alpha_{2,1}\,;\Lambda_{1}^{2}\Lambda_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}}\right)\sim(\Lambda_{1}^{2})^{\Delta(\Lambda_{2}^{2})^{\Delta_{2,1}+\Delta}}z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}\left(\frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}-b^{2}}e^{\theta b\Lambda_{2}/\sqrt{z}}\left[1+\mathcal{O}\left(\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}}\right)\right]$$
$$=\underbrace{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha}$$
$$(2.2.181)$$

To connect the intermediate region with  $z \sim 0$  we decompose the correlator as

$$\langle \Lambda_1^2 | \Phi(z) | \Lambda_2^2 \rangle = \int d\alpha \, C_\alpha G_\alpha^{-1} \sum_{\theta = \pm} C_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha}^{\alpha_\theta} C_{\alpha_\theta} \left| \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \alpha \, \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha_\theta \, ; \, \Lambda_1^2 z, \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{z} \right) \right|^2 =$$

$$= \int d\alpha \, C_\alpha G_\alpha^{-1} \sum_{\theta' = \pm} A_{-\frac{b}{2}} C_\alpha \left| z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta')} \left( \alpha \, \alpha_{2,1} \, ; \, \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_2} \right) \right|^2 .$$

$$(2.2.182)$$

This is the same constraint as in (2.1.36). Therefore the connection formula is

$$b^{2\theta b\alpha}{}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \alpha \,\alpha_{2,1} \,\alpha_{\theta} \,; \Lambda_{1}^{2} z, \frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{z} \right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha) z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta')} \left( \alpha \,\alpha_{2,1} \,; \Lambda_{1}^{2} \Lambda_{2}^{2}, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_{2}} \right) \,,$$

$$(2.2.183)$$

Diagrammatically

Similarly, the connection formula between the intermediate region and  $\infty$  is

$$b^{2\theta b\alpha}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha\,;\Lambda_{1}^{2}z,\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha){}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta')}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha\,;\Lambda_{1}^{2}\Lambda_{2}^{2},\frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}\sqrt{z}}\right).$$

$$(2.2.185)$$

In diagrams:



As in the previous cases, we can easily obtain a connection formula connecting the two irregular singularities, namely

 $b^{-\frac{1}{2}}z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} {}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta_1)} \left( \alpha \,\alpha_{2,1}; \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_2} \right) = \sum_{\theta_2, \theta_3 = \pm} b^{2\theta_2 b \alpha} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta_1 \theta_2}^{-1} (b\alpha) b^{-\frac{1}{2} + 2\theta_2 b \alpha} \mathcal{Q}_{(-\theta_2) \theta_3} (b\alpha_{\theta_2}) {}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta_3)} \left( \alpha_{2,1} \,\alpha_{\theta_2}; \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{1}{\Lambda_1 \sqrt{z}} \right).$  (2.2.187)

Diagrammatically:

# Semiclassical limit

The BPZ equation in this limit becomes

$$\left(\partial_z^2 - \frac{L_1^2}{4z} + \frac{u}{z^2} - \frac{L_2^2}{4z^3}\right)_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} = 0.$$
(2.2.189)

110

#### 2.2. 5-POINT DEGENERATE CONFORMAL BLOCKS

for any semiclassical block. Here u is given by

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda_2^2 \partial_{\Lambda_2^2} \log_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \alpha; \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2 \right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L_1^2 L_2^2) , \qquad (2.2.190)$$

where  $\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\alpha;\Lambda_1^2\Lambda_2^2)$  is the conformal block corresponding to  $\langle \Lambda_1^2|\Lambda_2^2 \rangle$  with intermediate momentum  $\alpha$ . The finite semiclassical conformal blocks are defined as before by normalizing by the same block without the degenerate field insertion, i.e. for  $z \sim 0$ 

$$z_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)} \left( a \, a_{2,1}; L_1^2 L_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_2} \right) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^{-1/2} \frac{z^{-2\Delta_{2,1}} \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)} \left( \alpha \, \alpha_{2,1}; \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{\Lambda_2} \right)}{\frac{1}{2} \tilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\frac{1}{2}} (\alpha; \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2)} \sim e^{\theta L_2 / \sqrt{z}} L_2^{-1/2} z^{3/4} (1 + \mathcal{O}(L_1^2 L_2^2, \sqrt{z}/L_2)) .$$

$$(2.2.191)$$

For  $z \sim \infty$  instead we have

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(a_{2,1}\,a\,;L_{1}^{2}L_{2}^{2},\frac{1}{L_{1}\sqrt{z}}\right) = \lim_{b\to 0} b^{-1/2} \frac{{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha\,;\Lambda_{1}^{2}\Lambda_{2}^{2},\frac{1}{\Lambda_{1}\sqrt{z}}\right)}{{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\alpha;\Lambda_{1}^{2}\Lambda_{2}^{2}\right)} \sim e^{\theta L_{1}\sqrt{z}}L_{1}^{-1/2}z^{1/4}\left(1 + \mathcal{O}(L_{1}^{2}L_{2}^{2},1/L_{1}\sqrt{z})\right).$$

$$(2.2.192)$$

Here

$$F = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ (\Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2)^{-\Delta} {}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \alpha; \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2 \right) \right] \,. \tag{2.2.193}$$

Both these blocks satisfy the same BPZ equation (2.2.189). Analogously to the previous confluences, in the connection formula between 0 and  $\infty$  we have four different  $\mathfrak{E}$  blocks appearing, which should reduce to two in the semiclassical limit. Indeed, we have

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha_{\theta'}\,;\Lambda_1^2\Lambda_2^2,\frac{1}{\Lambda_1\sqrt{z}}\right)\sim\left(\Lambda_1^2\Lambda_2^2\right)^{\theta'a}e^{-\frac{\theta'}{2}\partial_a F}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha\,;\Lambda_1^2\Lambda_2^2,\frac{1}{\Lambda_1\sqrt{z}}\right)\,,\quad\text{as }b\to0\,,$$

$$(2.2.194)$$

as in (2.2.34). Now that we have defined the semiclassical conformal blocks, we state the connection formula. (2.2.187) in the semiclassical limit becomes

$$z_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta)} \left( a \, a_{2,1}; L_1^2 L_2^2, \frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_2} \right) = \sum_{\theta'} \left( \sum_{\sigma = \pm} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta\sigma}^{-1}(a) \mathcal{Q}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a) \left( L_1 L_2 \right)^{2\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2} \partial_a F} \right)_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(\theta')} \left( a_{2,1} \, a; L_1^2 L_2^2, \frac{1}{L_1 \sqrt{z}} \right) .$$

$$(2.2.195)$$

With connection coefficients<sup>14</sup>

$$\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{Q}_{\theta\sigma}^{-1}(a) \mathcal{Q}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a) (L_1 L_2)^{2\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \Gamma(1-2\sigma a) \Gamma(-2\sigma a) \left(\frac{L_1 L_2}{4}\right)^{2\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} e^{-i\pi \left(\frac{1+\theta}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2}+2\sigma a\right)} e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2}-2\sigma a\right)}.$$
(2.2.196)

Note that the factors of b appearing in (2.2.187) precisely combine with all the factors of  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2$  to give the finite  $L_1, L_2$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Note also that there are no Gamma functions in the denominator corresponding to the fact that we have no hypermultiplets in the corresponding AGT dual gauge theory.

# 2.3 Heun equations, confluences and connection formulae

In this section we derive the explicit connection formulae for Heun functions and its confluences by identifying the semi-classical conformal blocks with the Heun functions and using the results so far obtained.

#### 2.3.1 The Heun equation

In the following we identify the semiclassical BPZ equation (2.2.28) with Heun's equation via a dictionary between the relevant parameters. Moreover, we establish a precise relation between the Heun functions and the semiclassical *regular* conformal blocks. This is further used to obtain explicit formulae for the relevant connection coefficients. WLOG, we focus on the case  $t \sim 0$ . The connection formulae for  $t \sim 1, t \sim \infty$  can be easily derived by matching the Heun equation and its local solutions with the corresponding semiclassical BPZ equations and the associated semiclassical conformal blocks.

## The dictionary

Let us start giving the dictionary with CFT. The Heun equation reads

$$\left(\frac{d^2}{dz^2} + \left(\frac{\gamma}{z} + \frac{\delta}{z-1} + \frac{\epsilon}{z-t}\right)\frac{d}{dz} + \frac{\alpha\beta z - q}{z(z-1)(z-t)}\right)w(z) = 0,$$

$$\alpha + \beta + 1 = \gamma + \delta + \epsilon,$$
(2.3.1)

where the condition  $\alpha + \beta + 1 = \gamma + \delta + \epsilon$  ensures that the exponents of the local solutions at infinity are given by  $\alpha, \beta$ . Here and in the following we restrict to generic values of the parameters. Define  $w(z) = P_4(z)\psi(z)$  with

$$P_4(z) = z^{-\gamma/2} (1-z)^{-\delta/2} (t-z)^{-\epsilon/2}.$$
(2.3.2)

 $\psi(z)$  then satisfies the Heun equation in normal form, which is easily compared with the semiclassical BPZ equation (2.2.28). We get  $2^4 = 16$  dictionaries corresponding to the  $(\mathbb{Z}_2)^4$  symmetry associated to flipping the signs of the momenta. We choose the following:

$$a_{0} = \frac{1-\gamma}{2},$$

$$a_{1} = \frac{1-\delta}{2},$$

$$a_{t} = \frac{1-\epsilon}{2},$$

$$a_{\infty} = \frac{\alpha-\beta}{2},$$

$$u^{(0)} = \frac{-2q+2t\alpha\beta+\gamma\epsilon-t(\gamma+\delta)\epsilon}{2(t-1)}.$$
(2.3.3)

The inverse dictionary is

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= 1 - a_0 - a_1 - a_t + a_{\infty} ,\\ \beta &= 1 - a_0 - a_1 - a_t - a_{\infty} ,\\ \gamma &= 1 - 2a_0 ,\\ \delta &= 1 - 2a_1 ,\\ \epsilon &= 1 - 2a_t ,\\ q &= \frac{1}{2} + t(a_0^2 + a_t^2 + a_1^2 - a_{\infty}^2) - a_t - a_1 t + a_0 (2a_t - 1 + t(2a_1 - 1)) + (1 - t)u^{(0)} . \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.4)$$

The two linearly independent solutions for  $z \sim 0$  of (2.2.28) are related by  $a_0 \rightarrow -a_0$ . This corresponds to the identification of the two linearly independent solutions of (2.3.1) for  $z \sim 0$  as

$$w_{-}^{(0)}(z) = \operatorname{HeunG}\left(t, q, \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, z\right),$$
  

$$w_{+}^{(0)}(z) = z^{1-\gamma} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(t, q - (\gamma - 1)(t\delta + \epsilon), \alpha + 1 - \gamma, \beta + 1 - \gamma, 2 - \gamma, \delta, z\right),$$
(2.3.5)

where by definition

HeunG 
$$(t, q, \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, z) = 1 + \frac{q}{t\gamma} z + \mathcal{O}(z^2)$$
. (2.3.6)

The Heun function can be identified with the semiclassical conformal blocks introduced before. In particular comparing with (2.2.25) we get the two solutions

$$w_{-}^{(0)}(z) = P_{4}(z) t^{\frac{1}{2} - a_{t} - a_{0}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F(t)} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_{t}} a_{0} - \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}}; t, \frac{z}{t} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$w_{+}^{(0)}(z) = P_{4}(z) t^{\frac{1}{2} - a_{t} + a_{0}} e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F(t)} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_{t}} a_{0} + \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}}; t, \frac{z}{t} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(2.3.7)$$

Note that HeunG is an expansion in z, while the semiclassical conformal blocks are expanded both in z and t. To match the two expansions one has to express the accessory parameter q in terms of the Floquet exponent a as a series in t. This can be done substituting the dictionary as explained in Appendix 2.C.

The solutions for  $z \sim t$  are given by

$$\begin{split} w_{-}^{(t)}(z) &= \operatorname{HeunG}\left(\frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{q-t\alpha\beta}{1-t}, \alpha, \beta, \epsilon, \delta, \frac{z-t}{1-t}\right), \\ w_{+}^{(t)}(z) &= (t-z)^{1-\epsilon} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(\frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{q-t\alpha\beta}{1-t} - (\epsilon-1)\left(\frac{t}{t-1}\delta + \gamma\right), \alpha + 1 - \epsilon, \beta + 1 - \epsilon, 2 - \epsilon, \delta, \frac{z-t}{1-t}\right). \end{split}$$

$$(2.3.8)$$

Comparing with the semiclassical blocks (2.2.29) we get

$$w_{-}^{(t)}(z) = P_{4}(z) t^{\frac{1}{2}-a_{0}-a_{t}} (1-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_{1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{t}}F(t)} \left( (t-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_{0}} a_{t-} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{t}}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix} \right),$$
  
$$w_{+}^{(t)}(z) = P_{4}(z) t^{\frac{1}{2}-a_{0}+a_{t}} (1-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_{1}} e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{t}}F(t)} \left( (t-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} \\ a_{\infty} \end{pmatrix}^{a_{0}} a_{t+} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{t}}; \frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{t-z}{t} \end{pmatrix} \right).$$
  
(2.3.9)

The two solutions for  $z\sim 1$  read

$$\begin{split} w_{-}^{(1)}(z) &= \left(\frac{z-t}{1-t}\right)^{-\alpha} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(t, q+\alpha(\delta-\beta), \alpha, \delta+\gamma-\beta, \delta, \gamma, t\frac{1-z}{t-z}\right), \\ w_{+}^{(1)}(z) &= \left(\frac{z-t}{1-t}\right)^{-\alpha-1+\delta} (1-z)^{1-\delta} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(t, q-\alpha(\beta+\delta-2)+(\delta-1)(\alpha+\beta-1-t\gamma), \alpha+1-\delta, 1+\gamma-\beta, 2-\delta, \gamma, t\frac{1-z}{t-z}\right), \\ (2.3.10) \end{split}$$

and matching with (2.2.37) gives

$$w_{-}^{(1)}(z) = P_{4}(z)e^{\pm i\pi(a_{1}+a_{t})}(1-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_{t}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F(t)}\left((t(1-t))^{-\frac{1}{2}}(t-z)\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} \ a^{a_{\infty}} \ a_{1-} \ a_{1}^{a_{2},1}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}\right)$$
$$w_{+}^{(1)}(z) = P_{4}(z)e^{\pm i\pi(-a_{1}+a_{t})}(1-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_{t}}e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F(t)}\left((t(1-t))^{-\frac{1}{2}}(t-z)\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{0} \ a^{a_{\infty}} \ a_{1+} \ a_{1}^{a_{2},1}; t, \frac{1-z}{t-z}\end{pmatrix}\right).$$
$$(2.3.11)$$

The  $\pm$  ambuiguity in the overall phase depends on the choice of branch corresponding to

$$P_4(z)\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_0 \\ a_t \\ a \\ a_1 \\ a_1 \\ a_1 \\ c_1 \\ c_1 \\ c_1 \\ c_2 \\ c_2 \\ c_1 \\ c_2 \\ c_2 \\ c_1 \\ c_2 \\ c_2 \\ c_2 \\ c_1 \\ c_2 \\ c_2 \\ c_2 \\ c_1 \\ c_2 \\ c$$

Finally, the two solutions near  $z \sim \infty$  are given by

$$w_{+}^{(\infty)}(z) = z^{-\alpha} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(t, q - \alpha\beta(1+t) + \alpha(\delta + t\epsilon), \alpha, \alpha - \gamma + 1, \alpha - \beta + 1, \alpha + \beta + 1 - \gamma - \delta, \frac{t}{z}\right),$$
  

$$w_{-}^{(\infty)}(z) = z^{-\beta} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(t, q - \alpha\beta(1+t) + \beta(\delta + t\epsilon), \beta, \beta - \gamma + 1, \beta - \alpha + 1, \alpha + \beta + 1 - \gamma - \delta, \frac{t}{z}\right).$$
(2.3.13)

Comparing with (2.2.31) we get

$$w_{+}^{(\infty)}(z) = P_{4}(z)e^{\pm i\pi(1-a_{1}-a_{t})}e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{\infty}}F(t)}\left(t^{-\frac{1}{2}}z\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{t} a^{a_{1}} a_{\infty} + \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{\infty}};t,\frac{1}{z}\end{pmatrix}\right),$$
  

$$w_{-}^{(\infty)}(z) = P_{4}(z)e^{\pm i\pi(1-a_{1}-a_{t})}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{\infty}}F(t)}\left(t^{-\frac{1}{2}}z\mathcal{F}\begin{pmatrix}a_{t} a^{a_{1}} a_{\infty} - \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{\infty}};t,\frac{1}{z}\end{pmatrix}\right),$$
(2.3.14)

where again the  $\pm$  in the phase depends on the choice of branch corresponding to

$$P_4(z) = z^{-\frac{1}{2}+a_0}(1-z)^{-\frac{1}{2}+a_1}(t-z)^{-\frac{1}{2}+a_t} = e^{\mp i\pi(1-a_1-a_t)}z^{-\frac{1}{2}+a_0}(z-1)^{-\frac{1}{2}+a_1}(z-t)^{-\frac{1}{2}+a_t}.$$
(2.3.15)

#### Connection formulae

Finally we are in the position to give the connection formulae for the Heun function. Let us start with  $z \sim 0$  and  $z \sim t$ . The corresponding connection formula can be read off from (2.2.30), which in the Heun notation reads

$$w_{-}^{(0)}(z) = \frac{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)\Gamma(\gamma)e^{\frac{1}{2}(\partial_{a_t}-\partial_{a_0})F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\epsilon}{2}+a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\epsilon}{2}-a(q)\right)} (1-t)^{-\frac{\delta}{2}}w_{-}^{(t)}(z) + \frac{\Gamma(\epsilon-1)\Gamma(\gamma)e^{\frac{1}{2}(-\partial_{a_t}-\partial_{a_0})F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{-1+\gamma+\epsilon}{2}+a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-1+\gamma+\epsilon}{2}-a(q)\right)} t^{\epsilon-1}(1-t)^{-\frac{\delta}{2}}w_{+}^{(t)}(z),$$

$$(2.3.16)$$

for the other solution one finds

$$w_{+}^{(0)}(z) = \frac{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)\Gamma(2-\gamma)e^{\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{a_{t}}+\partial_{a_{0}}\right)F}}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1-\gamma-\epsilon}{2}+a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{1-\gamma-\epsilon}{2}-a(q)\right)}t^{1-\gamma}(1-t)^{-\frac{\delta}{2}}w_{-}^{(t)}(z) + \frac{\Gamma(\epsilon-1)\Gamma(\gamma)e^{\frac{1}{2}\left(-\partial_{a_{t}}+\partial_{a_{0}}\right)F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\gamma+\epsilon}{2}-a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\gamma+\epsilon}{2}-a(q)\right)}t^{\epsilon-\gamma}(1-t)^{-\frac{\delta}{2}}w_{+}^{(t)}(z).$$

$$(2.3.17)$$

Here a(q) has to be computed inverting the relation (2.2.27) and substituting the dictionary as shown explicitly in Appendix 2.C, formula (2.C.13). The result to first order is

$$a(q) = \frac{1}{16}\sqrt{3 - 4q + \gamma^2 + 2\gamma(\epsilon - 1) + \epsilon(\epsilon - 2)} \times \\ \times \left(8 - \frac{4(-1 + 2q - \epsilon(\gamma + \epsilon - 2))(-3 + 4q + (\alpha - \beta) - \gamma^2 - \delta(\delta - 2) - 2\gamma(\epsilon - 1) - \epsilon(\epsilon - 2))}{(3 - 4q + \gamma^2 + 2\gamma(\epsilon - 1) + \epsilon(\epsilon - 2))(2 - 4q + \gamma^2 + 2\gamma(\epsilon - 1) + \epsilon(\epsilon - 2))}t\right) + \mathcal{O}(t^2) .$$
(2.3.18)

In Appendix 2.C we also explain how to compute the classical conformal block F and its derivatives (see formula 2.C.10). For example, to first order

$$\partial_{a_t} F(t) = \frac{\left(4a(q)^2 - \alpha^2 + 2\alpha\beta - \beta^2 - 2\delta + \delta^2\right)(1-\epsilon)}{2 - 8a(q)^2} t + \mathcal{O}(t^2).$$
(2.3.19)

The connection formula for  $w^{(0)}_+(z)$  can be obtained from (2.3.16) by multiplying by  $z^{1-\gamma}$ , substituting

$$q \to q - (\gamma - 1)(t\delta + \epsilon), \ \alpha \to \alpha + 1 - \gamma, \ \beta \to \beta + 1 - \gamma, \ \gamma \to 2 - \gamma$$
(2.3.20)

as in (2.3.5), and noting that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(\frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{q-t\alpha\beta}{1-t}, \alpha, \beta, \epsilon, \delta, \frac{z-t}{1-t}\right) &= \\ &= \left(\frac{z}{t}\right)^{1-\gamma} \operatorname{HeunG}\left(\frac{t}{t-1}, \frac{q-t(\alpha+1-\gamma)(\beta+1-\gamma)-(\gamma-1)(t\delta+\epsilon)}{1-t}, \alpha+1-\gamma, \beta+1-\gamma, \epsilon, \delta, \frac{z-t}{1-t}\right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.21)$$

Similarly, the connection formula from  $z \sim 0$  to  $z \sim \infty$  can be read off from (2.2.35), and gives

$$w_{-}^{(0)}(z) = \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma(\beta-\alpha)t^{\frac{\gamma+\epsilon-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{a_{0}}-\partial_{a_{\infty}}+\sigma\partial_{a}\right)F}e^{i\pi\left(\frac{\delta+\gamma}{2}\right)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma-\epsilon+1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\epsilon-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\beta-\alpha-\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\beta-\alpha+\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)}\right)w_{+}^{(\infty)}(z) + \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)t^{\frac{\gamma+\epsilon-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{a_{0}}-\partial_{a_{\infty}}+\sigma\partial_{a}\right)F}e^{i\pi\left(\frac{\delta+\gamma}{2}\right)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma-\epsilon+1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\epsilon-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\alpha-\beta-\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha-\beta+\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)}\right)w_{-}^{(\infty)}(z).$$

$$(2.3.22)$$

Let us conclude the section by giving the connection formulae from 1 to infinity. This can be derived from (2.2.20), and gives

$$w_{-}^{(1)}(z) = -(1-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_t} \frac{\Gamma(\beta-\alpha)\Gamma(\delta)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{a_1}+\partial_{a_\infty}\right)F(t)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\delta-\alpha+\beta}{2}+a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\delta-\alpha+\beta}{2}-a(q)\right)} w_{+}^{(\infty)}(z) + -(1-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_t} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\delta)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{a_1}-\partial_{a_\infty}\right)F(t)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\delta+\alpha-\beta}{2}+a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\delta+\alpha-\beta}{2}-a(q)\right)} w_{-}^{(\infty)}(z) .$$

$$(2.3.23)$$

The connection formulae involving the other solutions can be read off from the previous ones, and the formulae involving different pairs of points can be similarly derived by considering the corresponding semiclassical conformal blocks. We conclude by stressing again that the connection formulae involving different regions in the t-plane are completely analogous to the previous ones, since all the singularities are regular. This will not be the case in the following.

# 2.3.2 The confluent Heun equation

#### The dictionary

Here we establish the dictionary between our results of section 2.2.2 on confluent conformal blocks and the confluent Heun equation (CHE) in standard notation, which reads

$$\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} + \left(\frac{\gamma}{z} + \frac{\delta}{z-1} + \epsilon\right)\frac{dw}{dz} + \frac{\alpha z - q}{z(z-1)}w = 0.$$
(2.3.24)

By defining  $w(z) = P_3(z)\psi(z)$  with  $P_3(z) = e^{-\epsilon z/2} z^{-\gamma/2} (1-z)^{-\delta/2}$ , we get rid of the first derivative and bring the equation to normal form, which can easily be compared with the semiclassical BPZ equation (2.2.82). We can read off the dictionary between the CFT

parameters and the parameters of the CHE:

$$a_{0} = \frac{1-\gamma}{2},$$

$$a_{1} = \frac{1-\delta}{2},$$

$$m = \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} - \frac{\gamma+\delta}{2},$$

$$L = \epsilon,$$

$$u = \frac{1}{4} - q + \alpha - \frac{(\gamma+\delta-1)^{2}}{4} - \frac{\delta\epsilon}{2},$$
(2.3.25)

where

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \log_1 \mathfrak{F}\left(\mu \,\alpha \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda\right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L) \tag{2.3.26}$$

as in (2.2.82). This relation can then be inverted to find a in terms of the parameters of the CHE: we denote this by a(q). We write the solutions to the CHE in standard form in the notation of Mathematica, and their relation to the conformal blocks used before. We focus first on the blocks given as an expansion for small L. Then, near z = 0 we have the two linearly independent solutions

HeunC(
$$q, \alpha, \gamma, \delta, \epsilon; z$$
),  
 $z^{1-\gamma}$ HeunC( $q + (1-\gamma)(\epsilon - \delta), \alpha + (1-\gamma)\epsilon, 2-\gamma, \delta, \epsilon; z$ ), (2.3.27)

where the confluent Heun function has the following expansion around z = 0:

HeunC
$$(q, \alpha, \gamma, \delta, \epsilon; z) = 1 - \frac{q}{\gamma} z + \mathcal{O}(z^2)$$
. (2.3.28)

Comparing with the semiclassical conformal blocks in (2.2.2) we identify

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q, \alpha, \gamma, \delta, \epsilon; z) &= P_3(z) e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_0}F} {}_1 \mathcal{F}\left(m \ a^{a_1} a_{0-} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_0}; L, z\right), \\ z^{1-\gamma} \operatorname{HeunC}\left(q + (1-\gamma)(\epsilon-\delta), \alpha + (1-\gamma)\epsilon, 2-\gamma, \delta, \epsilon; z\right) &= P_3(z) e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_0}F} {}_1 \mathcal{F}\left(m \ a^{a_1} a_{0+} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_0}; L, z\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.29)$$

where

$$F = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ \Lambda^{-\Delta}{}_1 \mathfrak{F} \left( \mu \, \alpha \, \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda \right) \right] \,. \tag{2.3.30}$$

Doing a Möbius transformation  $z \to 1 - z$  we obtain solutions around z = 1, which being a regular singularity can again be written in terms of HeunC. This amounts to sending  $\gamma \to \delta, \ \delta \to \gamma, \ \epsilon \to -\epsilon, \ \alpha \to -\alpha, \ q \to q - \alpha$ . The two solutions are therefore

$$\operatorname{HeunC}(q - \alpha, -\alpha, \delta, \gamma, -\epsilon; 1 - z),$$

$$(1 - z)^{1 - \delta} \operatorname{HeunC}(q - \alpha - (1 - \delta)(\epsilon + \gamma), -\alpha - (1 - \delta)\epsilon, 2 - \delta, \gamma, -\epsilon; 1 - z).$$

$$(2.3.31)$$

Again, comparing with the semiclassical conformal blocks in (2.2.2), we identify

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q - \alpha, -\alpha, \delta, \gamma, -\epsilon; 1 - z) &= P_3(z)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F} \int \left( -m \ a^{a_0} a_{1-} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_1}; L, 1 - z \right) ,\\ (1 - z)^{1 - \delta} \operatorname{HeunC}\left(q - \alpha - (1 - \delta)(\epsilon + \gamma), -\alpha - (1 - \delta)\epsilon, 2 - \delta, \gamma, -\epsilon; 1 - z \right) = \\ &= P_3(z)e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F} \int \left( -m \ a^{a_0} a_{1+} \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_1}; L, 1 - z \right) . \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.32)$$

Around the irregular singular point  $z = \infty$ , we write the solutions in terms of a different function HeunC<sub> $\infty$ </sub>:

$$z^{-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}} \operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q, \alpha, \gamma, \delta, \epsilon; z^{-1}) e^{-\epsilon z} z^{\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} - \gamma - \delta} \operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q - \gamma \epsilon, \alpha - \epsilon(\gamma + \delta), \gamma, \delta, -\epsilon; z^{-1}),$$
(2.3.33)

where the function HeunC<sub> $\infty$ </sub> has a simple asymptotic expansion around  $z = \infty$ :

$$\operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z^{-1}) \sim 1 + \frac{\alpha^2 - (\gamma + \delta - 1)\alpha\epsilon + (\alpha - q)\epsilon^2}{\epsilon^3} z^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(z^{-2}). \quad (2.3.34)$$

Comparing with the semiclassical conformal blocks we identify

$$z^{-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}}\operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z^{-1}) = e^{\mp \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}}P_{3}(z)e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F}L^{\frac{1}{2}+m}{}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{2,1}}\ m_{+}\ a\ \frac{a_{1}}{a_{0}};L,\frac{1}{z}\right)$$
$$e^{-\epsilon z}z^{\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\gamma-\delta}\operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q-\gamma\epsilon,\alpha-\epsilon(\gamma+\delta),\gamma,\delta,-\epsilon;z^{-1}) = e^{\mp \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}}P_{3}(z)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F}L^{\frac{1}{2}-m}{}_{1}\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{2,1}}\ m_{-}\ a\ \frac{a_{1}}{a_{0}};L,\frac{1}{z}\right).$$
$$(2.3.35)$$

The phase  $e^{\mp \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}}$  comes from the fact that near  $z = \infty$ 

$$P_3(z) \sim e^{-\epsilon z/2} z^{-\gamma/2} (-z)^{-\delta/2} = e^{\pm \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} e^{-\epsilon z/2} z^{-\gamma/2 - \delta/2} .$$
(2.3.36)

The second solution around  $z = \infty$  can be found by using the manifest symmetry  $(m, L) \rightarrow (-m, -L)$  of the semiclassical BPZ equation which according to the dictionary gives the symmetry  $(q, \alpha, \epsilon) \rightarrow (q - \gamma \epsilon, \alpha - \epsilon(\gamma + \delta), -\epsilon)$  of the CHE in normal form.

For the large-L blocks the story is analogous. The dictionary (2.3.25) is the same, up to the substitution

$$u \to u_D = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda \partial_\Lambda \log_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_1} \mu' \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda} \right) = -(m'-m)L + \frac{1}{4} - a_0^2 + 2m'(m'-m) + \mathcal{O}(L^{-1}).$$
(2.3.37)

This relation can be inverted to find m' in terms of the parameters of the CHE. We will call this m'(q). With this dictionary we can identify solutions of the CHE with conformal blocks as follows: near z = 0 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z) &= P_3(z)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_0}F_D} \,_1\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_1} \,\,m' \,\,a_{0-} \,\,\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_0};\frac{1}{L},Lz\right), \\ z^{1-\gamma}\operatorname{HeunC}\left(q+(1-\gamma)(\epsilon-\delta),\alpha+(1-\gamma)\epsilon,2-\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z\right) &= P_3(z)e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_0}F_D} \,_1\mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_1} \,\,m' \,\,a_{0+} \,\,\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_0};\frac{1}{L},Lz\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.38)$$

with  $F_D$  given in (2.2.93). Near z = 1 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q-\alpha,-\alpha,\delta,\gamma,-\epsilon;1-z) &= P_3(z)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F_D} \,_1\mathcal{D}\bigg(-m^{a_0}\ m'-m\ a_{1-}\ \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_1};\frac{1}{L},L(1-z)\bigg),\\ (1-z)^{1-\delta}\operatorname{HeunC}\left(q-\alpha-(1-\delta)(\epsilon+\gamma),-\alpha-(1-\delta)\epsilon,2-\delta,\gamma,-\epsilon;1-z\right) &= \\ &= P_3(z)e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F_D} \,_1\mathcal{D}\bigg(-m^{a_0}\ m'-m\ a_{1+}\ \frac{a_{2,1}}{a_1};\frac{1}{L},L(1-z)\bigg). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.39)$$

While near  $z = \infty$  we have

$$z^{-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}} \operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z^{-1}) = e^{\mp \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} P_{3}(z) e^{L/2} e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F_{D}} L^{\frac{1}{2}-(m'-m)}{}_{1} \mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{2,1}} m_{+}^{a_{1}} m' a_{0};\frac{1}{L},\frac{1}{z}\right)$$

$$e^{-\epsilon z} z^{\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\gamma-\delta} \operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q-\gamma\epsilon,\alpha-\epsilon(\gamma+\delta),\gamma,\delta,-\epsilon;z^{-1}) = e^{\mp \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} P_{3}(z) e^{-L/2} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F_{D}} L^{\frac{1}{2}+(m'-m)}{}_{1} \mathcal{D}\left(m^{a_{2,1}} m_{+}^{a_{1}} m' a_{0};\frac{1}{L},\frac{1}{z}\right).$$

$$(2.3.40)$$

As the careful reader should have noticed, we identify the small-L and large-L conformal blocks with the same confluent Heun functions. The only difference is in the expansion of the accessory parameter: in one case it is given in terms of the Floquet exponent a as an expansion in L, and in the other case in terms of the parameter m' as an expansion in  $L^{-1}$ .

#### Connection formulae

The connection formula between z = 0, 1 written in (2.2.91) for the semiclassical conformal blocks can now be restated as:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z) &= \frac{\Gamma(1-\delta)\Gamma(\gamma)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_0}F + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\delta}{2} + a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\delta}{2} - a(q)\right)} \operatorname{HeunC}(q-\alpha,-\alpha,\delta,\gamma,-\epsilon;1-z) + \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(\delta-1)\Gamma(\gamma)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_0}F - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2} + a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2} - a(q)\right)} (1-z)^{1-\delta} \operatorname{HeunC}\left(q-\alpha - (1-\delta)(\epsilon+\gamma), -\alpha - (1-\delta)\epsilon, 2-\delta, \gamma, -\epsilon; 1-z\right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.41)$$

The quantities a(q) and F can be computed as explained in Appendix 2.C. The connection formula between  $z = 1, \infty$  written in (2.2.89) reads in terms of confluent Heun functions:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q-\alpha,-\alpha,\delta,\gamma,-\epsilon;1-z) &= \\ &= \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(\delta)\epsilon^{-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}+\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}+\sigma a(q)}e^{\pm\frac{i\pi\delta}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F+\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F(a)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\gamma+\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma+\delta}{2}-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\sigma a(q)\right)}\right) \times \\ &\times z^{-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}}\operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z) + \\ &+ \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(\delta)\epsilon^{-\frac{1}{2}+\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}+\sigma a(q)}e^{\pm\frac{i\pi\delta}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F+\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F(a)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\gamma+\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\gamma-\delta}{2}+\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\sigma a(q)\right)}\right) \times \\ &\times e^{-\epsilon z} z^{\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\gamma-\delta}\operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q-\gamma\epsilon,\alpha-\epsilon(\gamma+\delta),\gamma,\delta,-\epsilon;z) \,. \end{aligned}$$

(2.3.42) Here the phase ambiguity comes from (2.3.35), i.e. corresponds to the choice  $(-z)^{-\delta/2} = e^{\pm \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} z^{-\delta/2}$ . A similar expression can be found connecting z = 0 and  $\infty$ . All connection coefficients given above are calculated in a series expansion in L. Therefore they are not valid for large L and in that case one has to use different connection formulae, which are derived in section 2.2.2 for the large-L semiclassical conformal blocks. Here we restate those results in the language of Heun functions. The connection formula from z = 0 to z = 1, valid for large L is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z) &= \\ &= \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma(1-\delta)e^{\frac{\sigma}{2}\epsilon}\epsilon^{-\sigma\left(2m'(q)-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}+\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}\right)}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F_{D}+\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F_{D}-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{m'}F_{D}}e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1-\sigma}{2}\right)\left(\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\delta-2m'(q)\right)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma}{2}-\sigma m'(q)\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{\delta}{2}-\sigma\left(m'(q)-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}\right)\right)}\right) \times \\ &\times \operatorname{HeunC}(q-\alpha,-\alpha,\delta,\gamma,-\epsilon;1-z) + \\ &+ \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma(\delta-1)e^{\frac{\sigma}{2}\epsilon}\epsilon^{-\sigma\left(2m'(q)-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}+\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}\right)}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F_{D}-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F_{D}-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{m'}F_{D}}e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1-\sigma}{2}\right)\left(\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-2m'(q)-1\right)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma}{2}-\sigma m'(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\delta}{2}-\sigma\left(m'(q)-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}-\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}\right)\right)}\right) \times \\ &\times \operatorname{HeunC}\left(q-\alpha-(1-\delta)(\epsilon+\gamma),-\alpha-(1-\delta)\epsilon,2-\delta,\gamma,-\epsilon;1-z\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.43)$$

where the quantities m'(q) and  $F_D$  are computed as explained in Appendix 2.C. The connection formula from z = 1 to  $\infty$  is simpler and reads

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunC}(q-\alpha,-\alpha,\delta,\gamma,-\epsilon;1-z) &= \\ &= e^{\pm \frac{i\pi\delta}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F_{D} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F_{D}}\epsilon^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} + \frac{\gamma+\delta-\epsilon}{2} + m'(q)} \frac{\Gamma(\delta)e^{i\pi\left(\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} - \frac{\gamma}{2} - m'(q)\right)}}{\Gamma\left(-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} + \frac{\gamma}{2} + \delta + m'(q)\right)} z^{-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}} \operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,\epsilon;z^{-1}) + \\ &+ e^{\pm \frac{i\pi\delta}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F_{D} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F_{D}}\epsilon^{-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} - \frac{\gamma+\delta-\epsilon}{2} - m'(q)} \frac{\Gamma(\delta)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} - \frac{\gamma}{2} + m'(q)\right)} e^{-\epsilon z} z^{\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} - \gamma-\delta} \operatorname{HeunC}_{\infty}(q-\gamma\epsilon,\alpha-\epsilon(\gamma+\delta),\gamma,\delta,-\epsilon;z^{-1}) . \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.44)$$

120

### 2.3.3 The reduced confluent Heun equation

#### The dictionary

Here we establish the dictionary between our results of section 2.2.3 on reduced confluent conformal blocks the reduced confluent Heun equation (RCHE) in standard notation, which reads

$$\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} + \left(\frac{\gamma}{z} + \frac{\delta}{z-1}\right)\frac{dw}{dz} + \frac{\beta z - q}{z(z-1)}w = 0.$$

$$(2.3.45)$$

This is of course just the CHE specialized to<sup>15</sup>  $\epsilon = 0$ . The interesting difference with respect to the CHE is the behaviour for  $z \to \infty$ , which is no longer controlled by  $\epsilon$  and the degree of the singularity gets lowered to 1/2. By defining  $w(z) = P_2(z)\psi(z)$  with  $P_2(z) = z^{-\gamma/2}(1-z)^{-\delta/2}$ , we pass to the normal form which is easily compared with the semiclassical BPZ equation (2.2.121). The dictionary between the CFT parameters and the parameters of the RCHE reads:

$$a_{0} = \frac{1 - \gamma}{2},$$

$$a_{1} = \frac{1 - \delta}{2},$$

$$L = 2i\sqrt{\beta},$$

$$u = \frac{1}{4} - q + \beta - \frac{(\gamma + \delta - 1)^{2}}{4},$$
(2.3.46)

where

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda^2 \partial_{\Lambda^2} \log_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha \, \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_0}; \Lambda^2\right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L^2)$$
(2.3.47)

as in (2.2.121). This relation can then be inverted to find a in terms of the parameters of the RCHE: we denote this by a(q). We therefore infer the relation between the solutions of the RCHE in standard form and the conformal blocks defined before. Near z = 0 we have the following two linearly independent solutions to the RCHE in standard form (2.3.45):

HeunRC(
$$q, \beta, \gamma, \delta; z$$
),  
 $z^{1-\gamma}$ HeunRC( $q - (1 - \gamma)\delta, \beta, 2 - \gamma, \delta; z$ ), (2.3.48)

where

$$F = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ \Lambda^{-2\Delta}{}_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha {}_{\alpha_0}^{\alpha_1}; \Lambda^2 \right) \right] \,. \tag{2.3.49}$$

Since HeunRC is nothing else than HeunC with  $\epsilon = 0$ , it has the following expansion around z = 0:

HeunRC
$$(q, \beta, \gamma, \delta; z) = 1 - \frac{q}{\gamma} z + \mathcal{O}(z^2)$$
. (2.3.50)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>This corresponds to the usual decoupling limit  $m \to \infty, L \to 0$  such that mL remains finite.

Comparing with the conformal blocks in (2.2.3) we identify

$$\operatorname{HeunRC}(q,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z) = P_{2}(z)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_{1}}a_{0}-\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}};L^{2},z\right),$$

$$z^{1-\gamma}\operatorname{HeunRC}\left(q-(1-\gamma)\delta,\beta,2-\gamma,\delta;z\right) = P_{2}(z)e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_{1}}a_{0}+\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_{0}};L^{2},z\right),$$

$$(2.3.51)$$

Doing a Möbius transformation  $z \to 1-z$  we obtain the solutions around z = 1. Since this is a regular singularity the solution can again be written in terms of HeunRC. This amounts to sending  $\gamma \to \delta$ ,  $\delta \to \gamma$ ,  $\beta \to -\beta$ ,  $q \to q - \beta$ . The two solutions are therefore

$$\operatorname{HeunRC}(q - \beta, -\beta, \delta, \gamma; 1 - z),$$

$$(1 - z)^{1 - \delta} \operatorname{HeunRC}(q - \beta - (1 - \delta)\gamma, -\beta, 2 - \delta, \gamma; 1 - z).$$

$$(2.3.52)$$

Comparig with the conformal blocks we identify

$$\operatorname{HeunRC}(q - \beta, -\beta, \delta, \gamma; 1 - z) = P_2(z)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F} \int_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_0}a_{1-}\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_1}; -L^2, 1 - z\right), \\
(1 - z)^{1-\delta}\operatorname{HeunRC}\left(q - \beta - (1 - \delta)\gamma, -\beta, 2 - \delta, \gamma; 1 - z\right) = (2.3.53) \\
= P_2(z)e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1}F} \int_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F}\left(a^{a_0}a_{1+}\frac{a_{2,1}}{a_1}; -L^2, 1 - z\right).$$

The new behaviour arises for  $z \to \infty$ , where we write the solutions in terms of another function HeunRC<sub> $\infty$ </sub>:

$$e^{2i\sqrt{\beta z}} z^{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{\gamma + \delta}{2}} \operatorname{HeunRC}_{\infty}(q, \beta, \gamma, \delta; z^{-\frac{1}{2}})$$

$$e^{-2i\sqrt{\beta z}} z^{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{\gamma + \delta}{2}} \operatorname{HeunRC}_{\infty}(q, e^{2\pi i}\beta, \gamma, \delta; z^{-\frac{1}{2}}).$$

$$(2.3.54)$$

The function HeunRC<sub> $\infty$ </sub> has a simple asymptotic expansion around  $z = \infty$ :

Comparing with the conformal blocks we identify

$$e^{2i\sqrt{\beta z}} z^{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{\gamma + \delta}{2}} \operatorname{HeunRC}_{\infty}(q, \beta, \gamma, \delta; z^{-\frac{1}{2}}) = e^{\mp \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} P_{2}(z) L^{\frac{1}{2}}{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{E}^{(+)} \left( a_{2,1} \ a \ \frac{a_{1}}{a_{0}}; L^{2}, \frac{1}{L\sqrt{z}} \right)$$
$$e^{-2i\sqrt{\beta z}} z^{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{\gamma + \delta}{2}} \operatorname{HeunRC}_{\infty}(q, e^{2\pi i}\beta, \gamma, \delta; z^{-\frac{1}{2}}) = e^{\mp \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} P_{2}(z) L^{\frac{1}{2}}{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{E}^{(-)} \left( a_{2,1} \ a \ \frac{a_{1}}{a_{0}}; L^{2}, \frac{1}{L\sqrt{z}} \right).$$
(2.3.56)

Note that due to the nature of the rank 1/2 singularity at infinity, the expansion is in inverse powers of  $\sqrt{z}$ . The phase  $e^{\pm \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}}$  comes from the fact that near  $z = \infty$ 

$$P_2(z) \sim z^{-\gamma/2} (-z)^{-\delta/2} = e^{\pm \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} z^{-\gamma/2 - \delta/2} .$$
 (2.3.57)

The second solution around  $z = \infty$  can be found by using the manifest symmetry  $L \to -L$ of the BPZ equation which according to the dictionary gives the symmetry  $\beta \to e^{2\pi i}\beta$  of the RCHE in normal form.

#### Connection formulae

The connection formula between z = 0, 1 written in (2.2.127) for the semiclassical conformal blocks can now be restated as:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunRC}(q,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z) &= \frac{\Gamma(1-\delta)\Gamma(\gamma)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F+\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\delta}{2}+a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\delta}{2}-a(q)\right)} \\ + \frac{\Gamma(\delta-1)\Gamma(\gamma)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{0}}F-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2}+a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2}-a(q)\right)} (1-z)^{1-\delta} \\ \operatorname{HeunRC}\left(q-\beta-(1-\delta)\gamma,-\beta,2-\delta,\gamma;1-z\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.58)$$

where the quantities a(q) and F are computed as explained in Appendix 2.C. The connection formula between  $z = 1, \infty$  written in (2.2.128) reads

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{HeunRC}(q-\beta,-\beta,\delta,\gamma;1-z) &= \\ &= \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(\delta)\left(e^{i\pi}\beta\right)^{-\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)}e^{\pm\frac{i\pi\delta}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}}{2\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\gamma+\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)}\right)e^{2i\sqrt{\beta z}}z^{\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}}\operatorname{HeunRC}_{\infty}(q,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z^{-\frac{1}{2}}) + \\ &+ \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(\delta)\left(e^{-i\pi}\beta\right)^{-\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)}e^{\pm\frac{i\pi\delta}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_{1}}F-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}}{2\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\gamma+\delta}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+\delta-1}{2}-\sigma a(q)\right)}\right)e^{-2i\sqrt{\beta z}}z^{\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\gamma+\delta}{2}}\operatorname{HeunRC}_{\infty}(q,e^{2\pi i}\beta,\gamma,\delta;z^{-\frac{1}{2}}). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.59)$$

Here the phase ambiguity comes from (2.3.56), i.e. corresponds to the choice  $(-z)^{-\delta/2} = e^{\pm \frac{i\pi\delta}{2}} z^{-\delta/2}$ . A similar expression can be found connecting z = 0 and  $\infty$ .

# 2.3.4 The doubly confluent Heun equation

#### The dictionary

The doubly confluent Heun equation (DCHE) reads

$$\left(\frac{d^2}{dz^2} + \frac{\delta + \gamma z + z^2}{z^2}\frac{d}{dz} + \frac{\alpha z - q}{z^2}\right)w(z) = 0.$$
 (2.3.60)

Again putting the DCHE in its normal form via the substitution  $w(z) = \tilde{P}_2(z)\psi(z)$  with

$$\tilde{P}_2(z) = e^{\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\delta}{z} - z\right)} z^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}$$
(2.3.61)

we find the  $2^2 = 4$  different dictionaries with (2.2.147) corresponding to the  $\mathbb{Z}_2^2$  symmetries  $(m_i, L_i) \to (-m_i, -L_i)$  for i = 1, 2. For brevity we only write one of them, namely

$$L_{1} = 1,$$

$$L_{2} = \delta,$$

$$m_{1} = \frac{1}{2} (2\alpha - \gamma),$$

$$m_{2} = 1 - \frac{\gamma}{2},$$

$$u = \frac{1}{4} (-4q + 2\gamma - \gamma^{2} - 2\delta).$$
(2.3.62)

and the inverse dictionary is

$$\begin{aligned}
\alpha &= 1 + m_1 - m_2, \\
\delta &= L_2, \\
\gamma &= 2(1 - m_2), \\
q &= -\frac{1}{2} \left( L_2 + 2u + 2m_2(m_2 - 1) \right), \\
L_1 &= 1.
\end{aligned}$$
(2.3.63)

We denote the two solutions of the DCHE near the irregular singularity at zero as

HeunDC 
$$(q, \alpha, \gamma, \delta, z)$$
,  
 $e^{\frac{\delta}{z}} z^{2-\gamma}$ HeunDC  $(\delta + q + \gamma - 2, \alpha - \gamma + 2, \gamma, -\delta, z)$ , (2.3.64)

where HeunDC has the following asymptotic expansion around z = 0:

HeunDC 
$$(q, \alpha, \gamma, \delta, z) \sim 1 + \frac{q}{\delta}z + \frac{q(q-\gamma) - \alpha\delta}{2\delta^2}z^2 + \mathcal{O}(z^3)$$
. (2.3.65)

Comparing with the semiclassical block (2.2.146) we get

$$\text{HeunDC}\left(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,z\right) = \tilde{P}_{2}(z)L_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}-m_{2}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m_{2}}F}\left(z_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{2}^{a_{2,1}}m_{2-}a\ m_{1};L_{2},\frac{z}{L_{2}}\right)\right), \\ \text{HeunDC}\left(\delta+q+\gamma-2,\alpha-\gamma+2,\gamma,-\delta,z\right) = \tilde{P}_{2}(z)L_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}+m_{2}}e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m_{2}}F}\left(z_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{2}^{a_{2,1}}m_{2+}a\ m_{1};L_{2},\frac{z}{L_{2}}\right)\right).$$

$$(2.3.66)$$

The solutions near the irregular singularity at infinity are given by

$$z^{-\alpha} \text{HeunDC}\left(q - \alpha(\alpha + 1 - \gamma), \alpha, 2(\alpha + 1) - \gamma, \delta, -\frac{\delta}{z}\right),$$

$$e^{-z} z^{\alpha - \gamma} \text{HeunDC}\left(q + \delta + (\gamma - \alpha)(\alpha - 1), \gamma - \alpha, -2(\alpha - 1) + \gamma, -\delta, -\frac{\delta}{z}\right).$$
(2.3.67)

Comparing with the semiclassical block (2.2.149) we find

$$\begin{aligned} &\text{HeunDC}\left(q - \alpha(\alpha + 1 - \gamma), \alpha, 2(\alpha + 1) - \gamma, \delta, -\frac{\delta}{z}\right) = \tilde{P}_{2}(z)e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m_{1}}F}{}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{1}{}^{a_{2,1}}m_{1+}a m_{2}; L_{2}, \frac{1}{z}\right), \\ &\text{HeunDC}\left(q + \delta + (\gamma - \alpha)(\alpha - 1), \gamma - \alpha, -2(\alpha - 1) + \gamma, -\delta, -\frac{\delta}{z}\right) = \tilde{P}_{2}(z)e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m_{1}}F}{}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{1}\left(m_{1}{}^{a_{2,1}}m_{1-}a m_{2}; L_{2}, \frac{1}{z}\right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.68)$$

# Connection formulae

In this case the only connection formula is the one between zero and infinity. This can be obtained from equation (2.2.151) and reads

$$\begin{aligned} \text{HeunDC}\left(q,\alpha,\gamma,\delta,z\right) &= \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma\left(-2\sigma a\right)\Gamma\left(1-2\sigma a\right)\delta^{-\frac{1}{2}+\frac{\gamma}{2}+\sigma a}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\left(1-\frac{\gamma}{2}\right)-\sigma a\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{2\alpha-\gamma}{2}-\sigma a\right)}\right) \times \\ &\times e^{\frac{1}{2}\left(-\partial_{m_{1}}-\partial_{m_{2}}-\sigma\partial_{a}\right)F}z^{-\alpha}\text{HeunDC}\left(q-\alpha(\alpha+1-\gamma),\alpha,2(\alpha+1)-\gamma,\delta,-\frac{\delta}{z}\right) + \\ &+ \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma\left(-2\sigma a\right)\Gamma\left(1-2\sigma a\right)\delta^{-\frac{1}{2}+\frac{\gamma}{2}+\sigma a}e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1+\gamma}{2}-\alpha-\sigma a\right)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\left(1-\frac{\gamma}{2}\right)-\sigma a\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{2\alpha-\gamma}{2}-\sigma a\right)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{m_{1}}-\partial_{m_{2}}-\sigma\partial_{a}\right)F}\right) \times \\ &\times e^{-z}z^{\alpha-\gamma}\text{HeunDC}\left(q+\delta+(\gamma-\alpha)(\alpha-1),\gamma-\alpha,-2(\alpha-1)+\gamma,-\delta,-\frac{\delta}{z}\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.69)$$

# 2.3.5 The reduced doubly confluent Heun equation

#### The dictionary

Here we establish the dictionary between our results of section 2.2.5 on reduced doubly confluent conformal blocks and the reduced doubly confluent Heun equation (RDCHE) in the standard form, which reads

$$\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} - \frac{dw}{dz} + \frac{\beta z - q + \epsilon z^{-1}}{z^2} w = 0.$$
(2.3.70)

By defining  $w(z) = e^{z/2}\psi(z)$  we get rid of the first derivative and bring the equation to the normal form which is to be compared with the semiclassical BPZ equation (2.2.169). The resulting dictionary between the CFT parameters and the parameters of the RDCHE is

$$L_{1} = 1,$$

$$L_{2} = 2i\sqrt{\epsilon},$$

$$m = \beta,$$

$$u = -q.$$

$$(2.3.71)$$

The fact that  $L_1 = 1$  is of course consistent with the fact that it is a redundant parameter. Here

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda_2^2 \partial_{\Lambda_2^2} \log_1 \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu \, \alpha; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2 \right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L_1 L_2^2)$$
(2.3.72)

as in (2.2.169). This relation can then be inverted to find a in terms of the parameters of the RDCHE: we denote this by a(q). We can now write the solutions to the RDCHE in standard form and their relation to the conformal blocks by comparison. Near z = 0we denote the two linearly independent solutions to the RDCHE in standard form (2.3.70) by:

$$\frac{e^{2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\operatorname{HeunRDC}_{0}(q,\beta,\epsilon;\sqrt{z}),}{e^{-2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\operatorname{HeunRDC}_{0}(q,\beta,e^{2\pi i}\epsilon;\sqrt{z}).}$$
(2.3.73)

The two solutions are related by the manifest symmetry  $L_2 \rightarrow -L_2$  of the BPZ equation which according to the dictionary (2.3.71) gives the symmetry  $\epsilon \rightarrow e^{2\pi i}\epsilon$  of the RDCHE in normal form. The function HeunRDC<sub>0</sub> has the following asymptotic expansion around z = 0:

HeunRDC<sub>0</sub>
$$(q, \beta, \epsilon; \sqrt{z}) \sim 1 - \frac{\frac{3}{16} + q}{i\sqrt{\epsilon}}\sqrt{z} + \mathcal{O}(z)$$
. (2.3.74)

Note again that due to the presence of a rank 1/2 singularity, the expansion is in powers of  $\sqrt{z}$ . Comparing with the semiclassical conformal blocks in (2.2.5) we identify

$$e^{2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\text{HeunRDC}_{0}(q,\beta,\epsilon;\sqrt{z}) = e^{z/2}L_{2\,1}^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(+)}\left(m\,a\,a_{2,1};L_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_{2}}\right),$$

$$e^{-2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\text{HeunRDC}_{0}(q,\beta,e^{2\pi i}\epsilon;\sqrt{z}) = e^{z/2}L_{2\,1}^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(-)}\left(m\,a\,a_{2,1};L_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_{2}}\right).$$
(2.3.75)

For  $z \sim \infty$  instead we have the two solutions

$$z^{\beta} \operatorname{HeunRDC}_{\infty}(q, \beta, \epsilon; z^{-1}),$$

$$e^{z} z^{-\beta} \operatorname{HeunRDC}_{\infty}(q, -\beta, -\epsilon; -z^{-1}).$$
(2.3.76)

The function HeunRDC<sub> $\infty$ </sub> $(q, \beta, \epsilon; z^{-1})$  has the following asymptotic expansion around  $z = \infty$ :

HeunRDC<sub>$$\infty$$</sub> $(q, \beta, \epsilon; z^{-1}) \sim 1 + (q + \beta - \beta^2) z^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(z^{-2})$ . (2.3.77)

Comparing with the semiclassical conformal blocks we identify

$$z^{\beta} \text{HeunRDC}_{\infty}(q, \beta, \epsilon; z^{-1}) = e^{z/2} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F} {}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(m^{a_{2,1}} m_{-} a; L_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{z}\right),$$

$$e^{z} z^{-\beta} \text{HeunRDC}_{\infty}(q, -\beta, -\epsilon; -z^{-1}) = e^{z/2} e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F} {}_{1}\mathcal{D}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(m^{a_{2,1}} m_{+} a; L_{2}^{2}, \frac{1}{z}\right).$$
(2.3.78)

126

These solutions are related by the symmetry  $(m, L_1) \rightarrow (-m, -L_1)$  of the semiclassical BPZ equation. Notice that one can rescale the BPZ equation such that it only depends on the combination  $L_1z$  and the coefficient of the cubic pole is  $-L_1L_2^2/4$ . By setting  $L_1 = 1$  according to the dictionary with the RDCHE, the above symmetry descends to the symmetry  $(\beta, \epsilon, z) \rightarrow (-\beta, -\epsilon, -z)$  of the RDCHE in normal form. Furthermore, in the equation above

$$F = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ (\Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2)^{-\Delta_1} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mu \, \alpha; \Lambda_1 \Lambda_2^2 \right) \right]$$
(2.3.79)

as in (2.2.172).

# Connection formulae

The connection formula between z = 0 and  $\infty$  written in (2.2.175) for the semiclassical conformal blocks can now be restated as:

$$e^{2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\operatorname{HeunRDC}_{0}(q,\beta,\epsilon;\sqrt{z}) = \\ = \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\beta-\sigma a(q)\right)}\epsilon^{\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}e^{-i\pi\left(\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)\right)}e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1}{2}-\beta-\sigma a(q)\right)}\right)z^{\beta}\operatorname{HeunRDC}_{\infty}(q,\beta,\epsilon;z^{-1}) + \\ + \left(\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\beta-\sigma a(q)\right)}\epsilon^{\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}F-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}e^{-i\pi\left(\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)\right)}\right)e^{z}z^{-\beta}\operatorname{HeunRDC}_{\infty}(q,-\beta,-\epsilon;-z^{-1}),$$

$$(2.3.80)$$

where the quantities a(q) and F are computed as explained in Appendix 2.C.

# 2.3.6 The doubly reduced doubly confluent Heun equation

#### The dictionary

Here we establish the dictionary between our results of section 2.2.6 on doubly reduced doubly confluent conformal blocks and the corresponding Heun equation (DRDCHE) which reads

$$\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} + \frac{z - q + \epsilon z^{-1}}{z^2} w = 0.$$
(2.3.81)

This already takes the normal form of the semiclassical BPZ equation (2.2.189) and we immediately read off the dictionary:

$$L_1 = 2i,$$
  

$$L_2 = 2i\sqrt{\epsilon},$$
  

$$u = -q,$$
  
(2.3.82)

where

$$u = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \Lambda_2^2 \partial_{\Lambda_2^2} \log_{\frac{1}{2}} \mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \alpha; \Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2 \right) = \frac{1}{4} - a^2 + \mathcal{O}(L_1^2 L_2^2)$$
(2.3.83)

$$e^{2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;\sqrt{z}),$$

$$e^{-2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,e^{2\pi i}\epsilon;\sqrt{z}).$$
(2.3.84)

The DRDC Heun function has a simple asymptotic expansion around z = 0:

HeunDRDC
$$(q, \epsilon; \sqrt{z}) \sim 1 - \frac{\frac{3}{16} + q}{i\sqrt{\epsilon}}\sqrt{z} + \mathcal{O}(z)$$
. (2.3.85)

Note that in the expansion, z appears with a square-root, and therefore mapping  $z \to e^{2\pi i} z$  gives another solution. Comparing with the semiclassical conformal blocks in (2.2.6), we identify

$$e^{2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;\sqrt{z}) = zL_{2}^{1/2}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(+)}\left(a\,a_{2,1};-4L_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_{2}}\right),$$

$$e^{-2i\sqrt{\epsilon/z}}z^{3/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,e^{2\pi i}\epsilon;\sqrt{z}) = zL_{2}^{1/2}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(-)}\left(a\,a_{2,1};-4L_{2}^{2},\frac{\sqrt{z}}{L_{2}}\right).$$
(2.3.86)

Around  $z = \infty$  we have the two linearly independent solutions

$$e^{2i\sqrt{z}}z^{1/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;(\epsilon z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}),$$

$$e^{-2i\sqrt{z}}z^{1/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;(e^{2\pi i}\epsilon z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}),$$
(2.3.87)

which we identify with the conformal blocks

$$e^{2i\sqrt{z}}z^{1/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;(\epsilon z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}) = \sqrt{2i_{\frac{1}{2}}}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(+)}\left(a_{2,1}a;-4L_{2}^{2},\frac{1}{2i\sqrt{z}}\right),$$

$$e^{-2i\sqrt{z}}z^{1/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;(e^{2\pi i}\epsilon z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}) = \sqrt{2i_{\frac{1}{2}}}\mathcal{E}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{(-)}\left(a_{2,1}a;-4L_{2}^{2},\frac{1}{2i\sqrt{z}}\right).$$
(2.3.88)

#### Connection formulae

The connection formula (2.2.195) from 0 to  $\infty$  in terms of the DRDC Heun functions is

$$e^{2i\sqrt{\epsilon}/z}z^{3/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;\sqrt{z}) = \\ = \left(\frac{-i}{2\pi}\sum_{\sigma=\pm}\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\epsilon^{\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)}e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}\right)e^{2i\sqrt{z}}z^{1/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;(\epsilon z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}) + \\ + \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\sum_{\sigma=\pm}\Gamma(1-2\sigma a(q))\Gamma(-2\sigma a(q))\epsilon^{\frac{1}{4}+\sigma a(q)}e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}e^{-2\pi i\sigma a(q)}\right)e^{-2i\sqrt{z}}z^{1/4}\text{HeunDRDC}(q,\epsilon;(e^{2\pi i}\epsilon z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}),$$

$$(2.3.89)$$

where the quantities a(q) and F are computed as explained in Appendix 2.C.

# Appendix

# 2.A DOZZ factors and irregular generalizations

## 2.A.1 Regular case

We use conventions where  $\Delta = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \alpha^2$ , i.e. physical range of the momentum is  $\alpha \in i\mathbb{R}^+$ . The formula proposed by DOZZ for the Liouville three-point function is then [110, 111]

$$= \frac{\langle \Delta_1 | V_2(1) | \Delta_3 \rangle = C_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3} =}{\Upsilon_b'(0) \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_1) \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_2) \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_3)} \frac{\Upsilon_b'(0) \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_1) \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_2) \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_3)}{(2.A.1)}$$

We neglect the dependence on the cosmological constant since its value is arbitrary and is not needed for the following discussion. We will not define the special function  $\Upsilon_b$  and state all its remarkable properties, instead we refer to [122]. The most important property for us is the functional relation

$$\Upsilon_b(x+b) = \gamma(bx)b^{1-2bx}\Upsilon_b(x), \quad \gamma(x) = \frac{\Gamma(x)}{\Gamma(1-x)}.$$
(2.A.2)

The normalization of the states is obtained from the three-point function by taking the operator in the middle to be the identity operator, i.e. with  $\Delta = 0$  which in our conventions means  $\alpha = -\frac{Q}{2}$ . One finds

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} C_{\alpha_1, -\frac{Q}{2} + \epsilon, \alpha_2} = 2\pi \delta(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2) G_{\alpha_1}, \qquad (2.A.3)$$

with the two-point function  $G_{\alpha}$  given by

$$G_{\alpha} = \frac{\Upsilon_b(2\alpha + Q)}{\Upsilon_b(2\alpha)} \,. \tag{2.A.4}$$

We use it to raise and lower indices: For example, OPE coefficients are given by

$$C^{\alpha_1}_{\alpha_2\alpha_3} = G^{-1}_{\alpha_1} C_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3} \,. \tag{2.A.5}$$

We will be interested in the case where one of the fields is the degenerate field  $\Phi_{2,1}$  with  $\alpha_{2,1} = -\frac{2b+b^{-1}}{2}$ , corresponding to  $\Delta_{2,1} = -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3b^2}{4}$ . The fusion rules in this case impose that only two Verma modules appear in the OPE of this field with a primary:

$$\Phi_{2,1}(z)|\Delta\rangle = \sum_{\theta=\pm} z^{\frac{bQ}{2} + \theta b\alpha} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha} |\Delta_{\theta}\rangle \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(z)\right) , \qquad (2.A.6)$$

with

$$\alpha_{\pm} = \alpha \pm \left(-\frac{b}{2}\right), \quad \Delta_{\pm} = \Delta_{\alpha_{\pm}} = \Delta \pm b\alpha - \frac{b^2}{4}.$$
(2.A.7)

Since the degenerate field is not in the physical spectrum, i.e.  $\alpha_{2,1} \notin i\mathbb{R}^+$ , the OPE coefficients  $C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha}$  have to be computed by analytic continuation of the DOZZ formula. This is tricky and is most easily performed by considering a four-point function, where the intermediate momentum is integrated over. During the analytic continuation one picks up residues of poles that cross the integration contour, and this in fact automatically imposes the fusion rules. In any case, the result is [123]:

$$C^{\alpha_{+}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha} = 1, \quad C^{\alpha_{-}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha} = b^{2bQ} \frac{\gamma(2b\alpha)}{\gamma(bQ+2b\alpha)}.$$
 (2.A.8)

#### 2.A.2 Rank 1

In section 2.1.2 we introduced the rank 1 irregular state, which can be given as a confluence limit of primary operators (here we consider only the chiral half):

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \propto \lim_{\eta \to \infty} t^{\Delta_t - \Delta} \langle \Delta | V_t(t)$$
 (2.A.9)

with

$$\Delta = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \alpha^2, \quad \alpha = -\frac{\eta + \mu}{2}, \quad \Delta_t = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \alpha_t^2, \quad \alpha_t = \frac{\eta - \mu}{2}, \quad t = \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}.$$
 (2.A.10)

This reproduces the desired Ward identities for the irregular state. To determine its normalization, we perform the collision limit on a (chiral+antichiral) three-point function, keeping track of the DOZZ factors. Although irrelevant for the Ward identities, the signs of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_t$ in (2.A.10) are crucial now. We find

$$\lim_{\eta \to \infty} (t\bar{t})^{\Delta_t - \Delta} \langle \Delta | V_t(t,\bar{t}) | \Delta_0 \rangle = (\Lambda \bar{\Lambda})^{\Delta_0} \lim_{\eta \to \infty} \eta^{-2\Delta_0} C_{-\frac{\eta + \mu}{2}, \frac{\eta - \mu}{2}, \alpha_0} .$$
(2.A.11)

Note that consistently with the main text, we consider the chiral and antichiral parts formally as independent and distinguish them by letting the "complex conjugation" formally act only on the coordinates  $t, \Lambda$  and not on the momenta  $\alpha_0, \mu, \eta$ . The asymptotic behaviour of the  $\Upsilon_b$  function, valid for large imaginary x is:

$$\log \Upsilon_b \left(\frac{Q}{2} + x\right) = -\frac{1}{2} \Delta_x \log \Delta_x + \frac{1+Q^2}{12} \log \Delta_x + \frac{3}{2} \Delta_x + \mathcal{O}(x^0).$$
(2.A.12)

We therefore find the following asymptotic behaviour of the DOZZ factor:

$$C_{-\frac{\eta+\mu}{2},\frac{\eta-\mu}{2},\alpha_0} \sim (-\eta^2)^{\Delta_0-\mu(Q-\mu)} \frac{\Upsilon_b(Q+2\alpha_0)}{\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu+\alpha_0)\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu-\alpha_0)}.$$
 (2.A.13)

This suggests that we get a finite limit in (320) if we substract the factor of  $(-\eta^2)^{-\mu(Q-\mu)}$  by hand. This can also be achieved by changing the power of t that we substract in the definition (2.A.9), but this would change the  $L_0$ -action on the irregular state, which we avoid. It is however precisely what is done in [47]. In any case, we find the following normalization of the irregular state:

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Delta_0 \rangle = \lim_{\eta \to \infty} (-\eta^2)^{\mu(Q-\mu)} |t|^{2\Delta_t - 2\Delta} \langle \Delta | V_t(t,\bar{t}) | \Delta_0 \rangle = |\Lambda|^{2\Delta_0} C_{\mu\alpha_0} , \qquad (2.A.14)$$

with normalization function

$$C_{\mu\alpha} = \frac{e^{-i\pi\Delta}\Upsilon_b(Q+2\alpha)}{\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu+\alpha)\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu-\alpha)}.$$
(2.A.15)

The choice of the branch for the phase is consistent with the result found in 2.B.1. In the text we also consider a different kind of collision limit, which reproduces the OPE between a primary operator and the irregular state. Performing this collision limit while keeping track of the DOZZ factors, we can extract the corresponding irregular OPE coefficient. In particular, consider the following correlation function, which we expand for large  $\Lambda$ :

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \int d\mu' B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha_1} C_{\mu'\alpha_0} \left| {}_1 \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_1} \mu' \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda} \right) \right|^2.$$
(2.A.16)

Here  $B^{\mu'}_{\mu\alpha_1}$  is the OPE coefficient corresponding to the OPE between the irregular state and  $V_1, C_{\mu'\alpha_0}$  is the normalization function defined above and  ${}_1\mathfrak{D}$  is just the corresponding conformal block. Following [104], we can express an irregular three-point function equivalently as a limit of a regular four-point function:

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | V_1(1) | \Delta_0 \rangle = \lim_{\eta \to \infty} (-\eta^2)^{\mu(Q-\mu)} \int d\mu' C^{\alpha(\eta)}_{\alpha_{\infty}(\eta),\alpha_1} C_{\alpha(\eta),\alpha_t(\eta),\alpha_0} \times \\ \times \left| e^{-(\mu'-\mu)\Lambda} \left( -\frac{\Lambda}{\eta} \right)^{\Delta_1 - (\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} \left( \frac{\Lambda}{\eta} \right)^{\Delta_{\infty}(\eta) - \Delta_t(\eta)} \left( 1 - \frac{\eta}{\Lambda} \right)^{\Delta_1 - (\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} \mathfrak{F} \left( \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_{\infty}(\eta)} \alpha(\eta) \frac{\alpha_t(\eta)}{\alpha_0}; \frac{\eta}{\Lambda} \right) \right|^2,$$

$$(2.A.17)$$

with

$$\alpha_{\infty}(\eta) = -\frac{\eta + \mu}{2}, \quad \alpha_t(\eta) = \frac{\eta - \mu}{2}, \quad \alpha(\eta) = -\frac{\eta - \mu}{2} - \mu'.$$
(2.A.18)

Several comments are in order: First, notice that in line with the definition of the irregular state we have multiplied by the same factors of  $(-\eta^2)^{\mu(Q-\mu)}$  and  $(\Lambda\bar{\Lambda}/\eta^2)^{\Delta_{\infty}(\eta)-\Delta_t(\eta)}$  as in

(2.A.14). Second, the remaining factors which we have put by hand are equal to 1 in the limit:

$$\lim_{\eta \to \infty} e^{-(\mu'-\mu)\Lambda} \left(-\frac{\Lambda}{\eta}\right)^{\Delta_1 - (\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} \left(1 - \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}\right)^{\Delta_1 - (\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} = \lim_{\eta \to \infty} e^{-(\mu'-\mu)\Lambda} \left(1 - \frac{\Lambda}{\eta}\right)^{\Delta_1 - (\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} = 1.$$
(2.A.19)

Therefore all the factors that we put by hand are the same as if we had computed (2.A.17) by doing the OPE between  $V_1$  and  $|\Delta_0\rangle$  instead of between  $\langle \mu, \Lambda |$  and  $V_1$ . This ensures crossing symmetry of the irregular three-point function. Furthermore, the factors inside the modulus square in the limit give the irregular conformal block up to an overall divergence, i.e.:

$$e^{-(\mu'-\mu)\Lambda} \left(-\frac{\Lambda}{\eta}\right)^{\Delta_1 - (\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\eta}\right)^{\Delta_\infty(\eta) - \Delta_t(\eta)} \left(1 - \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}\right)^{\Delta_1 - (\mu'-\mu)(\eta-\mu')} \mathfrak{F}\left(\frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_\infty(\eta)} \alpha(\eta) \frac{\alpha_t(\eta)}{\alpha_0}; \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}\right) \longrightarrow$$
$$\longrightarrow \eta^{-\Delta_0 - \Delta_1 - 2\mu'(\mu'-\mu)} \mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_1} \mu' \alpha_0; \frac{1}{\Lambda}\right), \quad \text{as } \eta \to \infty.$$
$$(2.A.20)$$

This leaves us with

$$\lim_{\eta \to \infty} (-\eta^2)^{\mu(Q-\mu)} (\eta^2)^{-\Delta_0 - \Delta_1 - 2\mu'(\mu' - \mu)} C^{\alpha(\eta)}_{\alpha_{\infty}(\eta), \alpha_1} C_{\alpha(\eta), \alpha_t(\eta), \alpha_0} = \\
= \frac{e^{-i\pi(\Delta_1 + 2\mu'(\mu' - \mu))} \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_1)}{\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2} + \mu' - \mu - \alpha_1) \Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2} + \mu' - \mu + \alpha_1)} \frac{e^{-i\pi\Delta_0} \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha_0)}{\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2} + \mu' - \alpha_0)}, \quad (2.A.21)$$

which remarkably has a finite limit. We recognize  $C_{\mu'\alpha_0}$  and therefore we can identify

$$B_{\mu\alpha_{1}}^{\mu'} = \frac{e^{-i\pi(\Delta_{1}+2\mu'(\mu'-\mu))}\Upsilon_{b}(Q+2\alpha_{1})}{\Upsilon_{b}(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu'-\mu-\alpha_{1})\Upsilon_{b}(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu'-\mu+\alpha_{1})}.$$
 (2.A.22)

Specializing this formula to the case when  $V_1$  is a degenerate field is again tricky and involves analytic continuation. It is simpler to perform the collision limit again. The fusion rules now imply that  $\alpha(\eta) = \alpha_{\infty}(\eta) \pm (-b/2)$ , i.e.  $\mu' = \mu_{\pm} = \mu \pm (-b/2)$ . Performing the collision limit using the degenerate OPE coefficients 2.A.8 one finds

$$B^{\mu_{\theta}}_{\mu\alpha_{2,1}} = e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta b\mu + \frac{b^2}{4}\right)}, \qquad (2.A.23)$$

in agreement with the result (2.B.17).

#### 2.A.3 Rank 1/2

Unfortunately, for the rank 1/2 state the situation is not as nice. It is clear that if we decouple another mass, the normalization function  $C_{\mu\alpha}$  will diverge badly, since there are

#### 2.B. IRREGULAR OPES

no  $\Upsilon_b$ -functions in the numerator to compensate the divergence of the denominator. Indeed, it behaves as

$$C_{\mu\alpha} = \frac{e^{-i\pi\Delta}\Upsilon_b(Q+2\alpha)}{\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu+\alpha)\Upsilon_b(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu-\alpha)} \to \text{const.} \times e^{3\mu^2}(-\mu^2)^{-\frac{1+Q^2}{6}-\mu^2+\Delta}e^{-i\pi\Delta}\Upsilon_b(Q+2\alpha) \,, \quad \text{as } \mu \to \infty \,.$$

$$(2.A.24)$$

The constant comes from the  $\mathcal{O}(x^0)$  term in the expansion of the  $\Upsilon_b$ -function (2.A.12). We neglect it in the following/consider it substracted by hand. This suggests we define

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Delta \rangle = |\Lambda^2|^{2\Delta} C_{\alpha} = \lim_{\mu \to \infty} e^{-3\mu^2} (-\mu^2)^{\frac{1+Q^2}{6} + \mu^2} \langle -\frac{\Lambda^2}{4\mu} | \Delta \rangle = |\Lambda^2|^{2\Delta} 2^{-4\Delta} e^{-2\pi i \Delta} \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha) ,$$

$$(2.A.25)$$

where the factor of  $-\frac{1}{4}$  is needed to reproduce the Ward identity  $\langle \Lambda^2 | L_1 = -\frac{\Lambda^2}{4} \langle \Lambda^2 |$ . This gives the normalization function for the rank 1/2 state as

$$C_{\alpha} = 2^{-4\Delta} e^{-2\pi i \Delta} \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha), \qquad (2.A.26)$$

in agreement with the result (2.B.34). Since no collision limit is known that reproduces the OPE between a primary and the rank 1/2 state, we cannot determine the corresponding OPE coefficient in the way we did in the previous section for the rank 1 state. For the case of a degenerate field however, we determine the OPE coefficient in Appendix 2.B.2.

# 2.B Irregular OPEs

## 2.B.1 Rank 1

The form of the (chiral) OPE of a general vertex operator with the irregular state introduced in section 2.1.2 is fixed by the Ward identities to be:

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | V^{\Delta}_{\mu,\mu'}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} z^{2\mu'(\mu'-\mu)-k} \Lambda^{\Delta+2\mu'(\mu'-\mu)} e^{-(\mu'-\mu)\Lambda z} \langle \mu', \Lambda; k | .$$
(2.B.1)

Here  $V^{\Delta}_{\mu,\mu'}(z)$  is a vertex operator of weight  $\Delta$  which maps from the Whittaker module specified by  $(\mu, \Lambda)$ , to the module specified by  $(\mu', \Lambda)$ . Furthermore  $\langle \mu', \Lambda; k \rangle$  are the ("generalized") descendants of the irregular state. They take the form

$$\langle \mu', \Lambda; k \rangle = \sum c_{ijY} \Lambda^{-i} \partial_{\Lambda}^{j} \langle \mu', \Lambda | L_Y, \qquad (2.B.2)$$

where  $c_{ijY}$  are coefficients fixed by the Ward identities and the sum runs over  $i, j \ge 0$  and all Young tableaux Y such that i + j + |Y| = k. Furthermore we normalize  $\langle \mu', \Lambda; 0 | \equiv \langle \mu', \Lambda |$ . We then write the full (chiral+antichiral) OPE between the irregular state and a degenerate field as

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) = \sum_{\theta = \pm} B^{\mu_{\theta}}_{\mu, \alpha_{2,1}} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} e^{\theta b \Lambda z/2} \Lambda^{-\theta b \mu + \Delta_{2,1} + \frac{b^2}{2}} z^{-\theta b \mu + \frac{b^2}{2} - k} \right|^2 \langle \mu_{\theta}, \Lambda; k, \bar{k} |, \qquad (2.B.3)$$

where  $B^{\mu_{\theta}}_{\mu,\alpha_{2,1}}$  are the corresponding irregular OPE coefficients. We have anticipated the fact that for the OPE with the degenerate field  $\mu' = m_{\pm} = \mu \pm \frac{-b}{2}$  as will be shown later from the BPZ equation. Furthermore we now have both chiral and antichiral descendants which we label by k and  $\bar{k}$ , respectively.

We want to determine the irregular OPE coefficients B and the normalization function C introduced in (2.1.12). To this end consider the correlation function

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle$$
. (2.B.4)

We can decompose it into irregular conformal blocks doing the OPE left or right as

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle = \sum_{\theta=\pm} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha} C_{\mu\alpha_{\theta}} \left| {}_{1} \mathfrak{F} \left( \mu \, \alpha_{\theta} \, \frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha}; \Lambda z \right) \right|^{2} = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} B^{\mu_{\theta'}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\mu} C_{\mu_{\theta'}\alpha} \left| {}_{1} \mathfrak{D} \left( \mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \, \mu_{\theta'} \, \alpha; \frac{1}{\Lambda z} \right) \right|^{2}.$$

$$(2.B.5)$$

Here  $C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha}$  is just the usual (regular) OPE coefficient given in terms of the DOZZ formula, *B* is the irregular OPE coefficient to be determined, and  $C_{\mu\alpha}$  is the normalization function of the irregular state, to be determined also. It is defined by

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Delta \rangle = |\Lambda|^{2\Delta} C_{\mu\alpha} \,.$$
 (2.B.6)

To determine B and C we use the BPZ equation

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\Delta}{z^2} + \frac{\mu\Lambda}{z} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4}\right)\langle\mu,\Lambda|\Phi(z)|\Delta\rangle = 0.$$
(2.B.7)

This equation can be solved exactly and has the two solutions  $z^{\frac{b^2}{2}}M_{b\mu,\pm b\alpha}(b\Lambda z)$ , where M denotes the Whittaker function. It has a simple expansion around  $z \sim 0$ :

$$M_{b\mu,b\alpha}(b\Lambda z) = (b\Lambda z)^{\frac{1}{2}+b\alpha} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(b\Lambda z)\right) .$$
(2.B.8)

Comparing this expansion with the leading term in the OPE between  $\Phi(z)$  and  $|\Delta\rangle$  we can identify

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\,\alpha_{\theta}\,\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha};\Lambda z\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta_{\theta}} z^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}}(b\Lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta b\alpha} M_{b\mu,\theta b\alpha}(b\Lambda z)\,.$$
(2.B.9)

On the other hand, there exist two other solutions to the BPZ equation which have a simple expansion around  $z \sim \infty$ , namely the Whittaker W functions  $W_{\pm b\mu,b\alpha}(\pm b\Lambda z)$ . They have an asymptotic expansion at  $\infty$  given by

$$W_{b\mu,b\alpha}(b\Lambda z) \sim e^{-b\Lambda z/2} (b\Lambda z)^{b\mu} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}((b\Lambda z)^{-1})\right), \qquad (2.B.10)$$

valid in the Stokes sector  $|\arg(b\Lambda z)| < \frac{3\pi}{2}$ . An important fact is that this function is invariant under  $\alpha \to -\alpha$ . We see that the expansion of the Whittaker W function (times

134

#### 2.B. IRREGULAR OPES

the factor  $z^{b^2/2}$ ) has exactly the form of the OPE between the irregular state and the degenerate field, with

$$\mu' = \mu_{\pm} = \mu \pm \left(-\frac{b}{2}\right)$$
 (2.B.11)

(Note that with this convention,  $\mu_{\pm}$  corresponds to  $W_{\pm b\mu,b\alpha}(\pm b\Lambda z)$ . This may seem confusing but we like to keep the expression  $\mu_{\pm}$  analogous to the fusion rules with a regular state which give  $\alpha_{\pm} = \alpha \pm \frac{-b}{2}$ ).

Comparing the expansion of the W function with the irregular OPE (2.B.3), we can identify

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{+}\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta+\Delta_{2,1}}e^{-i\pi b\mu}b^{b\mu}(\Lambda z)^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}}W_{-b\mu,b\alpha}(e^{-i\pi}b\Lambda z),$$

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{-}\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta+\Delta_{2,1}}b^{-b\mu}(\Lambda z)^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}}W_{b\mu,b\alpha}(b\Lambda z).$$

$$(2.B.12)$$

For simplicity we focus on the branch specified by  $-\Lambda = e^{-i\pi}\Lambda$  and use the asymptotic expansion (2.B.10) for both  $b\Lambda z$  and  $e^{-i\pi}b\Lambda z \to \infty$ . This is valid for  $-\frac{\pi}{2} < \arg(b\Lambda z) < \frac{3\pi}{2}$ . The modulus squared has to be understood as acting by sending  $\Lambda z \to \bar{\Lambda}\bar{z}$  and correspondingly  $e^{-i\pi}\Lambda z \to e^{+i\pi}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{z}$ . Since we have assumed  $-\frac{\pi}{2} < \arg(b\Lambda z) < \frac{3\pi}{2}$ , we also have  $-\frac{\pi}{2} < \arg(e^{i\pi}b\bar{\Lambda}\bar{z}) < \frac{3\pi}{2}$ , so all the asymptotic expansions are in their domain of validity. Similar expressions hold in the other Stokes sectors.

We can now restate the crossing symmetry condition (2.B.5) in terms of Whittaker functions and use the known connection formulae for them (see https://dlmf.nist.gov/13.14) to determine the normalization function C and the OPE coefficient B. We have

$$M_{\kappa,\mu}(z) = \frac{\Gamma(1+2\mu)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\kappa+\mu\right)} e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1}{2}-\kappa+\mu\right)} W_{\kappa,\mu}(z) + \frac{\Gamma(1+2\mu)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\kappa+\mu\right)} e^{-i\pi\kappa} W_{-\kappa,\mu}(e^{-i\pi}z) \,. \tag{2.B.13}$$

Plugging this into (2.B.5) using the identifications of the conformal blocks with the Whittaker functions we obtain the condition

$$\langle \mu, \Lambda | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle = |\Lambda|^{2\Delta + 2\Delta_{2,1} + b^{2}} \sum_{\theta = \pm} b^{-1 - 2\theta b \alpha} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1,\alpha}} C_{\mu \alpha_{\theta}} \Gamma(1 + 2\theta b \alpha)^{2} \times \times \left| \frac{e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1}{2} - b\mu + \theta b \alpha\right)}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + b\mu + \theta b \alpha\right)} z^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}} W_{b\mu,b\alpha}(b\Lambda z) + \frac{e^{-i\pi b\mu}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} - b\mu + \theta b \alpha\right)} z^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}} W_{-b\mu,b\alpha}(e^{-i\pi}b\Lambda z) \right|^{2} = = |\Lambda|^{2\Delta + 2\Delta_{2,1} + b^{2}} B^{\mu_{+}}_{\alpha_{2,1,\mu}} C_{\mu_{+\alpha}} \left| e^{-i\pi b\mu} b^{b\mu} z^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}} W_{-b\mu,b\alpha}(e^{-i\pi}b\Lambda z) \right|^{2} + + |\Lambda|^{2\Delta + 2\Delta_{2,1} + b^{2}} B^{\mu_{-}}_{\alpha_{2,1,\mu}} C_{\mu_{-,\alpha}} \left| b^{-b\mu} z^{\frac{b^{2}}{2}} W_{b\mu,b\alpha}(b\Lambda z) \right|^{2} ,$$

$$(2.B.14)$$

where we have used the fact that  $W_{\kappa,-\mu}(z) = W_{\kappa,\mu}(z)$ . Using the expression (2.A.8) for the coefficients  $C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha}$ , the cancellation of the cross-terms in the modulus squared gives the following functional equation for  $C_{\mu\alpha}$ :

$$\frac{C_{\mu\alpha_{+}}}{C_{\mu\alpha_{-}}} = e^{-2\pi i b\alpha} b^{2bQ+4b\alpha} \frac{\gamma(-2b\alpha)\gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + b\mu + b\alpha\right)}{\gamma(bQ+2b\alpha)\gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + b\mu - b\alpha\right)}, \qquad (2.B.15)$$

which is solved in terms of the usual  $\Upsilon_b$ -function:

$$C_{\mu\alpha} = \frac{e^{-i\pi\Delta}\Upsilon_b(Q+2\alpha)}{\Upsilon_b\left(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu+\alpha\right)\Upsilon_b\left(\frac{Q}{2}+\mu-\alpha\right)},$$
(2.B.16)

up to normalization and a periodic function of  $\alpha$  with period b. We see however that the minimal choice is consistent with the result obtained by the collision limit in 2.A.2. Once we know the expression for  $C_{\mu\alpha}$ , we can compute the irregular OPE coefficients  $B^{\mu\pm}_{\alpha_{2,1},\mu}$  from the diagonal terms in (2.B.14). The result is

$$B^{\mu_{\pm}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\mu} = e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1}{2} \pm b\mu + \frac{b^2}{4}\right)}.$$
 (2.B.17)

Again, we find that this is in agreement with the result found by the collision limit in 2.A.2. For completeness, let us write the connection formula for the conformal blocks  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{D}$ , which solves the crossing symmetry constraint (2.B.5). Using the identification of the conformal blocks with the Whittaker functions with the correct prefactors we find

$$b^{\theta b \alpha}{}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu \,\alpha_{\theta} \,\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha}; \Lambda z\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta' b \mu} \mathcal{N}_{\theta \theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu){}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}} \,\mu_{\theta'} \,\alpha; \frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) \,, \qquad (2.B.18)$$

with irregular connection coefficients

$$\mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha, b\mu) = \frac{\Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+\theta b\alpha-\theta' b\mu\right)} e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}-b\mu+\theta b\alpha\right)}.$$
 (2.B.19)

The inverse relation is

$$b^{-\frac{1}{2}-\theta b\mu}{}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{2,1}}\mu_{\theta}\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{\theta' b\alpha}\mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}^{-1}(b\mu,b\alpha){}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\alpha_{\theta'}\frac{\alpha_{2,1}}{\alpha};\Lambda z\right),\qquad(2.B.20)$$

with

$$\mathcal{N}_{\theta\theta'}^{-1}(b\mu,b\alpha) = \frac{\Gamma(-2\theta'b\alpha)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta b\mu - \theta'b\alpha\right)} e^{i\pi\left(\frac{1+\theta}{2}\right)\left(-\frac{1}{2} - b\mu - \theta'b\alpha\right)} .$$
 (2.B.21)

As a final remark, note that the Whittaker W-functions have a non-trivial monodromy around  $\infty$ . However, since for the correlator we considered, the monodromy around 0 and

 $\infty$  is the same, and by construction we have no monodromy around 0, the combination of W-functions appearing in the correlator expanded for large  $\Lambda z$  is precisely such that the monodromy cancels. This can be checked also purely locally by carefully using the asymptotic expansions of the W-functions and its Stokes sectors. In particular, any other correlator involving this irregular state will have the same asymptotic behaviour and thus the normalization function  $C_{\mu\alpha}$  ensures also the absence of monodromies for any other correlator.

#### 2.B.2 Rank 1/2

Let us repeat the same arguments for the rank 1/2 irregular state introduced in section 2.1.3. The (chiral) OPE between the irregular state and the degenerate field is fixed by the Ward identities to be:

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi_{\Lambda,\pm}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\Lambda^2)^{-\frac{1}{4} - \frac{b^2}{4}} z^{\frac{1}{4} + \frac{b^2}{2} - \frac{k}{2}} e^{\pm b\Lambda\sqrt{z}} \langle \Lambda^2; \frac{k}{2} | .$$
(2.B.22)

Here  $\langle \Lambda^2; \frac{k}{2} \rangle$  are the ("generalized") descendants of the irregular state. They take the form

$$\langle \Lambda^2; \frac{k}{2} | = \sum c_{ijY} \Lambda^{-i} \partial^j_{\Lambda} \langle \Lambda^2 | L_Y , \qquad (2.B.23)$$

where  $c_{ijY}$  are coefficients fixed by the Ward identities and the sum runs over  $i, j \ge 0$ and all Young tableaux Y such that i + j + 2|Y| = k. In particular, note that only the integer descendants (i.e.  $k \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ) can contain Virasoro generators  $L_Y$ . Furthermore we normalize  $\langle \Lambda^2; 0 \rangle \equiv \langle \Lambda^2 \rangle$ . Since both z-behaviours in (2.B.22) given by  $\pm$  live in the same Bessel module specified by  $\Lambda$ , there is no canonical way of choosing a basis of solutions, in contrast to the rank 1 case. This ambiguity does not affect the physical correlator, since we have to sum over both solutions with the corresponding OPE coefficients. Changing the basis of conformal blocks changes the OPE coefficients in a way that the physical correlator is invariant. Consider the following correlation function involving the rank 1/2 state:

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle$$
. (2.B.24)

We can decompose it into conformal blocks by doing the OPE left and right:

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Phi(z) | \Delta \rangle = \sum_{\theta=\pm} C^{\alpha_{\theta}}_{\alpha_{2,1},\alpha} C_{\alpha_{\theta}} \left| \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{F} \left( \alpha_{\theta} \, \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha; \, \Lambda \sqrt{z} \right) \right|^2 = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} B_{\alpha_{2,1}} C_{\alpha} \left| \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{E}^{(\theta')} \left( \alpha_{2,1} \, \alpha; \frac{1}{\Lambda \sqrt{z}} \right) \right|^2.$$

$$(2.B.25)$$

Here  $C_{\alpha}$  is the normalization function of the irregular state, defined by

$$\langle \Lambda^2 | \Delta \rangle = |\Lambda^2|^{2\Delta} C_{\alpha} \,, \tag{2.B.26}$$

which is to be determined. We also want to determine the irregular OPE coefficient  $B_{\alpha_{2,1}}$ . To do so, consider the BPZ equation that the correlator obeys:

$$\left(b^{-2}\partial_z^2 - \frac{1}{z}\partial_z + \frac{\Delta}{z^2} - \frac{\Lambda^2}{4z}\right)\langle\Lambda^2|\Phi(z)|\Delta\rangle = 0.$$
(2.B.27)

Solving this differential equation one identifies the conformal block corresponding to the expansion near 0 with a modified Bessel function:

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\,\Lambda\sqrt{z}\right) = \Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha)\Lambda^{2\Delta_{\theta}}\left(\frac{b\Lambda}{2}\right)^{-2\theta b\alpha}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}}I_{2\theta b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z})\,.\tag{2.B.28}$$

The prefactors are fixed by looking at the OPE between  $\Phi$  and  $|\Delta\rangle$  and using the expansion of the Bessel function:

$$I_{2\theta b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}) = \frac{(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}/2)^{2\theta b\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+2\theta b\alpha)} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z})\right) .$$
(2.B.29)

On the other hand there are two other solutions to the BPZ equation given by the modified Bessel functions of the second kind  $K_{2b\alpha}(\pm b\Lambda\sqrt{z})$ . They have a nice behaviour at  $\infty$ , given by the asymptotic formula

$$K_{2b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}) \sim \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2b\Lambda\sqrt{z}}} e^{-b\Lambda\sqrt{z}} (1 + \mathcal{O}((b\Lambda\sqrt{z})^{-1})).$$
 (2.B.30)

Furthermore  $K_{2b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}) = K_{-2b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z})$ . This expansion has precisely the form of the OPE between the irregular state and the degenerate field (2.B.22). We can therefore identify the necessary prefactors and defile the irregular conformal blocks for  $z \sim \infty$ :

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(+)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) = \sqrt{\frac{2b}{\pi}}e^{-\frac{i\pi}{2}}(\Lambda^{2})^{\Delta-\frac{b^{2}}{4}}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}}K_{2b\alpha}(e^{-i\pi}b\Lambda\sqrt{z}),$$

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(-)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) = \sqrt{\frac{2b}{\pi}}(\Lambda^{2})^{\Delta-\frac{b^{2}}{4}}z^{\frac{bQ}{2}}K_{2b\alpha}(b\Lambda\sqrt{z}).$$
(2.B.31)

We can now restate the crossing symmetry condition (2.B.25) in terms of Bessel functions and use the known connection formulae for them (see e.g. dlmf.nist.gov/10.27) to determine the normalization function C and the OPE coefficient  $B_{\alpha_{2,1}}$ . We have

$$I_{\nu}(z) = \frac{i}{\pi} e^{i\pi\nu} K_{\nu}(z) - \frac{i}{\pi} K_{\nu}(e^{-i\pi}z) . \qquad (2.B.32)$$

Plugging this formula into (2.B.25) using the identifications between the conformal blocks and Bessel functions, one finds that the vanishing of the cross-terms gives the condition

$$\frac{C_{\alpha_+}}{C_{\alpha_-}} = 2^{-8b\alpha} b^{2bQ+8b\alpha} e^{-4\pi i b\alpha} \frac{\gamma(-2b\alpha)}{\gamma(bQ+2b\alpha)}.$$
(2.B.33)

We take the simplest solution, namely

$$C_{\alpha} = 2^{-4\Delta} e^{-2\pi i \Delta} \Upsilon_b(Q + 2\alpha) \,. \tag{2.B.34}$$

This is in agreement with the result found in 2.A.3. Once we have the expression for  $C_{\alpha}$ , we can compute the irregular OPE coefficients from the diagonal terms of the crossing symmetry condition. The result is

$$B_{\alpha_{2,1}} = 2^{b^2} e^{\frac{i\pi bQ}{2}} \,. \tag{2.B.35}$$

We see that the OPE coefficients are independent of  $\pm$ , which is a reflection of the fact that we have a symmetry rotating the basis of conformal blocks into each other and leaving the physical correlator invariant.

For completeness, let us write also the connection formula for the irregular conformal blocks:

$$b^{2\theta b\alpha}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\,\Lambda\sqrt{z}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha){}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta')}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right)\,.\tag{2.B.36}$$

with irregular connection coefficients

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}(b\alpha) = \frac{2^{2\theta b\alpha}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \Gamma(1 + 2\theta b\alpha) e^{i\pi \left(\frac{1-\theta'}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + 2\theta b\alpha\right)}.$$
 (2.B.37)

The inverse relation is

$$b^{-\frac{1}{2}}{}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{E}^{(\theta)}\left(\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\frac{1}{\Lambda\sqrt{z}}\right) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} b^{2\theta'b\alpha}\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}^{-1}(b\alpha){}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha_{\theta'}\,\alpha_{2,1}\,\alpha;\Lambda\sqrt{z}\right)\,.\tag{2.B.38}$$

with irregular connection coefficients

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\theta\theta'}^{-1}(b\alpha) = \frac{2^{-2\theta'b\alpha}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \Gamma(-2\theta'b\alpha) e^{-i\pi\left(\frac{1+\theta}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}+2\theta'b\alpha\right)}.$$
(2.B.39)

# 2.C Classical conformal blocks and accessory parameters

In this Appendix we give explicit combinatorial expressions for the classical conformal blocks used in the main text.

## 2.C.1 The regular case

Let us start with the case of regular conformal blocks. Via the AGT correspondence [41] the four-point regular conformal block is given by

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{1}\\\alpha_{\infty}\\\alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{t}};t\end{pmatrix} = t^{\Delta-\Delta_{t}-\Delta_{0}}(1-t)^{-2(\frac{Q}{2}+\alpha_{1})(\frac{Q}{2}+\alpha_{t})} \times \\
\times \sum_{\vec{Y}} t^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y}\right) \prod_{\theta=\pm} z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},\alpha_{t}+\theta\alpha_{0}\right) z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},\alpha_{1}+\theta\alpha_{\infty}\right),$$
(2.C.1)



Figure 2.C.1: Arm length  $A_{\tilde{Y}}(s) = 4$  (white circles) and leg length  $L_Y(s) = 2$  (black dots) of a box at the site s = (2, 2) for the pair of superimposed diagrams Y (solid lines) and  $\tilde{Y}$  (dotted lines).

where the sum runs over all pairs of Young tableaux  $(Y_1, Y_2)$ . We denote the size of the pair  $|\vec{Y}| = |Y_1| + |Y_2|$ , and [52, 124]

$$z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \mu\right) = \prod_{k=1,2} \prod_{(i,j)\in Y_k} \left(\alpha_k + \mu + b^{-1}\left(i - \frac{1}{2}\right) + b\left(j - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right),$$
  

$$z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}\right) = \prod_{k,l=1,2} \prod_{(i,j)\in Y_k} E^{-1}\left(\alpha_k - \alpha_l, Y_k, Y_l, (i,j)\right) \prod_{(i',j')\in Y_l} \left(Q - E\left(\alpha_l - \alpha_k, Y_l, Y_k, (i',j')\right)\right)^{-1},$$
  

$$E\left(\alpha, Y_1, Y_2, (i,j)\right) = \alpha - b^{-1}L_{Y_2}((i,j)) + b\left(A_{Y_1}((i,j)) + 1\right).$$
(2.C.2)

Here  $L_Y((i, j))$ ,  $A_Y((i, j))$  denote respectively the leg-length and the arm-length of the box at the site (i, j) of the tableau Y. If we denote a Young tableau as  $Y = (\nu'_1 \ge \nu'_2 \ge ...)$ and its transpose as  $Y^T = (\nu_1 \ge \nu_2 \ge ...)$ , then  $L_Y$  and  $A_Y$  read

$$A_Y(i,j) = \nu'_i - j, \ L_Y(i,j) = \nu_j - i.$$
 (2.C.3)

Note that they can be negative if the box (i, j) are the coordinates of a box outside the tableau. Also, the previous formulae has to be evaluated at  $\vec{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2) = (\alpha, -\alpha)$ . Comparing (2.C.1) with (2.2.24) we find the explicit expression for the classical conformal block F:

$$F(t) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ (1-t)^{-2(\frac{Q}{2}+\alpha_1)(\frac{Q}{2}+\alpha_t)} \sum_{\vec{Y}} t^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}} \left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}\right) \prod_{\theta=\pm} z_{\text{hyp}} \left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \alpha_t + \theta \alpha_0\right) z_{\text{hyp}} \left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \alpha_1 + \theta \alpha_\infty\right) \right].$$

$$(2.C.4)$$

This turns into a combinatorial expression of the u parameter defined as

$$u^{(0)} = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 t \partial_t \log \mathfrak{F} \left( \begin{matrix} \alpha_1 & \alpha & \alpha_t \\ \alpha_\infty & \alpha_0 \end{matrix}; t \right) = -\frac{1}{4} - a^2 + a_t^2 + a_0^2 + t \partial_t F(t)$$
(2.C.5)

in terms of the intermediate momentum  $\alpha$ . After substituting the dictionary with the Heun equation this gives a combinatorial expression of the accessory parameter q in terms of the Floquet exponent  $a = b\alpha$ . Inverting this relation order by order in t allows us to compute the connection coefficients in terms of the accessory parameter. Let us carry out explicitly a first order computation for the sake of clarity. At one instanton the relevant pairs of Young tableaux are  $\vec{Y} = ((1), (0))$  and  $\vec{Y} = ((0), (1))$ . The various contributions give

$$z_{\text{hyp}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, ((1), (0)), \mu \right) = \frac{Q}{2} + \alpha + \mu ,$$
  

$$z_{\text{hyp}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, ((0), (1)), \mu \right) = \frac{Q}{2} - \alpha + \mu ,$$
(2.C.6)

and since  $A_{(0)}(i = 1, j = 1) = L_{(0)}(i = 1, j = 1) = -1$  and  $A_{(1)}(i = 1, j = 1) = L_{(1)}(i = 1, j = 1) = 0$ ,  $E_{(0, j)}(i) = (i - 1, j = 1) = -1$ 

$$E(0, (1), (1), (i = 1, j = 1)) = b,$$
  

$$E(2\alpha, (1), (0), (i = 1, j = 1)) = Q + 2\alpha,$$
(2.C.7)

therefore

$$z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},((1),(0))\right) = \prod_{l=1,2} E^{-1}\left(\alpha - \alpha_{l},(1),Y_{l},(i=1,j=1)\right) \prod_{k=1,2} \left(Q - E\left(\alpha - \alpha_{k},(1),Y_{k},(i'=1,j'=1)\right)\right)^{-1} \\ = \frac{1}{-2\alpha\left(Q + 2\alpha\right)}, \\ z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},((0),(1))\right) = \prod_{l=1,2} E^{-1}\left(-\alpha - \alpha_{l},(1),Y_{l},(i=1,j=1)\right) \prod_{k=1,2} \left(Q - E\left(-\alpha - \alpha_{k},(1),Y_{k},(i'=1,j'=1)\right)\right)^{-1} \\ = \frac{1}{2\alpha\left(Q - 2\alpha\right)}.$$

$$(2.C.8)$$

Note that and that every time (i, j) have to run into an empty tableau, the corresponding term contributes with 1. Finally, substituting the previous results in (2.C.4) we get

$$F(t) = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} - a^2 - a_1^2 + a_\infty^2\right) \left(\frac{1}{4} - a^2 - a_t^2 + a_0^2\right)}{\frac{1}{2} - 2a^2} t + \mathcal{O}(t^2).$$
(2.C.9)

In the main text we will need the derivatives of F expressed in terms of Heun parameters. For example,

$$\partial_{a_t} F(t) = \frac{\left(4a^2 - \alpha^2 + 2\alpha\beta - \beta^2 - 2\delta + \delta^2\right)(1-\epsilon)}{2 - 8a^2} t + \mathcal{O}(t^2).$$
(2.C.10)

Moreover,

$$u^{(0)} = -\frac{1}{4} - a^2 + a_t^2 + a_0^2 + \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} - a^2 - a_1^2 + a_\infty^2\right)\left(\frac{1}{4} - a^2 - a_t^2 + a_0^2\right)}{\frac{1}{2} - 2a^2}t + \mathcal{O}(t^2). \quad (2.C.11)$$

Note that the relation between  $u^{(0)}$  and a is quadratic at t = 0, therefore we will have two solutions for  $a(u^{(0)})$ :

$$a = \pm \sqrt{-\frac{1}{4} - u^{(0)} + a_t^2 + a_0^2} \left( 1 - \frac{\left(-1 + 2a_0^2 + 2a_1^2 - 2a_\infty^2 + 2a_t^2 - 2u^{(0)}\right) \left(-1 + 4a_t^2 - 2u^{(0)}\right)}{2 \left(-1 + 4a_0^2 + 4a_t^2 - 4u^{(0)}\right) \left(-1 + 2a_0^2 + 2a_t^2 - 2u^{(0)}\right)} t + \mathcal{O}(t^2) \right)$$

$$(2.C.12)$$

Substituting the dictionary (2.3.3) we obtain

$$a = \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{(\alpha+\beta-\delta)^2 - 4q} \mp \frac{t\left(\delta(q(\alpha+\beta+1) - \gamma(\alpha\beta+q)) + (q-\alpha\beta)(2q-\gamma(\alpha+\beta-1)) + \delta^2(-q)\right)}{\sqrt{(\alpha+\beta-\delta)^2 - 4q}(4q - (\alpha+\beta-\delta-1)(\alpha+\beta-\delta+1))} + O\left(t^2\right).$$
(2.C.13)

Note that all the connection formulae near the various singularity are all symmetric under  $a \rightarrow -a$ . The sign has to be carefully chosen only when connecting to the intermediate region. Finally, we are in the position to expand the connection coefficients. For example, one would have, choosing the lower sign in a,

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\epsilon}{2}+a\right)\simeq\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\epsilon-\sqrt{-4q+(\alpha+\beta-\delta)^2}}{2}\right)\times\\ &\times\left(1+\frac{t\left(\delta(q(\alpha+\beta+1)-\gamma(\alpha\beta+q))+(q-\alpha\beta)(2q-\gamma(\alpha+\beta-1))+\delta^2(-q)\right)\psi_0\left(\frac{1+\gamma-\epsilon-\sqrt{-4q+(\alpha+\beta-\delta)^2}}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{(\alpha+\beta-\delta)^2-4q}(4q-(\alpha+\beta-\delta-1)(\alpha+\beta-\delta+1))}}\right), \end{split}$$

$$(2.C.14)$$

where  $\psi_0$  is the Digamma function.

## 2.C.2 The confluent case

In order to discuss the confluent classical conformal block, let us write the four-point conformal block appearing in (2.2.39), that is

$$\mathfrak{F}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{t}\\\alpha_{\infty}&\alpha_{1}^{\alpha_{1}};\frac{1}{t}\end{pmatrix} = t^{-\Delta+\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{0}}(1-t^{-1})^{-2(\frac{Q}{2}+\alpha_{1})(\frac{Q}{2}+\alpha_{t})} \times \\
\times \sum_{\vec{Y}} t^{-|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y}\right) \prod_{\theta=\pm} z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},\alpha_{t}+\theta\alpha_{\infty}\right) z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},\alpha_{1}+\theta\alpha_{0}\right).$$
(2.C.15)

Note that in the decoupling limit (2.2.45), that is

$$\alpha_t + \alpha_\infty = -\mu, \ \alpha_t - \alpha_\infty = \eta, \ t = \frac{\Lambda}{\eta},$$
 (2.C.16)

142

where then  $\eta \to \infty$ ,

$$z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \alpha_t - \alpha_{\infty}\right) \sim (\alpha_t - \alpha_{\infty})^{2|\vec{Y}|} \sim \left(\frac{\Lambda}{t}\right)^{2|\vec{Y}|},$$
  

$$z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \alpha_t + \alpha_{\infty}\right) = z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, -\mu\right),$$
  

$$(1 - t^{-1})^{2(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_1)(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_t)} \sim e^{-\left(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_1\right)\Lambda}.$$
(2.C.17)

Therefore the confluent 3-point function (2.2.80) has the following combinatorial expression

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}\left(\mu\,\alpha\,\alpha_{0}^{\alpha_{1}};\Lambda\right) = \Lambda^{\Delta}e^{\left(\frac{Q}{2}+\alpha_{1}\right)\Lambda}\sum_{\vec{Y}}\Lambda^{|\vec{Y}|}z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y}\right)z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},-\mu\right)\prod_{\theta=\pm}z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},\alpha_{1}+\theta\alpha_{0}\right).$$

$$(2.C.18)$$

As for the previous case, this turns into a combinatorial expression of the u parameter defined in equation 2.2.83 in terms of the intermediate momentum a, that after substituting the dictionary with the CHE gives a combinatorial expression for the accessory parameter in terms of the Floquet exponent. Again, inverting this relation is useful for computing the explicit connection coefficients. Similarly we can give an explicit expression of the classical conformal block for big  $\Lambda$  appearing in (2.2.93), that is

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}}\mu^{\prime}\alpha_{0};\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right) = \lim_{\eta \to \infty} \Lambda^{\Delta_{0} + \Delta_{1} + 2\mu^{\prime}(\mu^{\prime} - \mu)} e^{-(\mu^{\prime} - \mu)\Lambda} \left(1 - \frac{\eta}{\Lambda}\right)^{\Delta_{1} - (\mu^{\prime} - \mu)(\eta - \mu^{\prime}) - \left(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{1}\right)(Q + \eta - \mu)} \times \\ \times \sum_{\vec{Y}} \left(\frac{\eta}{\Lambda}\right)^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha}(\eta), \vec{Y}\right) \prod_{\theta=\pm} z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}(\eta), \vec{Y}, \frac{\eta - \mu}{2} + \theta\alpha_{0}\right) z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}(\eta), \vec{Y}, \alpha_{1} + \theta \frac{-\eta - \mu}{2}\right),$$

$$(2.C.19)$$

where

$$\vec{\alpha}(\eta) = \left(-\frac{\eta - \mu}{2} - \mu', \frac{\eta - \mu}{2} + \mu'\right).$$
 (2.C.20)

Again, this gives an explicit expression of the classical conformal block  $F_D(L^{-1})$  recalling that

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{D}\left(\mu^{\alpha_{1}}\mu'\alpha_{0};\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right) = e^{-(\mu'-\mu)\Lambda}\Lambda^{\Delta_{0}+\Delta_{1}+2\mu'(\mu'-\mu)}e^{\frac{1}{b^{2}}(F_{D}(L^{-1})+\mathcal{O}(b^{2}))}.$$
 (2.C.21)

## 2.C.3 The reduced confluent case

To obtain the reduced confluent classical block we decouple the momentum  $\mu$  starting from (2.C.15) as follows

$$\Lambda = -\frac{\Lambda_1 \Lambda_2}{4\mu}, \text{ as } \mu \to \infty.$$
(2.C.22)

This gives

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}\left(\alpha\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{0}};\Lambda^{2}\right) = \Lambda^{2\Delta}\sum_{\vec{Y}}\left(\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{4}\right)^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y}\right)\prod_{\theta=\pm}z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},\alpha_{1}+\theta\alpha_{0}\right).$$
(2.C.23)

This gives for the classical conformal blocks

$$F(L^2) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \sum_{\vec{Y}} \left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{4}\right)^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}\right) \prod_{\theta=\pm} z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \alpha_1 + \theta \alpha_0\right) .$$
(2.C.24)

# 2.C.4 The doubly confluent case

Let us consider the following decoupling limit of (2.C.15):

$$\alpha_1 + \alpha_0 = -\mu_2, \ \alpha_1 - \alpha_0 = \eta, \ \Lambda \to \frac{\Lambda_1 \Lambda_2}{\eta}, \ \text{as } \eta \to \infty.$$
 (2.C.25)

This gives

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{1}\left(\mu_{1} \ \alpha \ \mu_{2}, \Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}\right) = (\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2})^{\Delta} e^{\frac{\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}}{2}} \sum_{\vec{Y}} (\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2})^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}\right) z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, -\mu_{1}\right) z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, -\mu_{2}\right),$$

$$(2.C.26)$$

and

$$F(L_1L_2) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ e^{\frac{\Lambda_1\Lambda_2}{2}} \sum_{\vec{Y}} (\Lambda_1\Lambda_2)^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}} \left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}\right) z_{\text{hyp}} \left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, -\mu_1\right) z_{\text{hyp}} \left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, -\mu_2\right) \right].$$
(2.C.27)

# 2.C.5 The reduced doubly confluent case

We now decouple  $\mu_2$  in (2.C.26) as follows

$$\Lambda_2 \to -\frac{\Lambda_2^2}{4\mu_2}$$
, as  $\mu_2 \to \infty$ . (2.C.28)

Again,

$${}_{1}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mu\,\alpha;\Lambda_{1}\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{2}}{4}\right) = \left(\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}\right)^{\Delta}\sum_{\vec{Y}}\left(\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}^{2}\right)^{|\vec{Y}|}z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y}\right)z_{\text{hyp}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y},-\mu\right).$$
(2.C.29)

Therefore the corresponding classical conformal block gives

$$F(L_1 L_2^2) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \sum_{\vec{Y}} \left( \Lambda_1 \frac{\Lambda_2^2}{4} \right)^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y} \right) z_{\text{hyp}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, -\mu \right) .$$
(2.C.30)

144
#### 2.C.6 The doubly reduced doubly confluent case

Decoupling the last momentum  $\mu$  in (2.C.29) by setting

$$\Lambda_1 \to -\frac{\Lambda_1^2}{4\mu_1}, \text{ as } \mu \to \infty$$
 (2.C.31)

gives

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\alpha;\Lambda_1^2\Lambda_2^2\right) = \left(\Lambda_1^2\Lambda_2^2\right)^{\Delta}\sum_{\vec{Y}} \left(\frac{\Lambda_1^2\Lambda_2^2}{16}\right)^{|Y|} z_{\text{vec}}\left(\vec{\alpha},\vec{Y}\right) \,. \tag{2.C.32}$$

The corresponding classical conformal block gives

$$F(L_1^2 L_2^2) = \lim_{b \to 0} b^2 \log \left[ \sum_{\vec{Y}} \left( \frac{\Lambda_1^2 \Lambda_2^2}{16} \right)^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\text{vec}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y} \right) \right] .$$
(2.C.33)

### 2.D Combinatorial formula for the degenerate 5-point block

As for the four-point blocks in the previous Appendix, we give an explicit combinatorial expression for the degenerate 5-point conformal block introduced in 2.2.1 via the AGT correspondence. It can be computed as the partition function of  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  gauge theory with four flavours and a surface operator, or equivalently as a quiver gauge theory with specific masses fixed by the fusion rules of the degenerate field. Using the representation as a quiver gauge theory we find

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{F} & \left( \alpha_{1} \alpha_{0} \alpha_{t} \alpha_{0\theta} \alpha_{2,1} ; t, \frac{z}{t} \right) = t^{\Delta - \Delta_{t} - \Delta_{0\theta}} z^{\frac{bQ}{2} + \theta b \alpha_{0}} (1 - t)^{-2(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{1})(\frac{Q}{2} - \alpha_{t})} \left( 1 - \frac{z}{t} \right)^{-2(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{1})(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{2,1})} (1 - z)^{-2(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{1})(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{2,1})} \times \\ \times \sum_{\vec{Y}, \vec{W}} t^{|\vec{Y}|} \left( \frac{z}{t} \right)^{|\vec{W}|} z_{\text{vec}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y} \right) z_{\text{vec}} \left( \vec{\alpha_{0\theta}}, \vec{W} \right) \prod_{\sigma = \pm} z_{\text{hyp}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \alpha_{1} + \sigma \alpha_{\infty} \right) z_{\text{hyp}} \left( \vec{\alpha_{0\theta}}, \vec{W}, \alpha_{2,1} + \sigma \alpha_{0} \right) z_{\text{bifund}} \left( \vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \alpha_{0\theta}, \vec{W}; \alpha_{t} \right) , \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.D.1)$$

where the sum runs over two pairs of Young tableaux  $\vec{Y} = (Y_1, Y_2)$  and  $\vec{W} = (W_1, W_2)$ .  $\alpha_{\vec{0}\theta}$  has to be understood as  $(\alpha_{0\theta}, -\alpha_{0\theta})$  and we recall that  $\alpha_{2,1} = -\frac{2b+b^{-1}}{2}$ . Furthermore  $z_{\text{vec}}$  and  $z_{\text{hyp}}$  are defined as in (2.C.2). The new ingredient is the contribution of a bifundamental, defined as

$$z_{\text{bifund}}\left(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{Y}, \vec{\beta}, \vec{W}; \alpha_{t}\right) = \prod_{k,l=1,2} \prod_{(i,j)\in Y_{k}} \left[ E\left(\alpha_{k} - \beta_{l}, Y_{k}, W_{l}, (i,j)\right) - \left(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{t}\right) \right] \prod_{(i',j')\in W_{l}} \left[ Q - E\left(\beta_{l} - \alpha_{k}, W_{l}, Y_{k}, (i',j')\right) - \left(\frac{Q}{2} + \alpha_{t}\right) \right],$$

$$(2.D.2)$$

with E as in (2.C.2).

Since all other conformal blocks are defined in terms of this degenerate 5-point block, the expression (2.D.1) can be used to compute any other block. In particular one can verify explicitly that the various confluence limits are finite.

# Chapter 3

# Holographic thermal correlators from supersymmetric instantons

In this chapter we study the thermal two-point function in a holographic four-dimensional CFT<sup>1</sup> [126–128] using techniques coming from four-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories [42, 72, 73, 129, 130].

Finite temperature dynamics of CFTs is particularly rich in d > 2, where propagation of energy is not fixed by symmetries. On the gravity side, this is related to the presence of a propagating graviton in the spectrum of the theory, namely gravity waves.<sup>2</sup> On the field theory side, it is due to the fact that conformal symmetry is finite-dimensional in d > 2. This richness comes at a price that even for the simplest finite temperature observables no explicit solutions are available in d > 2.<sup>3</sup>

Here we provide the first example of such an explicit result. The thermal two-point function is computed by studying the wave equation on the black hole background [135–137]. This equation is of the Heun type [17–19], and the retarded two-point function is given in terms of its connection coefficients, which have been computed in the previous chapter (2). Starting with [72], a growing body of problems of this class have been solved using the connection to Seiberg-Witten theory and more precisely the Nekrasov-Shatashvili (NS) functions. These ideas have been applied to the study of black hole perturbation theory in [75, 138–144]<sup>4</sup>.

In particular this connection allows us to express the thermal two-point function in terms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We consider a finite-temperature CFT on the sphere,  $S_{\beta}^1 \times S^3$ , and on the plane,  $S_{\beta}^1 \times \mathbb{R}^3$ . The former is related to the black hole geometry, and the latter to the black brane. The requirement of being holographic implies a large CFT central charge ( $c_T \gg 1$ ), and a large gap in the spectrum of higher spin single trace operators ( $\Delta_{gap} \gg 1$ ) [125].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Another characteristic feature of black holes in d > 2 is the existence of stable orbits [99, 131, 132].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Here we refer to the black hole phase. For the thermal AdS phase some explicit results exist [133]. They are also available in  $d \leq 2$ , see e.g. [134].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See also [145–147] for a different approach based on Painlevé equations.

of the NS free energy [72] of an SU(2) gauge theory with four fundamental hypermultiplets, and to study some of its basic properties both analytically and numerically. One particularly interesting regime is the large spin limit, where the exact formula produces the solution to the heavy-light light-cone bootstrap [83, 84]. We reproduce the available perturbative results from the literature [85–99] and make new predictions.

# 3.1 Holographic two-point function at finite temperature

#### 3.1.1 Black hole

We consider a holographic conformal field theory at finite temperature. Above the Hawking-Page transition [148], this theory is dual to a black hole in AdS [149]. Here we will specialize to the case of  $AdS_5$ , where the black hole metric is

$$ds^{2} = -f(r) dt^{2} + f(r)^{-1} dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega_{3}^{2}.$$
(3.1.1)

Setting the AdS radius to 1, the redshift factor takes the form

$$f(r) = r^2 + 1 - \frac{\mu}{r^2} \equiv \left(1 - \frac{R_+^2}{r^2}\right)(r^2 + R_+^2 + 1), \qquad (3.1.2)$$

where the Schwarzschild radius is given by

$$R_{+} = \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{1+4\mu} - 1}{2}}.$$
(3.1.3)

The dimensionless parameter  $\mu$  is related to the black hole mass M by

$$\mu = \frac{8G_N M}{3\pi} \ . \tag{3.1.4}$$

We are interested in the two-point function of a scalar operator  $\mathcal{O}(x)$  with dimension  $\Delta$ , dual to a massive scalar  $\phi$  in the bulk with mass [150]

$$m = \sqrt{\Delta(\Delta - 4)}.\tag{3.1.5}$$

In order to compute this two-point function, we need to solve the wave equation on the black hole background,

$$(\Box - m^2)\phi = 0. \tag{3.1.6}$$

Expanding the solution into Fourier modes, we have

$$\phi(t, r, \Omega) = \int d\omega \sum_{\ell, \vec{m}} e^{-i\omega t} Y_{\ell \vec{m}}(\Omega) \psi_{\omega \ell}(r).$$
(3.1.7)

Our conventions for spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell \vec{m}}$  can be found in Appendix A of [12]. The wave equation then takes the form (see [102] and references there)

$$\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\partial_r(r^3f(r)\partial_r) + \frac{\omega^2}{f(r)} - \frac{\ell(\ell+2)}{r^2} - \Delta(\Delta-4)\right)\psi_{\omega\ell} = 0.$$
(3.1.8)

We are interested in the retarded Green's function, and therefore we impose ingoing boundary conditions on the solution  $\phi$  at the horizon,

$$\psi_{\omega\ell}^{\rm in}(r) = (r - R_+)^{-\frac{i\omega}{2}\frac{R_+}{2R_+^2 + 1}} + \dots$$
(3.1.9)

The solution  $\psi^{\text{in}}$  behaves near the AdS boundary  $r \to \infty$  as

$$\psi_{\omega\ell}^{\rm in}(r) = \mathcal{A}(\omega,\ell)(r^{\Delta-4}+\ldots) + \mathcal{B}(\omega,\ell)(r^{-\Delta}+\ldots).$$
(3.1.10)

The two-point function is then the ratio of the response  $\mathcal{B}(\omega, \ell)$  to the source  $\mathcal{A}(\omega, \ell)$  [135],

$$G_R(\omega, \ell) = \frac{\mathcal{B}(\omega, \ell)}{\mathcal{A}(\omega, \ell)}.$$
(3.1.11)

Our conventions for the thermal two-point function in the CFT dual are collected in Appendix 3.A.

The wave equation takes a particularly convenient form under the transformations

$$z = \frac{r^2}{r^2 + R_+^2 + 1} , \qquad (3.1.12)$$

$$\psi_{\omega\ell}(r) = \left(r^3 f(r) \frac{dz}{dr}\right)^{-1/2} \chi_{\omega\ell}(z) . \qquad (3.1.13)$$

We then obtain Heun's differential equation in normal form,

$$\left(\partial_{z}^{2} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{1}^{2}}{(z-1)^{2}} - \frac{\frac{1}{2} - a_{0}^{2} - a_{1}^{2} - a_{t}^{2} + a_{\infty}^{2} + u}{z(z-1)} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{t}^{2}}{(z-t)^{2}} + \frac{u}{z(z-t)} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - a_{0}^{2}}{z^{2}}\right)\chi_{\omega\ell}(z) = 0.$$
(3.1.14)

Here the horizon is at z = t and the AdS boundary is at z = 1.

In (3.1.14) we introduced a set of parameters that acquire a natural interpretation in the context of gauge theory that we discuss in the next section. They are defined in Table 3.1.1.

Finally, u is given by

$$u = -\frac{\ell(\ell+2) + 2(2R_{+}^{2}+1) + R_{+}^{2}\Delta(\Delta-4)}{4(R_{+}^{2}+1)} + \frac{R_{+}^{2}\Delta(\Delta-4)}{1 + R_{+}^{2}} \frac{\omega^{2}}{4(2R_{+}^{2}+1)}.$$
 (3.1.15)

Gauge theory	t	$a_0$	$a_t$	$a_1$	$a_{\infty}$
Black hole	$\frac{R_{+}^{2}}{2R_{+}^{2}+1}$	0	$\frac{i\omega}{2}\frac{R_+}{2R_+^2+1}$	$\frac{\Delta-2}{2}$	$\frac{\omega}{2} \frac{\sqrt{R_+^2 + 1}}{2R_+^2 + 1}$

Table 3.1.1: Map from gauge theory to the black hole wave equation parameters.

The purely ingoing solution behaves near the black hole horizon as

$$\chi_{\omega\ell}^{\rm in}(z) = (t-z)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_t} + \dots .$$
(3.1.16)

Close to the AdS boundary it takes the form

$$\chi_{\omega\ell}^{\rm in}(z) \propto \mathcal{A}(\omega,\ell) \Big(\frac{1-z}{1+R_+^2}\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_1} + \mathcal{B}(\omega,\ell) \Big(\frac{1-z}{1+R_+^2}\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}+a_1} + \dots$$

The solutions to Heun's equation are known as Heun functions, see e.g. [19], and these can be written as an infinite series expanded around one of the singular points  $z = 0, t, 1, \infty$ . The problem of finding the response function (3.1.11) therefore reduces to finding the socalled connection formulae for the Heun function which express a given solution around one singular point (3.1.16) in terms of the basis of solutions around another singular point (3.1.17). The corresponding connection coefficients were computed explicitly in the previous chapter (2), <sup>5</sup> and we use these results in the present chapter.

#### 3.1.2 Black brane

The black brane is dual to CFT on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^3$ , and can be obtained by taking the hightemperature limit  $T \to \infty$  of the black hole, while keeping  $\frac{\omega}{T} \equiv \hat{\omega}$  and  $\frac{\ell}{T} \equiv |\mathbf{k}|$  fixed. Here  $\hat{\omega}$  and  $\mathbf{k}$  are the dimensionless energy and three-momentum of the resulting theory on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^3$  in units of temperature. Recall that for the AdS-Schwarzschild black hole [149]

$$T = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sqrt{\frac{1+4\mu}{\sqrt{1+4\mu}-1}},$$
(3.1.17)

and the high-temperature limit corresponds to  $\mu \to \infty$ .

In this way we get the map between the gauge theory and gravity parameters for the black brane (to avoid clutter we switch from  $\hat{\omega}$  to  $\omega$ ), see Table 3.1.2. For *u* the relation takes the following form,

$$u = \frac{\omega^2 - 2\mathbf{k}^2}{8\pi^2} - \frac{1}{4}(\Delta - 2)^2.$$
(3.1.18)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See also [37, 151–155] for explicit relations between NS functions and the Heun equation.

Gauge theory	t	$a_0$	$a_t$	$a_1$	$a_{\infty}$
Black brane	$\frac{1}{2}$	0	$\frac{i\omega}{4\pi}$	$\frac{\Delta-2}{2}$	$\frac{\omega}{4\pi}$

Table 3.1.2: Map from gauge theory to the black brane wave equation parameters.

Finally, we define the two-point function as follows,

$$G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{G_R(\omega T, |\mathbf{k}|T)}{T^{4a_1}},$$
(3.1.19)

see Appendix 3.B for the detailed derivation.



Figure 3.1.1: We plot the retarded two-point function  $G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|)$ , given by (3.2.5) and (3.2.7), for  $|\mathbf{k}| = 1$ ,  $\Delta = 5/2$ , as a function of  $\omega$  and the maximal number of instantons  $n_{\text{max}}$  in the truncated sum (3.2.8). a) The real part of the retarded two-point function  $\text{Re } G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, 1)$ . b) The imaginary part of the retarded two-point function  $\text{Im } G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, 1)$ . We set T = 1. We also compare our results with the direct numerical solution of the differential equation (we used NDSolve in Mathematica), see e.g. [156], and find beautiful agreement between the two methods. An analogous plot can be generated for the  $|\mathbf{k}|$ -dependence as well, and again we observed perfect agreement between our formulas and the direct numerical solution of the differential equation.

## 3.2 Exact thermal two-point function

Heun's equation coincides with the quantum Seiberg-Witten curve describing the gauge theory with four flavors ( $N_f = 4$ ) and therefore it can be solved exactly using the Nekrasov-Shatashvili (NS) functions [72]. Another way of understanding this connection is by using

the AGT correspondence and the fact that Heun's equation corresponds to the semiclassical limit of the BPZ equation satisfied by the five-point function with one degenerate insertion, see for instance [37, 152–154]. For a review and a detailed list of references see [157]. Let us review the basic idea behind the exact solution of the connection problem. We consider a five-point function in the Liouville theory where one of the fields has been analytically continued to have degenerate quantum numbers. This five-point function satisfies the BPZ equation, which expresses the shortening of the Verma module of the degenerate field [27]. The BPZ equation reduces to the Heun equation in the semi-classical (large central charge) limit of the Liouville theory. The four singular points in the Heun equation correspond to insertions of the four operators (the fifth operator being the degenerate field). Crossing symmetry of the five-point function leads to crossing relations between the Virasoro blocks in different OPE channels. In the semi-classical limit these descend to the connection formulae for the solutions of the Heun equation. Thanks to the DOZZ formula [110, 111] the three-point functions that enter the crossing relations are explicitly known. Similarly, via the AGT correspondence [130] the relevant Virasoro blocks are expressed in terms of the partition function of the four-dimensional gauge theory which enters our final result. On the gauge theory side, the semi-classical limit corresponds to the so-called Nekrasov-Shatashvili limit [72]. The resulting expression for the connection coefficients can be found in [139].

From the gauge theory point of view, the parameters  $a_0, a_1, a_t, a_\infty$  are related to the masses of the hypermultiplets,  $t \sim e^{-1/g_{\rm YM}^2}$  is the instanton counting parameter, and u parameterizes the moduli space of vacua. The latter is related to the VEV a of the scalar in the vector multiplet via the (quantum) Matone relation [158, 159]

$$u = -a^2 + a_t^2 - \frac{1}{4} + a_0^2 + t\partial_t F, \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where F is the instanton part of the NS free energy defined in (3.C.2). The dictionary (3.2.1) requires a careful treatment close to the points  $2a = \mathbb{Z}$ , where the NS function exhibits non-analyticity, see e.g. [160, 161]. We leave a more detailed discussion of this region for future work.

In particular this hidden connection between Heun's equation and supersymmetric gauge theory makes it possible to compute the connection coefficients  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  in (3.1.10) using the NS free energy, as done in [139].

Let

$$\chi_{\omega\ell}^{(t),\text{in}}(z) = (t-z)^{\frac{1}{2}-a_t} + \dots$$
(3.2.2)

be the ingoing solution<sup>6</sup> of the wave equation (3.1.14) at the horizon  $(z \sim t)$  and let

$$\chi_{\omega\ell}^{(1),\pm}(z) = (1-z)^{\frac{1}{2}\pm a_1} + \dots$$
(3.2.3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Here we have chosen the ingoing solution since we are interested in computing the retarded Green's function. Alternatively, the advanced Green's function can be computed by choosing the outgoing solution, resulting in a minor modification of (3.2.5).

be the two independent solutions at infinity  $(z \sim 1)$ . The connection formula reads

$$\chi_{\omega\ell}^{(t),\text{in}}(z) = \sum_{\theta'=\pm} \left( \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{-\sigma}(a_t, a; a_0) \mathcal{M}_{(-\sigma)\theta'}(a, a_1; a_\infty) t^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F} \right) \\ t^{\frac{1}{2}-a_0-a_t} (1-t)^{a_t-a_1} e^{\frac{1}{2}(-\partial_{a_t}-\theta'\partial_{a_1})F} \chi_{\omega\ell}^{(1),\theta'}(z),$$
(3.2.4)

where

$$\mathcal{M}_{\theta\theta'}(\alpha_0,\alpha_1;\alpha_2) = \frac{\Gamma(-2\theta'\alpha_1)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta\alpha_0 - \theta'\alpha_1 + \alpha_2\right)} \frac{\Gamma(1+2\theta\alpha_0)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \theta\alpha_0 - \theta'\alpha_1 - \alpha_2\right)},$$

and F is the instanton part of the NS free energy defined in (3.C.2).

The exact formula for the retarded two-point function (3.1.11) then reads

$$G_{R}(\omega,\ell) = \left(1 + R_{+}^{2}\right)^{2a_{1}} e^{-\partial_{a_{1}}F} \frac{\sum_{\sigma'=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{-\sigma'}(a_{t},a;a_{0})\mathcal{M}_{(-\sigma')+}(a,a_{1};a_{\infty})t^{\sigma'a}e^{-\frac{\sigma'}{2}\partial_{a}F}}{\sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{-\sigma}(a_{t},a;a_{0})\mathcal{M}_{(-\sigma)-}(a,a_{1};a_{\infty})t^{\sigma a}e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_{a}F}}$$
(3.2.5)

where the parameters  $t, a_0, a_t, a_1, a_{\infty}, u$  were defined in terms of  $\omega, \ell$  and the mass of the black hole  $\mu$  in Table 3.1.1 and equation (3.1.15). The instanton part of the free energy F depends on all parameters,  $F(t, a, a_0, a_t, a_1, a_{\infty})$ . Finally, we can eliminate a from the problem using the Matone relation (3.2.1). In this way the right hand side of (3.2.5) is fully fixed in terms of  $\omega, \ell$  and  $\mu$ .

Based on general grounds,  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  should be analytic in the upper half-plane (causality), it satisfies Im  $G_R(\omega, \ell) = -\text{Im } G_R(-\omega, \ell)$  (KMS), and finally Im  $G_R(\omega, \ell) \ge 0$  for  $\omega > 0$  (unitarity), see e.g. appendix B in [162]. In fact from the standard dispersive representation of  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  it follows that

$$[G_R(-\omega,\ell)]^* = G_R(\omega,\ell), \quad \omega \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3.2.6)

In the following we mostly limit our analysis to  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  and it is easy to check that (3.2.5) indeed satisfies (3.2.6). The argument for this goes as follows. First, we notice that for real  $\omega$  and  $\ell$ , the relevant a is either purely imaginary or purely real. Second, we notice that (3.2.5) is invariant under the change  $a \to \pm a$ ,  $a_{\infty} \to \pm a_{\infty}$ . Finally, the instanton partition function for real t is a real analytic function of its parameters,  $F^*(a, a_0, a_t, a_1, a_{\infty}) = F(a^*, a_0^*, a_t^*, a_1^*, a_{\infty}^*)$ . The property (3.2.6) then follows.

For the black brane, upon taking the limit (3.1.19) the result takes the form

$$G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|) = \pi^{4a_1} \frac{G_R(\omega, \ell)}{\left(1 + R_+^2\right)^{2a_1}},\tag{3.2.7}$$

where  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  is taken from (3.2.5), but  $a_i, t$ , and u are now mapped to  $(\omega, \mathbf{k})$  according to Table 3.1.2 and equation (3.1.18). In (3.2.7) the temperature for the theory on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^3$  is set to 1.

The exact expressions presented above involve in a crucial way the NS free energy. As explained in Appendix 3.C, the NS free energy is computed as a (convergent) series expansion in the instanton counting parameter t,

$$F = \sum_{n \ge 1}^{\infty} c_n(a, a_0, a_t, a_1, a_\infty) t^n .$$
 (3.2.8)

The coefficients  $c_n(a, a_0, a_t, a_1, a_\infty)$  in this series have a precise combinatorial definition in terms of Young diagrams. Hence in principle we can determine all of them. Given (3.2.8) one can straightforwardly solve the Matone relation (3.2.1) as a series in t as well.

We can also write the above equation in a compact way by using the full NS free energy  $F^{\text{NS}}$  (3.C.6), which is the sum of the instanton part F, the one-loop part  $F^{1-\text{loop}}$ , and the classical term  $F^{\text{p}} = -2a \log t$ . The formula becomes

$$G_R(\omega,\ell) = (1+R_+^2)^{2a_1} \frac{\Gamma(-2a_1)}{\Gamma(2a_1)} \frac{\mathcal{G}(t,a,a_0,a_1,a_\infty,a_t)}{\mathcal{G}(t,a,a_0,-a_1,a_\infty,a_t)}$$
(3.2.9)

with

$$\mathcal{G}(t, a, a_0, a_1, a_\infty, a_t) = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\partial_{a_1} F^{\rm NS}} \sinh\left(\frac{\partial_a F^{\rm NS}}{2}\right) . \tag{3.2.10}$$

This is the typical form of the Fredholm determinant in this class of theories [163, eq. 8.12], [164, eq. 5.6], see also [165, 166]. Note that the result for the two-point function has the following simple property: under  $\Delta \to 4 - \Delta$  we have  $G_R \to \frac{1}{G_R}$ . This property is manifest in (3.2.9) after noticing that under this transformation  $a_1 \to -a_1$ . It is also expected on general grounds because sending  $\Delta \to 4 - \Delta$  switches the boundary conditions [167], so that the source and response are interchanged.

One case where the exact Green's function (3.2.5) becomes analytically tractable is the limit where  $\ell$  is the only large parameter. On the gauge theory side this means that the VEV of the scalar *a* is much larger than all other parameters. In this limit one can use Zamolod-chikov's formula for the Virasoro conformal blocks [168] and the AGT correspondence [130] to show that [169]

$$F = a^{2} \left( \log \frac{t}{16} + \pi \frac{K(1-t)}{K(t)} \right)$$

$$+ \left( a_{1}^{2} + a_{t}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \right) \log(1-t)$$

$$+ 2 \left( a_{0}^{2} + a_{t}^{2} + a_{1}^{2} + a_{\infty}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \right) \log \left( \frac{2}{\pi} K(t) \right) + \mathcal{O}(a^{-2}) .$$
(3.2.11)

Here K(t) is the complete elliptic integral of the first kind. Solving the Matone relation (3.2.1) for a, we find

$$a = -\frac{(\ell+1)\sqrt{1-2t}K(t)}{\pi} + \mathcal{O}(\ell^{-1}).$$
(3.2.12)

In Appendix 3.F we use (3.2.12) to show that the imaginary part of  $G_R$  is exponentially small at large  $\ell$ .

Let us conclude this section with a practical comment. When doing the actual computations we truncate the series in t at some maximal instanton number  $n_{\rm max}$ . Given  $n_{\rm max}$ and the corresponding  $F^{n_{\max}}$ , we then solve (3.2.1) for a as a function of u perturbatively in t. This step requires solving a linear equation at every new order in t. Finally, we plug both  $F^{n_{\max}}$  and  $a^{n_{\max}}(u)$  in (3.2.9) and evaluate  $G_R^{n_{\max}}(\omega, \ell)$ . We present an example of this procedure for  $n_{\text{max}} \leq 7$  and the case of the black brane in Figure 3.1.1.<sup>7</sup> We find a beautiful agreement between our result and the direct numerical solution of the wave equation.

With the methods we used, going to higher  $n_{\rm max}$  gets computationally costly rather quickly. For example, in the case of the  $N_f = 4$  theory that we are interested in, going beyond 5-10 instantons appears challenging on a laptop. Hence to fully exploit the power of our method it would be important to identify the range of parameters for which  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$ can be reliably computed with a few instantons. It would also be desirable to develop a more efficient way of computing the NS functions (either analytically or numerically).<sup>8</sup>

#### 3.3Relation to the heavy-light conformal bootstrap

The thermal two-point function computed in the previous section is directly related to the four-point correlation function of local operators  $\langle \mathcal{O}_H \mathcal{O}_L \mathcal{O}_L \mathcal{O}_H \rangle$  [171, 172]. Here  $\mathcal{O}_L$  is the light or probe operator of dimension  $\Delta_L$  from the previous section,<sup>9</sup> and  $\mathcal{O}_H$  is a heavy operator with  $\Delta_H \sim c_T$  that is dual to a black hole microstate, where  $c_T$  parameterizes the two-point function of canonically normalized stress tensors. For the precise relationship between  $\mu \sim \frac{\Delta_H}{c_T}$ ,  $\Delta_H$  and  $c_T$  see e.g. [85]. More precisely, we define the four-point function as follows

$$G(z,\bar{z}) \equiv \langle \mathcal{O}_H(0)\mathcal{O}_L(z,\bar{z})\mathcal{O}_L(1,1)\mathcal{O}_H(\infty) \rangle, \qquad (3.3.1)$$

where all operators for simplicity are taken to be real scalars. The insertion at infinity is given by  $\mathcal{O}_H(\infty) = \lim_{x_4 \to \infty} |x_4|^{2\Delta_H} \mathcal{O}_H(x_4)$ . We also used conformal symmetry to put all four operators in a two-dimensional plane with coordinate  $z = x^1 + ix^2$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Alternatively, we can use (3.2.5) to compute  $G_R(\omega, a)$  and we can use (3.2.1) to evaluate the map  $\ell(\omega, a)$  (or  $\mathbf{k}(\omega, a)$ ). This is possible because the dependence on spin  $\ell$  (or momentum  $\mathbf{k}$ ) enters the problem only through the parameter u, which does not appear in the exact formula (3.2.5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>For example using TBA-like techniques as in [170] and references there.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>In this section we switch from  $\Delta$  to  $\Delta_L$  to make the distinction between the light and heavy operators more obvious.

We choose the normalization of operators such that in the short distance limit  $z, \bar{z} \to 1$ we have

$$G(z,\bar{z}) = \frac{1}{(1-z)^{\Delta_L}(1-\bar{z})^{\Delta_L}} + \dots .$$
(3.3.2)

This four-point function admits an OPE expansion in various channels, see e.g. [173]. We focus on the heavy-light channel, in which the expansion of the four-point function takes the form

$$G(z,\bar{z}) = \sum_{\mathcal{O}_{\Delta,\ell}} \lambda_{H,L,\mathcal{O}_{\Delta,\ell}}^2 \frac{g_{\Delta,\ell}^{\Delta_{H,L},-\Delta_{H,L}}(z,\bar{z})}{(z\bar{z})^{\frac{1}{2}(\Delta_H+\Delta_L)}},$$
(3.3.3)

where  $\Delta_{H,L} \equiv \Delta_H - \Delta_L$ , and  $\lambda_{H,L,\mathcal{O}_{\Delta,\ell}} \in \mathbb{R}$  are the three-point functions. Finally, the expressions for the conformal blocks  $g_{\Delta,\ell}^{\Delta_{H,L},-\Delta_{H,L}}(z,\bar{z})$  can be found for example in [174, 175].

We next consider the  $\Delta_H, c_T \to \infty$  limit of the expansion of  $G(z, \bar{z})$  above with  $\mu = \frac{160}{3} \frac{\Delta_H}{c_T}$  kept fixed. In this limit the spectrum of operators becomes effectively continuous and the contribution of descendants is suppressed [173].<sup>10</sup> Specializing to d = 4, we get the following expression for the OPE expansion,

$$G(z,\bar{z}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, g_{\omega,\ell}(z\bar{z})^{\frac{\omega-\Delta-\ell}{2}} \frac{z^{\ell+1} - \bar{z}^{\ell+1}}{z - \bar{z}} \,, \tag{3.3.4}$$

where we introduced  $\omega = \Delta'_H - \Delta_H$ , and  $g_{\omega,\ell}$  for the product of the three-point functions  $\lambda^2_{H,L,\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{H'},\ell}}$  and the density of primaries. Thanks to unitarity we have  $g_{\omega,\ell} \geq 0$  and KMS symmetry implies that

$$g_{-\omega,\ell} = e^{-\beta\omega} g_{\omega,\ell} . \tag{3.3.5}$$

We can now state the precise relationship between the heavy-light four-point function and the thermal two-point function [99],

$$g_{\omega,\ell} = \frac{\ell+1}{2\pi(\Delta_L - 1)(\Delta_L - 2)} \frac{\operatorname{Im} G_R(\omega,\ell)}{1 - e^{-\beta\omega}} , \qquad (3.3.6)$$

where  $\beta$  and  $\Delta_H$  are related in the standard way,  $\beta = \frac{\partial S(\Delta_H)}{\partial \Delta_H}$ . In this formula  $S(\Delta_H)$  is the effective density of primaries of dimension  $\Delta_H$ . This relation is the combination of the eigenstate thermalization hypothesis [171, 172, 176, 177] and the standard relations between

156

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This requires an extra assumption on which operators dominate the OPE, see e.g. the discussion in [99].

#### 3.4. SMALL $\mu$ EXPANSION

various thermal two-point functions [162]. The factor  $\ell + 1$  originates from summing over  $\vec{m}$  of the spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell \vec{m}}$ , see Appendix A of [12] for details.

There is a natural limit in which the general expression (3.3.6) simplifies: it is the large spin limit  $\ell \to \infty$ . As explained in detail in [99, 132], in this limit the relevant states are orbits which are stable perturbatively in  $\frac{1}{\ell}$ . These states manifest themselves in  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  as poles (also known as quasi-normal modes) with imaginary part which is non-perturbative in spin  $\ell$ . Therefore, perturbatively in  $\ell$ , Im  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  effectively becomes the sum of  $\delta(|\omega| - \omega_{n\ell})$ , where  $\omega_{n\ell} = \Delta_L + \ell + 2n + \gamma_{n\ell}$  and  $\gamma_{n\ell} \to 0$  at large spin. Notice that for  $|\omega| \sim \ell$ ,  $[(1 - e^{-\beta\omega})^{-1}]_{\text{pert}}$  becomes a step function  $\theta(\omega)$ , and in this way  $g_{\omega,\ell}$  reduces at large spin to the expected sum over heavy-light double-twist operators  $\mathcal{O}_H \square^n \partial^\ell \mathcal{O}_L$ .

We can summarize this as follows

$$g_{\omega,\ell}^{\text{pert}} = \theta(\omega) \frac{\ell+1}{2\pi(\Delta_L - 1)(\Delta_L - 2)} \text{Im } G_R^{\text{pert}}(\omega, \ell)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_{n\ell} \delta(\omega - \omega_{n\ell}) , \qquad (3.3.7)$$

where the relation holds for all the terms which contribute as powers at large spin  $\ell$ , namely  $\frac{1}{\ell^{\#}}$ . We signified this by writing Im  $G_R^{\text{pert}}(\omega, \ell)$  (see also Section 3.4 for a more precise definition). Here  $c_{n\ell}$  is the square of the OPE coefficients of double-twist operators. In writing (3.3.7) we also used the fact that at fixed  $\omega$ , Im  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  is nonperturbative in spin at large  $\ell$ .<sup>11</sup> We establish this fact in Appendix 3.F.

The large spin expansion of the heavy-light four-point function was actively explored in the last few years [85–98]. One of the basic observations of these works is that in d > 2the effective expansion parameter is  $\frac{\mu}{\ell^{\frac{d-2}{2}}}$ . We can therefore equivalently study the small  $\mu$ expansion of the exact results. This is what we do in the next section.

## **3.4** Small $\mu$ expansion

In the previous section we explained how to compute the dimensions and OPE data of heavylight double-twist operators using the exact two-point function (3.2.5). Now we would like to carry out this procedure perturbatively in  $1/\ell$ . Note that the expected perturbative parameter is  $\frac{\mu}{\ell}$  [85–98], so that instead of taking the large spin limit, we can equivalently consider the limit of small black holes. This is a natural limit from the point of view of the Nekrasov-Shatashvili functions, which are defined as a perturbative expansion in  $t \sim \mu$  for small  $\mu$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In principle, non-perturbative in spin effects are accessible to the light-cone bootstrap [178] thanks to the Lorentzian inversion formula [179–181]. However, such effects have not been yet explored in the context of the heavy-light bootstrap.

#### 3.4.1 Exact quantization condition and residues

In the small  $\mu$  and large spin expansion, the Green's function (3.2.5) simplifies considerably. To see this, note that at small  $\mu$  the Matone relation (3.2.1) becomes

$$a = \pm \frac{\ell + 1}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\mu),$$
 (3.4.1)

where we plugged in the dictionary from Table 3.1.1. Since the Green's function is invariant under  $a \to -a$ , it does not matter what sign we pick in (3.4.1). Choosing the minus sign in (3.4.1), the ratio of the  $\sigma = -1$  term to the  $\sigma = 1$  term in both the numerator and the denominator of (3.2.5) scales as  $\mu^{\ell+1}$ , which is exponentially small in spin. Neglecting this nonperturbative correction, we find

$$G_R^{\text{pert}}(\omega,\ell) = (1+R_+^2)^{2a_1} e^{-\partial_{a_1}F}$$
  

$$\frac{\Gamma(-2a_1)\Gamma(1/2-a+a_1-a_\infty)\Gamma(1/2-a+a_1+a_\infty)}{\Gamma(2a_1)\Gamma(1/2-a-a_1-a_\infty)\Gamma(1/2-a-a_1+a_\infty)}.$$
(3.4.2)

In a sense, this expression is a generalization of the semi-classical Virasoro vacuum block [182, 183] to d = 4. Indeed, via (3.3.7) it encodes the contribution of the identity and multistress tensor contributions in the light-light channel, schematically  $\mathcal{O}_L \times \mathcal{O}_L \sim 1 + T + T^2 + ...$ . The effects non-perturbative in spin (which are intimately related to the presence of the black hole horizon) are, on the other hand, encoded in the contribution of the double-twist operators  $\mathcal{O}_L \times \mathcal{O}_L \sim \mathcal{O}_L \Box^n \partial^\ell \mathcal{O}_L$ .

We can now explicitly read off the poles and residues of (3.4.2). There are poles in the function  $\Gamma(1/2 - a + a_1 - a_\infty)$  at positive energies  $\omega = \omega_{n\ell}$ , which are nothing but the dimensions of the double-twist operators. The locations of these poles are determined by the following quantization condition,

$$\omega_{n\ell}: \quad n = a + a_{\infty} - a_1 - 1/2, \quad n \ge 0. \tag{3.4.3}$$

Geometrically this corresponds to the quantization of the quantum A-period associated to the Seiberg-Witten geometry. The relation (3.4.3) implicitly defines the scaling dimensions of the double-twist operators  $\omega_{n,\ell}$  via the black hole to gauge theory dictionary in Table 3.1.1 and (3.1.15), along with the Matone relation (3.2.1). Computing the residues of the twopoint function (3.4.2) and using (3.3.7) and Table 3.1.2 then gives

$$c_{n\ell} = \frac{(\ell+1)\Gamma(\Delta+n-1)\Gamma(2a_{\infty}-n)}{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(\Delta-1)\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(2a_{\infty}-n-\Delta+2)} \times \frac{(1+R_{+}^{2})^{\Delta-2}e^{-\partial_{a_{1}}F}}{2} \left(\frac{d(a+a_{\infty})}{d\omega}\right)^{-1}\Big|_{\omega=\omega_{n\ell}}.$$
(3.4.4)

Note that, since F is defined by a power series in  $\mu$  whose coefficients are rational functions, it is straightforward to invert (3.4.3) to any desired order in  $\mu$  by perturbing around the  $\mu = 0$  result. In this sense, (3.4.3) and (3.4.4) represent an exact solution for the bootstrap data.

#### 3.4.2 Anomalous dimensions and OPE data

To organize the perturbative series, let us define

$$\omega_{n\ell} = \omega_{n\ell}^{(0)} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu^{i} \gamma_{n\ell}^{(i)} ,$$

$$c_{n\ell} = c_{n\ell}^{(0)} \left( 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu^{i} c_{n\ell}^{(i)} \right) .$$
(3.4.5)

We then plug these expansions into (3.4.3) and (3.4.2), using the dictionary in Table 3.1.1 and (3.1.15), the Matone relation (3.2.1), and the definitions in Appendix 3.C. At zeroth order in  $\mu$ , we reproduce the OPE coefficients in generalized free field theory, see e.g. [86, 96],

$$\omega_{n\ell}^{(0)} = \Delta + \ell + 2n , \qquad (3.4.6)$$

$$c_{n\ell}^{(0)} = \frac{(\ell+1)\Gamma(\Delta+n-1)\Gamma(\Delta+n+\ell)}{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(\Delta-1)\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(n+\ell+2)},$$
(3.4.7)

namely we have the following identity

$$\sum_{n,\ell=0}^{\infty} c_{n\ell}^{(0)}(z\bar{z})^{\frac{\omega_{n\ell}^{(0)} - \Delta - \ell}{2}} \frac{z^{\ell+1} - \bar{z}^{\ell+1}}{z - \bar{z}} = \frac{1}{(1 - z)^{\Delta}(1 - \bar{z})^{\Delta}} .$$
(3.4.8)

Now let us go to first order in  $\mu$ . We find

$$\gamma_{n\ell}^{(1)} = -\frac{\Delta^2 + \Delta(6n-1) + 6n(n-1)}{2(\ell+1)} , \qquad (3.4.9)$$

$$c_{n\ell}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \left( 3(\Delta - 2) - \frac{3(\Delta + 2n - 1)}{\ell + 1} + \right)$$
(3.4.10)

$$(3(\ell+2n+\Delta)-2\gamma_1)(\psi^{(0)}(2+\ell+n)-\psi^{(0)}(\Delta+\ell+n))),$$

where  $\psi^{(m)}(x) = d^{m+1} \log \Gamma(x) / dx^{m+1}$  is the polygamma function of order m. These results agree with the light-cone bootstrap computations [89, 96, 98].

At second order  $\mathcal{O}(\mu^2)$  the answers become more complicated, and are displayed explicitly in Appendix 3.D. Already at this order only  $\mathcal{O}(1/\ell^2)$  results are available in the literature, which is the leading term in the large spin expansion. We find complete agreement with the result of [96].

At k-th order  $\mathcal{O}(\mu^k)$  we find the following structure

$$\gamma_{n\ell}^{(k)} = \sum_{j=0}^{2k+1} R_j^{(k)}(n,\ell) \Delta^j, \qquad (3.4.11)$$

where  $R_j^{(k)}(n, \ell)$  are polynomials of degree k - j in n and are meromorphic functions of  $\ell$ . The singularities occur at  $\ell_{\text{sing}} \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $-k - 1 \leq \ell_{\text{sing}} \leq k - 1$ . These singularities are however spurious and occur because for  $\ell < k$  it is not justified to drop the  $\sigma = -1$  term when going from (3.2.5) to (3.4.2).

For the three-point functions  $c_{n\ell}^{(k)}$  the structure is very similar, the main difference being that the analogs of  $R_j^{(k)}(n,\ell)$  can also depend on  $\psi^{(m)}(\Delta + n + \ell) - \psi^{(m)}(2 + n + \ell)$  with  $m \leq k-1$ .

### 3.4.3 The imaginary part of quasi-normal modes

Until now, in computing the position of the poles of  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$ , we have neglected the imaginary part, which is exponentially suppressed at large spin.<sup>12</sup> This exponential suppression of the imaginary part means that the large spin quasinormal modes thermalize very slowly, so they give the leading contribution to the late time Green's function to leading order in the  $1/c_T$  expansion.

Let us now compute the leading behavior of the imaginary part, for which we must consider the exact Green's function (3.2.5). In the large spin expansion, the numerator of (3.2.5) is finite, so the poles arise when the denominator vanishes. Therefore we must solve

$$0 = \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \mathcal{M}_{-\sigma}(a_t, a; a_0) \mathcal{M}_{(-\sigma)-}(a, a_1, a_\infty) t^{\sigma a} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\partial_a F}.$$
 (3.4.12)

We make an ansatz

Im 
$$\omega_{n\ell} = i \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{n\ell}^{(k)} \mu^{\ell+1/2+k},$$
 (3.4.13)

where  $f_{n\ell}^{(k)}$  are real. Note that the imaginary part behaves as  $\mu^{\ell}$  at large  $\ell$ , as expected from the tunneling calculation in [99]. The first contribution to the imaginary part is at order  $\mu^{\ell+3/2}$ , which is consistent with numerical evidence [184]. As shown in Appendix 3.E, the explicit form of the leading contribution to the imaginary part is

$$f_{n\ell}^{(1)} = -\frac{2^{-4\ell}\pi^2}{(\ell+1)^2}\omega_{n\ell}^{(0)}\frac{\Gamma(\Delta+n+\ell)}{\Gamma(\Delta+n-1)}\frac{\Gamma(n+\ell+2)}{\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(\frac{\ell+1}{2})^4}.$$
(3.4.14)

It should be possible to check this expression using the techniques of [185]. Note that Im  $\omega_{n\ell} < 0$  as expected from causality.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ Physically, this is related to the fact that classically stable orbits can decay quantum-mechanically due to tunneling, see e.g. [131].

# Appendix

### 3.A Conventions

Here we collect our conventions for various thermal two-point functions. Let us start with the case of the black hole. This is dual to a holographic CFT on  $S^1 \times S^3$ , with the radius of  $S^1$  being  $\beta$  and the radius of  $S^3$  set to 1. We have for the retarded two-point function

$$i\theta(t)\langle [\mathcal{O}(t,\vec{n}),\mathcal{O}(0,\vec{n}')]\rangle_{\beta} = \frac{1}{4\pi(\Delta-1)(\Delta-2)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, e^{-i\omega t} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} (\ell+1)G_R(\omega,\ell) \frac{\sin(\ell+1)\theta}{\sin\theta},$$
(3.A.1)

where  $\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n}' = \cos \theta$  and  $\vec{n}^2 = \vec{n}'^2 = 1$ , so that  $\vec{n}, \vec{n}' \in S^3$ .  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  is given by (3.2.5). We also used for partial waves  $C_{\ell}^{(1)}(\cos \theta) = \frac{\sin(\ell+1)\theta}{\sin \theta}$ .

For the Euclidean two-point function we have

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau, \vec{n}) \mathcal{O}(0, \vec{n}') \rangle_{\beta} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, e^{-\omega\tau} \, \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g_{\omega,\ell} \frac{\sin(\ell+1)\theta}{\sin\theta}, \quad 0 < \tau < \beta, \tag{3.A.2}$$

where  $g_{\omega,\ell}$  is given in (3.3.6) and  $\tau$  is the Euclidean time. KMS symmetry or invariance under  $\tau \to \beta - \tau$  holds thanks to (3.3.5). We normalize the operators such that the unit operator contributes as  $\frac{e^{-\tau\Delta}}{([1-e^{-\tau+i\theta}]](1-e^{-\tau-i\theta}])^{\Delta}}$ . The Wightman function can be obtained through Wick rotation by taking  $\tau \to \epsilon + it$  and then  $\epsilon \to 0$ .

For the black brane, or holographic CFT on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  with the radius of  $S^1$  set to 1, we have for the retarded two-point function

$$i\theta(t)\langle [\mathcal{O}(t,\mathbf{x}),\mathcal{O}(0,0)]\rangle_{\beta=1} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2(\Delta-1)(\Delta-2)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, e^{-i\omega t} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d^3\mathbf{k} \, e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega,\mathbf{k}).$$
(3.A.3)

 $G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, \mathbf{k})$  is given by (3.2.7).

For the Euclidean two-point function we have

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau, \mathbf{x}) \mathcal{O}(0, 0) \rangle_{\beta=1} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, e^{-\omega\tau} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d^3 \mathbf{k} \, e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} g_{\omega, \mathbf{k}}, \quad 0 < \tau < 1, \tag{3.A.4}$$

where  $\tau$  is the Euclidean time and  $g_{\omega,\mathbf{k}}$  is given by (3.B.2). We normalize operators such that the unit operator contributes as  $\frac{1}{(\tau^2+\mathbf{x}^2)^{\Delta}}$ . KMS symmetry or invariance under  $\tau \to 1-\tau$ holds thanks to (3.B.5). The Wightman function can be obtained through Wick rotation by taking  $\tau \to \epsilon + it$  and then  $\epsilon \to 0$ .

### 3.B From black hole to black brane

Let us describe in a bit more detail the infinite temperature limit that takes us from the black hole to the black brane. This is one example of the so-called macroscopic limits considered in [173] and we simply apply the formulas of that paper to our case.

First of all, we introduce the limiting retarded two-point function as follows,

$$G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{G_R(\omega T, |\mathbf{k}|T)}{T^{4a_1}},$$
(3.B.1)

where  $G_R(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|)$  is the retarded thermal two-point function for a CFT on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^3$  with  $(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|)$  measured in units of temperature on  $S^1$ . Let us also introduce

$$g_{\omega,\mathbf{k}}^{\text{brane}} = \frac{1}{2\pi(\Delta-1)(\Delta-2)} \frac{\text{Im } G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega,|\mathbf{k}|)}{1-e^{-\omega}}.$$
(3.B.2)

At the level of the two-point function we consider the following limit

$$G^{\text{brane}}(w,\bar{w}) \equiv \lim_{T \to \infty} T^{-2\Delta} G\left(z = 1 - \frac{w}{T}, \bar{z} = 1 - \frac{\bar{w}}{T}\right).$$
(3.B.3)

Plugging this formula in the OPE expansion (3.3.4) we get

$$G^{\text{brane}}(w,\bar{w}) = \lim_{T \to \infty} T^{-4} \int_0^\infty d|\mathbf{k}| |\mathbf{k}| \times T^2 \int_{-\infty}^\infty d\omega \times T \, g_{\omega,\mathbf{k}} e^{-\frac{(w+\bar{w})}{2}(\omega-|\mathbf{k}|)} \frac{e^{-w|\mathbf{k}|} - e^{-\bar{w}|\mathbf{k}|}}{\bar{w} - w} \times T$$
$$= \int_0^\infty d|\mathbf{k}| |\mathbf{k}| \int_{-\infty}^\infty d\omega \, g_{\omega,\mathbf{k}} e^{-\frac{(w+\bar{w})}{2}(\omega-|\mathbf{k}|)} \frac{e^{-w|\mathbf{k}|} - e^{-\bar{w}|\mathbf{k}|}}{\bar{w} - w} , \qquad (3.B.4)$$

where we converted the sum to an integral,  $\sum_{\ell} \rightarrow T \int d|\mathbf{k}|$ .

The KMS symmetry becomes

$$g_{-\omega,\mathbf{k}} = e^{-\omega} g_{\omega,\mathbf{k}}.$$
 (3.B.5)

We next consider the two-point function on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ ,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau, \mathbf{x}) \mathcal{O}(0, 0)_{\beta} = G^{\text{brane}} \Big( \tau + i |\mathbf{x}|, \tau - i |\mathbf{x}| \Big).$$
 (3.B.6)

#### 3.B. FROM BLACK HOLE TO BLACK BRANE

In terms of these variables we get

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau, \mathbf{x}) \mathcal{O}(0, 0) \rangle_{\beta} = \int_{0}^{\infty} d|\mathbf{k}| |\mathbf{k}| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, g_{\omega, \mathbf{k}} e^{-\omega \tau} \frac{\sin |\mathbf{k}| |\mathbf{x}|}{|\mathbf{x}|}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d^{3} \mathbf{k} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}} e^{-\omega \tau} g_{\omega, \mathbf{k}}. \tag{3.B.7}$$

The result is indeed invariant under KMS symmetry  $\tau \to 1 - \tau$  (recall that we have set  $\beta = 1$ ). By analytically continuing to Lorentzian time we see that  $g_{\omega,\mathbf{k}}$  is the Fourier transform of the Wightman two-point function.

Note that taking the limit (3.B.3) does not change the normalization of the scalar operator, since

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} T^{-2\Delta} \frac{1}{\left(1 - (1 - \frac{w}{T})\right)^{\Delta} \left(1 - (1 - \frac{\bar{w}}{T})\right)^{\Delta}} = \frac{1}{(w\bar{w})^{\Delta}} = \frac{1}{(\tau^2 + \mathbf{x}^2)^{\Delta}}.$$
 (3.B.8)

In other words if the operator was unit-normalized it will continue to be unit-normalized after taking the limit.

Let us finish with a few formulas for the vacuum correlators. In Fourier space, the vacuum Wightman two-point function  $\langle \mathcal{O}(t, \mathbf{x}) \mathcal{O}(0, 0) \rangle_0 = \frac{1}{(-(t-i\epsilon)^2 + \mathbf{x}^2)^{\Delta}}$  takes the form

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, d^3 \mathbf{x} \, e^{i\omega t - i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \frac{1}{(-(t - i\epsilon)^2 + \mathbf{x}^2)^{\Delta}} = \theta(\omega)\theta(\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2) \frac{2\pi^3}{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(\Delta - 1)} \Big(\frac{\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2}{4}\Big)^{\Delta - 2}.$$
(3.B.9)

It is expected that (3.B.9) controls the large  $\omega$  asymptotics of the thermal correlators [186, 187].

From (3.B.7) we get that

$$g_{\omega,\mathbf{k}} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{4\pi^3} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d^3 \mathbf{k} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} e^{it\omega} \langle \mathcal{O}(\epsilon+it,\mathbf{x})\mathcal{O}(0,0) \rangle_{\beta}.$$
(3.B.10)

Formulas (3.B.9), (3.B.5) together with (3.B.2) imply that

$$\lim_{|\omega|\gg 1, |\omega|\gg |\mathbf{k}|} \operatorname{Im} \, G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|) \simeq -\sin \pi \Delta \frac{\Gamma(2-\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta-2)} \operatorname{sign}(\omega) \left(\frac{|\omega|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta-2)}.$$
 (3.B.11)

Via dispersion relations for  $G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|)$  this leads to the following asymptotic behavior for the real part,

$$\lim_{|\omega|\gg 1, |\omega|\gg |\mathbf{k}|} \operatorname{Re} \, G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|) \simeq \cos \pi \Delta \frac{\Gamma(2-\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta-2)} \left(\frac{|\omega|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta-2)},\tag{3.B.12}$$

where everywhere we tacitly assumed that  $\Delta$  is not an integer. For the black hole case  $(t < \frac{1}{2})$  we get in the same way

$$\lim_{|\omega|/T \gg 1,\ell} G_R(\omega,\ell) \simeq e^{-\pi i \Delta \operatorname{sign}(\omega)} \frac{\Gamma(2-\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta-2)} \left(\frac{|\omega|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta-2)}.$$
 (3.B.13)

We can also derive the large  $\omega$  and fixed  $\ell$  behavior of the Green's function directly from our exact expression (3.2.5). Let us start with the black hole case. By solving the Matone relation (3.2.1) order by order in the instanton expansion, one finds in this limit  $\partial_a F = ic_1(t)\omega + \mathcal{O}(\omega^0)$ ,  $\partial_{a_1}F = c_3(t)(\Delta - 2) + \mathcal{O}(\omega^{-1})$ , and  $a = ic_2(t)\omega + \mathcal{O}(\omega^0)$ , with  $c_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since the Green's function (3.2.5) is invariant under  $a \to -a$ , we can choose  $c_2 > 0$  without loss of generality. With this specification, the  $\sigma = 1$  term in (3.2.5) dominates over the  $\sigma = -1$  term. Expanding the gamma functions at large  $\omega$  and using the dictionary in Table 3.1.1, we find

$$G_R(\omega,\ell) \approx (1+R_+^2)^{2a_1} e^{-\partial_{a_1} F} \frac{\Gamma(-2a_1)}{\Gamma(2a_1)} (a_\infty - a)^{2a_1} (-a - a_\infty)^{2a_1} \approx \frac{\Gamma(2-\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta-2)} \left(\frac{|\omega|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta-2)} e^{-\pi i \Delta \operatorname{sign}(\omega)} \left(c(t)\right)^{\Delta-2},$$
(3.B.14)

where

$$c(t) = \frac{e^{-c_3(t)}(1-t)(4c_2(t)^2 + 2t^2 - 3t + 1)}{1-2t}.$$
(3.B.15)

The OPE predicts that c(t) = 1.

We do not have complete analytic control over the constants  $c_2(t)$  and  $c_3(t)$ , but we checked that (3.B.15) approaches 1 by computing the first few orders in the instanton expansion, see Figure 3.B.1. Hence we recover (3.B.13). The black brane results (3.B.11) and (3.B.12) correspond to  $t \to \frac{1}{2}$  in Figure 3.B.1.

### 3.C The Nekrasov-Shatashvili function

We denote by  $Y = (\nu_1, \nu_2, ...)$  a partition (or Young tableau) and by  $Y^t = (\nu_1^t, \nu_2^t, ...)$  its transpose. We also use  $\vec{Y} = (Y_1, Y_2)$  to denote a vector of Young tableaux. The leg-length and the arm-length are defined by  $h_Y(s) = \nu_j - i$  and  $v_Y(s) = \nu_i^t - j$ , where s = (i, j) is a box. We define

$$z_{\rm h}\left(\vec{a}, \vec{Y}, \mu\right) = \prod_{I=1,2} \prod_{s \in Y_I} \left( a_I + \mu + \epsilon_1 \left( i - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \epsilon_2 \left( j - \frac{1}{2} \right) \right) ,$$
  
$$z_{\rm v}\left(\vec{a}, \vec{Y}\right) = \prod_{I,J=1}^2 \prod_{s \in Y_I} \frac{1}{a_I - a_J - \epsilon_1 v_{Y_J}(s) + \epsilon_2 (h_{Y_I}(s) + 1)} \prod_{s \in Y_J} \frac{1}{a_I - a_J + \epsilon_1 (v_{Y_I}(s) + 1) - \epsilon_2 h_{Y_I}(s)} .$$
  
(3.C.1)



Figure 3.B.1: c(t) defined in (3.B.15) as a function of the black hole mass (here parameterized by t), and the maximum instanton number  $n_{\text{max}}$ . Based on the OPE we expect that c(t) is independent of t and is equal to 1.

In this paper we always take  $\vec{a} = (a, -a)$  and  $\epsilon_1 = 1$ . The instanton part of the NS function is defined as

$$F = \lim_{\epsilon_2 \to 0} \epsilon_2 \log \left( (1-t)^{-2\epsilon_2^{-1}(\frac{1}{2}+a_1)(\frac{1}{2}+a_t)} \sum_{\vec{Y}} t^{|\vec{Y}|} z_{\mathbf{v}} \left( \vec{a}, \vec{Y} \right) \prod_{\theta=\pm} z_{\mathbf{h}} \left( \vec{a}, \vec{Y}, a_t + \theta a_0 \right) z_{\mathbf{h}} \left( \vec{a}, \vec{Y}, a_1 + \theta a_\infty \right) \right) .$$
(3.C.2)

Physically, a corresponds to the VEV of the scalar in the vector multiplet,  $\epsilon_i$  are two  $\Omega$ background parameters regulating the infrared divergence in the localization computation, and  $a_0, a_{\infty}, a_1, a_t$  are related to the masses  $m_i$  of the hypermultiplets via

$$m_1 = a_t + a_0, \quad m_2 = a_t - a_0, \quad m_3 = a_1 + a_\infty, \quad m_4 = a_1 - a_\infty.$$
 (3.C.3)

This function takes the form of a convergent series expansion in t,

$$F = \sum_{n \ge 1}^{\infty} c_n(a, a_0, a_t, a_1, a_\infty) t^n, \qquad (3.C.4)$$

where the  $c_n$  coefficients are rational functions defined via (3.C.2). For example we have

$$c_1(a, a_0, a_t, a_1, a_\infty) = \frac{\left(4a^2 - 4a_0^2 + 4a_t^2 - 1\right)\left(4a^2 + 4a_1^2 - 4a_\infty^2 - 1\right)}{8 - 32a^2}.$$
 (3.C.5)

The full NS function  $F^{\rm NS}$  includes, on top of the instanton part F, the classical and one-loop parts. We have

$$\begin{split} F^{\rm NS} = & F - a^2 \log t - \psi^{(-2)} \left( -a - a_0 - a_t + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \psi^{(-2)} \left( a - a_0 - a_t + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \psi^{(-2)} \left( -a + a_0 - a_t + \frac{1}{2} \right) \\ & - \psi^{(-2)} \left( a + a_0 - a_t + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \psi^{(-2)} \left( -a - a_1 - a_\infty + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \psi^{(-2)} \left( a - a_1 - a_\infty + \frac{1}{2} \right) \\ & - \psi^{(-2)} \left( -a - a_1 + a_\infty + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \psi^{(-2)} \left( a - a_1 + a_\infty + \frac{1}{2} \right) \\ & + \psi^{(-2)} (2a + 1) + \psi^{(-2)} (1 - 2a) \;, \end{split}$$

where  $\psi^{(-2)}(x)$  is the polygamma function of negative order,  $\psi^{(-n)}(x) = \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \int_0^z dt \, (z-t)^{n-2} \log \Gamma(t)$ .

# 3.D $O(\mu^2)$ OPE data of double-twist operators

Here we display the results for the OPE data at order  $\mu^2$ . These expressions are in full agreement with [96] at order  $1/\ell^2$ , and provide new predictions at higher orders in  $1/\ell$ . We find

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{n\ell}^{(2)} &= -\frac{\left((\Delta-1)\Delta+6(\Delta-1)n+6n^2\right)^2}{8(\ell+1)^3} - \frac{n(\Delta+n-2)(\Delta+2n-2)^2}{2(\ell+2)} - \frac{(n+1)(\Delta+n-1)(\Delta+2n)^2}{2\ell} \\ &+ \frac{(\Delta-1)\Delta(8\Delta+1)+65n^4+130(\Delta-1)n^3+(3\Delta(27\Delta-43)+133)n^2+(\Delta-1)\left(16\Delta^2+\Delta+68\right)n}{16(\ell+1)} \\ &- \frac{(n-1)n(\Delta+n-3)(\Delta+n-2)}{32(\ell+3)} - \frac{(n+1)(n+2)(\Delta+n-1)(\Delta+n)}{32(\ell-1)}, \\ c_{n\ell}^{(2)} &= \frac{1}{8}(\Delta-2)(9\Delta-44) - \frac{(2n+3)(\Delta+n-1)(\Delta+n)}{32(\ell-1)} - \frac{3(\Delta+2n-1)\left((\Delta-1)\Delta+6n^2+6(\Delta-1)n\right)}{4(\ell+1)^3} \\ &+ \frac{(\Delta+2n-1)\left(\Delta(16\Delta-71)+130n^2+130(\Delta-1)n+212\right)}{32(\ell+1)} - \frac{(\Delta+n-1)(\Delta+2n)(\Delta+4n+2)}{2\ell} \\ &- \frac{(n-1)n(2\Delta+2n-5)}{32(\ell+3)} - \frac{n(\Delta+2n-2)(3\Delta+4n-6)}{2(\ell+2)} + \frac{1}{4}(\psi^{(0)}(n+\ell+2)-\psi^{(0)}(n+\ell+\Delta)) \\ &\times \left(9\Delta^2 - \frac{89\Delta}{2} + \frac{\left((\Delta-1)\Delta+6n^2+6(\Delta-1)n\right)^2}{2(\ell+1)^3} - \frac{3(\Delta+2n-1)\left((\Delta-1)\Delta+6n^2+6(\Delta-1)n\right)}{(\ell+1)^2} \\ &+ \frac{(\Delta-1)(\Delta(4\Delta-73)+36)-65n^4-130(\Delta-1)n^3+(3(67-27\Delta)\Delta-493)n^2-(\Delta-1)(\Delta(16\Delta-71)+428)n}{4(\ell+1)} \\ &+ (18\Delta-89)n + \frac{2n(\Delta+n-2)(\Delta+2n-2)^2}{\ell+2} + \frac{2(n+1)(\Delta+n-1)(\Delta+2n)^2}{\ell} + \frac{(n-1)n(\Delta+n-3)(\Delta+n-2)}{8(\ell+3)} \\ &+ \frac{(n+1)(n+2)(\Delta+n-1)(\Delta+n)}{8(\ell-1)} + \left(9\Delta-\frac{71}{2}\right)\ell + 9\right) + (\Delta(\Delta+2)+6n^2+6n(\Delta+\ell)+3\ell^2+3(\Delta+1)\ell)^2 \\ &\times \frac{(\psi^{(0)}(n+\ell+2)-\psi^{(0)}(n+\ell+\Delta))^2+\psi^{(1)}(n+\ell+\Delta)-\psi^{(1)}(n+\ell+2)}{8(\ell+1)}. \end{split}$$

Similar expressions up to order  $\mu^5$  can be found in the supplemental files.

# 3.E The imaginary part of quasi-normal modes

In this appendix we spell out some details for the computation of (3.4.14). The condition for a pole in  $G_R(\omega, \ell)$  follows from (3.2.5) and reads

$$t^{-2a}e^{\partial_a F}\left(\frac{\Gamma(2a)\Gamma\left(-a-a_t+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(-2a)\Gamma\left(a-a_t+\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right)^2 - \frac{\Gamma\left(a+a_1-a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(a+a_1+a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(-a+a_1-a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(-a+a_1+a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)} = 0.$$
(3.E.1)

By using the ansatz (3.4.13) as well as the dictionary in Table 3.1.1 and the perturbative solution for the real part (3.4.5), we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{\Gamma\left(a+a_{1}-a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(a+a_{1}+a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(-a+a_{1}-a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(-a+a_{1}+a_{\infty}+\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) = \mu^{\ell+1/2}\left(\frac{\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(n+\Delta-1)}{\Gamma(\ell+n+2)\Gamma(\ell+n+\Delta)}\frac{(-1)^{\ell}}{3\omega_{n\ell}^{(0)}-2\gamma_{n\ell}^{(1)}}f_{n\ell}^{(1)} + \mathcal{O}(\mu)\right) \\ & \operatorname{Im}\left(t^{-2a}e^{\partial_{a}F}\left(\frac{\Gamma(2a)\Gamma\left(-a-a_{t}+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(-2a)\Gamma\left(a-a_{t}+\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right)^{2}\right) = -\mu^{\ell+1/2}\left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\ell}{2}+1\right)^{4}}{\Gamma(\ell+1)^{2}\Gamma(\ell+2)^{2}}\frac{(-1)^{\ell}\omega_{n\ell}^{(0)}}{3\omega_{n\ell}^{(0)}-2\gamma_{n\ell}^{(1)}} + \mathcal{O}(\mu)\right) \;, \end{split}$$

leading to (3.4.14).

# 3.F The large $\ell$ /large k, fixed $\omega$ limit

Using the asymptotic behavior (3.2.12), we can investigate the behavior of  $G_R$  at large  $\ell$ . We start with the real part of  $G_R$ , for which the leading behavior comes from the  $\sigma = 1$  terms in (3.2.5). Expanding at large a, we find

$$\operatorname{Re} G_R(\omega,\ell) \approx (1+R_+^2)^{\Delta-2} \frac{\Gamma(2-\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta-2)} e^{-\partial_{a_1} F}(-a)^{4a_1} \approx \frac{\Gamma(2-\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta-2)} \left(\frac{\ell}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta-2)}$$
(3.F.1)

Note that this is independent of the temperature.

Now let us turn to the imaginary part. The leading contribution comes from expanding to first order in the  $\sigma = -1$  term in both the numerator and denominator of (3.2.5). We find

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Im} G_{R}(\omega,\ell) &\approx -\frac{2(1+R_{+}^{2})^{2a_{1}}e^{\partial_{a}F-\partial_{a_{1}}F}t^{-2a}\sin(2\pi a)\sin(2\pi a_{1})}{\cos(2\pi(a-a_{1}))+\cos(2\pi a_{\infty})}\frac{\Gamma(2a)^{2}\Gamma(-2a_{1})\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-a+a_{1}-a_{\infty}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-a+a_{1}+a_{\infty}\right)}{\Gamma(-2a)^{2}\Gamma(2a_{1})\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+a-a_{1}-a_{\infty}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+a-a_{1}+a_{\infty}\right)} \\ &\times \operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-a-a_{t}\right)^{2}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}+a-a_{t}\right)^{2}}\right) \\ &\approx -\frac{\Gamma(-2a_{1})}{\Gamma(2a_{1})}(1+R_{+}^{2})^{2a_{1}}e^{\partial_{a}F-\partial_{a_{1}}F}t^{-2a}2^{8a+1}(-a)^{4a_{1}}\sin(2\pi a_{1})\sinh(2\pi|a_{t}|), \end{split}$$

where in the second equality we took the large a limit. Plugging in the asymptotic behavior (3.2.12) and the dictionary given in Table 3.1.2 gives

Im 
$$G_R(\omega, \ell) \approx \frac{2\pi \sinh(\pi\omega\sqrt{t(1-2t)})}{\Gamma(\Delta-1)\Gamma(\Delta-2)} \left(\frac{\ell}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta-2)} \exp\left(-2(\ell+1)\sqrt{1-2t}K(1-t)\right).$$
  
(3.F.2)

We see that the imaginary part decays exponentially with spin.

To compute the large  $|\mathbf{k}|$  behavior for the black brane, we can take the infinite temperature limit of (3.F.1) and (3.F.2). Using the definition (3.1.19) of the brane two-point function, we find

$$G_R^{\text{brane}}(\omega, |\mathbf{k}|) \approx \frac{\Gamma(2 - \Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 1)\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 1)\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{2}\right)^{2(\Delta - 2)} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\Delta - 2)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right) + i \frac{2\pi \sin\left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left$$

The rate of exponential decay of the imaginary part matches the result from [135].

# Conclusions

In this thesis we studied Heun's equation and a class of its confluences, deriving exact formulae for its connection coefficients. On the way, we studied novel objects in Liouville CFT and their connection to 4d gauge theory. Finally we applied the results to the study of black holes in the context of general relativity.

We started in chapter 1 by studying the confluent Heun equation with applications to the 4d Kerr black hole in mind. In this context, the confluent Heun equation is better known as the Teukolsky equation [2]. We provided exact formulae for its solutions, expanded around different singular points and for the connection matrices relating these solutions and demonstrated their validity by comparing with the numerical integration of the Teukolsky equation. This control of the solutions of the equation allowed us to study several physical quantities of interest. First, we derived an exact expression for the greybody factor of the black hole at finite frequency, which extends previously known results, obtained in different approximations. It matches the result of Maldacena and Strominger [76] in the zero frequency limit and the results obtained by studying the Teukolsky equation in the WKB approximation [77] upon taking the semiclassical limit. Second, we studied the quasinormal modes of the Kerr black hole which were conventionally calculated using purely numerical techniques. In [68] an analytic quantization condition for the quasinormal modes was given in the form of a well-motivated conjecture. We gave a physicist's proof of their formula by deriving it from first principles in Liouville CFT. An analogous quantization condition was proven for the angular part of the Teukolsky equation, giving the eigenvalues of the spin-weighted spheroidal harmonics. Finally, we studied the tidal deformations of the black hole, encoded in the so-called Love numbers. Our exact solution, valid at finite frequency allows to naturally distinguish the source and response term, a much discussed topic in the literature [100, 101]. We compared our expressions to the recent results on the Love numbers in the static [78] and quasi-static [79, 80] regimes.

In chapter 2 we extended the techniques introduced in chapter 1 to the general Heun equation and a class of its confluences, giving an extensive treatment of all the differential equations, their fundamental solutions in different regimes, and their connections matrices. On a more technical level, we studied in detail the role and the properties of the exotic rank 1 and rank 1/2 Whittaker states in Liouville CFT, in particular their physical normalization and interplay with Virasoro primary states, elaborating on results contained already (somewhat obscurely) in [47]. We also gave a detailed treatment of the large-modulus expansions of the corresponding confluent conformal blocks, extending and clarifying previous studies [104, 105].

Finally, in chapter 3 we applied our techniques to the study of the 5d AdS-Schwarzschild black hole and its holographically dual thermal CFT and managed to calculate the explicit expression for the thermal two-point function in this dual CFT. This is a completely new result and we checked its validity by comparing with previously obtained approximate results. In particular, exploiting the relationship between the thermal two-point function and the heavy-light four-point function we connect with the heavy-light lightcone bootstrap [83, 84]. In the large spin limit, we explained how to extract arbitrarily many terms contributing to the anomalous dimensions and OPE data of the double-twist operators from our exact expression. To zeroth order we reproduced results of generalized free field theory [86, 96], while to first order we found complete agreement with the lightcone bootstrap computations [89, 96, 98]. Already at second order we extended results which were previously only partially known [96], while giving the recipe to compute arbitrarily many higher orders. From our exact expression, we also extracted the imaginary part of the Green's function at large spin which is related to the thermalization properties of the quasinormal modes. We reproduced properties expected from tunneling arguments [99] and from numerical computations [184] and gave a recipe to extract arbitrarily many orders contributing to the imaginary part of the Green's function in the large spin regime from our exact formula.

# Bibliography

- B. P. Abbott et al. "Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116.6 (2016), p. 061102. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 116.061102. arXiv: 1602.03837 [gr-qc].
- S. A. Teukolsky. "Rotating black holes separable wave equations for gravitational and electromagnetic perturbations". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 29 (1972), pp. 1114–1118. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.29.1114.
- G. Policastro, Dan T. Son, and Andrei O. Starinets. "The Shear viscosity of strongly coupled N=4 supersymmetric Yang-Mills plasma". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 87 (2001), p. 081601. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.081601. arXiv: hep-th/0104066.
- Sean A. Hartnoll, Andrew Lucas, and Subir Sachdev. "Holographic quantum matter". In: (Dec. 2016). arXiv: 1612.07324 [hep-th].
- [5] Emanuele Berti, Vitor Cardoso, and Andrei O Starinets. "Quasinormal modes of black holes and black branes". In: *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 26.16 (2009), p. 163001. ISSN: 1361-6382. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/26/16/163001. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/26/16/163001.
- [6] Savso Grozdanov, Koenraad Schalm, and Vincenzo Scopelliti. "Black hole scrambling from hydrodynamics". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 120.23 (2018), p. 231601. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.120.231601. arXiv: 1710.00921 [hep-th].
- [7] Mike Blake et al. "Many-body chaos and energy dynamics in holography". In: *JHEP* 10 (2018), p. 035. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2018)035. arXiv: 1809.01169 [hep-th].
- [8] A. I. Larkin and Y. N. Ovchinnikov. "Nonuniform state of superconductors". In: Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 47 (1964), pp. 1136–1146.
- [9] Stephen H. Shenker and Douglas Stanford. "Black holes and the butterfly effect". In: JHEP 03 (2014), p. 067. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2014)067. arXiv: 1306.0622 [hep-th].
- Juan Martin Maldacena. "Eternal black holes in anti-de Sitter". In: JHEP 04 (2003),
   p. 021. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2003/04/021. arXiv: hep-th/0106112.

- [11] Lukasz Fidkowski et al. "The Black hole singularity in AdS / CFT". In: JHEP 02 (2004), p. 014. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2004/02/014. arXiv: hep-th/0306170.
- [12] Guido Festuccia and Hong Liu. "Excursions beyond the horizon: Black hole singularities in Yang-Mills theories. I." In: JHEP 04 (2006), p. 044. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2006/04/044. arXiv: hep-th/0506202.
- [13] Sean A. Hartnoll et al. "Diving into a holographic superconductor". In: SciPost Phys. 10.1 (2021), p. 009. DOI: 10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.1.009. arXiv: 2008.12786 [hep-th].
- [14] Matan Grinberg and Juan Maldacena. "Proper time to the black hole singularity from thermal one-point functions". In: JHEP 03 (2021), p. 131. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP03(2021)131. arXiv: 2011.01004 [hep-th].
- [15] Karl Heun. "Zur Theorie der Riemann'schen Functionen zweiter Ordnung mit vier Verzweigungspunkten". In: Mathematische Annalen 33.2 (1888), pp. 161–179.
- [16] C.F. Gauss et al. Carl Friedrich Gauss Werke: Bd. Analysis (various texts, in Latin and German, orig. publ. between 1799-1851, or found in the "Nachlass"; annotated by E.J. Schering). 1866 [i.e. 1868. Carl Friedrich Gauss Werke. Gedruckt in der Dieterichschen Universitäts-Druckerei W. Fr. Kaestner, 1866. URL: https://books. google.it/books?id=uDMAAAAAQAAJ.
- M. Hortacsu. "Heun Functions and Some of Their Applications in Physics". In: (2012). Ed. by Ugur Camci and Ibrahim Semiz, pp. 23–39. DOI: 10.1142/9789814417532\_ 0002. arXiv: 1101.0471 [math-ph].
- [18] P P Fiziev. "The Heun functions as a modern powerful tool for research in different scientific domains". In: arXiv e-prints, arXiv:1512.04025 (Dec. 2015), arXiv:1512.04025. arXiv: 1512.04025 [math-ph].
- P.A. Ronveaux et al. *Heun's Differential Equations*. Oxford science publications. Oxford University Press, 1995. ISBN: 9780198596950. URL: https://books.google. es/books?id=5p65FD8caCgC.
- [20] Liès Dekar, Lyazid Chetouani, and Théophile F. Hammann. "An exactly soluble Schrödinger equation with smooth position-dependent mass". In: Journal of Mathematical Physics 39.5 (1998), pp. 2551–2563. DOI: 10.1063/1.532407. eprint: https: //doi.org/10.1063/1.532407. URL: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.532407.
- [21] Kouichi Takemura. "On the Heun Equation". In: *Philosophical Transactions: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 366.1867 (2008), pp. 1179–1201. ISSN: 1364503X. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/25190740.
- [22] F. Klein. "Über eine neue Art von Riemann'schen Flächen. (Zweite Mittheilung)." German. In: Math. Ann. 10 (1876), pp. 398–417. ISSN: 0025-5831. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01442321.

- [23] H. Poincaré. "Sur les groupes des équations linéaires". In: Acta Mathematica 4.none (1900), pp. 201 –312. DOI: 10.1007/BF02418420. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02418420.
- [24] Michio Jimbo, Tetsuji Miwa, and Kimio Ueno. "Monodromy preserving deformation of linear ordinary differential equations with rational coefficients: I. General theory and τ-function". In: *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena* 2.2 (1981), pp. 306–352. ISSN: 0167-2789. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2789(81)90013-0. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0167278981900130.
- [25] Michio Jimbo and Tetsuji Miwa. "Monodromy perserving deformation of linear ordinary differential equations with rational coefficients. II". In: *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena* 2.3 (1981), pp. 407–448. ISSN: 0167-2789. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1016/0167-2789(81)90021-X. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/016727898190021X.
- [26] Michio Jimbo and Tetsuji Miwa. "Monodromy preserving deformation of linear ordinary differential equations with rational coefficients. III". In: *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena* 4 (1981), pp. 26–46.
- [27] A. A. Belavin, Alexander M. Polyakov, and A. B. Zamolodchikov. "Infinite Conformal Symmetry in Two-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 241 (1984). Ed. by I. M. Khalatnikov and V. P. Mineev, pp. 333–380. DOI: 10.1016/ 0550-3213(84)90052-X.
- [28] A. M. Polyakov. "Lecture at Steklov institute in Leningrad". In: unpublished (1982).
- [29] P. G. Zograf and L. A. Takhtadzhyan. "Action of the Liouville equation is a generating function for the accessory parameters and the potential of the Weil-Petersson metric on the Teichmüller space". English. In: *Funct. Anal. Appl.* 19 (1985), pp. 219– 220. ISSN: 0016-2663. DOI: 10.1007/BF01076626.
- [30] Marco Matone. "Uniformization theory and 2-D gravity. 1. Liouville action and intersection numbers". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 10 (1995), pp. 289–336. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X95000139. arXiv: hep-th/9306150.
- [31] Luigi Cantini, Pietro Menotti, and Domenico Seminara. "Proof of Polyakov conjecture for general elliptic singularities". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 517 (2001), pp. 203–209. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(01)00998-4. arXiv: hep-th/0105081.
- [32] Leon Takhtajan and Peter Zograf. "Hyperbolic 2-spheres with conical singularities, accessory parameters and Kähler metrics on  $\mathcal{M}_{0,n}$ ". In: Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 355 (Jan. 2002). DOI: 10.2307/1194984.
- [33] Leszek Hadasz and Zbigniew Jaskolski. "Liouville theory and uniformization of fourpunctured sphere". In: J. Math. Phys. 47 (2006), p. 082304. DOI: 10.1063/1. 2234272. arXiv: hep-th/0604187.

- [34] Alexey Litvinov et al. "Classical conformal blocks and Painlevé VI". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2014.7 (2014). ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/jhep07(2014) 144. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2014)144.
- [35] Pietro Menotti. "On the monodromy problem for the four-punctured sphere". In: J. Phys. A 47.41 (2014), p. 415201. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/47/41/415201. arXiv: 1401.2409 [hep-th].
- [36] François David et al. *Liouville Quantum Gravity on the Riemann sphere*. 2015. arXiv: 1410.7318 [math.PR].
- [37] Marcin Piątek and Artur R. Pietrykowski. "Solving Heun's equation using conformal blocks". In: Nucl. Phys. B 938 (2019), pp. 543–570. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2018.11.021. arXiv: 1708.06135 [hep-th].
- [38] Lotte Hollands and Omar Kidwai. Higher length-twist coordinates, generalized Heun's opers, and twisted superpotentials. 2017. arXiv: 1710.04438 [hep-th].
- [39] Saebyeok Jeong and Nikita Nekrasov. "Opers, surface defects, and Yang-Yang functional". In: Advances in Theoretical and Mathematical Physics 24.7 (2020), 1789–1916.
   ISSN: 1095-0753. DOI: 10.4310/atmp.2020.v24.n7.a4. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.4310/ATMP.2020.v24.n7.a4.
- [40] O. Lisovyy and A. Naidiuk. "Accessory parameters in confluent Heun equations and classical irregular conformal blocks". In: Letters in Mathematical Physics 111.6 (2021). ISSN: 1573-0530. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-021-01400-6. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1007/s11005-021-01400-6.
- [41] Luis F. Alday, Davide Gaiotto, and Yuji Tachikawa. "Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-Dimensional Gauge Theories". In: Letters in Mathematical Physics 91.2 (2010), 167–197. ISSN: 1573-0530. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-010-0369-5. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11005-010-0369-5.
- [42] Nikita A. Nekrasov. "Seiberg-Witten prepotential from instanton counting". In: Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7.5 (2003), pp. 831–864. DOI: 10.4310/ATMP.2003.v7.n5.a4. arXiv: hep-th/0206161.
- [43] Nikita Nekrasov and Andrei Okounkov. "Seiberg-Witten theory and random partitions". In: *Prog. Math.* 244 (2006), pp. 525–596. DOI: 10.1007/0-8176-4467-9\_15. arXiv: hep-th/0306238.
- [44] Davide Gaiotto. "Asymptotically free N = 2 theories and irregular conformal blocks". In: J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 462.1 (2013). Ed. by Sumit R. Das and Alfred D. Shapere, p. 012014. DOI: 10.1088/1742-6596/462/1/012014. arXiv: 0908.0307 [hep-th].
- [45] A. V. Marshakov, A. D. Mironov, and A. Yu. Morozov. "Combinatorial expansions of conformal blocks". In: *Theoretical and Mathematical Physics* 164.1 (2010), 831–852.
   ISSN: 1573-9333. DOI: 10.1007/s11232-010-0067-6. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11232-010-0067-6.

- [46] Giulio Bonelli, Kazunobu Maruyoshi, and Alessandro Tanzini. "Wild quiver gauge theories". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2012.2 (2012). ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/jhep02(2012)031. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP02(2012)031.
- [47] Davide Gaiotto and Joerg Teschner. "Irregular singularities in Liouville theory and Argyres-Douglas type gauge theories, I". In: JHEP 12 (2012), p. 050. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP12(2012)050. arXiv: 1203.1052 [hep-th].
- [48] Luis F. Alday et al. "Loop and surface operators in  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  gauge theory and Liouville modular geometry". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2010.1 (2010). ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/jhep01(2010)113. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01(2010)113.
- [49] Hiroaki Kanno and Yuji Tachikawa. "Instanton counting with a surface operator and the chain-saw quiver". In: JHEP 06 (2011), p. 119. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP06(2011)119. arXiv: 1105.0357 [hep-th].
- [50] Giulio Bonelli, Alessandro Tanzini, and Jian Zhao. "Vertices, Vortices and Interacting Surface Operators". In: JHEP 06 (2012), p. 178. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP06(2012)178. arXiv: 1102.0184 [hep-th].
- [51] O Gamayun, N Iorgov, and O Lisovyy. "How instanton combinatorics solves Painlevé VI, V and IIIs". In: *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical* 46.33 (2013), p. 335203. ISSN: 1751-8121. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/46/33/335203. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1751-8113/46/33/335203.
- [52] Ugo Bruzzo et al. "Multi-instanton calculus and equivariant cohomology". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2003.05 (2003), 054–054. ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2003/05/054. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2003/05/054.
- [53] Giulio Bonelli et al. "On Painlevé/gauge theory correspondence". In: Letters in Mathematical Physics 107.12 (2017), 2359–2413. ISSN: 1573-0530. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-017-0983-6. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11005-017-0983-6.
- [54] Giulio Bonelli, Fran Globlek, and Alessandro Tanzini. Instantons to the people: the power of one-form symmetries. 2021. arXiv: 2102.01627 [hep-th].
- [55] Alba Grassi and Jie Gu. "BPS relations from spectral problems and blowup equations". In: Lett. Math. Phys. 109.6 (2019), pp. 1271–1302. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-019-01163-1. arXiv: 1609.05914 [hep-th].
- [56] M. Bershtein and A. Shchechkin. "Painlevé equations from Nakajima-Yoshioka blowup relations". In: Lett. Math. Phys. 109.11 (2019), pp. 2359–2402. DOI: 10.1007 / s11005-019-01198-4. arXiv: 1811.04050 [math-ph].
- [57] Nikita Nekrasov. "Blowups in BPS/CFT correspondence, and Painlevé VI". In: (July 2020). arXiv: 2007.03646 [hep-th].

- [58] Sergei Yu. Slavyanov and Wolfgang Lay. Special Functions: A Unified Theory Based on Singularities. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000, pp. xvi+293. ISBN: 0-19-850573-6.
- [59] Alexey Litvinov et al. "Classical Conformal Blocks and Painleve VI". In: JHEP 07 (2014), p. 144. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2014)144. arXiv: 1309.4700 [hep-th].
- [60] O. Lisovyy and A. Naidiuk. "Accessory parameters in confluent Heun equations and classical irregular conformal blocks". In: (Jan. 2021). arXiv: 2101.05715 [math-ph].
- [61] Hayato Motohashi and Sousuke Noda. "Exact solution for wave scattering from black holes: Formulation". In: (Mar. 2021). arXiv: 2103.10802 [gr-qc].
- [62] Bruno Carneiro da Cunha and Fábio Novaes. Kerr Scattering Coefficients via Isomonodromy. 2015. arXiv: 1506.06588 [hep-th].
- [63] Bruno Carneiro da Cunha and Fábio Novaes. "Kerr-de Sitter greybody factors via isomonodromy". In: *Physical Review D* 93.2 (2016). ISSN: 2470-0029. DOI: 10.1103/ physrevd.93.024045. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.93.024045.
- [64] Bruno Carneiro da Cunha and João Paulo Cavalcante. "Confluent conformal blocks and the Teukolsky master equation". In: *Physical Review D* 102.10 (2020). ISSN: 2470-0029. DOI: 10.1103/physrevd.102.105013. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.105013.
- [65] Julián Barragán Amado, Bruno Carneiro da Cunha, and Elisabetta Pallante. Remarks on holographic models of the Kerr-AdS<sub>5</sub> geometry. 2021. arXiv: 2102.02657 [hep-th].
- [66] Fábio Novaes et al. "Kerr-de Sitter quasinormal modes via accessory parameter expansion". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2019.5 (2019). ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/jhep05(2019)033. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP05(2019)033.
- [67] Bruno Carneiro da Cunha and João Paulo Cavalcante. "Teukolsky master equation and Painlevé transcendents: numerics and extremal limit". In: (May 2021). arXiv: 2105.08790 [hep-th].
- [68] Gleb Aminov, Alba Grassi, and Yasuyuki Hatsuda. Black Hole Quasinormal Modes and Seiberg-Witten Theory. 2020. arXiv: 2006.06111 [hep-th].
- [69] Yasuyuki Hatsuda. "Quasinormal modes of Kerr-de Sitter black holes via the Heun function". In: Class. Quant. Grav. 38.2 (2020), p. 025015. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6382/abc82e. arXiv: 2006.08957 [gr-qc].
- [70] Yasuyuki Hatsuda. "An alternative to the Teukolsky equation". In: (July 2020). arXiv: 2007.07906 [gr-qc].
- [71] Massimo Bianchi et al. QNMs of branes, BHs and fuzzballs from Quantum SW geometries. 2021. arXiv: 2105.04245 [hep-th].

- [72] Nikita A. Nekrasov and Samson L. Shatashvili. "Quantization of Integrable Systems and Four Dimensional Gauge Theories". In: 16th International Congress on Mathematical Physics. Aug. 2009, pp. 265–289. DOI: 10.1142/9789814304634\_0015. arXiv: 0908.4052 [hep-th].
- [73] N. Seiberg and Edward Witten. "Monopoles, duality and chiral symmetry breaking in N=2 supersymmetric QCD". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 431 (1994), pp. 484–550. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(94)90214-3. arXiv: hep-th/9408099.
- [74] Robert S. Maier. "The 192 solutions of the Heun equation". In: Mathematics of Computation 76.258 (June 2007), pp. 811-843. DOI: 10.1090/S0025-5718-06-01939-9. arXiv: math/0408317 [math.CA].
- [75] Giulio Bonelli et al. "Exact solution of Kerr black hole perturbations via CFT<sub>2</sub> and instanton counting. Greybody factor, Quasinormal modes and Love numbers". In: (May 2021). arXiv: 2105.04483 [hep-th].
- Juan Maldacena and Andrew Strominger. "Universal low-energy dynamics for rotating black holes". In: *Physical Review D* 56.8 (1997), 4975-4983. ISSN: 1089-4918.
   DOI: 10.1103/physrevd.56.4975. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 56.4975.
- [77] Cesim K. Dumlu. Stokes phenomenon and Hawking Radiation. 2020. arXiv: 2009. 09851 [hep-th].
- [78] Alexandre Le Tiec, Marc Casals, and Edgardo Franzin. "Tidal Love numbers of Kerr black holes". In: *Physical Review D* 103.8 (2021). ISSN: 2470-0029. DOI: 10.1103/ physrevd.103.084021. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103.084021.
- [79] Horng Sheng Chia. *Tidal Deformation and Dissipation of Rotating Black Holes*. 2020. arXiv: 2010.07300 [gr-qc].
- [80] Panagiotis Charalambous, Sergei Dubovsky, and Mikhail M. Ivanov. On the Vanishing of Love Numbers for Kerr Black Holes. 2021. arXiv: 2102.08917 [hep-th].
- [81] Giulio Bonelli et al. Irregular Liouville correlators and connection formulae for Heun functions. 2022. arXiv: 2201.04491 [hep-th].
- [82] Matthew Dodelson et al. Holographic thermal correlators from supersymmetric instantons. 2022. arXiv: 2206.07720 [hep-th].
- [83] A. Liam Fitzpatrick et al. "The Analytic Bootstrap and AdS Superhorizon Locality". In: JHEP 12 (2013), p. 004. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2013)004. arXiv: 1212.3616
   [hep-th].
- [84] Zohar Komargodski and Alexander Zhiboedov. "Convexity and Liberation at Large Spin". In: JHEP 11 (2013), p. 140. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2013)140. arXiv: 1212. 4103 [hep-th].

- [85] Manuela Kulaxizi, Gim Seng Ng, and Andrei Parnachev. "Black Holes, Heavy States, Phase Shift and Anomalous Dimensions". In: *SciPost Phys.* 6.6 (2019), p. 065. DOI: 10.21468/SciPostPhys.6.6.065. arXiv: 1812.03120 [hep-th].
- [86] Robin Karlsson et al. "Black Holes and Conformal Regge Bootstrap". In: JHEP 10 (2019), p. 046. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2019)046. arXiv: 1904.00060 [hep-th].
- [87] Manuela Kulaxizi, Gim Seng Ng, and Andrei Parnachev. "Subleading Eikonal, AdS/CFT and Double Stress Tensors". In: JHEP 10 (2019), p. 107. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2019) 107. arXiv: 1907.00867 [hep-th].
- [88] Robin Karlsson et al. "Leading Multi-Stress Tensors and Conformal Bootstrap". In: JHEP 01 (2020), p. 076. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2020)076. arXiv: 1909.05775 [hep-th].
- [89] Robin Karlsson et al. "Stress tensor sector of conformal correlators operators in the Regge limit". In: JHEP 07 (2020), p. 019. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2020)019. arXiv: 2002.12254 [hep-th].
- [90] Andrei Parnachev. "Near Lightcone Thermal Conformal Correlators and Holography". In: J. Phys. A 54.15 (2021), p. 155401. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8121/abec16. arXiv: 2005.06877 [hep-th].
- [91] Andrei Parnachev and Kallol Sen. "Notes on AdS-Schwarzschild eikonal phase". In: *JHEP* 03 (2021), p. 289. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2021)289. arXiv: 2011.06920 [hep-th].
- [92] Robin Karlsson, Andrei Parnachev, and Petar Tadić. "Thermalization in large-N CFTs". In: JHEP 09 (2021), p. 205. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2021)205. arXiv: 2102.04953 [hep-th].
- [93] Robin Karlsson et al. "CFT correlators, W-algebras and Generalized Catalan Numbers". In: (Nov. 2021). arXiv: 2111.07924 [hep-th].
- [94] A. Liam Fitzpatrick and Kuo-Wei Huang. "Universal Lowest-Twist in CFTs from Holography". In: JHEP 08 (2019), p. 138. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2019)138. arXiv: 1903.05306 [hep-th].
- [95] A. Liam Fitzpatrick, Kuo-Wei Huang, and Daliang Li. "Probing universalities in d > 2 CFTs: from black holes to shockwaves". In: JHEP 11 (2019), p. 139. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2019)139. arXiv: 1907.10810 [hep-th].
- [96] Yue-Zhou Li. "Heavy-light Bootstrap from Lorentzian Inversion Formula". In: JHEP 07 (2020), p. 046. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2020)046. arXiv: 1910.06357 [hep-th].
- [97] A. Liam Fitzpatrick et al. "Model-dependence of minimal-twist OPEs in d > 2 holographic CFTs". In: JHEP 11 (2020), p. 060. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2020)060. arXiv: 2007.07382 [hep-th].

- [98] Yue-Zhou Li and Hao-Yu Zhang. "More on heavy-light bootstrap up to double-stress-tensor". In: JHEP 10 (2020), p. 055. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2020)055. arXiv: 2004.04758 [hep-th].
- [99] Matthew Dodelson and Alexander Zhiboedov. "Gravitational orbits, double-twist mirage, and many-body scars". In: (Apr. 2022). arXiv: 2204.09749 [hep-th].
- [100] Barak Kol and Michael Smolkin. "Black hole stereotyping: Induced gravito-static polarization". In: JHEP 02 (2012), p. 010. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2012)010. arXiv: 1110.3764 [hep-th].
- [101] Alexandre Le Tiec and Marc Casals. "Spinning Black Holes Fall in Love". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 126.13 (2021), p. 131102. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.131102. arXiv: 2007.00214 [gr-qc].
- [102] Emanuele Berti, Vitor Cardoso, and Andrei O Starinets. "Quasinormal modes of black holes and black branes". In: *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 26.16 (2009), p. 163001. ISSN: 1361-6382. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/26/16/163001. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/26/16/163001.
- [103] A. Marshakov, A. Mironov, and A. Morozov. "On non-conformal limit of the AGT relations". In: *Physics Letters B* 682.1 (2009), 125–129. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2009.10.077. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2009.10.077.
- [104] O. Lisovyy, H. Nagoya, and J. Roussillon. "Irregular conformal blocks and connection formulae for Painlevé V functions". In: J. Math. Phys. 59.9 (2018), p. 091409. DOI: 10.1063/1.5031841. arXiv: 1806.08344 [math-ph].
- [105] Hajime Nagoya. "Irregular conformal blocks, with an application to the fifth and fourth Painlevé equations". In: *Journal of Mathematical Physics* 56.12 (2015), p. 123505. ISSN: 1089-7658. DOI: 10.1063/1.4937760. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4937760.
- [106] Nikita A. Nekrasov and Samson L. Shatashvili. "Quantization of integrable systems and four dimensional gauge theories". In: XVIth International Congress on Mathematical Physics (2010). DOI: 10.1142/9789814304634\_0015. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1142/9789814304634\_0015.
- [107] A. Zamolodchikov and Al. Zamolodchikov. "Conformal bootstrap in Liouville field theory". In: Nuclear Physics B 477.2 (1996), 577–605. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(96)00351-3. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(96)00351-3.
- Jörg Teschner. "On the Liouville three-point function". In: *Physics Letters B* 363.1-2 (1995), 65-70. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(95)01200-a. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(95)01200-A.

- [109] Fabrizio Nieri, Sara Pasquetti, and Filippo Passerini. "3d and 5d Gauge Theory Partition Functions as q-deformed CFT Correlators". In: Letters in Mathematical Physics 105.1 (2014), 109–148. ISSN: 1573-0530. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-014-0727-9. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11005-014-0727-9.
- [110] Harald Dorn and H. J. Otto. "Two and three point functions in Liouville theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B 429 (1994), pp. 375–388. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(94)00352-1. arXiv: hep-th/9403141.
- [111] Alexander B. Zamolodchikov and Alexei B. Zamolodchikov. "Structure constants and conformal bootstrap in Liouville field theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B 477 (1996), pp. 577–605. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(96)00351-3. arXiv: hep-th/9506136.
- [112] Marco Matone. "Instantons and recursion relations in N = 2 SUSY gauge theory". In: *Physics Letters B* 357.3 (1995), 342–348. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(95)00920-g. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(95)00920-G.
- [113] R Flume et al. "Matone's Relation in the Presence of Gravitational Couplings". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2004.04 (2004), 008–008. ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2004/04/008. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2004/04/008.
- S. W. Hawking. "Particle Creation by Black Holes". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 43 (1975). Ed. by G. W. Gibbons and S. W. Hawking. [Erratum: Commun.Math.Phys. 46, 206 (1976)], pp. 199–220. DOI: 10.1007/BF02345020.
- [115] Ruifeng Dong and Dejan Stojkovic. *Greybody factors for a black hole in massive gravity.* 2015. arXiv: 1505.03145 [gr-qc].
- [116] Richard Brito, Vitor Cardoso, and Paolo Pani. "Superradiance". In: Lecture Notes in Physics (2020). ISSN: 1616-6361. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-46622-0. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-46622-0.
- [117] Sai Iyer and Clifford M. Will. "Black Hole Normal Modes: A WKB Approach. 1. Foundations and Application of a Higher Order WKB Analysis of Potential Barrier Scattering". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 35 (1987), p. 3621. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.35.3621.
- [118] Emanuele Berti, Vitor Cardoso, and Marc Casals. "Eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of spin-weighted spheroidal harmonics in four and higher dimensions". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 73 (2006). [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 73, 109902 (2006)], p. 024013. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.73.109902. arXiv: gr-qc/0511111.
- [119] Augustus Edward Hough Love. "The yielding of the earth to disturbing forces". In: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series A 82 (1909) 73. (1909). DOI: 10.1098/rspa.1909.0008.
- [120] Éanna É. Flanagan and Tanja Hinderer. "Constraining neutron-star tidal Love numbers with gravitational-wave detectors". In: *Physical Review D* 77.2 (2008). ISSN: 1550-2368. DOI: 10.1103/physrevd.77.021502. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.77.021502.
- [121] Vitor Cardoso et al. "Testing strong-field gravity with tidal Love numbers". In: *Physical Review D* 95.8 (2017). ISSN: 2470-0029. DOI: 10.1103/physrevd.95.084014.
  URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.95.084014.
- J Teschner. "Liouville theory revisited". In: Classical and Quantum Gravity 18.23 (2001), R153-R222. ISSN: 1361-6382. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/18/23/201. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/18/23/201.
- [123] Daniel Harlow, Jonathan Maltz, and Edward Witten. "Analytic continuation of Liouville theory". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2011.12 (2011). ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/jhep12(2011)071. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP12(2011)071.
- R. Flume and R. Poghossian. "An Algorithm for the microscopic evaluation of the coefficients of the Seiberg-Witten prepotential". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 18 (2003), p. 2541. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X03013685. arXiv: hep-th/0208176.
- [125] Idse Heemskerk et al. "Holography from Conformal Field Theory". In: JHEP 10 (2009), p. 079. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2009/10/079. arXiv: 0907.0151 [hep-th].
- Juan Martin Maldacena. "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity". In: Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998), pp. 231-252. DOI: 10.1023/A: 1026654312961. arXiv: hep-th/9711200.
- [127] S. S. Gubser, Igor R. Klebanov, and Alexander M. Polyakov. "Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 428 (1998), pp. 105–114. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(98)00377-3. arXiv: hep-th/9802109.
- [128] Edward Witten. "Anti-de Sitter space and holography". In: Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998), pp. 253–291. DOI: 10.4310/ATMP.1998.v2.n2.a2. arXiv: hep-th/9802150.
- [129] N. Seiberg and Edward Witten. "Electric magnetic duality, monopole condensation, and confinement in N=2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B 426 (1994). [Erratum: Nucl.Phys.B 430, 485–486 (1994)], pp. 19–52. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(94)90124-4. arXiv: hep-th/9407087.
- [130] Luis F. Alday, Davide Gaiotto, and Yuji Tachikawa. "Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-dimensional Gauge Theories". In: Lett. Math. Phys. 91 (2010), pp. 167–197. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-010-0369-5. arXiv: 0906.3219 [hep-th].
- [131] Guido Festuccia and Hong Liu. "A Bohr-Sommerfeld quantization formula for quasinormal frequencies of AdS black holes". In: Adv. Sci. Lett. 2 (2009), pp. 221–235.
   DOI: 10.1166/asl.2009.1029. arXiv: 0811.1033 [gr-qc].

- [132] David Berenstein, Ziyi Li, and Joan Simon. "ISCOs in AdS/CFT". In: Class. Quant. Grav. 38.4 (2021), p. 045009. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6382/abcaeb. arXiv: 2009.04500
  [hep-th].
- [133] Luis F. Alday, Murat Kologlu, and Alexander Zhiboedov. "Holographic correlators at finite temperature". In: JHEP 06 (2021), p. 082. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP06(2021)082. arXiv: 2009.10062 [hep-th].
- [134] Changha Choi, Márk Mezei, and Gábor Sárosi. "Pole skipping away from maximal chaos". In: (Oct. 2020). DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2021)207. arXiv: 2010.08558
  [hep-th].
- [135] Dam T. Son and Andrei O. Starinets. "Minkowski space correlators in AdS / CFT correspondence: Recipe and applications". In: JHEP 09 (2002), p. 042. DOI: 10. 1088/1126-6708/2002/09/042. arXiv: hep-th/0205051.
- [136] Giuseppe Policastro, Dam T. Son, and Andrei O. Starinets. "From AdS / CFT correspondence to hydrodynamics". In: JHEP 09 (2002), p. 043. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2002/09/043. arXiv: hep-th/0205052.
- [137] Alvaro Nunez and Andrei O. Starinets. "AdS / CFT correspondence, quasinormal modes, and thermal correlators in N=4 SYM". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 67 (2003), p. 124013. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.67.124013. arXiv: hep-th/0302026.
- [138] Gleb Aminov, Alba Grassi, and Yasuyuki Hatsuda. "Black Hole Quasinormal Modes and Seiberg-Witten Theory". In: (June 2020). arXiv: 2006.06111 [hep-th].
- [139] Giulio Bonelli et al. "Irregular Liouville correlators and connection formulae for Heun functions". In: (Jan. 2022). arXiv: 2201.04491 [hep-th].
- [140] Massimo Bianchi et al. "More on the SW-QNM correspondence". In: (Sept. 2021). arXiv: 2109.09804 [hep-th].
- [141] Massimo Bianchi et al. "QNMs of branes, BHs and fuzzballs from quantum SW geometries". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 824 (2022), p. 136837. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb. 2021.136837. arXiv: 2105.04245 [hep-th].
- [142] Davide Fioravanti and Daniele Gregori. "A new method for exact results on Quasinormal Modes of Black Holes". In: (Dec. 2021). arXiv: 2112.11434 [hep-th].
- [143] Paolo Arnaudo et al. "to appear". In: ().
- [144] Dario Consoli et al. "CFT description of BH's and ECO's: QNMs, superradiance, echoes and tidal responses". In: (June 2022). arXiv: 2206.09437 [hep-th].
- Julián Barragán Amado, Bruno Carneiro da Cunha, and Elisabetta Pallante. "Vector perturbations of Kerr-AdS<sub>5</sub> and the Painlevé VI transcendent". In: *JHEP* 04 (2020), p. 155. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP04(2020)155. arXiv: 2002.06108 [hep-th].

- Julián Barragán Amado, Bruno Carneiro da Cunha, and Elisabetta Pallante. "Remarks on holographic models of the Kerr-AdS<sub>5</sub> geometry". In: *JHEP* 05 (2021), p. 251. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2021)251. arXiv: 2102.02657 [hep-th].
- [147] Fábio Novaes and Bruno Carneiro da Cunha. "Isomonodromy, Painlevé transcendents and scattering off of black holes". In: JHEP 07 (2014), p. 132. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP07 (2014) 132. arXiv: 1404.5188 [hep-th].
- [148] S. W. Hawking and Don N. Page. "Thermodynamics of Black Holes in anti-De Sitter Space". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 87 (1983), p. 577. DOI: 10.1007/BF01208266.
- [149] Edward Witten. "Anti-de Sitter space, thermal phase transition, and confinement in gauge theories". In: Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998). Ed. by L. Bergstrom and U. Lindstrom, pp. 505-532. DOI: 10.4310/ATMP.1998.v2.n3.a3. arXiv: hepth/9803131.
- [150] Juan Maldacena. "The Gauge/gravity duality". In: Black holes in higher dimensions.
  Ed. by Gary T. Horowitz. 2012, pp. 325–347. arXiv: 1106.6073 [hep-th].
- Saebyeok Jeong and Nikita Nekrasov. "Opers, surface defects, and Yang-Yang functional". In: Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 24.7 (2020), pp. 1789–1916. DOI: 10.4310/ ATMP.2020.v24.n7.a4. arXiv: 1806.08270 [hep-th].
- [152] Kazunobu Maruyoshi and Masato Taki. "Deformed Prepotential, Quantum Integrable System and Liouville Field Theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B 841 (2010), pp. 388–425. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2010.08.008. arXiv: 1006.4505 [hep-th].
- [153] Luis F. Alday et al. "Loop and surface operators in N=2 gauge theory and Liouville modular geometry". In: JHEP 01 (2010), p. 113. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2010)113. arXiv: 0909.0945 [hep-th].
- [154] Nadav Drukker et al. "Gauge Theory Loop Operators and Liouville Theory". In: *JHEP* 02 (2010), p. 057. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2010)057. arXiv: 0909.1105 [hep-th].
- [155] Katsushi Ito, Shoichi Kanno, and Takafumi Okubo. "Quantum periods and prepotential in  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  SU(2) SQCD". In: *JHEP* 08 (2017), p. 065. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP08(2017)065. arXiv: 1705.09120 [hep-th].
- [156] Sean A. Hartnoll. "Lectures on holographic methods for condensed matter physics". In: *Class. Quant. Grav.* 26 (2009). Ed. by A. M. Uranga, p. 224002. DOI: 10.1088/ 0264-9381/26/22/224002. arXiv: 0903.3246 [hep-th].
- [157] Bruno Le Floch. "A slow review of the AGT correspondence". In: (June 2020). arXiv: 2006.14025 [hep-th].
- [158] Rainald Flume et al. "Matone's relation in the presence of gravitational couplings". In: JHEP 04 (2004), p. 008. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2004/04/008. arXiv: hep-th/0403057.

- [159] Marco Matone. "Instantons and recursion relations in N=2 SUSY gauge theory". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 357 (1995), pp. 342–348. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(95)00920-G. arXiv: hep-th/9506102.
- [160] A. Gorsky, A. Milekhin, and N. Sopenko. "Bands and gaps in Nekrasov partition function". In: *JHEP* 01 (2018), p. 133. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2018)133. arXiv: 1712.02936 [hep-th].
- [161] Sergey Alekseev, Alexander Gorsky, and Mikhail Litvinov. "Toward the Pole". In: JHEP 03 (2020), p. 157. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2020)157. arXiv: 1911.01334 [hep-th].
- [162] Guido Festuccia and Hong Liu. "The Arrow of time, black holes, and quantum mixing of large N Yang-Mills theories". In: JHEP 12 (2007), p. 027. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/12/027. arXiv: hep-th/0611098.
- [163] Alba Grassi, Qianyu Hao, and Andrew Neitzke. "Exact WKB methods in SU(2)  $N_f = 1$ ". In: *JHEP* 01 (2022), p. 046. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2022)046. arXiv: 2105.03777 [hep-th].
- [164] Alba Grassi, Jie Gu, and Marcos Mariño. "Non-perturbative approaches to the quantum Seiberg-Witten curve". In: JHEP 07 (2020), p. 106. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2020)
  106. arXiv: 1908.07065 [hep-th].
- [165] Al. B. Zamolodchikov. "Generalized Mathieu equations and Liouville TBA". In: Quantum Field Theories in Two Dimensions. Vol. 2. World Scientific, 2012.
- [166] Davide Fioravanti and Daniele Gregori. "Integrability and cycles of deformed N = 2 gauge theory". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 804 (2020), p. 135376. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb. 2020.135376. arXiv: 1908.08030 [hep-th].
- [167] Edward Witten. "Multitrace operators, boundary conditions, and AdS / CFT correspondence". In: (Dec. 2001). arXiv: hep-th/0112258.
- [168] A. B. Zamolodchikov. "CONFORMAL SYMMETRY IN TWO-DIMENSIONS: AN EXPLICIT RECURRENCE FORMULA FOR THE CONFORMAL PARTIAL WAVE AMPLITUDE". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 96 (1984), pp. 419–422. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01214585.
- [169] Rubik Poghossian. "Recursion relations in CFT and N=2 SYM theory". In: JHEP 12 (2009), p. 038. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2009/12/038. arXiv: 0909.3412 [hep-th].
- [170] Carlo Meneghelli and Gang Yang. "Mayer-Cluster Expansion of Instanton Partition Functions and Thermodynamic Bethe Ansatz". In: JHEP 05 (2014), p. 112. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2014)112. arXiv: 1312.4537 [hep-th].
- [171] Nima Lashkari, Anatoly Dymarsky, and Hong Liu. "Eigenstate Thermalization Hypothesis in Conformal Field Theory". In: J. Stat. Mech. 1803.3 (2018), p. 033101.
  DOI: 10.1088/1742-5468/aab020. arXiv: 1610.00302 [hep-th].

- [172] Luca V. Delacretaz. "Heavy Operators and Hydrodynamic Tails". In: SciPost Phys.
  9.3 (2020), p. 034. DOI: 10.21468/SciPostPhys.9.3.034. arXiv: 2006.01139
  [hep-th].
- [173] Daniel Jafferis, Baur Mukhametzhanov, and Alexander Zhiboedov. "Conformal Bootstrap At Large Charge". In: *JHEP* 05 (2018), p. 043. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2018)
  043. arXiv: 1710.11161 [hep-th].
- F. A. Dolan and H. Osborn. "Conformal partial waves and the operator product expansion". In: Nucl. Phys. B 678 (2004), pp. 491–507. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2003.11.016. arXiv: hep-th/0309180.
- [175] F. A. Dolan and H. Osborn. "Conformal Partial Waves: Further Mathematical Results". In: (Aug. 2011). arXiv: 1108.6194 [hep-th].
- [176] Mark Srednicki. "The approach to thermal equilibrium in quantized chaotic systems".
  In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 32.7 (1999), p. 1163.
- [177] Luca D'Alessio et al. "From quantum chaos and eigenstate thermalization to statistical mechanics and thermodynamics". In: Adv. Phys. 65.3 (2016), pp. 239–362. DOI: 10.1080/00018732.2016.1198134. arXiv: 1509.06411 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [178] Soner Albayrak, David Meltzer, and David Poland. "More Analytic Bootstrap: Nonperturbative Effects and Fermions". In: JHEP 08 (2019), p. 040. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP08(2019)040. arXiv: 1904.00032 [hep-th].
- [179] Simon Caron-Huot. "Analyticity in Spin in Conformal Theories". In: JHEP 09 (2017), p. 078. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2017)078. arXiv: 1703.00278 [hep-th].
- [180] David Simmons-Duffin, Douglas Stanford, and Edward Witten. "A spacetime derivation of the Lorentzian OPE inversion formula". In: JHEP 07 (2018), p. 085. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2018)085. arXiv: 1711.03816 [hep-th].
- [181] Petr Kravchuk and David Simmons-Duffin. "Light-ray operators in conformal field theory". In: JHEP 11 (2018), p. 102. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2018)102. arXiv: 1805.00098 [hep-th].
- [182] A. Liam Fitzpatrick, Jared Kaplan, and Matthew T. Walters. "Universality of Long-Distance AdS Physics from the CFT Bootstrap". In: JHEP 08 (2014), p. 145. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2014)145. arXiv: 1403.6829 [hep-th].
- [183] A. Liam Fitzpatrick, Jared Kaplan, and Matthew T. Walters. "Virasoro Conformal Blocks and Thermality from Classical Background Fields". In: *JHEP* 11 (2015), p. 200. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2015)200. arXiv: 1501.05315 [hep-th].
- [184] R. A. Konoplya. "On quasinormal modes of small Schwarzschild-anti-de Sitter black hole". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 66 (2002), p. 044009. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.66.044009. arXiv: hep-th/0205142.

- [185] Vitor Cardoso and Oscar J. C. Dias. "Small Kerr-anti-de Sitter black holes are unstable". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 70 (2004), p. 084011. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.70. 084011. arXiv: hep-th/0405006.
- [186] S. Caron-Huot. "Asymptotics of thermal spectral functions". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 79 (2009), p. 125009. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.79.125009. arXiv: 0903.3958 [hep-ph].
- [187] Emanuel Katz et al. "Conformal field theories at nonzero temperature: Operator product expansions, Monte Carlo, and holography". In: *Phys. Rev. B* 90.24 (2014), p. 245109. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.90.245109. arXiv: 1409.3841 [cond-mat.str-el].